

McIntyre, Claire Lindsay (2019) *Investigating the immuno-regulatory roles* of beta2 integrins. PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/71941/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk



Investigating the immuno-regulatory roles of beta2 integrins

Claire Lindsay McIntyre

BSc, MRes

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation

College of Medical, Veterinary & Life Sciences

University of Glasgow

April 2019

Abstract

The balance of the immune system between activation versus tolerance is essential for mounting responses to pathogens whilst preventing excessive or inappropriate responses that cause host damage. The β_2 integrins (CD11a/b/c/d) are leukocyte-specific adhesion receptors that play essential roles in regulating immune responses. Many studies have focussed on the roles of β_2 integrins in contributing to immune activation including: leukocyte migration, immune synapse formation and phagocytosis. However, there is evidence that β_2 integrins can also play immuno-regulatory roles. The overall aim of this thesis was to explore the regulatory roles of β_2 integrins in dendritic cells (DCs) and $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Previous studies have shown in the absence of functional β_2 integrins, DCs display enhanced activation and are capable of inducing greater T cell responses. I identified that specifically, the absence of CD11a or CD11c, but not CD11b or CD11d, leads to increased co-stimulatory molecule expression on DCs generated *in vitro* and greater numbers of DCs in the spleen *in vivo*. CD11a knockout (KO) DCs were also capable of inducing enhanced T cell responses. These findings are the first to highlight CD11a and CD11c as negative regulators of DC function.

In studies using β_2 integrin-deficient mice, the development of skin and oral mucosal inflammation are associated with an expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells therefore, I hypothesised that β_2 integrins are a novel regulator of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. I characterised $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrin (CD18) KO mice and found an increased number of V $\gamma6V\delta1^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus with enhanced IL-17 production. Thymic development of V $\gamma6^+$ cells was unaffected by integrin loss but development of V $\gamma4^+$ cells was impaired. V $\gamma6^+$ cells showed similar proliferative capacity however, this subset was associated with reduced expression of apoptotic markers, indicating the accumulation of these cells is likely due to increased survival. Together, this data highlights a previously undescribed role for β_2 integrins in promoting V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cell development and regulating V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in the periphery.

These findings emphasise the importance of β_2 integrins in regulating immune responses. Further work to understand the downstream pathways of this regulation will identify potential therapeutic targets for diseases where DC or $\gamma\delta$ T cell responses are dysregulated.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
List of Tables	6
List of Figures	7
Acknowledgement	11
Author's Declaration	12
Definitions/Abbreviations	13
Chapter 1 Introduction	17
1.1 The Role of the Immune System	
1.2 Integrin Receptors	17
1.3 β ₂ Integrin Receptors	20
1.3.1 Functions of β_2 Integrin Receptors	
1.3.2 β_2 Integrins in Inflammation and Immune Regulation	
1.4 Dendritic Cells (DCs)	۲۵
1.4.1 Development of DCs	20
1.4.2 Fullclions of DCs	
1.5 Gammadelta ($v\delta$) T Cells	36
1.5.1 Development of vδ T cells	
$1.5.2$ Survival and maintenance of v δ T cells	41
1.5.3 Functions of vδ T Cells	
1.5.4 β_2 integrins and $v\delta$ T cells	
1.6 Aims	
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	50
2.1 Mice	50
2.2 Cell Isolation	51
2.2.1 Lymphoid Organs	
2.2.2 Blood	
2.2.3 Lungs	
2.2.4 Small mesure and colon	
2.2.6 Gingiyo	
2.2.0 Gillylva	ນZ
2.2.1 UICIUS	טב בס
2.2.0 Done marrow-derived dendritic calls (RMDCs)	
2.5 Generation of bone manow-derived dendritic cens (DWDCS)	
2.5 Flow Cytometry	
2.5.1 Extracellular Staining	5 4
2.5.2 Intracellular Staining	
2.5.3 Apoptosis Marker Staining	
2.5.4 Phosphoflow	55

2.6 Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS)	57
2.7 BrdU Labelling and Staining	57
2.8 ELISAs	57
2.8.1 IL-17A	58
2.8.2 IL-1β and IL-23	58
2.8.3 IL-7	58
2.9 Adoptive Transfer of Cells	59
2.9.1 OT-II T cell and BMDC Transfer	59
2.9.2 Total T Cell Transfer	59
2.10 Static Adhesion Assay	59
2.11 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	60
2.11.1 Genomic DNA Preparation	61
2.11.2 RNA Purification	61
2.11.3 cDNA Synthesis	61
2.11.4 <i>Dock2</i> ^{Hsd} PCR	61
2.11.5 Vγ/Vδ Chain RT-PCR	62
2.12 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	62
2.13 Statistical Analysis	63

Chapter 3 Characterisation of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation of dendritic cells and the impact on interactions with T cells64

3.1 Introduction	64
3.2 Results	67
3.2.1 CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs display enhanced activation markers and reduce	d
ligand binding	37
3.2.2 CD11a KO BMDCs induce an enhanced T cell response	73
3.2.3 Increased percentage of DCs in CD11a and CD11c KO mice but no difference in	
activation marker expression	30
3.2.4 CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD11c KO mice display enhanced activation and	
cytokine production ex vivo	33
3.2.5 Dock2 mutation found in CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice	36
3.2.6 Determination of immune phenotypes in CD11a and CD11c KO mice due to loss	
of Dock2 or integrin expression	39
3.2.7 Generation and Characterisation of β_2 integrin KO mice with WT expression of	
Dock210)3
3.3 Discussion10)9
3.3.1 Implications of the <i>Dock2</i> mutation identified in several strains of β_2 integrin-	
deficient mice10)9
3.3.2 Regulation of DCs by β_2 integrins	16
3.4 Conclusions12	21

4.1 Introduction	122
4.1.1 Hypothesis and Aims	123
4.3 Results	124
4.3.1 CD18 KO mice have a tissue-restricted increase in γδ T cells	124
4.3.2 Loss of β_2 integrin expression causes a specific increase in Vy6V δ 1 ⁺ IL-17-	
producing γδ T cells	130
4.3.3 Increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells is due to the loss of CD11a expression	140
4.3.4 The effect of location and subset on β_2 integrin and ICAM-1 expression on $\gamma\delta$	Т
cells	142
4.4 Discussion	147

cells
cells 15

5.1 Introduction	153
5.1.1 Thymic output of yδ T cells	.153
5.1.2 Mechanisms of γδ T cell proliferation in the periphery	.154
5.1.3 γδ T cell survival and apoptosis	.154
5.1.4 Hypothesis and Aims	.155
5.2 Results	.156
5.2.1 Thymic development of V $\gamma 6^+ \gamma \delta T$ cells is unaffected by the loss of CD18, while	st
Vγ4 ⁺ development is impaired.	.156
5.2.2 CD18 KO mice show no evidence of enhanced γδ T cell proliferation	.167
5.2.3 Vy6 ⁺ y δ T cells from CD18 KO mice show no evidence of enhanced survival	
signalling downstream of the IL-7R but show reduced apoptosis in the lungs	.175
5.3 Discussion	.188
5.3.1 Role for β_2 integrins in thymic development of Vy4- but not Vy6-expressing yo	T 100
Cells $5.2.2$ No ovidence for enhanced availation of $V(C^{\dagger})$ is T collain edult CD19 KO mi	. 100
5.3.2 No evidence for enhanced proliferation of Vy6 yo 1 cells in adult CD18 KO mil	ce .190
5.3.3 Vy6 ⁺ y δ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice display no difference in IL-7-mediat	ed
survival	.194
5.3.4 Vy6 ⁺ y δ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice display reduced Fas-mediated	196
5.3.5 The loss of CD18 may affect the expression of receptors and ligands that are f	3 ₂
integrin-dependent or independent	.197
5.4 Conclusions	.199

6.1	Summary of the role for β_2 integrins in DC regulation
6.2	Mechanisms of DC regulation by β_2 integrins
6.3	The relevance of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation of DCs to disease
6.4	Summary of the mechanism of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation in $\gamma\delta$ T cells 204
6.5	Potential mechanisms of $\gamma\delta$ T cell expansion in β_2 integrin-deficient mice206
6.6	Implications of the expanded V $\gamma 6^+ \gamma \delta$ T cell population in CD18 KO mice208
6.7	β_2 integrins promote Vy4 ⁺ y δ T cell development
6.8	Links to human γδ T cells
6.9	Potential therapeutic targeting of β_2 integrins
6.10	Concluding Remarks
List	of References

List of Tables

Table 1-1 Summary of murine $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets	.39
Table 2-1 Details of Mouse Strains Used	.50
Table 2-2 Antibodies used for flow cytometry	.56
Table 2-3 Primers used for PCR	.60
Table 2-4 Annealing Temperatures for V γ and V δ RT-PCR	.62

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Integrin receptor families	. 18
Figure 1-2 Structure and activation of integrin receptors	.20
Figure 1-3 Beta2 integrin receptors, ligands and leukocyte expression	.21
Figure 1-4 Functions of beta2 integrins	.22
Figure 1-5 Murine γδ T cell development.	.39
Figure 2-1 Gating strategy for BMDCs	.53
Figure 3-1 Expression of CD11b is reduced on all β_2 integrin-deficient BMDCs a	nd
the loss of CD11a or CD11c induces upregulation of ICAM-1	.69
Figure 3-2 Increased expression of activation markers on CD11a and CD11c KC)
BMDCs.	.71
Figure 3-3 Decreased binding of CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs to ICAM-1	.73
Figure 3-4 Increased T cell proliferation of OT-II T cells cultured with CD11a KO	
BMDCs	.75
Figure 3-5 Increased activation of OT-II T cells cultured with CD11a KO BMDCs	
	.77
Figure 3-6 CD11a KO BMDCs induce higher numbers of CD4 T cells in vivo but	
these T cells show reduced activation marker expression	.79
Figure 3-7 Increased percentage of DCs in lymphoid organs of CD11a and CD1	1c
KO mice	.81
Figure 3-8 Decreased total cellularity in CD11a and CD11c KO spleen and lymp	h
nodes	.82
Figure 3-9 DCs from integrin-deficient mice show equivalent expression of	
activation markers	.83
Figure 3-10 Increased activation marker expression on CD11a and CD11c KO	
CD4 T cells.	.85
Figure 3-11 Increased production of IFN γ and IL-17 by CD4 T cells from CD11a	
and CD11c KO mice	.86
Figure 3-12 Mutated form of <i>Dock2</i> (<i>Dock2</i> ^{Hsd}) is expressed in CD11a, CD11c a	nd
CD11d KO mouse strains.	.88
Figure 3-13 Mice used to determine effects downstream of β_2 integrin-deficiency	/ or
Dock2 ^{Hsd}	.89
Figure 3-14 Expression of β 2 integrins in integrin-deficient dock2 mutant mice	.91
Figure 3-15 Loss of marginal zone B cells in mice with dock2 mutation.	.93

Figure 3-16 Altered expression of β_2 integrins on BMDCs is independent of Dock2. Figure 3-17 Elevated expression of co-stimulatory molecules on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs is independent of *Dock2*^{Hsd}......97 Figure 3-18 Increased proportions and numbers of DCs in vivo is due to the β_2 Figure 3-19 Reduced numbers of T cells in LNs is due to the β 2 integrin defect.100 Figure 3-20 Loss of β_2 integrins and Dock2 have inconsistent effects on CD4 T cell phenotype......102 Figure 3-21 Breeding strategy for CD11a and CD11c KO mouse strains to remove Figure 3-22 Reduced total cell numbers in the spleen of CD11a KO, spleen and LNs of CD11c KO mice were due to *Dock2*^{Hsd}......105 Figure 3-23 Confirmation that loss of marginal zone B cells in CD11a KO and Figure 3-24 Reduced numbers of CD4⁺ T cells in CD11a/CD18 KO mice and Figure 4-2 Increased proportion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in multiple tissues of CD18 KO mice. Figure 4-3 Increase in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs and Figure 4-4 Perfusion of lungs does not affect the percentage/number of γδ T cells Figure 4-5 CD18 KO mice have 6.5 times more γδ T cells than WT......129 Figure 4-6 CD18 KO γδ T cells express high levels of CD44, CD3, TCRγδ, RORγt Figure 4-7 Increased levels of IL-17 in the serum and spleen of CD18 KO mice in Figure 4-8 Increased number of V γ 1⁻4⁻5⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs, Figure 4-9 Expanded γδ T cell population in CD18 KO mice expresses Vγ6 and Vδ1......137 Figure 4-10 Increased IL-17 production by Vy1⁻Vy4⁻ yδ T cells in CD18 KO mice.

Figure 4-11 Increased number of IL-17-producing γδ T cells in CD18 KO mice is
due to the loss of CD11a141
Figure 4-12 CD11a is expressed higher on V γ 1 ⁻ V γ 4 ⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs and
uterus143
Figure 4-13 ICAM-1 expression is low on $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs and is expressed
higher on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO than WT spleen and LNs
Figure 5-1 CD18 KO mice show no difference in V $\gamma6^+$ thymic development but
have impaired development of Vγ4 ⁺ cells157
Figure 5-2 The embryonic CD18 KO thymus has a reduced number of V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T
cells with an immature phenotype159
Figure 5-3 The defect in V $\gamma4^+$ cell numbers in newborn CD18 KO mice is in the
mature CD24 ⁻ population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells161
Figure 5-4 Commitment of mature (CD24 ⁻) $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the thymus to IL-17- and
IFNγ-producing subsets is equivalent in WT and CD18 KO mice162
Figure 5-5 CD18 KO mice have a defect in numbers of Vg4+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells only in the
pLN163
Figure 5-6 Increase in Vy6+ y δ T cells in the spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO
mice
Figure 5.7 Increases in IL 17 producing (CD45DD-CD44+CD27-) v8 T colls in the
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45RB CD44 CD27) yo T cells in the
spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45KB CD44 CD27) γo 1 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45KB CD44 CD27) γo 1 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45RB CD44 CD27) γ01 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice166Figure 5-8 CD18 KO γδ T cells do not proliferate and display similar169migration/retention when transferred into WT and CD18 KO hosts169Figure 5-9 Increased expression of Ki67 in Vγ6+ CD18 KO γδ T cells but low levels171of proliferation measured by 1 week of BrdU171Figure 5-10 CD18 KO mice have increased levels of IL-1β and IL-23 in the spleen174and higher expression of IL-1βR and IL-23R on Vγ6+ γδ T cells174Figure 5-11 Vγ6+ cells from the CD18 KO spleen express higher levels of IL-7R176
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45RB CD44 CD27) yo 1 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice166Figure 5-8 CD18 KO yo T cells do not proliferate and display similar169migration/retention when transferred into WT and CD18 KO hosts169Figure 5-9 Increased expression of Ki67 in Vγ6 ⁺ CD18 KO yo T cells but low levels171Figure 5-10 CD18 KO mice have increased levels of IL-1β and IL-23 in the spleen174and higher expression of IL-1βR and IL-23R on Vγ6+ yo T cells174Figure 5-11 Vγ6 ⁺ cells from the CD18 KO spleen express higher levels of IL-7R176and IL-1βR than WT.176Figure 5-12 Bcl2 expression is decreased in splenic Vγ6 ⁺ cells from adult CD18
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45KB CD44 CD27) γo 1 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice166Figure 5-8 CD18 KO γδ T cells do not proliferate and display similar169migration/retention when transferred into WT and CD18 KO hosts169Figure 5-9 Increased expression of Ki67 in Vγ6 ⁺ CD18 KO γδ T cells but low levels171of proliferation measured by 1 week of BrdU171Figure 5-10 CD18 KO mice have increased levels of IL-1β and IL-23 in the spleen174and higher expression of IL-1βR and IL-23R on Vγ6+ γδ T cells174Figure 5-11 Vγ6 ⁺ cells from the CD18 KO spleen express higher levels of IL-7R176Figure 5-12 Bcl2 expression is decreased in splenic Vγ6 ⁺ cells from adult CD18178KO mice but not in 4-week old mice.178
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45KB CD44 CD27) γo 1 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45RB CD44 CD27) γo 1 cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice
Figure 5-7 increase in IL-17-producing (CD45KB CD44 CD27) γ6 T cells in thespleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice.166Figure 5-8 CD18 KO γδ T cells do not proliferate and display similar169migration/retention when transferred into WT and CD18 KO hosts.169Figure 5-9 Increased expression of Ki67 in Vγ6 ⁺ CD18 KO γδ T cells but low levels171Figure 5-10 CD18 KO mice have increased levels of IL-1β and IL-23 in the spleen171and higher expression of IL-1βR and IL-23R on Vγ6 ⁺ γδ T cells.174Figure 5-11 Vγ6 ⁺ cells from the CD18 KO spleen express higher levels of IL-7R176Figure 5-12 Bcl2 expression is decreased in splenic Vγ6 ⁺ cells from adult CD18178KO mice but not in 4-week old mice.178Figure 5-13 Vγ4+ and Vγ6+ γδ T cells from the spleen of CD18 KO mice display181Figure 5-14 Reduced apoptosis of Vγ6 ⁺ γδ T cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice.181

Acknowledgement

Firstly, I would like to express a massive thank you to my supervisor Vicky. It has been a pleasure working in your lab for the last 3.5 years and I really appreciate the time you've taken to teach and mentor me. You have definitely made my PhD a great experience for both learning and having fun doing science. I hope you've enjoyed it as much as I have! My second supervisor Carl, thanks for all your input on the project, you have been great for talking through project direction and experiment plans with.

To everyone in LIVE (and those in the former GBM), what a wonderful group to work in. Thank you for all the scientific input and for all of the excellent banter and gossiping (especially from Bob and Gavin). A special mention has to go to Shaima and Josh, my fellow members of the 'dream team'. From helping me out in the lab, listening to my rants and many nights spent at the pub, it wouldn't have been the same without you.

I'd also like to thank Leticia, you have been a great help with my project in coming up to Glasgow to teach me techniques and being an excellent source of $\gamma\delta$ knowledge. To all the staff at the CRF, in particular Tony and Sandra, I'm grateful for all your help especially with timed matings and for letting me know about mouse pregnancies, you made my life a lot easier. Also, to the Flow Cytometry staff: Diane, Alana and Liz, thank you for keeping the flow lab running efficiently and for teaching me how to sort.

A massive thank you to Slater for all of your continued support, for chatting science with me and letting me rant about PhD work at all times of the day and also knowing when to make me stop talking about work and relax. You helped to keep me sane when finishing up in the lab and writing my thesis, thank you for always trying to make my life easier. I'd also like to thank my parents for their continued support and for always believing in me.

Author's Declaration

I declare that, except where reference is made to the contribution of others, this thesis is the result of my own work and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Signature:

Definitions/Abbreviations

+ve ctrl	Positive control
7AAD	7-Aminoactinomycin D
APC	Antigen presenting cell
Bcl-xL	B-cell lymphoma-extra large
Bcl2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BCR	B cell receptor
BMDC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
BMDM	Bone marrow-derived macrophage
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine
Btnl	Butyrophillin
CCL	Chemokine ligand
CCR	Chemokine receptor
cDC	Conventional dendritic cell
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CDP	Common dendritic cell precursor
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant
CFSE	Carboxyflurescein succinimidyl ester
CNS	Central nervous system
cTEC	Cortical thymic epithelial cell
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4
DAG	diacylglycerol
DC	Dendritic cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
Ep	Epithelium
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FasL	Fas ligand

FCS	Foetal calf serum
FcγRI	Fc-gamma receptor 1
FMO	Fluorescence minus one
FTOC	Foetal thymic organ culture
GDP	Guanine diphosphate
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factors
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
GTP	Guanine triphosphate
HBSS	Hanks' balanced salt solution
Het	Heterozygous
HEV	High endothelial venule
Hi	high
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
Hom	homozygous
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.v.	Intravenous
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
ILC	Innate lymphoid cell
JAM-A	Junctional adhesion molecule A
КО	Knockout
LAD	Leukocyte adhesion deficiency
LN	Lymph node
Lo	Low
LP	Lamina propria
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
medLN	Mediastinal lymph node
MF	macrophage

MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MICA/B	MHC class-I-related chain A/B
mLN	Mesenteric lymph nodes
mo-DC	Monocyte-derived dendritic cell
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MZ B cell	Marginal zone B cell
ΝϜκΒ	Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhanced of activated B cells
NK	Natural killer
Ns	Not significant
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PD-L1	Programmed death ligand 1
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
pLN	Peripheral lymph nodes
PMA	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
RBC	Red blood cell
RFP	Red fluorescent protein
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RORyt	RAR-related orphan receptor gamma t
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640
RT	Room temperature
SD	Standard deviation
SI	Small intestine
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SMAC	Supramolecular activation clusters
Sox	SRY-Box
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TCR	T cell receptor
Tfh	T follicular helper cell
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta

- Th1 Type 1 helper T cell
- Th17 Thelper 17 cell
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TNF Tumour necrosis factor
- toIDC Tolerogenic dendritic cell
- Treg Regulatory T cell
- VCAM-1 Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
- VLA-4 Very late antigen 4
- WT Wild type

1.1 The Role of the Immune System

The primary function of the immune system is to identify and eliminate abnormal/foreign cells and pathogens, while remaining tolerant to self. The balance between activation of the immune system versus immune tolerance is important in maintaining responses to foreign pathogens while preventing inappropriate immunity against self-peptides¹. In autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and diabetes, there is a loss of self-tolerance, however current therapies only target the resulting inflammation but not the underlying dysregulation of the immune response. Understanding the mechanisms of immune regulation and how this becomes aberrant in disease is required for development of the next generation of drugs which aim to re-establish immune tolerance^{2,3}.

1.2 Integrin Receptors

The control of immune cells occurs at many levels, one of which is through receptors expressed on the cell surface, such as integrin receptors. Integrin receptors are transmembrane $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers that are expressed on the surface of a wide variety of cell types, including leukocytes. There are 18 α subunits and 8 β subunits that together form 24 different heterodimers⁴ (Figure 1-1). These heterodimers differ in their cellular expression and in particular the β_2 and β_7 families are expressed exclusively on immune cells. Integrin receptors are involved in a range of cell functions including cell adhesion, leukocyte function, inflammation, cell migration, angiogenesis and wound healing^{5–8}. Integrins therefore play an important role in regulating both homeostasis and responses to infection or disease.





Adapted from ⁹. The 24 different integrin heterodimers that can form from combinations of the 18 α subunits and 8 β subunits. Leukocyte-specific integrin receptors are highlighted with a yellow dotted circle.

Integrins participate in bi-directional signalling termed 'inside-out' and 'outside-in' signalling which contributes to cellular function. Under steady state conditions they exist in an inactive form on the cell surface until receiving a stimulating signal that induces a conformational change enabling the receptor to bind extracellular ligands (inside-out signalling)¹⁰. Binding of extracellular ligands then induces intracellular signalling downstream of the integrin receptor that will modify aspects of cell behaviour such as proliferation, motility or gene expression (outside-in signalling)⁷.

Integrin receptors exist in three different conformational states (Figure 1-2). In the inactive conformation the extracellular region is bent, with both α and β chains folded inwards towards the cell membrane and the ligand-binding region is therefore inaccessible, giving the receptor low affinity¹¹. The close proximity of α and β cytoplasmic regions is thought to retain the receptor in its inactive state^{12,13}. In the intermediate affinity state the extracellular domain extends out from the cell membrane, the ligand binding region displays intermediate affinity and there is an increased distance between the α and β intracellular regions¹⁴. Transition into the

high affinity conformation results in greater separation of the α and β chain cytoplasmic tails, altering the ligand-binding domain into its highest affinity¹⁵.

These changes in the structure/affinity of integrin receptors are regulated by intracellular signalling cascades that alter interactions between integrin cytoplasmic tails through the binding of intracellular proteins. The triggering of these cascades that ultimately result in integrin activation can occur downstream of chemokine receptors, B- and T-cell receptors and selectins. Integrin receptors are maintained in an inactive state when bound to filamin, which stabilises the clasp between the cytoplasmic tails¹⁶. Rap1 is a GTPase that plays an important role in activating integrin receptors. The activation of Rap1 occurs in response to signals in the cell that induce the second messengers Ca²⁺ and diacylglycerol (DAG) or protein kinase C signalling, which activate guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), that in turn will activate the GDP to GTP exchange of Rap1¹⁷. Active Rap1 can then recruit and activate talin¹⁸. Talin binds to the β chain cytoplasmic tail, which disrupts the interaction between the α and β chains and alters the structural conformation of the receptor, to increase ligand affinity¹⁹. The subsequent binding of kindlin to a different region on the β chain tail further increases the affinity of the integrin receptor²⁰ and this activation of both talin and kindlin are essential for mediating cell adhesion²¹. Together, these intracellular signalling molecules contribute to inside out signalling by activating integrin receptors.



Figure 1-2 Structure and activation of integrin receptors.

Adapted from Lefort *et al.* 2012^{14} . Integrin receptors can exist in three different confirmation states. In the bent confirmation, the receptors are bound to filamin and have low affinity for their ligand. They are held in this state by the protein-protein interactions (clasp) between the α and β chains. Activation from extracellular stimuli leads to the recruitment of talin which activates the extension into the intermediate affinity state and further recruitment of kindlin puts the receptor into its high affinity state, where it will then bind to extracellular ligands with high affinity.

1.3 β₂ Integrin Receptors

The β_2 are a family of leukocyte-specific integrins that all express the β_2 chain (CD18) hybridised to one of four different α chains: CD11a (α_L), CD11b (α_M), CD11c (α_X) or CD11d (α_D). These β_2 integrin family members show preferential binding to different but overlapping ligands, and they are expressed across all immune cells, but different family members predominate on different cell types (Figure 1-3). CD11a is highly expressed on B and T cells but is also found on dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages (MFs), and granulocytes. Whereas CD11b, CD11c and CD11d tend to be associated with myeloid cells and granulocytes. The functions of β_2 integrins can differ according to the cell type they are expressed on and this is discussed in more detail below.



Figure 1-3 Beta2 integrin receptors, ligands and leukocyte expression

Abbreviations: natural killer (NK), macrophages (MFs), plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs). CD11a predominantly binds to intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs) and junctional adhesion molecule-A (JAM-A), CD11b has over 40 reported ligands including the complement cleavage fragment iC3b and matrix proteins, CD11c has overlapping ligands with other integrins, CD11d also binds vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1)²²⁻²⁵. In mice CD11a is highly expressed on $\alpha\beta$, γδ and NK T cells²⁶, expressed on cDCs with higher expression on CD8+ than CD8-²⁷ and on pDCs²⁸, also expressed on NK cells²⁹, monocytes³⁰, macrophages in the lungs but not peritoneum or spleen³¹, B cells³². In humans CD11a is expressed on T and B cells³³, was shown to be higher on $\gamma\delta$ than $\alpha\beta$ T cells³⁴ and found on uterine $\gamma\delta$ T cells³⁵, monocytes³⁶, monocyte-derived DCs³⁷, monocyte-derived MFs³⁸, plasmacytoid DCs³⁹ and NK cells⁴⁰. CD11b expression is found on mouse neutrophils and eosinophils⁴¹, peritoneal MFs and blood monocytes⁴², conventional DC2s but not CD8+, CD103+ or pDCs^{27,41,43}, NK cells⁴⁴, and some B cells⁴⁵. In humans CD11b expression is found on monocytes and macrophages^{30,36}, neutrophils⁴⁶, NK cells⁴⁷, monocytederived DCs⁴⁸, B cells⁴⁹. In mice CD11c is expressed on all DCs including CD103+, CD11b+, with lower expression on pDCs^{41,43,50}, found on interstitial and alveolar macrophages⁴¹, NK cells⁵¹, NK and γδ T cells⁵², a small percentage of T cells in the blood and small intestine⁵³. Unlike in mice, only some human DCs express CD11c including monocyte-derived DCs^{37,48} and cDCs, with higher levels on cDC2 than cDC1⁵⁴, but absent on plasmacytoid DCs⁵⁵. Expression of CD11c is also found on human monocytes³⁰, neutrophils^{56,57} and cervical tissue γδ T cells⁵². In mice CD11d expression has been found on peritoneal macrophages⁴², low levels on T cells during foetal thymic development⁵⁸, expressed on some $\alpha\beta$ T cells in the spleen and LNs but very low on $\gamma\delta$ T cells⁵⁹. In humans CD11d can be found on monocyte-derived MFs and DCs⁶⁰, is expressed highly on NK cells, moderate levels on $\gamma\delta$ T cells and B cells but low or absent on $\alpha\beta$ T cells⁶¹.

1.3.1 Functions of β_2 Integrin Receptors

 β_2 integrins are involved in a range of immune cell functions whereby they mediate: migration into lymph nodes (LNs) and tissues, interactions with other cells to form immune synapses (contacts between lymphocytes and antigen presenting cells (APCs) or target cells) or to initiate target cell killing, phagocytosis of pathogens/apoptotic cells and negatively regulate signalling downstream of toll-like receptors (Figure 1-4).



Homing and recruitment

Figure 1-4 Functions of beta2 integrins

Adapted from^{62,63}. β_2 integrins play a role in a range of immune cell functions. CD11a is important for migration of leukocytes into LNs and extravasation from the bloodstream into tissues. CD11a also mediates the formation of immune synapses to facilitate antigen presentation and the binding of CD8 T cells, NK cell and $\gamma\delta$ T cells to target cells. CD11b/CD11c bind to opsonised particles to mediate phagocytosis by macrophages. CD18 and CD11b can also negatively regulate TLR-mediated signalling in macrophages and dendritic cells.

1.3.1.1 CD11a

CD11a is expressed on almost all leukocytes and its main role is to mediate cell adhesion to endothelial cells, target cells or other immune cells. The adhesion of circulating leukocytes to ICAM-1 on the endothelium via CD11a mediates their transendothelial extravasation from the bloodstream into tissues⁶⁴. Following initial interactions with the endothelium mediated by selectins and chemokine receptors, CD11a mediates cell arrest and subsequent diapedesis across the endothelial layer⁶⁵. CD11a KO neutrophils displayed reduced adhesion to endothelial cells under shear stress *in vitro*, and *in vivo* were less able to migrate to the site of TNFinduced inflammation⁶⁶, indicating that neutrophil firm attachment to endothelial cells is dependent on CD11a. In contrast, monocyte recruitment to sites of inflammation occurs independently of CD11a, as the infiltration of monocytes into the peritoneum following thioglycolate injection occurred in the absence of CD11a⁶⁷.

The migration of T cells into LNs requires CD11a-mediated adhesion to the high endothelial venule (HEV), but migration to the spleen occurs independently of CD11a⁶⁸. Lymphocytes from CD11a KO mice showed impaired trafficking to peripheral LNs and to a lesser extent to mesenteric LNs⁶⁴, likely due to the partial dependence on $\alpha_4\beta_7$ for migration to gut-associated tissues⁶⁹. There is evidence to suggest that leukocyte migration within the LNs occurs independently of integrins, the migration of T cells in LN stroma was unaffected by the absence of CD11a expression⁷⁰. It has been suggested that in tissues leukocyte migration is chemokine-dependent because in the absence of shear stress, integrins are not activated⁷¹. The main route of DC entry into LNs is from tissues rather than from the blood through HEVs and this process, at least for mature DCs, is reported to be β_2 -independent^{72,73}.

The binding of CD11a to ICAM-1 mediates formation of the immunological synapse between T cells and APCs^{74,75}, B and T cells⁷⁶, and the target cell binding of CD8 T cells⁷⁷, NK cells⁷⁸ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{79,80}. The immune synapse is organised into supramolecular activation clusters (SMAC) and CD11a is located in the peripheral SMAC, which encircles and stabilises interactions between the TCR and peptide-MHC complex in the central SMAC^{81,82}. In addition to its physical function in immune synapse formation, signalling downstream of CD11a has been shown to enhance TCR signal transduction⁸³, lower the threshold for TCR and BCR signalling^{76,84},

enable T cell activation at a lower antigen dose⁸⁵ and facilitate the effective delivery of cytotoxic granules to mediate target cell killing^{86,87}. In contrast to the role of CD11a in promoting immune activation when expressed on lymphocytes, expression on DCs has been shown to inhibit T cell responses⁸⁸.

There is also evidence that demonstrates the importance of CD11a in leukocyte generation and differentiation. A study using CD11a KO mice identified the requirement for CD11a in generating optimal numbers of common lymphoid progenitor cells in the bone marrow⁸⁹. CD11a KO mice also display reduced numbers of Tregs in the thymus and spleen, suggesting that CD11a is required for optimal Treg generation⁹⁰. The development and survival of follicular T cells (Tfh) was also found to require CD11a, as anti-CD11a antibody treatment depleted Tfh cells through enhanced apoptosis and CD11a KO mice have decreased numbers of Tfh cells⁹¹.

1.3.1.2 CD11b

CD11b is primarily expressed on monocytes, macrophages (MFs), neutrophils and the cDC2 subset of DCs⁴¹. One of the ligands for CD11b is the complement cleavage product iC3b⁹², which is released as a by-product of the classical complement pathway. The binding of CD11b to particles coated with iC3b enhances the phagocytic ability of the cell and mediates the uptake of pathogens, immune complexes and apoptotic cells⁹³. It has been shown that apoptosis in neutrophils is induced following CD11b-mediated phagocytosis⁹⁴. However, the activation of CD11b can prevent the spontaneous apoptosis of neutrophils by maintaining mitochondrial membrane potential, yet in the presence of pro-apoptotic stimuli (such as anti-Fas) the engagement of CD11b contributes to the induction of apoptosis⁹⁵.

CD11b can also bind to ICAM-1, therefore plays a potential role in extravasation and immune synapse formation. CD11b was shown to mediate DC binding to ICAM-1 on the lymphatic endothelium⁹⁶ and active CD11b on DCs can limit DC-induced T cell activation⁹⁷. Neutrophil recruitment to the lungs during inflammation could be inhibited by blocking CD11b or ICAM-1⁹⁸, suggesting their interaction is important for mediating neutrophil recruitment. However, there is also evidence for CD11b inhibiting the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of inflammation. Using a TNF α air pouch model, neutrophil extravasation was increased in CD11b KO mice⁶⁶. The

transmigration of monocytes through the endothelial layer also requires CD11b, but uses a ligand distinct from ICAM-1⁹⁹ and CD11b has been implicated in the retention of macrophages in fat tissue¹⁰⁰. These studies highlight the cell- and context-dependent role of CD11b in mediating cell interactions and migration.

1.3.1.3 CD11c

The expression of CD11c is commonly associated with DCs in mice, but is also found on alveolar MFs^{50,101}. A small proportion of T cells in the circulation and small intestine lamina propria can also express CD11c⁵³. In humans CD11c is expressed on monocyte-derived DCs⁴⁸ and expression on conventional DC (cDC) subsets is higher on cDC2 than cDC1⁵⁴ but absent on plasmacytoid DCs⁵⁵. As with CD11b, CD11c also binds to iC3b which mediates effective phagocytosis, but uses a different binding site¹⁰². In addition to this ligand, CD11c can bind to fibrinogen and ICAM ligands which play a role in leukocyte adhesion and migration in response to chemokine-stimulation^{103–105}. The recruitment of monocytes/MFs to sites of inflammation is dependent on CD11c, demonstrated using a mouse model of atherosclerosis, where in the absence of CD11c expression, monocytes/MFs showed reduced accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions which correlated with a reduced disease severity¹⁰⁶. It has been suggested that CD11c expressed on MFs in the spleen is important for the phagocytosis of red blood cells (RBCs)¹⁰⁷. ICAM-4, a ligand for CD11c, is expressed on RBCs and the phagocytosis of RBCs by MFs could be blocked using antibodies against CD11c or ICAM-4¹⁰⁷.

Expression of CD11c has also been identified on some T cells and NK cells during cytomegalovirus infection, but the function in these cell types is unclear¹⁰⁸. In humans, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and CD8 T cells in the blood and cervical tissue can express CD11c⁵². The T cells in this study identified as CD11c⁺ showed enhanced production of IFN γ compared to their CD11c negative counterparts and expressed many adhesion molecules including chemokine receptors and the gut-homing integrin $\alpha_4\beta_7$, therefore are thought to have mucosal tissue-homing properties. They also identified CD11c-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells and NK cells in mice⁵², although the function of the integrin receptor on these cell types was not explored.

1.3.1.4 CD11d

CD11d is less well characterised than the other β_2 integrin family members. Similar to CD11b and CD11c, it is predominantly expressed on myeloid cells. CD11d has been detected on murine macrophages⁴² and human monocyte-derived MFs and DCs⁶⁰. Engagement of the receptor in monocytes induced the production of inflammatory cytokines IL-8 and IL-1ß as well as the monocyte chemoattractant protein MCP-1⁶⁰. This suggests that CD11d may play a role in the recruitment and activation of other immune cells during an inflammatory response. CD11d may also play a role in the response to infection. The elimination of Salmonella bacterium both in vitro and in vivo was reduced in the absence of CD11d, indicating that CD11d plays a role in bacterial clearance¹⁰⁹. However, the phagocytic ability of CD11d KO MFs was comparable to WT, suggesting that CD11d is involved in activating intracellular killing of the bacteria rather than phagocytosis. CD11d may also play a functional role in NK cells. Analysis of CD11d on cells from human blood found that NK cells expressed higher levels of CD11d than T or B cells⁶¹, and in mice the activation of NK cells by neutrophils via CD11d-ICAM-3 interactions was shown to increase IFNy production¹¹⁰.

Despite CD11d being predominantly associated with innate cells, there is also some evidence for a role in T cells. Analysis of CD11d on human T cells found that $\gamma\delta$ T cells from peripheral blood expressed greater levels of CD11d than $\alpha\beta$ T cells, and this was upregulated in response to IL-2⁶¹. In mice CD11d expression has been described on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen but not LNs²⁶ and CD11d was suggested to be involved in the early thymic development of $\alpha\beta$ T cells, as transient expression was detected on T cells during foetal thymic development⁵⁸.

1.3.2 β_2 Integrins in Inflammation and Immune Regulation

The majority of β_2 integrin functions that have been described involve the activation/initiation of the immune response and can contribute to inflammation. This includes the uptake of antigens by APCs through phagocytosis, activation of adaptive immune responses mediated by interactions between APCs and T cells in LNs, recirculation of T and B cells into LNs during immunosurveillance and the recruitment of the induced effector cells to the site of an infection/inflammation. In T cells, CD11a signalling can directly contribute to activation, whereas there is accumulating evidence that, in other cell types, signalling downstream of integrin

receptors regulates leukocyte activation and has an important role in preventing unwanted inflammation.

It has been shown in both mouse models and human studies that β_2 integrin loss is associated with development of immune-mediated disease. In humans, mutations that cause loss of β_2 integrin expression or function lead to the development of leukocyte adhesion deficiency (LAD) type I and type III (LAD-I and LAD-III). In LAD-I, mutations in the CD18 gene cause a reduction or complete loss of CD18 expression. There are over 200 characterised mutations¹¹¹ and 323 published cases of LAD-I to date¹¹². Patients commonly present initially with omphalitis (infection of the umbilical stump) or skin ulcers that develop in early life¹¹³ and suffer from recurrent bacterial and fungal infections in the skin and mucous membranes throughout life¹¹⁴. The severity of disease correlates with the level of CD18 expression, which can range from <2% to >10% of normal levels, and in over 90%of cases with >4% expression patients will survive into adulthood¹¹². In LAD-III, patients have a mutation in the gene encoding kindlin-3 (FERMT3)^{115,116}, which prevents the full activation of β_1 , β_2 and β_3 integrins. This form of LAD is less common than LAD-I, with less than 40 reported cases¹¹⁷. Similar to LAD-I, patients with LAD-III present with recurrent bacterial infections but in addition to this they also a display bleeding disorder called Glanzmann thrombasthenia, due to defective integrin binding to collagen by platelets, required for blood clotting¹¹⁸.

Defects in β_2 have also been associated with increased incidence of colitis, which is thought be related to defective neutrophil function¹¹⁹. There is an association between mutations in the CD11b (*Itgam*) and CD11c (*Itgax*) genes, and the development of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)¹²⁰. β_2 integrins are required for the effective activation of neutrophils in response to immune-complex binding¹²¹, therefore the impaired clearance of apoptotic cells may cause the release of intracellular components (e.g. DNA and other nuclear contents) that the immune system will then mount a response against.

Mouse models also support the role of β_2 integrins in inflammatory disease. The absence of β_2 expression in mice led to the development of chronic dermatitis, an inflammatory skin condition⁵. In a mouse model of colitis the absence of CD11a was protective whereas CD11b deficiency exacerbated disease and correlated with increased plasma cell infiltration¹²². The protective effect of CD11a loss was likely

due to impaired T cell function because the establishment of normal $\alpha\beta$ T cell numbers in the intestine is dependent on β_2 integrin/ICAM-1 expression and the pathology in this model is T cell-mediated¹²³. Using the K/Bxn serum transfer model of arthritis it was found that β_2 integrin KO mice were resistant to the development of disease¹²⁴. Further analysis found that disease could not be induced in CD11a KO mice whereas the absence of CD11b amplified disease. These discrepancies in results in CD11a and CD11b KO mice may be explained by impaired T cell migration being responsible for the protective effect in CD11a KO mice, whereas the loss of CD11b is associated with an accumulation of neutrophils at inflammatory sites due to a defect in apoptosis¹²⁵, which may be the mechanism of exacerbated disease in CD11b KO mice. Another study using CD11b KO mice found that oral tolerance could not be induced in these mice, due to enhanced IL-6 production by APCs which increased the generation of Th17 cells and prevented the induction of oral tolerance¹²⁶.

This evidence clearly demonstrates that β_2 integrins play an important role in the regulation of immune responses and suggest that dysregulation of specific β_2 integrin subunit signalling could contribute to development and/or pathogenesis of autoimmune and inflammatory disease. Due to the association of β_2 integrin loss of function with autoimmune disease, it is essential that we understand how these receptors regulate immune cells in order to identify potential new therapeutic targets.

1.4 Dendritic Cells (DCs)

Dendritic cells (DCs) were first discovered by Ralph Steinman and Zanvil Cohn in the 1970s. They are the main APCs of the immune system and play an important role in initiating either the activation of an immune response or the induction of tolerance.

1.4.1 Development of DCs

DCs develop from committed precursors in the bone marrow. Plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and pre-conventional DCs (pre-cDCs) develop from common DC progenitors (CDP). The terminal differentiation of pDCs occurs in the bone marrow¹²⁷, but pre-cDC precursors will migrate via the bloodstream to lymphoid

organs and tissues where they will then develop into cDCs¹²⁸. There are two subsets of cDCs, cDC1 and cDC2, that are defined by their differential transcription factor requirements. cDC1 depend on IRF8, BATF3 and ID2 for development, whereas cDC2 require IRF4 and ZEB2¹²⁹. These cDC subsets can be identified by differential expression of surface markers: cDC1 express CD8 α and CD103, whereas cDC2 express CD11b and CD172a¹³⁰. The CD8 α -expressing cDCs are located in lymphoid organs and the equivalent population in tissues express CD103¹³¹. The CD11b-expressing cDCs are predominantly lymphoid but can also be located in tissues¹⁰¹. CD172a-expressing cDCs are located in tissues including the spleen, lungs, liver, small intestine and colon¹²⁹.

There are also non-classical DCs, which derive from a distinct lineage than pDCs and cDCs. They develop from monocytes so are termed monocyte-derived DCs $(moDCs)^{132}$. Similar to other DC subsets, moDCs can express MHC II and CD11c, as well as present antigens¹³⁰. They can be distinguished from pDCs and cDCs by their expression of CD64 and Fc-gamma receptor 1 (FcγRI)¹³³. Langerhans cells also develop from the monocyte lineage, and have been described as a population of tissue-resident DCs¹³⁴, as they are found exclusively in the epidermis. However more recently, gene expression analysis found more similarities between LCs and MFs than cDCs¹³⁵.

1.4.2 Functions of DCs

DCs are often referred to as 'professional APCs' as their primary function is to present antigen, of both self and foreign origin. They play an important role in bridging the innate and adaptive immune system, with the capability to induce immunogenic or immunoregulatory responses in CD4 and CD8 T cells.

1.4.2.1 Activation of the immune response by DCs

During a classical immune response, DCs in peripheral tissues will take up pathogens by phagocytosis and undergo maturation, then migrate to the draining LN where they present the foreign antigen to T cells, in order to generate an effective T cell response. Immature DCs have the ability to acquire antigen, but they do not gain the ability to effectively present antigen until their maturation is stimulated. The expression of MHC on the surface of immature DCs is low and many MHC molecules are not complexed to peptides¹³⁶, then during maturation newly

generated MHC-peptide complexes accumulate on the cell surface¹³⁷. This maturation of DCs occurs in response to 'danger' signals that come from either microbial products or tissue damage. These include: CPG motifs in bacterial DNA^{138,139}, double-stranded viral RNA¹⁴⁰, LPS¹⁴¹ and necrotic cell products e.g. heat shock proteins¹⁴². During maturation, DCs will lose their phagocytic ability due to downregulation of antigen uptake receptors (e.g. Fc receptors) and upregulate expression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules^{143,144}.

Following antigen uptake and maturation, the migration of DCs to LNs is essential for the generation of an effective T cell response. The chemokine receptor CCR7 expressed on mature DCs mediates their migration from tissues to lymphatics via binding to ligands CCL19 and CCL21¹⁴⁵, where they interact with T cells to initiate the immune response. In combination with the production of cytokines, DCs then activate the clonal expansion of T cells through antigen presentation and costimulation. These three signals are required to fully activate the T cell, with antigen presented in the context of MHC to the TCR as signal 1, co-stimulation through molecules such as CD80/86 binding to CD28 for signal 2, and cytokines provide signal 3, e.g. IL-12 for the induction of Th1 cells. DCs process exogenous antigens and present them on MHC Class II molecules to CD4 T cells, whereas endogenous antigens are presented on MHC Class I molecules to CD8 T cells. Additionally, some types of DC are also capable of presenting antigens acquired exogenously to CD8 T cells, in a process referred to as cross-presentation^{146,147}. This is the main function of CD8a-expressing DCs and is important for cytotoxic responses to bacteria, tumours and viruses.

There is evidence that different subsets of DCs are specialised in inducing different types of immune response. CD11b⁺ cDCs express high levels of MHCII, which enables them to induce robust CD4 T cell responses^{148,149} and they can produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-23, which induces Th17 cells¹⁵⁰. IL-12 production is important for the generation of Th1 cells¹⁵¹ and CD103⁻CD11b⁺ DCs in the intestine prime both Th1 and Th17 cells¹⁵². CD8α⁺ DCs in the spleen cross-present antigen, which induces cytotoxic responses by CD8 T cells¹⁵³. Whereas, pDCs are important for viral responses through production of type I interferons^{154,155}. It is important to note that DCs display functional plasticity, and when exposed to different cytokines or pathogen-derived products in the microenvironment may perform altered functions.

The strategic location of immature DCs is also important for their function. CD8α⁺ DCs in the spleen are in the marginal zone where they can take up antigens from the blood¹⁵⁶. Whereas DCs in LNs are located in the subcapsular sinus which is the site of entry for afferent lymphatic vessels that drain from tissues¹⁵⁷. CD103⁺ DCs are predominantly located in non-lymphoid tissues, where they will acquire antigen before migrating to the T cell zone in the draining LN. This physical localisation of DCs enables their uptake of antigens to present to T cells.

1.4.2.2 Induction of tolerance by DCs

DC also play an important role in the induction of tolerance. Tolerance is the nonresponsiveness of the immune system against particular antigens. This is an active immune process, that is particularly important to prevent unwanted responses against factors such as self-peptides, commensal organisms and food antigens in the body. However, tolerance is also manipulated as an evasion strategy by cancer cells. DCs can contribute to the process of central tolerance through the presentation of self-peptides during the negative selection of T cells in the thymus, which will induce the death of any T cell that strongly binds to self-peptide MHC¹⁵⁸. DCs can also contribute to peripheral tolerance, which involves the deletion or induction of anergy in autoreactive cells that were not removed during central tolerance and are present in peripheral tissues. Additionally, DCs contribute to peripheral tolerance by inducing regulatory T cells (Tregs), through the conversion of effector T cells into Tregs¹⁵⁹ and enhancing Treg proliferation¹⁶⁰. DCs in the intestines were shown to be important mediators of immune tolerance, as the expansion of DCs by FIt3L enhanced the induction of oral tolerance¹⁶¹. Whereas the depletion of DCs in mice caused the development of autoimmunity, again highlighting the importance of DCs in inducing tolerance¹⁶².

Under homeostasis, many DCs present in the periphery have an immature phenotype, associated with low level MHC and co-stimulatory molecule expression. The interaction of these DCs lacking co-stimulatory molecules with T cells is known to lead to tolerance induction^{163,164}. Specifically, immature DCs can induce tolerance through T cell deletion and/or through the generation of Tregs¹⁶⁵. In addition to this, the expression of inhibitory molecules on DCs can also suppress T cell responses. PD-L1 binds to PD-1 on T cells to provide inhibitory signals and reduce T cell proliferation¹⁶⁶. PD-L1 is expressed on both mature and immature DCs¹⁶⁷ and

expression can be induced following toll-like receptor (TLR) stimulation¹⁶⁸, suggesting that this inhibitory signal is important for dampening immune activation following infection. The binding of CD80/86 to CTLA4 expressed on the T cell, in contrast to CD28, will also lead to T cell suppression¹⁶⁹. Cytokine production by DCs also contributes to their tolerogenic function. The phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by DCs reduces their pro-inflammatory cytokine production⁹³ and the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines by DCs, such as IL-10¹⁷⁰ and TGF β^{171} , can promote the induction of Tregs.

It is now known that tolerance is not only induced by immature DCs, but DCs matured under certain conditions can induce Tregs^{172,173}. Factors present in the microenvironment contribute to the maturation of these so-called tolerogenic DCs. Treatment with IL-10 enables DCs to induce anergy in T cells¹⁷⁴. It was also shown that IL-10 in combination with TGF- β induced DCs that stimulated lower levels of T cell proliferation and were capable of expanding Tregs¹⁷⁵. Corticosteroids inhibited the ability of DCs to induce Th1 responses due to a reduced production of inflammatory cytokines IL-12, TNF α and IL-6, despite costimulatory molecule expression being unaffected¹⁷⁶. There is also evidence that pathogen-derived factors can induce tolerogenic DCs, as a schistosome-derived phosphatidylserine was able to mature DCs capable of inducing Tregs¹⁷².

These tolerogenic DCs (tol-DC) are required to both limit immune responses following infection and prevent inappropriate immune responses to self-antigens. They are characterised by low level MHC and co-stimulatory molecule expression, upregulation of inhibitory receptors such as PD-L1 and production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, e.g. IL-10 and TGF- β^{177} . Due to their highly immunosuppressive functions, tolerogenic DCs are now being explored as a therapeutic for the treatment of autoimmune disease³. Monocytes are cultured from patient blood into DCs (using GM-CSF and IL-4) then treated with dexamethasone, rapamycin or vitamin D3 to induce the tolerogenic phenotype, characterised by low expression of CD83, CD86, HLA-DR and production of IL-10¹⁷⁸. Tol-DCs are pulsed with self-antigens prior to patient transfer, with the aim to re-establish tolerance in diseases including multiple sclerosis¹⁷⁹, rheumatoid arthritis¹⁸⁰ and type 1 diabetes¹⁸¹.

Overall, it is clear that the regulation of DCs is essential for controlling the outcome the T cell response, whether that is the effective activation to eradicate pathogens, or inhibition to prevent self-reactive responses. It is therefore essential to understand the mechanisms underlying DC activation and localisation, to potentially manipulate this process for the treatment of diseases where there is an inappropriate activation of T cells that leads to pathology.

1.4.3 β_2 Integrins and DCs

It was recently discovered that β_2 integrin receptors are important regulators of DCs. For example, β_2 integrins have been shown to be responsible for the negative regulation of TLR responses in DCs. Bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) deficient in β_2 integrins were hyperresponsive to stimulation of TLR2, 4 and 9, demonstrated by enhanced production of IL-6, TNFα and IL-12¹⁸². This was also true for BMderived macrophages (BMDM), and the mechanism of enhanced cytokine production in the absence of β_2 integrin receptor expression was through increased activation of NFkB¹⁸². A similar pathway was also described in a study where BMDMs lacking CD11b were stimulated via TLR3, 4 or 9, produced higher levels of TNF, IL-6 and IFN β^{183} . It was identified that in β_2 integrin-sufficient cells, the activation of Syk downstream of the integrin receptor phosphorylates and induces degradation of the TLR downstream adapter proteins MyD88 and TRIF¹⁸³. This prevents further signals that induce pro-inflammatory cytokine production and NFkB activation. As enhanced TLR-mediated cytokine production is also found in BMDCs¹⁸², there may be a comparable mechanism of negative regulation of TLRmediated signalling downstream of β_2 integrin receptors in DCs. In another study using CD11b KO BMDCs, they were found to enhance the activation of CD8 T cells when stimulated with the TLR9 ligand CpG¹⁸⁴. However, there is contrasting evidence that suggests CD11b plays a role in the positive regulation of TLR4mediated responses in BMDCs¹⁸⁵. Ling et al. found that CD11b KO BMDCs produced lower levels of IL-6 and TNFα in response to LPS than WT, and this was due to an impaired endocytosis of the TLR4 receptor in the absence of CD11b. Further work is required to dissect the precise roles of β_2 integrins in regulating TLRmediated responses in DCs – the interplay between integrin and TLR signalling may be context- and TLR-specific.

It has also been shown that β_2 integrins can regulate DCs even in the absence of TLR stimulation. Mice have been generated that express signalling-deficient β_2 integrin receptors (beta2^{TTT/AAA} integrin knock-in mice), where a mutation in the kindlin binding site (TTT/AAA substitution; as shown in Figure 1-2) on the β_2 integrin tail prevents kindlin binding and therefore impairs integrin function¹⁸⁶. Beta2^{TTT/AAA} integrin knock-in BMDCs expressed higher levels of activation markers and produced more IL-12 in the absence of activation by TLR stimuli⁷³. The knock-in DCs *in vivo* also had a more mature and migratory phenotype. This evidence supports the important role for β_2 integrins in regulating DC responses even in the absence of TLR stimulation.

In addition to the activation status of DCs, antigen uptake is another important function that will affect the ability of a DC to induce a T cell response. CD11a expressed on endogenous DCs acts as a receptor for exosomes²⁷, the uptake of which is a mechanism for acquiring antigen. In contrast to this, β_2 integrin signalling-deficient BMDCs did not show impaired uptake of fluorescently-labelled antigen, yet analysis of their transcriptome found that several genes associated with antigen uptake were downregulated compared to WT BMDCs⁷³. These studies suggest that β_2 integrins can influence the ability of DCs to acquire antigen, which may affect their ability to then present antigen to T cells.

In order for a DC to initiate an effective T cell response, it requires an antigen to be presented via MHC, sufficient expression of co-stimulatory molecules, and also the proximity to T cells is necessary for their interactions. Therefore, the location of DCs is crucial for the activation of T cells, which requires the migration of DCs from tissues to LNs, and β_2 integrins have been implicated in this process. The chemokine receptor CCR7 is upregulated on DCs to mediate their migration to LNs¹⁴⁵ and BMDCs lacking functional β_2 integrin receptors expressed higher levels of CCR7⁷³. This suggests that loss of β_2 integrin function may enhance DC migration via CCR7. In agreement with this, endogenous DCs were increased in the spleen and LNs of mice with signalling-deficient β_2 integrin receptors, due to a higher proportion of migratory DCs expressing CD103 and CD11b⁷³. These data suggest that in the absence of functional β_2 integrins, DCs are more migratory and therefore integrins may play a role in restricting DC migration *in vivo*, but β_2 integrin expression is not required for DC migration to LNs. Other studies have also suggested that the migration of DCs to LNs occurs independently of β_2 integrins. The adoptive transfer

of LPS-matured BMDCs demonstrated their ability to migrate into LNs and localise to the T cell zone, and DCs lacking multiple integrins including β_2 (β_1 , β_2 , β_3 and β_7) showed equivalent migration to WT DCs⁷². In contrast to this, the number of DCs in the lungs was reduced in CD18 KO mice, potentially suggesting a role for β_2 integrins in mediating DC migration to the lungs. However, as these mice had a global-deficiency in CD18 the indirect effect of another cell population on DC numbers cannot be ruled out. Overall the evidence in the literature suggests that DCs do not require β_2 integrins for migration to LNs but further work is required to determine whether specific DC subsets or migration to other tissues involves β_2 integrins.

It is clear that β_2 integrins can affect DC activation and may be involved in the antigen uptake and migration of DCs, therefore the next question is what impact this may have on their interactions with T cells. There is evidence to support the hypothesis that DC regulation by β_2 integrins affects their ability to prime T cells. The transfer of BMDCs lacking functional β_2 integrin receptors resulted in enhanced levels of T cell-derived IFNy, compared to levels induced by integrin-sufficient BMDCs⁷³. This suggests the loss of β_2 integrin expression causes BMDCs to induce greater Th1 responses. Another study using BMDCs that express a constitutively active form of CD11a showed that when cultured with CD4 T cells, these DCs were less able to induce T cell proliferation, expression of T-bet and production of IFNy than BMDCs with normal CD11a expression⁸⁸. This again indicates that β_2 integrins can negatively regulate DCs to limit the priming of Th1 cells. It was suggested by Varga *et al.* that CD11b, but not CD11a, is the β_2 integrin receptor responsible for inhibiting the priming of T cells⁹⁷. They showed that inducing integrin receptor activation in vitro using magnesium enhances the binding of BMDCs to ICAM-1, and this effect could be blocked using antibodies against CD18 or CD11b but not CD11a or CD11c. When activated BMDCs were pre-incubated with anti-CD11b they induced lower levels of T cell proliferation⁹⁷. In a study using human monocytederived DCs, the ligation of CD11b reduced their ability to induce Th17 cells through downregulation of cytokine production (IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23)¹⁸⁷. Similarly in mice, the ligation of CD11b on BMDCs decreased their production of IL-6, IL-12 and TNF and their ability to activate T cells¹⁸⁸. These studies indicate that β_2 integrins act to negatively regulate the activation of DCs, which in turn contributes to restricting T cell activation. However, the specific β_2 integrin/s responsible for this effect and which signalling pathways they modulate are not yet fully characterised.
Overall, there is evidence to support the role of β_2 integrins in negatively regulating DCs under steady state conditions and following TLR activation. This integrinmediated regulation also impacts on the ability of DCs to induce T cell responses. As DCs are essential mediators of immune activation versus tolerance, understanding the mechanism of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation in DCs may provide new targets for the treatment of diseases where there is inappropriate immune activation due to a loss of tolerance.

1.5 Gammadelta (γδ) T Cells

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells are innate-like lymphocytes that share features of both innate and adaptive immune cells. They are found predominantly at mucosal sites in the body, with a lower frequency present in the blood and LNs. They are the first T cells to be produced during embryonic development and have an important role in neonatal immunity, responses to infection and immune surveillance^{189,190}.

1.5.1 Development of $\gamma\delta$ T cells

1.5.1.1 Murine $\gamma\delta$ T cell development

Both $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells develop from a common double negative (CD4⁻CD8⁻) precursor in the thymus^{191,192}. The precise mechanisms that govern the decision between $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cell fates are not completely understood - it is debated whether T cell fate is pre-determined or induced by specific signals during thymic development¹⁹³. There is also evidence that epidermal $\gamma\delta$ T cells develop from yolk sac precursors independently of haematopoietic precursors¹⁹⁴. The development of γδ T cells in mice occurs in waves during embryonic stages, each of which is associated with a distinct T cell receptor (TCR) Vy chain and localisation to specific tissues (Table 1-1, Figure 1-5), reviewed in^{195,196}. The first wave of γδ T cell development occurs from days E13-15, when Vy5-expressing yo T cells are generated. These cells migrate to the skin to become an epidermal-resident population¹⁹⁷. Following this, $V\gamma6^+ \gamma\delta$ T cells then develop from E16-18, which migrate to the lungs, uterus, tongue, dermis and peritoneal cavity^{198–200}. Vy4⁺ and Vy1⁺ vo T cells are produced from E18 into post-natal life, and predominantly localise to the spleen and lymph nodes²⁰¹. Vy7⁺ cells are found in the intestines²⁰², and can develop in the thymus²⁰³ but there is also evidence for extra-thymic development, as V γ 7-expressing cells develop in athymic mice²⁰⁴.

Each of the yo T cell subsets described preferentially secrete either IFNy or IL-17 but can also produce other cytokines (Table 1-1), an effector phenotype which they gain during thymic development²⁰⁵. This allows for rapid responses in the periphery, whereby $\gamma\delta$ T cells produce cytokines without the need for clonal expansion. This is in contrast to $\alpha\beta$ T cells that require antigen presentation via MHC to induce their clonal expansion before they can secrete high levels of effector cytokines. The subsets of vo T cells that produce IFNv versus IL-17 can be separated according to surface marker and transcription factor expression. IFNy-producing vδ T cells are CD62L^{hi} CD44^{lo} CD45RB⁺ CD27⁺ and express T-bet, whereas IL-17-producing γδ T cells are CD62L^{lo} CD44^{hi} CD45RB⁻ CD27⁻ and express RORyt^{199,206,207}. This cytokine signature of $v\delta$ T cell subsets is established during thymic development and is under epigenetic control that maintains the preferential cytokine production in the periphery²⁰⁸. Of note, is that $Vy1^+$ and $Vy4^+$ $y\delta$ T cells can develop as either IL-17-producers or IFNy-producers and can be distinguished using the markers described above whereas, Vy5⁺ and Vy6⁺ cells produce IFNy and IL-17, respectively²⁰³.

It is still not well understood how the initial migration of different $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets to specific tissues is controlled, with the exception of V γ 5⁺ cells. During thymic development, V γ 5⁺ cells upregulate expression of CCR10, which is required for their migration to the skin²⁰⁹, where keratinocytes produce CCL27 (the ligand for CCR10)²¹⁰. It has also been shown that CCL25 is produced in the intestines²¹¹, and the intestine-associated V γ 7⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells express the corresponding receptor CCR9²¹¹. Trafficking of V γ 7⁺ cells to the small intestine was also found to be partially dependent on the integrin $\alpha_4\beta_7^{212}$. CCR6 expression on V γ 4⁺ and V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells is involved in their migration to the dermis under homeostasis²¹³, but it is unclear which chemokines and/or adhesion receptors direct the migration of V γ 6-expressing cells to the lungs and uterus.

There are some pathways that are described to play a role in the development of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, but there is still much to be understood about the mechanisms underlying $\gamma\delta$ T cell subset development, which is the subject of ongoing research. The development of the IFN γ -producing V $\gamma5^+$ and V $\gamma7^+$ subsets is dependent on butyrophillin (Btnl) and btnl-like molecules. Skint1 is an immunoglobulin superfamily member, with homology to btnl molecules²¹⁴. Skint1, expressed on thymic epithelial cells and keratinocytes, is required for both the development and maintenance of

Vγ5⁺ γδ T cells^{214,215}. Binding of γδ T cells to Skint1 on thymic epithelial cells upregulates Egr3 in the γδ T cell, which induces differentiation into IFNγ-producing effectors²¹⁵. Btnl1 and Btnl6, expressed on epithelial cells in the small intestine villus, are required for the expansion and maintenance of Vγ7-expressing γδ T cells in the gut²¹⁶, where Vγ7-expressing γδ T cells are thought to develop extrathymically. The receptor for Skint1 has not been identified, but there is evidence that the Vγ7⁺ TCR recognises Btnl molecules²¹⁷. Several Sox family transcription factors have been implicated in the development of IL-17-producing γδ T cells. Sox13 and Sox4 are required for the thymic development of Vγ4⁺ cells, as this subset is absent in mice that lack the expression of Sox13 or Sox4^{218,219}. However, the pathways that induce Vγ6⁺ γδ T cell subset development and maintenance have not yet been characterised.

There is also evidence to suggest that TCR signal strength is one of the determining factors in the development of yδ T cell subsets. In SKG mice the loss of Zap-70 function, a kinase downstream of the TCR, reduced the numbers of IL-17⁺ γδ T cells but not CD27⁺ IFNy-producers²²⁰. This suggests that the generation of IL-17producing γδ T cells requires TCR signals. However, induction of TCR signalling using an anti-TCR $\gamma\delta$ antibody inhibited the development of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells, whereas inhibition of Erk signalling downstream of the TCR enhanced IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ production while inhibiting IFN γ^+ $\gamma\delta$ development²⁰³. The discrepancy between TCR signalling promoting or inhibiting IL-17⁺ γδ T cell development in these studies may suggest that Zap-70 signalling is necessary for the generation of IL-17⁺ γδ T cells but not necessarily strong TCR signals. In CD3 double-haploinsufficient mice, that have reduced TCR expression and downstream Erk signalling in vδ T cells, there is decreased development of Vy6⁺ but not Vy4⁺ y δ T cells²²¹, suggesting the effect of TCR signalling is specific to individual γδ T cell subsets. These studies imply that TCR-mediated signalling is involved in $\gamma\delta$ T cell development, but when and how the strength of TCR signalling in the thymus is delivered remains to be fully elucidated.



Figure 1-5 Murine $\gamma\delta$ T cell development.

Adapted from Carding and Egan²²². Murine $\gamma\delta$ T cell subset 'waves' of development are depicted, together with the tissue(s) in which each subset resides.

Subset	Age of development	TCR Repertoire	Tissue Localisation	Cytokine Production
Vγ1	E19 - postnatal	Diverse	Liver and lymphoid	IFNγ and TNF Can produce IL-17 and IL-4
Vγ4	E17 - postnatal	Diverse	Lymphoid, lungs and liver	IL-17 or IFNγ
Vγ5	E13 - E15	Invariant (Vγ5Vδ1)	Epidermis	IFNγ Can produce IL-22 and TNF
Vy6	E15 - E18	Invariant (Vγ6Vδ1)	Uterus, lungs and tongue	IL-17 Can produce IFNγ
Vy7	E19 - postnatal	Some variety	Intestine	IFNγ

Table 1-1 Summary of murine $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets

Adapted from²²³ showing $\gamma\delta$ T cell subset development timings, TCR diversity, and specific tissue localisation and cytokine potential. Note that V γ 2 also exists at the mRNA level, however only a minority of sequences are in-frame and there is no correlation between in-frame V γ 2 transcripts and level of expression at the cell surface^{224–226}.

1.5.1.2 Human γδ T cell development

The development of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in humans also occurs during embryonic stages, however the subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells differ to those in mice. Human $\gamma\delta$ T cells are broadly divided according to delta chain expression into V δ 1⁺ and V δ 2⁺ cells. V δ 2⁺ cells are produced early during gestation²²⁷, whereas V δ 1⁺ cells are generated later during embryonic development, with the majority of $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing V δ 1 in cord blood²²⁸ and in the paediatric thymus²²⁹. The V δ 2⁺ cells then expand post-birth

and become the predominant population in the peripheral blood of adults²³⁰. V δ 2expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells have a limited TCR repertoire^{227,231}, similar to the early developing murine $\gamma\delta$ T cells, whereas V δ 1-expressing cells have a more diverse repertoire²³². Unlike $\gamma\delta$ T cells in mice with a more diverse repertoire that are located in the peripheral LNs, V δ 1⁺ cells are predominantly located in tissues such as the intestine, skin and spleen^{233,234}.

There is evidence to suggest that, unlike in mice, human $v\delta$ T cells do not undergo functional pre-programming in the thymus. Comparison of γδ T cells from paediatric thymus and blood found that those in the thymus required activation by cytokines to enable their IFNy production and to perform cytotoxic functions, whereas those from the blood readily produced cytokines²²⁹. γδ T cells that express T-bet and are capable of producing IFNy are found in humans²²⁷, but there is less evidence to support the presence of IL-17-producing γδ T cells in healthy individuals, unlike the presence of IL-17⁺ γδ T cells in mice during homeostasis. However, IL-17-producing γδ T cells can be induced *in vitro* by IL-7 treatment²³⁵ or a cocktail of cytokines in combination with phosphoantigens²³⁶. They have been detected in individuals with bacterial meningitis²³⁶, HIV²³⁷, psoriasis²³⁸ and pulmonary tuberculosis²³⁹. This suggests that in humans $\gamma\delta$ T cells may not be pre-programmed to produce IL-17 but under certain conditions during infection or inflammation these cells can be induced. In addition, most human studies use cells isolated from peripheral blood therefore, there may be IL-17-producing $v\delta$ T cells present in human tissues that are not readily accessible and rarely studied.

Although the subsets and characterisation of $\gamma \delta$ T cells differs between mice and humans, the general localisation is similar, with $\gamma \delta$ T cells found predominantly at barrier sites such as the skin, lungs and intestines, but also can be located in the blood and LNs¹⁸⁹. They also display similar functions including: regulation of keratinocytes for wound repair²⁴⁰, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines²⁴¹ and recognition of stress-induced ligands for cytotoxic responses to tumour cells²⁴². Therefore, the use of mouse models to understand the development and functions of $\gamma \delta$ T cells has translational capacity.

1.5.2 Survival and maintenance of $\gamma\delta$ T cells

Following thymic development, yo T cells become resident in peripheral tissues where they perform important effector functions. IL-17-producing vo T cells are thought to develop exclusively in the embryonic thymus and are then retained in the periphery through self-renewal²⁴³. Using bone marrow chimeras it was shown that IL-17-producing γδ T cells cannot be generated in the adult thymus, regardless of whether the source of donor cells was from foetal or adult mice²⁴⁴. In line with these findings, following conditional depletion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, those with an IL-17-producing phenotype (CD27⁻CD44^{high}), including Vy4⁺ and Vy6⁺ cells, did not fully reconstitute the spleen and peripheral LNs. In contrast, those with an IFNy-producing phenotype (CD27⁺CD44^{low}), including Vy1⁺ cells in the spleen/LNs and Vy7⁺ cells in the intestine, returned to normal levels after 7 weeks²⁴⁵. The exception was the IFNyproducing Vy5⁺ cells in the skin, that displayed a poor recovery, presumably due to their exclusive generation during embryonic development. Using another approach where $\gamma\delta$ T cells were labelled with RFP in a tamoxifen-inducible system, IFN γ producers lost their RFP expression 7 weeks post tamoxifen whereas IL-17producers retained the RFP label and this was true for cells in the spleen, LNs and liver²⁴⁵. This suggests that IFNy-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells are constantly replenished by newly generated cells from the thymus, whereas the turnover of IL-17-producers is much slower.

There are several cytokines and surface molecules that are thought to be involved in promoting the survival of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Studies have demonstrated the importance of IL-7 in $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival. Following the labelling of proliferating cells with BrdU, in IL-7 KO mice there was a greater loss of BrdU⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells compared to heterozygous controls²⁴⁶, indicating the importance of IL-7 for $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival. $\gamma\delta$ T cells have also been shown to upregulate the pro-survival molecules Bcl2, Bcl2-xL and Mcl-1 in response to IL-7²⁴⁷. In contrast to this, the administration of IL-2 *in vivo* enhanced $\gamma\delta$ T cell death, based on expression of caspase-8²⁴⁸. Signalling via CD28 has also been implicated in $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival, as blocking B7 molecules (ligands for CD28) enhanced $\gamma\delta$ T cell apoptosis whereas activating CD28 inhibited cell death²⁴⁹.

1.5.3 Functions of $\gamma\delta$ T Cells

Unlike $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are not restricted to recognising peptides in the context of MHC and can instead recognise non-peptide antigens. There are several characterised $\gamma\delta$ TCR ligands including phycoerythrin²⁵⁰, the non-classical MHC molecule CD1d²⁵¹, herpes simplex virus glycoprotein²⁵² and heat shock proteins²⁵³. In addition, the activation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells can occur through other receptors, such as NKG2D, which recognises stress-related molecules expressed by epithelial cells²⁵⁴. The TCR repertoire of $\gamma\delta$ T cells located at mucosal sites (e.g. V γ 5/V γ 6) are invariant, yet can respond to a variety of pathogens, suggesting that TCR recognition and signalling is not required for function^{198,255}. The roles of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in regulating homeostasis, activation of other immune cells and contribution to disease are detailed below.

1.5.3.1 Role in physiological functions

There is increasing evidence to show that $\gamma \delta$ T cells can play important roles in maintaining tissue homeostasis, in addition to their immune functions. In response to tissue damage $\gamma \delta$ T cells promote epithelial cell regeneration to maintain physical barriers. These barrier sites include the skin, lungs, intestines and uterus, all of which are sites populated by $\gamma \delta$ T cells. For example, $\gamma \delta$ T cells in the skin induce the maturation of keratinocytes and mediate tissue repair through production of IL-13²⁵⁶. More recently, $\gamma \delta$ T cells were identified in adipose tissue, where they regulate thermogenesis²⁵⁷. This function was demonstrated using TCR δ KO mice, which lacked the ability to restore their body temperature following exposure to cold due to the loss of IL-17 production²⁵⁷. IL-17-producing $\gamma \delta$ T cells are also necessary for effective bone regeneration, as mice lacking either $\gamma \delta$ T cells or IL-17 showed impaired generation of new bone following injury, and in WT mice most of the IL-17-producing cells in the bone marrow were $\gamma \delta$ T cells²⁵⁸.

1.5.3.2 Interactions with DCs and antigen presentation

When cultured with DCs, $\gamma\delta$ T cells induced the upregulation of MHC, CD86 and CD83 on the DCs in a contact-dependent manner²⁵⁹. It was also shown that activated $\gamma\delta$ T cells can enhance LPS-induced activation of DCs, resulting in increased production of IL-12 and an enhanced ability to induce Th1 responses²⁶⁰.

In turn, DCs could induce $\gamma\delta$ T cell proliferation and increase their production of IFN γ and TNF, though IL-17 was not measured²⁶⁰.

In addition to activating and/or enhancing antigen-presenting functions of DCs, there is evidence that $\gamma\delta$ T cells themselves can present antigen. Human $\gamma\delta$ T cells upregulate MHC I and MHC II, CD80/CD86 and CCR7 in response to isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP), a ligand for the human V γ 9V δ 2 TCR, and this enabled them to induce proliferation of naïve CD4 T cells²⁶¹. The expression of MHC II could also be induced on murine $\gamma\delta$ T cells *in vitro* by stimulation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, and these cells induced $\alpha\beta$ T cell proliferation²⁶². It remains to be determined whether $\gamma\delta$ T cells can present antigen *in vivo*, although expression of MHC II was induced on $\gamma\delta$ T cells in response to immunisation with CFA²⁶³.

1.5.3.3 Interactions with B cells

There are several studies to suggest that $\gamma \delta T$ cells are capable of supporting B cell responses. In mice that lack $\alpha\beta$ T cells, germinal centres and class-switched antibodies were detected, suggesting that $\gamma\delta$ T cells may be capable of providing help to B cells²⁶⁴. In the absence of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, mice had reduced levels of IgE and IgG1 in response to immunisation with ovalbumin²⁶⁵. More recently, it was also shown that in response to DNA damage in the skin, $\gamma\delta$ T cells promoted the production of IgE by B cells²⁶⁶. The B cell-promoting effect of $\gamma\delta$ T cells may be indirect, for example by influencing T follicular helper (Tfh) cells which are the main cell population that provides help to B cells. $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been shown to induce Tfh generation, as in TCR δ KO mice immunisation with OVA/CFA resulted in reduced germinal centre formation, Tfh generation and antibody production²⁶⁷.

1.5.3.4 Responses to infection

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells can respond to infection or disruption of the epithelial barrier through recognition of stress-markers expressed on epithelial cells, such as keratinocytes found in the skin²⁶⁸. This recognition of stress markers expressed on epithelial cells has led to the description of $\gamma\delta$ T cell function in lymphoid stress surveillance²⁶⁹. The activation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells via NKG2D is induced by ligands upregulated on cells in response to infection or stress, such as RAE1 and H60 (in mice), MICA and MICB (in humans)²⁷⁰. This ability to recognise any cause of disruption to the epithelial barrier and respond immediately results in a protective response against several

different types of infection. The production of IL-17 by $\gamma\delta$ T cells is required for the elimination of *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in the skin²⁷¹. In response to oral *Listeria monocytogenes* infection, $\gamma\delta$ T cells capable of producing IFN γ and IL-17 migrate to the intestine and enhance bacterial clearance following secondary infection²⁷². $\gamma\delta$ T cells can also influence the recruitment of other immune cells. They play a protective role in the response to chikungunya virus, where in the absence of $\gamma\delta$ T cells the increased infiltration of other inflammatory cells exacerbates tissue damage²⁷³. Finally, in the lungs, $\gamma\delta$ T cells induced by *Candida albicans* infection recruit neutrophils to enhance fungal clearance²⁷⁴ and the same is true for bacterial clearance following *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection²⁷⁵.

1.5.3.5 Role in cancer

The role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in tumour surveillance was first implicated by the observation that mice lacking $\gamma\delta$ T cells showed enhanced tumour development and burden in models using injection of PVD carcinoma cells and chemical carcinogenesis induced by DMBA¹⁹⁰. Further research has since found that $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be both protective and pathogenic towards tumours, depending on their subset (i.e. which cytokine they produce) and the type of cancer. The protective effect of $\gamma\delta$ T cells has been shown in B cell lymphoma, melanoma and colon cancer^{276–278}. IFNγ-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells are thought to mediate these anti-tumour effects through cytokine production, release of perforin to mediate cell-killing and by inducing class I MHC molecule expression on tumour cells that enables recognition by CD8⁺ T cells^{279–281}.

Several cancer models in mice have demonstrated that, unlike IFNγ-producers, IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells can increase tumour formation and metastasis. In a murine breast cancer model system, IL-17 production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells had a pro-tumour effect through the expansion of neutrophils that suppressed anti-tumour CD8⁺ T cells²⁸². In an ovarian cancer model, $\gamma\delta$ T cell-derived IL-17 activated peritoneal macrophages that enhanced tumour cell proliferation²⁸³. Similarly, in a hepatocellular carcinoma model, myeloid-derived suppressor cells were induced by $\gamma\delta$ T cell-derived IL-17, leading to enhanced tumour growth²⁸⁴. Conversely, there is also evidence that IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be protective in cancer. The antitumour effects of bladder cancer treatment using *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG were dependent on the recruitment of neutrophils mediated by IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁸⁵.

44

In humans, $\gamma \delta T$ cells are also associated with both pro- and anti-tumour effects. Patients with breast cancer showed a positive correlation between $\gamma \delta T$ cell infiltrate in the tumour and advanced tumour stages as well as lymph node metastasis, indicative of a pro-tumour effect²⁸⁶. Whereas analysis of the leukocyte infiltrate across 25 different cancers found that high levels of $\gamma \delta T$ cells are associated with favourable outcomes, suggesting an important anti-tumour function²⁸⁷.

Despite the contrasting roles for $v\delta T$ cells in cancer it is clear that $v\delta T$ cells capable of performing cytotoxic functions and producing IFNy can mediate anti-tumour effects. This has led to the investigation of $v\delta$ T cell based immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer²⁷⁸. Most approaches involve the expansion of Vy9Vδ2⁺ γδ T cells, as these are readily available in peripheral blood and can be expanded in vivo and *in vitro* using aminobisphosphonates²²³. The safety of these approaches has been demonstrated in pilot studies and Phase I clinical trials, with evidence for therapeutic effects in some patients. In patients with metastatic breast cancer, the combined treatment of zoledronic acid and low dose IL-2 led to a correlation between the number of Vy9V δ 2⁺ cells and positive clinical outcomes (stable disease or partial remission)²⁸⁸. In another study using IL-2 with palmidronate, many patients with non-Hodgkin lymphoma or multiple myeloma showed stable disease or partial remission, again associated with increased Vy9Vδ2⁺ cells²⁸⁹. yδ T cells expanded in patients using these approaches display an effector phenotype based on CD69 expression, express HLA-DR indicating a potential for antigen presentation, and showed an enhanced capability to produce IFNy^{288–290}. There is contrasting data on the use of zoledronic acid and IL-2, as in patients with renal cell carcinoma the treatment reduced the percentage of Vy9Vδ2⁺ cells in vivo and they displayed impaired proliferation *in vitro*²⁹¹ highlighting the need for optimisation of expansion protocols to deliver consistent results.

Optimisation of these protocols to expand $\gamma\delta$ T cells requires a better understanding of the pathways involved in $\gamma\delta$ T cell proliferation and function. $V\delta1^+\gamma\delta$ T cells have not yet been used in clinical trials but there is evidence they have anti-tumour effects and are less susceptible to activation-induced cell death than $V\delta2^+$ cells²⁹². The use of $V\delta1^+\gamma\delta$ T cells as a therapeutic requires the development of a protocol for selective expansion and activation. It is still not currently well understood how $\gamma\delta$ T cells are regulated *in vivo*. This is important to understand how the $\gamma\delta$ T cells migrate to the tumour/metastasis sites, how they interact with tumour cells and other

immune cells to mediate anti-tumour effects, what governs the stability of their phenotype when transferred or expanded (e.g. cytokine production), and what controls their survival. Elucidating the pathways involved in $\gamma\delta$ T cell regulation will improve the success of $\gamma\delta$ T cell therapeutics through the generation of cells of the correct phenotype with sufficient migratory capacity and survival *in vivo* for them to carry out effector functions.

1.5.4 β_2 integrins and $\gamma\delta$ T cells

 $\alpha\beta$ T cells express high levels of CD11a and the function of this integrin has been well characterised to contribute to $\alpha\beta$ T cell effector functions. In $\alpha\beta$ T cells, CD11a has been shown to mediate cell-cell contacts for immune synapse formation and cytotoxic functions, as well as extravasation from the bloodstream into tissues and trafficking into lymph nodes^{64,68,87,293}. The roles of CD11a may be different in $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

 β_2 integrins are expressed on $\gamma\delta$ T cells in both mice and humans. In mice, $\gamma\delta$ T cells express reduced β_2 integrins compared to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been shown to express highest levels of CD18/CD11a and to a lesser extent CD11b, CD11c and CD11d^{59,294}. Whereas in humans, analysis of T cells from peripheral blood identified that $\gamma\delta$ T cells express higher levels of CD11a³⁴ and CD11d⁶¹ than $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Although the role of different β_2 integrin receptors in $\gamma\delta$ T cell function has not been extensively studied, there are several studies that have started to uncover their role.

Some studies have assessed the role of β_2 integrins in $\gamma \delta$ T cell migration using disease models. In a mouse model of multiple sclerosis, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), pathogenic $\gamma \delta$ T cells that infiltrated the central nervous system (CNS) upregulated β_2 integrins, whereas integrin expression on $\alpha\beta$ T cells was unchanged⁵⁹. This suggested that β_2 integrins may be important for $\gamma \delta$ T cell migration into the CNS. However, subsequent work from the same group found that when transferred into mice with EAE, β_2 integrin-deficient $\gamma \delta$ T cells were able to traffic effectively into the CNS²⁹⁵, indicating that beta2 integrin receptors are not required for $\gamma \delta$ T cell trafficking to the site of inflammation in this model. In line with this, it was shown that in mice with CD18 expression at 2-16% of WT levels (CD18^{Hypo}PL/J), inflammatory skin lesions that spontaneously develop showed a

greater $\gamma\delta$ T cell infiltrate than controls²⁹⁶. Again, this suggests that the migration of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to effector sites is not dependent on β_2 integrins. However, there is some evidence suggesting the involvement of β_2 integrins in $\gamma\delta$ T cell migration. Following corneal wound abrasion, CD11a KO mice showed reduced yδ T cell numbers in the epithelium compared to WT, suggesting that the migration of $y\delta$ T cells to this site may be partially dependent on β_2 integrins. Alternatively, this may indicate the dependence of $v\delta$ T cells on β_2 integrins for migration is a tissue-dependent effect or an indirect effect through altered infiltration of other cells, that reduce the recruitment or retention of yo T cells. When adoptively transferred, CD18 KO yo T cells predominantly migrated to the liver and lungs, and were also found in the spleen but not peripheral LNs²⁹⁷. This again suggests that migration of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to certain tissues does not require β_2 integrins, although they did not directly compare the migration with integrin-sufficient $y\delta$ T cells or characterise the subsets of $y\delta$ T cells that were transferred, which may influence where the cells migrate. Overall, evidence from the current literature supports the hypothesis that, in contrast to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\sqrt{\delta}$ T cell migration occurs independently of β_2 integrins. However, there are currently no studies that directly test the contribution of β_2 integrins to $v\delta$ T cell migration under steady state conditions.

There is also evidence that suggests β_2 integrins are important for mediating the cellular interactions of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. It was shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells can interact with endothelial cells via CD11a-ICAM-1 interactions²⁹⁸. However, the functional consequences of this interaction, and the specific requirement for individual integrin subunits, were not explored. Several studies describe the requirement for β_2 integrins for effective target cell killing by $\gamma\delta$ T cells, likely also by binding to ICAMs. Imaging of $\gamma\delta$ T cells bound to K562 leukaemia cells showed that CD11a localised to the region of contact between the two cells²⁹⁹. Using a blocking antibody against CD18, the cytotoxicity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells against pancreatic cancer cells was inhibited⁷⁹, and against CD11a reduced the killing of Burkitt's lymphoma⁸⁰ and Daudi lymphoma cells³⁰⁰. The expression of the β_2 integrin ligands ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 were also found to be required for effective killing of pancreatic cancer cells by $\gamma\delta$ T cells³⁰¹. These studies indicate that, despite playing less of a role in $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and in particular are required their cytotoxic functions.

In addition to these studies of integrin contribution to $v\delta$ T cell migration and interactions, there is also evidence that the reduction or loss of β_2 integrin expression can cause an expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells suggesting a role for β_2 integrins in yo T cell proliferation. In mice with reduced CD18 expression there is an increased number of IL-17-producing $v\delta$ T cells in the skin-draining LNs which becomes exacerbated when they develop a spontaneous skin inflammation and $\gamma\delta$ T cells migrate into the skin²⁹⁶. CD11a KO mice have been shown to develop periodontal disease with age, which also correlates with an infiltration of IL-17-producing γδ T cells³⁰². Higher $v\delta$ T cell numbers have likewise been identified in β_2 integrindeficient mice in the absence of overt signs of inflammation. An increased number of yδ T cells has been described in the cervical LNs of CD18 KO mice²⁹⁷ and a higher percentage of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells was identified in the spleen of these mice³⁰³. The mechanisms underlying γδ T cell expansion in these CD18-deficient mouse models was not identified and the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in other mucosal tissues where $v\delta T$ cells perform essential functions, such as the lungs or intestines were not determined.

In summary, unlike for $\alpha\beta$ T cells, there is less evidence to suggest that β_2 integrins are important for the migration of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Yet, similar to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, the optimal cytotoxic function of $\gamma\delta$ T cells via binding to target cells requires β_2 integrins. The increased number of IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the absence of β_2 integrin expression suggests a possible regulatory function, but it is unclear whether this is a direct effect on $\gamma\delta$ T cells or mediated indirectly through another cell population.

1.6 Hypothesis and Aims

The aims of this thesis are based on the hypothesis that β_2 integrins are a negative regulator of DCs and $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

It is well characterised that β_2 integrin receptors contribute to pro-immune functions. β_2 integrins are involved in the formation of contacts between immune cells^{75,304} and enhance immune activation and signalling⁸⁴. The migration of cells for entry into LNs⁶⁸ and transmigration into tissues⁶⁴ is dependent on β_2 integrins. The cytotoxic function of immune cells is also enhanced with β_2 integrin-mediated adhesion^{77,79,87,301}. Despite these findings, in both mice and humans there is evidence that the loss of β_2 integrin expression is associated with inappropriate inflammation and autoimmunity. In humans with mutations in β_2 genes there is an increased incidence of colitis¹¹⁹ and lupus¹²⁰, and in mice the loss of β_2 integrin expression can lead to spontaneous inflammation in the skin⁵ and oral mucosa³⁰². As the loss of β_2 integrin expression is associated with an increase in inflammation, this suggests that in addition to their roles in promoting immune responses, β_2 integrins can also act as immune regulators. Therefore, the overall aim of this thesis was to explore the immuno-regulatory roles of β_2 integrins. Immune regulation by β_2 integrins was explored in DCs and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, based on evidence from the literature to suggest a regulatory role for integrins in these cell types.

DCs from CD18 KO mice were hypersensitive to TLR stimulation¹⁸² and the loss of functional β_2 integrin receptors resulted in an increased activation of DCs under steady state conditions⁷³. In chapter 3 I sought to determine the specific subunits involved in the negative regulation of DCs and the effect integrin-mediated regulation of DCs has on the outcome of the subsequent T cell response.

In mice with reduced or complete loss of CD18 expression, there is evidence of enhanced numbers of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen³⁰³, skin²⁹⁶ and cervical LNs²⁹⁷. As the loss of integrin expression causes an increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells, my hypothesis is that β_2 integrins act as a novel regulator of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In chapter 4 I characterised the phenotype and localisation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice and in chapter 5 I explored potential mechanisms underlying the expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in these mice.

2.1 Mice

Details of all mouse strains used are listed in Table 2-1. For CD11a, CD11c and CD11d KO strains mice were initially bred from the sources listed. Upon discovery of an additional mutation in the *Dock2* gene present in these mice (detailed in Chapter 3), mice were crossed with C57BL/6 and selected for WT expression of *Dock2*. These *Dock2*^{WT} strains with retained integrin deficiency were used as indicated in Chapter 3 and in Chapter 4. Mice were used at age 6-14 weeks unless otherwise indicated. Mice were housed at the University of Glasgow and all protocols were conducted under licenses issued by the U.K. Home Office under the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act of 1986 and approved by the University of Glasgow Ethical Review Committee.

Name of Strain	Description	Caging	Source	
C57BL/6J	Wild type	Conventional	Envigo or transgenic negatives from CD18 KO line	
CD11a KO (B6.129S7- <i>Itgal^{tm1BII/J})</i>	Global knockout for <i>Itgal</i>	Conventional	Jackson Laboratories (cat # 005257)	
CD11b KO (B6.129S4- <i>Itgal^{tm1Myd/J})</i>	Global knockout for <i>Itgam</i>	Conventional	Jackson Laboratories (cat # 003991)	
CD11c KO	Global knockout for <i>Itgax</i>	Conventional	Gift from Prof Christie Ballantyne, Baylor College of Medicine, Texas, USA	
CD11d KO (B6.129S7- <i>Itgad^{tm1Bll/J}</i>)	Global knockout for <i>Itgad</i>	Conventional	Jackson Laboratories (cat # 005258)	
CD18 KO (B6.129s7- <i>Itgb2^{tm2Bay}</i> /J)	Global knockout for <i>ltgb2</i>	Individually ventilated cages	Jackson Laboratories (cat # 003329)	
CD11a/CD11c Het	Heterozygous for <i>Itgal</i> and <i>Itgam</i>	Conventional	Bred in-house by crossing CD11a and CD11c KO strains	
OT-II	T cells express a T cell receptor that specifically recognises chicken ovalbumin peptide (323- 339) in the context of MHC Class II molecule I-A ^{d 305}	Conventional	Bred in-house	

2.2 Cell Isolation

Cells were counted by trypan blue exclusion using a haemocytometer.

2.2.1 Lymphoid Organs

Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric lymph nodes, mediastinal lymph nodes peripheral lymph nodes (inguinal, brachial and axillary) and thymus by mashing the tissue between two pieces of 45µm nylon filtration fabric NITEX (Cadisch) in Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) (Gibco) supplemented 2% foetal calf serum (FCS) (Gibco). When DCs were going to be analysed, the organs were chopped into small pieces using a scalpel then digested in HBSS with 2% FCS and 2.68mg/ml collagenase D (Roche) in a shaking incubator at 37°C, 220rpm for 30mins prior to mashing. Cells were then pelleted by centrifugation at 400xg for 5min at 4°C. Splenocytes were then red blood cell (RBC) lysed using 1ml RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) incubated at room temperature for 2.5min before washing in PBS.

2.2.2 Blood

Up to 300µl of blood was collected by cardiac puncture into 10µl of 0.5M EDTA. RBCs were lysed by adding 1ml RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) for 2.5min at room temperature then cells were washed in PBS. This process was repeated 3-4 times, until the cell pellets were no longer visibly red.

2.2.3 Lungs

Lungs were digested as described previously³⁰⁶. Briefly, lungs were perfused with 10ml of 2mM EDTA prior to dissection then cut into small pieces. The tissues were incubated with 1.34mg/ml collagenase D (Roche) and 100 μ g/ml DNase (Sigma Aldrich) at 37°C, 200rpm for 40min then mashed through a 70 μ m cell strainer.

2.2.4 Small Intestine and Colon

SI and colons were washed in HBSS 2% FCS then fat and Peyer's patches were removed. The intestines were cut longitudinally, washed in HBSS 2% FCS to remove luminal contents then cut into 0.5cm segments. For SI, segments were incubated in 10ml of 2mM EDTA/HBSS at 37°C for 10mins then the supernatant

was collected by filtering through 45µM nylon filtration fabric NITEX (Cadisch; SI only). The SI supernatant contains cells from the epithelial layer. This was repeated a further two times then the segments were washed using 10ml of warmed HBSS. SI and colon segments were digested using 0.625mg/ml Collagenase V (Sigma Aldrich), 0.425mg/ml Collagenase D (Roche), 1mg/ml Dispase (Gibco) and 30ug/ml DNase (Roche) at 37°C, shaking at 160rpm for 25mins (SI) or 45mins (colon). Following digestion, the cell suspension was filtered through a 100µm followed by 40µm cell strainer.

2.2.5 Skin

Both ears were removed and cut into small pieces before incubating with 2mg/ml Collagenase IV (Sigma Aldrich), 2mg/ml Hyaluronidase (Sigma Aldrich) and 100 U/ml DNase (Invitrogen) for 40min at 37°C, shaking at 180rpm. After digestion, 2ml of complete RPMI was added to stop the reaction and the tissues were dissociated in gentleMACS C-tubes (Miltenyi Biotec) using the gentleMACs dissociator manufacturer program B.01 twice. Samples were then mashed through a 100µm cell strainer to obtain a cell suspension.

2.2.6 Gingiva

Gingival digest protocol was adapted from Mizraji *et al.*, (2013)³⁰⁷. Briefly, the whole palette was collected and minced in PBS 2% FCS then digested using 2mg/ml Collagenase II (Lorne Laboratories) and 1mg/ml DNase I (Sigma Aldrich) for 20min, 37°C, shaking at 200rpm. 5mM EDTA was added and the gingivae were incubated for a further 10min. The samples were then filtered through a 70µm cell strainer.

2.2.7 Uterus

The uterus was digested using Multi Dissociation Kit 1 (Miltenyi Biotec) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, tissue was minced then incubated with 2.5ml incomplete RPMI (without added FCS or antibiotics), 100µl Enzyme D, 50µl Enzyme R and 12.5µl Enzyme A at 37°C, shaking at 200rpm for 20mins. Tissues were dissociated in gentleMACS C-tubes (Miltenyi Biotec) using the gentleMACs dissociator manufacturer program C then incubated for a further 20mins and the dissociation repeated. Samples were then mashed through a 70µm cell strainer to obtain a cell suspension.

2.2.8 Bone Marrow

Bone marrow cells were obtained by cutting the ends off the femoral and tibia bones and flushing PBS through using a 26G needle. Cells were then pelleted by centrifugation at 400xg for 5min at 4°C. Cells were then RBC lysed using 1ml RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) incubated at room temperature for 2.5min before washing in PBS.

2.3 Generation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs)

BMDCs were generated by culturing bone marrow cells obtained from femoral and tibia bones in 10ng/ml GM-CSF (Peprotech) and 20ng/ml IL-4 (Peprotech). Total bone marrow suspensions were cultured without RBC lysis. Cells were plated into 10cm non-treated tissue culture plates and fed on days 3 and 6 of culture. BMDCs were harvested using 4mM EDTA incubated for 10min at 37°C. To activate BMDCs 50ng/ml LPS was added to the culture overnight. For flow cytometry analysis, BMDCs were gates as shown in Figure 2-1.



Figure 2-1 Gating strategy for BMDCs Representative plots from WT BMDCs cultured without LPS.

2.4 BMDC-T-Cell Co-Culture

BMDCs were either stimulated with 50ng/ml LPS or left unstimulated overnight then pulsed with 5µg/ml OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide (Sigma-Aldrich) for 90mins. Lymph nodes from OT-II mice were pooled and the tissues disrupted using the end of a 2.5ml syringe in a 40µm cell strainer to produce a single cell suspension. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 380xg for 5min at 4°C then re-suspended in PBS. Using the same process spleens from OT-II mice were also pooled then re-suspended in RBC lysis buffer (1ml per spleen) and incubated at room temperature for 2.5mins

then washed in PBS. Lymph node and spleen cells were pooled then CD4+ T cells purified by negative selection using EasySepTM Mouse CD4⁺ T Cell Isolation Kit (Stemcell Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. This provided CD4⁺ T cells of a 95-97% purity. The isolated CD4⁺ T cells were then labelled with 1µM CFSE (Life Technologies) for 20mins at 37°C. Unbound dye was removed by washing cells twice in complete RPMI. Peptide-loaded BMDCs were cultured with the CFSE-labelled CD4⁺ OT-II T cells in a ratio of 1:10 (using approx. 0.7x10⁶ T cells per well) in a total volume of 1ml in 24 well plates. Cells were harvested for flow cytometry analysis on day 1 and day 3 of culture.

2.5 Flow Cytometry

To control for background staining, fluorescence minus one (FMO) controls were used as indicated in the figures. For β_2 integrin α chain staining, CD18 KO mice were used as a negative control.

2.5.1 Extracellular Staining

Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 400xg for 5min at 4°C then re-suspended in PBS and transferred into round-bottomed 96 well plates for staining. Typically, 1x10⁶ cells were used for BMDCs and 5x10⁶ cells for *ex vivo* cell suspensions. Cells were washed in PBS, incubated in viability dye for 30mins at 4°C prior to extracellular staining then washed again in PBS. Cells were then re-suspended in 50µl Fc block (made in-house using supernatant from 2.4G2 cell line) and incubated with appropriate antibodies in FACS Buffer (PBS 2% FCS, 1mM EDTA) for 30min at 4°C, with the exception of CCR7 staining that was done at 37°C for 15min. Antibodies used are listed in Table 2-2. Cells were washed in PBS then re-suspended in 200µl FACS Buffer before running on BD LSRII, BD LSR Fortessa or BD FACSCelesta. Data was analysed using FlowJo software (Treestar).

2.5.2 Intracellular Staining

For detection of intracellular cytokines, cells were stimulated with 10ng/ml PMA (Sigma Aldrich), 500ng/ml ionomycin (Sigma Aldrich) and GolgiPlug 1:1000 (BD Biosciences) for 4h at 37°C. Cells were fixed in 100µl Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Biosciences) at 4°C for 20min then washed with 100µl Perm/Wash (BD Biosciences). Cells were then stained with appropriate antibodies in Perm/Wash for

1h at room temperature. Cells were washed in PBS then re-suspended in 200µl FACs Buffer before acquisition.

For intracellular staining of transcription factors, cells were fixed using 100µl Foxp3 Transcription Factor Fixation/Permeabilization buffer (eBioscience) for 1h at room temperature. Cells were then washed with 100µl permeabilization buffer (eBioscience) and stained with appropriate antibodies in permeabilization buffer for 1h at room temperature. Cells were washed in PBS then re-suspended in 200µl FACS Buffer before acquisition.

2.5.3 Apoptosis Marker Staining

For staining with Annexin V and 7AAD, single cell suspensions were washed in PBS following extracellular staining, then stained in Annexin V Binding Buffer (Biolegend) with Annexin V and 7AAD antibodies in a total volume of 100µl for 15mins at room temperature. 200µl of annexin buffer was then added to samples prior to running.

2.5.4 Phosphoflow

For staining of phosphorylated proteins, 50µl of single cell suspensions containing 4x10⁶ cells from the spleen, and each lungs sample was re-suspended in a total of 200µl, were exposed to 50µl of stimulus for the appropriate time in incomplete RPMI at 37°C. Cells were immediately fixed by adding 60µl of 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma Aldrich) (final concentration of 1.5%) and incubating at room temperature for 10mins, then washed twice using FACS buffer. The cells were then permeabilised with 100µl of ice-cold 100% methanol at 4°C for 30mins, then washed twice in FACS buffer. Extracellular and intracellular markers were then stained using appropriate antibodies in FACS buffer for 2h at room temperature. Cells were washed in FACS buffer then re-suspended in 200µl FACS Buffer before acquisition.

Table 2-2 Antibodies used for flow cytometry

Marker	arker Fluorochrome Clone		Conc. Used Manufacturer		
7AAD	-	-	5µl/sample	BD Biosciences	
Annexin V	APC	-	5µl/sample	Biolegend	
B220 (CD45R)	APC	RA3-7B2	1:200	BD Biosciences	
Bcl2	FITC	Bcl/10C4	1:100	Biolegend	
BrdU	FITC	B44	1:10	BD Biosciences	
CCR7 (CD197)	PE Cy7	4B12	1:100	eBioscience	
CD11a	APC	M17/4	1:200	Biolegend	
CD11b	PE Cv7	M1/70	1:200	eBioscience	
CD11b	Superbright 600	M1-70	1:200	eBioscience	
CD11c	PerCP Cy5.5	N418	1:200	eBioscience	
CD11c	APC eFluor780	N418	1:200	eBioscience	
CD121a (IL-1βR)	APC	JAMA-147	1:200	Biolegend	
CD127 (IL-7R)	BV510	A7R34	1:200	Biolegend	
CD18	PE	M18/2	1:200	Biolegend	
CD19	eFluor 450	eBio103	1:200	eBioscience	
CD24	PE Cv7	M1/69	1:200	BD Biosciences	
CD25	APC Cv7	PC61	1:200	Biolegend	
CD27	PE Dazzle594	LG.3A10	1:200	Biolegend	
CD27	BV421	LG.3A10	1:200	Biolegend	
CD3	AlexaFluor 700	17A2	1:200	BioLegend	
CD3	BV785	17A2	1:100	BioLegend	
CD4	eFluor 450	RM4-5	1:200	eBioscience	
CD4	PerCP Cv5 5	GK15	1:200	Biolegend	
CD40	APC	1C10	1:200	eBioscience	
CD44	PerCP Cv5 5	IM7	1:200	eBioscience	
CD44	APC	IM7	1:200	eBloscience	
CD44	eFluor 780	IM7	1:400	eBioscience	
CD45	PF	30-E-11	1:200	BD Biosciences	
CD45RB		C36-164	1.200	Biolegend	
		VN1/1 74	1.200	Biolegend	
CD54 (ICAM-1)	FITC	3E2	1.200	BD Biosciences	
		Mol_1/	1.200	BD Biosciences	
	BV/421	¥54_5/7 1	1.200	Biolegend	
CD69	DV421 PorCP Cv5 5	H1 2F3	1.200	eBioscience	
CD03		53-6.7	1.200	eBioscience	
	FITC	<u>16-10Δ1</u>	1.200	BD Biosciences	
CD86			1:200	BD Biosciences	
Eas (CD95)			1.200	BD Biosciences	
Gr1 (Ly=6G)		102	1.200	Biolegend	
		XMC1 2	1.200	Biolegend	
Π Νγ Π _17Δ		TC11_18H10	1:100	BD Biosciences	
	BV605	TC11 18H10	1:100	BD Biosciences	
	PE	ABIO 18E10	1.100	eBioscience	
IL-171		1282864	1:100	Biolegend	
Ki67		1648	1.200	Biolegend	
MHCII		M511/	1.100	ABioscience	
		DK126	1.200	Biolegend	
	AI 700	PK136	1.200	eBioscience	
nSTAT3 (nV705)	AlevaEluor 6/17	1/P_Stat3	5ul/sample	BD Biosciences	
pSTAT5 (p1703)		4/F-31813	5ul/sample	BD Biosciences	
			1.100	BD Biosciences	
That		1010	1.100	oBiosciences	
			1.100	BD Biossiences	
топр			1.200	oBiosciences	
ТОРИЯ			1.200	oBioscience	
ΤΟΡνδ		CL3	1.200	BD Biosoionooo	
	DV00U	GLS	1.200		
		-	1:1000	PD Pionoioness	
<u></u> νωρ(λωμ)			1:200		
$\vee \gamma 2 (\vee \gamma 4)$			1:200	BioLegena	
<u>vy2 (vy4)</u>		UU3-10A6	1:200	Biolegena	
Vy3 (Vy5)	APC	536	1:200	BioLegend	

2.6 Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS)

For isolation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells for RT-PCR analysis, cells from CD18 KO spleens were first pre-enriched for T cells using EasySepTM Mouse T Cell Isolation Kit (Stemcell Technologies), providing CD3⁺ cells of 90% purity with 10-40% expressing TCR $\gamma\delta$. Cells were then sorted using a FACS Aria IIU or FACS Aria III (BD Biosciences). Samples were sorted in FACS buffer gated on live, CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ then V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻ cells into PBS supplemented with 50% FCS.

2.7 BrdU Labelling and Staining

Mice were injected intraperitoneally with 1mg bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) (Sigma Aldrich) in 200µl of PBS. From the day following injection, mice were fed 0.8mg/ml BrdU in the drinking water supplemented with 20% sucrose to make it more palatable. Fresh drinking water containing BrdU was given every other day and mice were culled after 7 days.

Tissues from BrdU-treated mice were processed as described in the cell isolation section, and then stained as described for viability and extracellular markers. After washing in PBS, cells were fixed using 100µl cytofix/cytoperm (BD Biosciences) for 20mins on ice. Cells were washed in 100µl permwash (BD Biosciences) then incubated in 100µl cytoperm permeabilization buffer plus (BD Biosciences) for 10mins on ice. After washing in 200µl permwash, samples were re-fixed in 100µl cytofix/cytoperm for 5mins on ice and washed again in permwash. To expose the incorporated BrdU, cells were incubated with 100µl of DNase (Sigma Aldrich) for 1h at 37°C. Samples were then washed in permwash and stained with anti-BrdU and any other intracellular antibodies for 1h at room temperature. After washing again with permwash, cells were re-suspended in 200µl FACS Buffer for acquisition.

2.8 ELISAs

Cytokine concentrations were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) from serum and tissue supernatant samples. Serum was isolated from mouse blood by allowing the blood to clot at room temperature for up to 6h then samples were centrifuged at 133,000rpm for 5min and the serum removed. Tissue supernatants were collected by incubating the spleen, lungs or uterus in 2-300µl of complete RPMI at 37°C for 4h then the tissue was removed.

For all ELISAs, absorbance was measured at 450nm and 570nm using a Sunrise Absorbance Reader (Tecan). The reading A_{570} was subtracted from A_{450} and the background was removed by subtracting the blank reading from all samples. Cytokine concentration was determined by extrapolating the unknowns from a standard curve using GraphPad Prism software. The limits of detection were: IL-17A 62.5pg/ml, IL-1 β 16pg/ml, IL-7 6.3pg/ml and IL-23 8pg/ml.

2.8.1 IL-17A

For detection of IL-17A, Costar 96 well high-binding assay plates (Corning) were coated with 50µl of 1µg/ml IL-17A capture antibody (BD Biosciences) in PBS overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed twice in PBS-T (PBS 0.05% Tween-20) then blocked with 200µl of 1% BSA (Sigma Aldrich) in PBS for 2h at room temperature. Plates were washed twice in PBS-T then 50µl of samples and standards added for 2h at room temperature. The top standard was added at 2000pg/ml and 2-fold serial dilutions performed across the plate. Plates were washed 3 times in PBS-T then 50µl of 1µg/ml IL-17A biotin detection antibody (BD Biosciences) in 0.5% BSA/PBS was added and incubated for 1h at room temperature. Plates were washed 3 times in PBS-T then 50µl of Extravidin-peroxidase (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1:10,000 in PBS was added per well for 45mins at room temperature. Plates were washed 4 times in PBS-T then 50µl of SureBlueTMB substrate (KPL) was incubated in the dark. Once the blue colour developed, typically in 10min, the reaction was stopped by adding 50µl of 10% H₂SO₄.

2.8.2 IL-1β and IL-23

Levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 were detected using Mouse IL-1 β ELISA MAXTM Deluxe and Mouse IL-23 ELISA MAXTM Deluxe kits (Biolegend), respectively, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.8.3 IL-7

Levels of IL-7 were detected using Mouse IL-7 Quantikine ELISA kit (R&D Systems) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.9 Adoptive Transfer of Cells

2.9.1 OT-II T cell and BMDC Transfer

BMDCs and CD4⁺ OT-II T cells were prepared as described in sections 1.3 and 1.4. 2x10⁶ CD4⁺ OT-II T cells were transferred intravenously into WT recipients. BMDCs were stimulated with 50ng/ml LPS overnight then pulsed with 5µg/ml OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide (Sigma-Aldrich) for 90mins. On the day following the T cell transfer, 1.5x10⁶ BMDCs were injected subcutaneously into one footpad of recipient mice and the contralateral was left as a control. The popliteal lymph nodes were then analysed 1 or 3 days following the BMDC transfer.

2.9.2 Total T Cell Transfer

T cells were isolated from CD18 KO spleens using EasySep[™] Mouse T Cell Isolation Kit (Stemcell Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. T cells were then labelled with 1µM CFSE (Life Technologies) in PBS for 20mins at 37°C. Unbound dye was removed by washing cells twice in complete RPMI. Labelled T cells were re-suspended in PBS then 2x10⁶ cells were transferred intravenously into WT or CD18 KO hosts. Mice were culled 1, 4 or 8 days following the T cell transfer.

2.10 Static Adhesion Assay

ICAM-1 (6µg/ml, R&D Systems), Fibronectin (10µg/ml, R&D Systems) or PBS were coated onto Costar 96 well high-binding assay plates (Corning) overnight at 4°C. The following day, the plate was washed twice in PBS then blocked with 1% milk in PBS for 1h 15mins at 37°C. The plate was again washed twice in PBS then put on ice. BMDCs were re-suspended at $0.4x10^6$ cells/ml in adhesion medium (RPMI, 0.1%BSA, 20mM HEPES pH 7.25 and 2mM MgCl₂) then 400µl was added per well in duplicate or triplicate and incubated on ice for 8mins to allow cells to settle. The plate was then incubated at 37°C for 15mins for cells to adhere before being placed upside down in 2.5L of PBS 2mM MgCl₂ for 50mins at RT to remove any un-adhered cells. Liquid was removed from the wells, leaving 50µl. Adherent cells were then lysed with 3mg/ml p-Nitrophenyl Phosphate (PNPP) (Calbiochem) in 1% Tx-100/50mM acetate buffer pH5 incubated at 37°C for 60mins then 50µl of 1M NaOH was added to stop the reaction. Absorbance was measured at 405nm using a

Sunrise Absorbance Reader (Tecan). A total plate was also prepared by pelleting 400µl of BMDCs at $0.4x10^6$ cells/ml by centrifugation at 300xg for 1min then resuspending cells in 200µl PBS. 50µl of cells were added to the total plate in triplicate then they were lysed, and absorbance read as with the experimental plate. The absorbance from the total plate was used to calculate the percentage adhesion for each sample.

2.11 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

All PCR and cDNA reactions were carried out using an S1000 thermal cycler (BioRad) as detailed in the sections following

Primer	Sequence 5' to 3'
Dock2 forward	GAC CTT ATG AGG TGG AAC CAC AAC C
Dock2 reverse	GAT CCA AAG ATT CCC TAC AGC TCC AC
Vy1 forward	ATGCTGCTCCTGAGATGGC
Vy1 reverse	TTATGAACGTTGATCATCACAGGAC
Vy2 forward	TTGGTACCGGCAAAAAACAAATCA
Vy2 reverse	CAATACACCCTTATGACATCG
Vy4 forward	ATGAAGAACCCTGGCTCACAAG
Vy5 forward	ATGTCAACCTCTTGGCTTTTTCTTC
Vy6 forward	ATATATGTTTAAACGCCGCCACCATGGGGCTTCTGCTACAAGTC
Vy6 reverse	ATATATGCGGCCGCTTAGGATTTCTTCTCATTGCCACAG
Vy7 forward	ATGCTGTGGGCTCTGGC
Vg common reverse	TTAGGATTTCTTCTCATTGCCACAG
Vδ1 forward	AATAGCAATTCTACTGATGGTGG
Vδ2 forward	AGTCCTCAGTCTCTGACAATC
Vδ3 forward	CCAGATTCAATGGAAAGTAC
Vδ4 forward	GTACAAACAGCAAGGAGGGCAGG
Vδ5 forward	CCAGACAGTGGCAAGCGGCACTG
Vδ6 forward	TCAAGTCCATCAGCCTTGTC
Vδ reverse	CGAATTCCACAATCTTCTTG

T	able	2-3	Primers	used	for	PCR

2.11.1 Genomic DNA Preparation

The protocol for isolation of genomic DNA was adapted from Truett *et al.*, 2000³⁰⁸. Clips of 1-2mm were cut from mouse ear or tail and incubated in 100µl alkaline lysis reagent (25mM NaOH, 0.2mM EDTA, pH 12) for 45mins at 95°C. 100µl of neutralisation reagent (40mM Tric-HCl) was then added and samples were stored at -20°C prior to use.

2.11.2 RNA Purification

RNA was purified from single cell suspensions using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions and eluted in 30µl of RNase-free water. Quantification of RNA was carried out using Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Samples were stored at -20°C prior to use.

2.11.3 cDNA Synthesis

Synthesis of cDNA was carried out using High-Capacity RNA-to-cDNA Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The quantity of RNA used for the cDNA reaction was normalised to the maximum that could be used (concentration in 9µl) of the sample with the lowest quantity of RNA. Samples were incubated for 60mins at 37°C, 95°C for 5mins, then held at 4°C. Resulting cDNA samples were stored at -20°C.

2.11.4 Dock2^{Hsd} PCR

The PCR to detect the mutated form of *Dock2* (*Dock2^{Hsd}*) was adapted from Mahajan *et al.*, (2017)³⁰⁹ with primer sequences from Yasuda *et al.*, (2014)³¹⁰, listed in Table 2-3. Each reaction contained 1X ThermoPrime ReddyMix PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 5µM primers, 50mM MgCl₂ (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 2µl genomic DNA, made up to 25µl with nuclease-free water. Initial denaturation for 3min at 94°C, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C 30s, 54°C 45s, 72°C 45s and then final extension for 2min at 72°C. The expected band size for the *Dock2^{Hsd}* copy number variant is 305bp.

2.11.5 Vγ/Vδ Chain RT-PCR

Expression of V γ and V δ chains was determined from sorted $\gamma\delta$ T cells by reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR). Primer sequences (Table 2-3) for V γ 1, V γ 4, V γ 5 and V γ 7 were kindly provided by Pierre Vantourout (Kings College London) and for V γ 6 by Leticia Monin Aldama (Francis Crick Institute, London). Sequences for V γ 2 and all V δ chains obtained from Andrew *et al.*, (2005)³¹¹. Primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT). Each reaction contained 2µl template cDNA, 1X Phusion HF buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 0.2mM dNTPs (Invitrogen), 0.3µM primers, 0.02U/µl Phusion DNA polymerase (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 3% DMSO, 2mM MgCl₂ (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for V γ 6 reaction only, made up to 20µl with nuclease-free water. The protocol for gene amplification was initial denaturation for 30s at 98°C, followed by 35 cycles of 98°C 10s, x°C 30s, 72°C 30s and then final extension for 10min at 72°C. The annealing temperatures (x°C) are listed in Table 2-4.

Gene	Temperature (°C)		
Vγ1	66		
Vy2	55		
Vγ4	66		
Vγ5	50		
Vγ6	66		
Vγ7	68		
Vδ1	60.5		
Vδ2	60.5		
Vδ3	55		
Vδ4	60.5		
Vδ5	55		
Vδ6	60.5		

Table 2-4 Annealing Temperatures for Vy and V\delta RT-PCR

2.12 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

Gel electrophoresis was used to separate DNA fragments. Gels were 1% UltraPure agarose (Invitrogen), 1X SYBR safe gel stain (Invitrogen) in 1X Tris Acetate-EDTA (TAE) buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Gels were run at 120V for 30mins and fragments visualised using Gel Doc[™] XR+ system (BioRad).

2.13 Statistical Analysis

Data represents mean + standard deviation, or where individual data points are shown the mean is displayed. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software. Student *t* test for comparison of 2 groups, one-way ANOVA for comparison of one variable for more than 2 groups and two-way ANOVA for comparison of two variables for more than 2 groups. P values shown as *p<0.05, *** p<0.001, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

3.1 Introduction

DCs are innate leukocytes responsible for linking innate and adaptive immunity. The main function of DCs is to present antigen to T cells, resulting in either activation of an immune response or induction of tolerance^{312,313}. This activation or inhibition is dependent on factors present in the DC microenvironment. In the presence of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α or microbial factors such as pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) DCs are likely to activate other immune cells¹⁶⁵. The induction of tolerance tends to occur both in the presence of antiinflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and under steady state conditions (absence of pathogens or cytokines) when self-antigen is presented by immature DCs^{165,314}. This balance between immune activation versus the induction of tolerance is particularly important in the context of autoimmune disease, where there is an inappropriate inflammatory response due to loss of tolerance to self-antigens. An increased knowledge of DC regulation is therefore required to improve our understanding of what controls DC activation. This will allow the manipulation of DCinduced activation versus tolerance, which can be used to improve responses to infection/cancer or dampen responses in autoimmune disease.

One way in which DCs are regulated is through their integrin receptors. In particular, the β_2 integrins are a family of leukocyte-specific adhesion molecules expressed on DCs. β_2 integrins all express the β_2 chain (CD18) hybridised to one of four α chains: CD11a (α_L), CD11b (α_M), CD11c (α_X) or CD11d (α_D), all of which are expressed on DCs^{27,37,60,315}. β_2 integrins have been shown to negatively regulate TLR-mediated responses: Macrophages and DCs from CD18 deficient mice were hyperresponsive to stimulation by TLR2, 4 and 9, shown by enhanced production of IL-6 and IL-12¹⁸². Specific knockout of CD11b also resulted in an enhanced production of TNF, IL-6 and IFN β in macrophages treated with agonists for TLR3, 4 and 9¹⁸³. However, there is contrasting evidence that supports the role of CD11b in positive regulation of TLR4 responses shown by Ling *et al.*, that CD11b KO BMDCs had impaired cytokine production in response to LPS¹⁸⁵. It has also been shown that β_2 integrins can regulate DCs in the absence of TLR stimulation. In mice that lack functional β_2

integrin receptors (beta2^{TTT/AAA} integrin knock-in mice), BMDCs expressed higher levels of activation markers irrespective of their maturity state⁷³. This was also true for knock-in DCs *in vivo*, as they expressed higher levels of CD86 both in the absence and presence of an inflammatory stimulus⁷³. This evidence supports the important role for β_2 integrins in regulating DC responses.

In addition to their role in regulating DC activation, β_2 integrins are also implicated in the migration of DCs. BMDCs generated from mice with functionally-deficient β_2 integrin receptors expressed higher levels of the chemokine receptor CCR7, which mediates DC migration to LNs⁷³. These beta2^{TTT/AAA} integrin knock-in mice also displayed an increased percentage of DCs in the spleen, peripheral and mesenteric lymph nodes under steady state conditions⁷³. The increase was due to a higher proportion of CD103⁺ and CD11b⁺ migratory DCs. This data suggests that in the absence of functional β_2 integrins, DCs are more migratory and therefore integrins may play a role in restricting DC migration *in vivo*. Other work has suggested that DC migration to LNs is independent of β_2 integrins. The transfer of WT and integrindeficient LPS-matured BMDCs (lacking β_1 , β_2 , β_3 and β_7) showed equivalent migration to LNs and similar localisation within the T cell zone⁷². Based on this data, β_2 integrins can influence the migration of DCs, although potentially in a contextdependent manner, and may differ for immature versus mature DCs.

There is clear evidence showing that β_2 integrins directly influence the activation of DCs and may influence their migration. In addition to this, β_2 integrins expressed on DCs have been implicated in modulating the subsequent priming of T cells. The transfer of peptide-loaded BMDCs induces a Th1 response, demonstrated by IFN γ production, and this was enhanced when β_2 integrin signalling-deficient BMDCs were transferred compared to WT⁷³. In line with this, the co-culture of DCs with constitutively active CD11a induced lower levels of CD4 T cell proliferation than WT DCs and reduced IFN γ production and T-bet expression, indicative of an impaired Th1 response⁸⁸. Similarly, magnesium-induced activation of β_2 integrins on DCs impaired their ability to induce T cell proliferation and this effect was found to be CD11b-dependent⁹⁷. Taken together, this data demonstrates that alterations in β_2 integrins on DCs can influence the outcome of the subsequent T cell response.

There is clear evidence that β_2 integrins play an important role in the regulation of dendritic cell function, but it is not yet understood which subunits are responsible for this regulation and how these individually impact the subsequent T cell response. The aims of this chapter were:

- 1. To determine which of the β_2 integrins (CD11a, CD11b, CD11c or CD11d) regulate DC activation *in vitro*.
- 2. Examine whether this β_2 integrin-mediated regulation of DCs also occurs *in vivo*.
- 3. Assess the impact of β_2 integrin loss on DC interactions with T cells and subsequent T cell priming.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs display enhanced activation markers and reduced ligand binding

It has previously been shown that the absence of functional β_2 integrin receptors leads to elevated activation marker expression on BMDCs, but the specific subunits responsible for this altered phenotype are unknown⁷³. To determine the loss of which β_2 integrin subunit/s mediate this activated phenotype, BMDCs were generated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice. The BMDCs were either left unstimulated (resting/immature DCs) or stimulated with LPS overnight (activated/mature DCs) before assessing cell surface marker expression by flow cytometry.

First, integrin expression on BMDCs was measured to check whether the absence of one β_2 integrin receptor had an impact on expression of the others. The β_2 integrin family members have a level of redundancy due to their overlapping ligand repertoire, therefore another subunit may be upregulated to compensate for integrin loss. Levels of the common β_2 chain (CD18), α chains (CD11a, CD11b and CD11c) and the β_2 ligand ICAM-1 were measured. CD11d expression was not measured, as there are no murine antibodies currently available.

Expression of CD18 was significantly reduced in all immature β_2 integrin KO BMDCs, as expected, and in mature CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs compared to WT (Figure 3-1). It is unclear why the levels of CD18 on mature CD11b and CD11d KO BMDCs are equivalent to WT, as CD11b is expressed highly on BMDCs, therefore it was expected the loss of this subunit would reduce CD18 expression. Levels of CD11a were similar in all genotypes other than CD11a KO BMDCs in the absence of stimulus, suggesting that CD11a expression is not altered by loss of other integrin subunits in resting BMDCs. However, after activation with LPS, CD11a expression was significantly increased in CD11b and CD11c KO BMDCs. This may suggest that in the absence of CD11b or CD11c, CD11a is upregulated as a compensatory mechanism in response to TLR4-mediated signalling. Surprisingly, expression of CD11b was significantly downregulated in all β_2 integrin KO BMDCs, regardless of activation status. Over 90% of WT BMDCs express CD11b³¹⁶ and my data implies that this expression may be partially controlled by other β_2 integrins. In

contrast to this, the expression of CD11c remained unchanged in the absence of CD11a, CD11b or CD11d.

The β_2 integrin ligand ICAM-1 is expressed on DCs and can mediate their interactions with T cells⁷³. Levels of ICAM-1 were significantly higher on CD11a KO BMDCs regardless of maturation status and were upregulated on mature CD11c KO BMDCs. This could indicate a feedback loop between the receptor (CD11a or CD11c) and ligand (ICAM-1) expression. The increased expression of ICAM-1 is likely to mediate the binding of DCs to β_2 integrins expressed on T cells and may partially overcome the loss of interactions that occur due to the absence of β_2 integrins on DCs that would normally bind to ICAM-1 on T cells. Additionally, the expression of ICAM-1, CD18 and the α subunits were unchanged by LPS-induced maturation.

It can be concluded that the loss of any one β_2 integrin subunit in BMDCs results in a significant reduction in CD11b expression. Additionally, the expression of ICAM-1 was elevated in CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs. These changes must be taken into consideration when interpreting the results from experiments using BMDCs, as altered expression of integrin subunits other than the one that is targeted by the KO could contribute to any changes found in their phenotype and/or function.



Figure 3-1 Expression of CD11b is reduced on all β_2 integrin-deficient BMDCs and the loss of CD11a or CD11c induces upregulation of ICAM-1.

WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO BMDCs were cultured with or without 50ng/ml LPS overnight then cell surface marker expression was measured by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on MHC II⁺. (A) Representative plots of WT BMDCs -LPS. (B) Expression of β_2 integrins and ICAM-1 on BMDCs. Values shown are relative to WT -LPS from individual experiments. WT n=8, CD11a/b/c/d KO n=4. Data from a minimum of 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ***p<0.001.

After identifying that β_2 integrin-deficient BMDCs lack expression of the expected integrin subunit but also show reduced levels of CD11b, the activation status of the cells was then analysed. The aim was to characterise which β_2 integrin subunit/s are responsible for regulating BMDC activation. DCs present peptide to CD4 T cells via MHC II, which in combination with co-stimulatory signals via receptors such as CD40, CD80 and CD86 induces T cell activation. Assessment of these markers on β_2 integrin-deficient BMDCs showed no statistically significant difference in the expression of MHC II in any β_2 integrin KO BMDCs compared to WT (Figure 3-2). However, there were differences found in co-stimulatory molecule expression on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs: CD40 was upregulated in mature CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT. CD80 expression was higher in both resting and activated CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs. Higher levels of CD86 were also found in mature CD11a and CD11c KO as well as immature CD11a KO BMDCs. Interestingly, expression of CD80 was decreased in immature but not mature CD11b KO BMDCs, though none of the other markers of activation were differentially expressed in the CD11b KO BMDCs. The chemokine receptor CCR7 is upregulated on mature DCs to induce their homing to LNs. Expression of CCR7 was significantly upregulated on mature CD11a KO BMDCs but no differences were found on any other BMDCs compared to WT.

In summary, the absence of CD11a or CD11c in BMDCs resulted in enhanced expression of co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86. This suggests that these β_2 integrin receptors are responsible for negatively regulating BMDC activation through control of co-stimulatory gene expression. Importantly, there was no difference in the activation marker expression on BMDCs lacking CD11b alone, therefore it is unlikely that the reduced expression of CD11b on the other integrindeficient BMDCs has an impact on their activation.



Figure 3-2 Increased expression of activation markers on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs. WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO BMDCs were cultured with or without 50ng/ml LPS overnight then cell surface marker expression was measured by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on MHC II⁺. Values shown are relative to WT -LPS from individual experiments. WT n=8, CD11a/b/c/d KO n=4. Data from a minimum of 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

BMDCs lacking CD11a or CD11c expressed higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules that are important for mediating the activation of T cells. In addition to costimulation of T cells, the physical interaction between DCs and T cells is essential for mediating T cell activation. It is well characterised that CD11a expressed on T cells binds to ICAM-1 on APCs during immunological synapse formation, when T cells are activated via MHC II-TCR interactions⁷⁵. It is likely that the reverse of this interaction also occurs, where integrin expression on the APC binds to ICAM-1 on the T cell^{88,97}. DC integrin expression may, therefore, influence the outcome of the DC-T cell interaction and subsequently affect T cell activation/proliferation. It was
previously discovered that BMDCs lacking functional β_2 integrin receptors displayed reduced binding to ICAM-1 and formed weaker contacts with T cells⁷³. To determine which of the β_2 integrin subunits mediate adhesion to ICAM-1, BMDCs from WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice were used in a static adhesion assay to measure their ability to bind to ICAM-1 (β_2 integrin ligand), with fibronectin (β_1 integrin ligand) as a positive control.

In the absence of CD11a or CD11c, immature BMDC binding to ICAM-1 was significantly reduced compared to WT (Figure 3-3A). There was no difference in the adhesion of CD11b, CD11c or CD11d KO BMDCs to ICAM-1. In mature BMDCs, the lack of CD11a significantly reduced binding to ICAM-1, whereas in the absence of CD11b or CD11c increased adhesion was seen compared to WT. Fibronectin is predominantly a β_1 integrin ligand so was used as a positive control, although it can also bind some β_2 integrins. The binding of immature CD11a KO BMDCs to fibronectin was decreased whereas CD11b and CD11c KO BMDCs with LPS abolished the differences in adhesion to fibronectin and no differences were found in the binding of immature or mature CD11d KO BMDCs to fibronectin.

Based on these results, it can be concluded that CD11a and CD11c are important for BMDC adhesion to ICAM-1. This reduced adhesion of BMDCs to ICAM-1 in the absence of CD11a or CD11c may impact on the strength and duration of interactions with T cells, and ultimately on the outcome of the T cell response.



Figure 3-3 Decreased binding of CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs to ICAM-1. WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO BMDCs were cultured with or without 50ng/ml LPS overnight then binding to ICAM-1, fibronectin and milk blocking only measured by a static adhesion assay. Values calculated are relative to the total cells added per well. WT, CD11a/b/c KO n=4. WT, CD11d KO n=6. Data is pooled from a minimum of 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ***p<0.0001.

3.2.2 CD11a KO BMDCs induce an enhanced T cell response

The loss of CD11a or CD11c expression in BMDCs resulted in an increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules but they displayed a reduced adhesion to ICAM-1. This could result in an increase in T cell activation if there are sufficient interactions between the integrin-deficient BMDCs and T cells. On the other hand, if the adhesion of BMDCs to T cells is impaired then the activation of T cells may be reduced, regardless of the increased levels of co-stimulatory molecules. To address these questions, the impact of β_2 integrin loss on the ability of BMDCs to prime T cells was assessed. BMDCs generated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice were cultured with CD4⁺ OT-II T cells, then T cell proliferation (by CFSE dilution) and activation (expression of CD25, CD69 CD62L and CD44) were measured by flow cytometry after 1 or 3 days in culture.

The co-culture of CD4⁺ OT-II T cells with either immature or mature BMDCs for 3 days induced their proliferation (Figure 3-4A). The peaks of CFSE expression allowed the detection of 4 divisions of the T cells. The percentage of T cells that

divided 1-4 times was variable between groups, but the majority of the T cells had divided 2 or 3 times (Figure 3-4B). The percentage of T cells that did not divide was similar across the cultures using immature BMDCs (Figure 3-4C). However, the coculture of T cells with mature BMDCs showed a significant decrease in the percentage of undivided T cells when cultured with CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT, but no difference when cultured with BMDCs deficient for CD11b, CD11c or CD11d. The proportion of T cells that divided 2 or 3 times were compared, because the majority of T cells that divided were in these gates (30-50%). There was no difference in the percentage of T cells that had undergone 2 or 3 divisions when cultured with immature BMDCs (Figure 3-4C). In the cultures with mature BMDCs, there was a significant increase in the percentage of T cells that divided 2 and 3 times when cultured with CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT. No difference was found when T cells were cultured with mature CD11b, CD11c or CD11d KO BMDCs.

The loss of CD11a expression on BMDCs resulted in increased proliferation of CD4 T cells *in vitro*. This suggests that CD11a plays a role in inhibiting DC-induced proliferation of CD4 T cells.



Figure 3-4 Increased T cell proliferation of OT-II T cells cultured with CD11a KO BMDCs. WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO BMDCs were cultured overnight with or without 50ng/ml LPS then pulsed with 5µg/ml OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide for 90mins before culturing with CD4⁺ OT-II T cells *in vitro* at a ratio of 1:10. (A) Gating strategy for cell divisions based on CFSE fluorescence after 3 days. Representative plots from culture with WT BMDCs shown. (B) Percentage of OT-II T cells that divided 1-4 times. (C) Percentage of OT-II T cells that did not divide, underwent 2 or 3 divisions. n=5, data pooled from 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. **p*<0.05, ** *p*<0.01, ****p*<0.005, *****p*<0.0001.

In addition to measuring increased proliferation of T cells induced by CD11adeficient BMDCs the expression of the early T cell activation markers CD25 and CD69 were assessed. After 1 day of culture, there was no significant difference in the expression of CD25 or CD69 on T cells cultured with immature BMDCs, regardless of genotype (Figure 3-5A). When cultured with mature CD11a KO BMDCs, T cells expressed significantly higher levels of both CD25 and CD69 compared to WT on day 1. CD25 expression was lower on T cells that were cultured with mature CD11b KO BMDCs compared to WT BMDCs but expression of CD69 was not significantly different. Similarly, both CD11c KO and CD11d KO BMDCs induced expression levels of CD25 and CD69 in T cells to the same extent as WT.

The differentiation of T cells from naïve into effector phenotype was determined by expression of CD44 and CD62L: CD44^{lo}CD62L^{hi} (naïve) and CD44^{hi}CD62L^{lo} (effector) T cells were quantified on days 1 and 3 of culture (Figure 3-5B). After 1 day in culture with immature WT BMDCs there was a large population of naïve (60%) and a smaller population of effector T cells (<20%) (Figure 3-5C). After 3 days of culture there was a reduced population of naïve T cells (40%) and expansion of effector T cells (>20%). The culture of T cells with immature CD11a KO BMDCs resulted in a significant decrease in the percentage of naïve T cells after both 1 and 3 days, whereas those with CD11b KO BMDCs retained significantly more naïve T cells compared to WT. Co-culture with immature CD11c or CD11d KO BMDCs resulted in the same proportions of naïve and effector T cells as with WT BMDCs. In cultures with mature BMDCs, there was a significant decrease in the percentage of naïve T cells after 1 and 3 days of culture with CD11a KO BMDCs and after 3 days with CD11c KO BMDCs compared to WT. Conversely, culture with CD11b KO BMDCs resulted in a higher percentage of naïve T cells and in cultures with CD11d KO BMDCs the percentage of naïve and effector T cells was similar to WT.

Overall, these results show that *in vitro*, CD11a KO BMDCs induce increased proliferation, expression of activation markers CD25/CD69 and differentiation of CD4 T cells into an effector phenotype. This indicates that despite their reduced ability to adhere to ICAM-1, CD11a KO BMDCs are able to sufficiently interact with T cells to induce activation and proliferation. Further experiments are required to quantify the dynamics of this interaction and confirm that the enhanced T cell

activation by CD11a KO BMDCs is due to their increased co-stimulatory molecule expression.



Figure 3-5 Increased activation of OT-II T cells cultured with CD11a KO BMDCs.

WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO BMDCs were cultured overnight with or without 50ng/ml LPS then pulsed with 5µg/ml OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide for 90mins before culturing with CD4⁺ OT-II T cells in vitro in a ratio of 1:10. **(A)** Mean expression of T cell activation markers CD25 and CD69 after 1 day of culture. Dotted line represents mean expression on T cells prior to culture. **(B)** Gating strategy for naïve (CD44^{lo}CD62L^{hi}) and effector (CD44^{hi}CD62L^{lo}) T cells. Representative plot from T cells prior to co-culture (day 0). **(C)** Percentages of naïve and effector T cells following 1 and 3 days of co-culture. n=5, data pooled from 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. **p*<0.05, ** *p*<0.01, ****p*<0.005, ****p*<0.0001.

Having determined that CD11a KO BMDCs induce greater activation of CD4 T cells *in vitro,* the ability of CD11a KO BMDCs to stimulate CD4 T cell responses *in vivo* was then assessed. To investigate this, CD4⁺ OT-II T cells (that express the congenic marker CD45.1) were transferred into WT mice i.v. and then, the following day, either WT or CD11a KO peptide-loaded BMDCs were injected into the footpad. The T cell response was measured in the draining (popliteal) LN 3 days post-transfer of BMDCs.

A population of OT-II (CD45.1⁺) T cells was found in the LN draining the site where BMDCs were transferred, but not in the contralateral LN (Figure 3-6A). There was a significant increase in the percentage and number of transferred T cells in the draining LN of mice injected with CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT BMDCs. However, when the expression of activation markers was analysed on these T cells there was a significant decrease in both CD25 and CD69 on T cells from mice injected with CD11a KO BMDCs. The expression of CD62L was similar on T cells that were stimulated with either genotype of BMDCs but CD44 expression was also lower with CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT.

The *in vitro* co-culture of CD11a KO BMDCs with OT-II T cells resulted in greater T cell proliferation, enhanced expression of CD25/CD69 and an enhanced effector phenotype (CD62L^{Io}CD44^{hi}). The interaction of these same cells *in vivo* resulted in an increased number of T cells when mice were injected with CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT. This suggests that CD11a KO BMDCs are able to induce greater T cell recruitment and/or proliferation *in vivo*. This could be confirmed by labelling the cells with CFSE prior to transfer, to allow quantification of proliferation. However, there was not the expected increase in activation marker expression in these T cells as was seen *in vitro* (Figure 3-5). Instead, expression of T cell CD25, CD69 and CD44 were all lower in mice injected with CD11a KO BMDCs compared to WT. As CD25 and CD69 are markers of early T cell activation, it is possible that the CD11a KO BMDCs may have induced higher expression of these markers prior to the 3-day timepoint. Further analysis of T cell activation over several time-points using CFSE-labelled T cells would be required to determine if T cell activation and proliferation *in vivo* is enhanced following priming by CD11a KO BMDCs.



Figure 3-6 CD11a KO BMDCs induce higher numbers of CD4 T cells *in vivo* but these T cells show reduced activation marker expression.

CD4⁺ OT-II T cells were transferred into mice i.v. then challenged the following day with OVApeptide loaded WT or CD11a KO BMDCs s.c. in the footpad. 3 days following BMDC injection the draining LN (popliteal) from the injection site and the contralateral side were analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4⁺CD45.1⁺. (A) Percentage and numbers of transferred T cells. (B) Activation marker expression on transferred T cells. n=5, data from 1 experiment. Data represents mean <u>+</u> SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

3.2.3 Increased percentage of DCs in CD11a and CD11c KO mice but no difference in activation marker expression

The results so far indicate that CD11a and CD11c subunits are responsible for regulating the activation status of *in vitro*-generated BMDCs. The next question was whether the loss of CD11a or CD11c expression results in enhanced activation of DCs *in vivo*. To test this, DCs were stained *ex vivo* from β_2 integrin-deficient mice. Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric LN (mLN) and peripheral LN (pLN; inguinal, brachial and axillary LNs pooled) of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice then analysed by flow cytometry to determine the expression of activation markers on the DCs.

CD11c is commonly used as a marker for DCs when analysing murine tissues by flow cytometry, but due to the use of CD11c KO mice this strategy could not be used. To overcome this, a series of dump gates were used to remove all possible cell types other than cDCs (macrophages/monocytes, B cells, T cells, neutrophils, NK/NK T cells, pDCs) then cells were gated on MHC II⁺ and these were regarded as the DCs (Figure 3-7A). Using this gating strategy, the population of DCs analysed were consistently of 80-90% purity, based on CD11c expression in WT and β_2 -deficient mice that expressed CD11c.

Analysis of DCs from the spleen, mLN and pLN showed an increased percentage of DCs in the lymphoid organs of CD11a and CD11c KO mice compared to WT, but no difference in CD11b or CD11d KO mice (Figure 3-7B). However, the absolute numbers of DCs in the lymph nodes and spleen of the β_2 integrin KO mice were similar to WT (Figure 3-7C). The similar number of DCs found across β_2 integrindeficient mice indicates that DC migration to the spleen and LNs is unaffected by integrin loss. This supports the idea that β_2 integrins are not required for DC migration, as found previously⁷². There was a proportional increase in DCs from CD11a and CD11c KO mice, this may suggest there is a reduced number of another immune cell population causing this difference. Indeed, analysis of the total cell number in the spleen and LNs of β_2 integrin-deficient mice demonstrated a reduced cellularity in the organs of CD11a and CD11c KO mice are due to a reduced number of another cell population. $\alpha\beta$ T cells require CD11a for entry into LNs⁶⁸, therefore the lower

cell number in CD11a KO mLN and pLN is likely due to a reduced number of T cells. It is unclear what causes the lower cell number in the LNs of CD11c KO mice or in the spleen. A more global analysis of leukocyte populations present in these mice would be required to answer this question. Overall there was no difference in the number of DCs *in vivo* from β_2 integrin-deficient mice.



Figure 3-7 Increased percentage of DCs in lymphoid organs of CD11a and CD11c KO mice. Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric LN (mLN) and peripheral LN (pLN: inguinal, brachial and axillary pooled) from WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice. DCs were analysed by flow cytometry. (A) Gating strategy to define DCs. (B) Percentage and numbers of DCs. Spleen - WT/CD11a KO/CD11b KO/CD11c KO n=12, CD11d KO n=6. LN – WT/CD11a KO/CD11b KO/CD11c KO n=16, CD11d KO n=4. mLN – WT/CD11aKO/CD11b KO/CD11b KO/CD11c KO n=10, CD11d KO n=4. Data pooled from 2-7 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.



Figure 3-8 Decreased total cellularity in CD11a and CD11c KO spleen and lymph nodes. Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric LNs (mLN), peripheral LNs (inguinal, axillary and brachial pooled; pLN) of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice. Total cell numbers calculated are shown. n=16, data pooled from 6 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

Following analysis of DC numbers in β_2 integrin-deficient mice, the activation status of these DCs was then measured. Analysis of surface marker expression on DCs *ex vivo* showed that overall there were no significant differences in the expression of MHC II, the co-stimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, CD40 or the chemokine receptor CCR7. There was the exception of CD11c KO DCs from the spleen that expressed higher levels of CD86 compared to WT, and CCR7 expression was increased on CD11d KO DCs from the mLN. Although statistically significant, these differences were small.

Based on these results, it can be concluded that the increased expression of activation markers on BMDCs in the absence CD11a and CD11c *in vitro* is not replicated on *in vivo* DCs.



Figure 3-9 DCs from integrin-deficient mice show equivalent expression of activation markers.

Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric LN (mLN) and peripheral LN (LN: inguinal, brachial and axillary pooled) from WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO or CD11d KO mice. Surface marker expression on DCs (identified as per the gating strategy outlined in figure 7A) was analysed by flow cytometry. Spleen - WT/CD11a KO/CD11b KO/CD11c KO n=12, CD11d KO n=6. pLN – WT/CD11a KO/CD11b KO/CD11c KO n=13, CD11a, CD11d KO n=7. mLN – WT/CD11a KO/CD11b KO/CD11c KO n=10, CD11d KO n=4. Data pooled from 2-6 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.001.

3.2.4 CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD11c KO mice display enhanced activation and cytokine production *ex vivo*

In addition to understanding how the loss of β_2 integrin expression affects DCs, I also wanted to understand what impact this may have on the subsequent T cell response. The results from earlier *in vitro* experiments showed that CD11a KO BMDCs expressed higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules (Figure 3-2) and when co-cultured with T cells induced increased levels of T cell activation and proliferation (Figure 3-4, Figure 3-5). There was no difference in the activation status of DCs *ex vivo*, however this may be due to high variability in the data. This variability could be explained by the mixed population of DCs that were analysed (cDC1 and cDC2) compared with the less heterogeneous population of BMDCs generated *in vitro*. It is also possible that the increased proportion of DCs identified in CD11a and CD11c KO mice may affect T cell responses due to an increased ratio of DCs to T cells. To assess whether levels of T cell activation are enhanced *in vivo* in integrin-deficient

mice, the expression of activation markers was assessed on CD4 T cells *ex vivo*. Cells were isolated from the spleen, mLN and pLN of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice, and then analysed by flow cytometry to determine the expression of activation markers on the CD4 T cells. The gating strategy is shown in Figure 3-10A.

On CD4 T cells isolated from the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice there was a decreased expression of CD62L and increased expression of CD44 compared to WT (Figure 3-10B). The expression of CD25 was significantly lower on CD4 T cells from the CD11a KO spleen but no difference in CD69 expression across all genotypes. On T cells from the mLN, there was also a higher percentage of CD44⁺ in CD11a and CD11c KO mice compared to WT, but there was no difference in expression of CD62L, CD25 or CD69 (Figure 3-10C). In the pLN, CD11a KO mice displayed decreased expression of CD62L on CD4 T cells, accompanied by increased levels of CD44, CD25 and CD69 relative to WT mice (Figure 3-10D). For T cells from CD11c KO mice the only difference in the pLN was a small but significant increase in CD44. There was no difference in the expression of any of the activation markers measured on CD4 T cells from CD11b or CD11d KO mice, in any of the tissues studied.

This data suggests that the loss of CD11a or CD11c expression in mice results in an increased activation status of CD4 T cells. This finding of enhanced T cell activation was true in all 3 lymphoid organs investigated (spleen, mLN and pLN), though there were subtle differences in marker expression between tissues. Further work is required to determine if this increased activation is an intrinsic property of the β_2 integrin-deficient CD4 T cells or due to alterations in another cell population. Based on the *ex vivo* data showing no difference in DC numbers or their activation marker expression, this effect is unlikely to be DC-dependent.



Figure 3-10 Increased activation marker expression on CD11a and CD11c KO CD4 T cells. Cells were isolated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO or CD11d KO mice and surface marker expression on CD4 T cells was analysed by flow cytometry. **(A)** Gating strategy from WT spleen, representative of other genotypes and tissues. Activation marker expression on CD4+ T cells from the spleen **(B)**, mesenteric lymph nodes (mLN) **(C)** and peripheral lymph nodes (pLN: inguinal, brachial and axillary pooled) **(D).** Spleen - n=12 (cKO), n=11 (WT, abdKO), n=6 (18KO), 4 expt. mLN – n=9 (cKO), n=8 (WT bdKO), n=6 (aKO), 3 expt. LNs – n=9, 3 expt. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. **p*<0.05, ** *p*<0.01, ****p*<0.005, *****p*<0.0001

After identifying that the absence of CD11a or CD11c results in enhanced T cell activation *in vivo*, the next question was whether integrin loss had an effect on the CD4 T cell functional response. To address this, cells from the spleen of WT and β_2

integrin-deficient mice were analysed by flow cytometry following *in vitro* stimulation with PMA/ionomycin to assess their potential to produce cytokines.

CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD11c KO mice showed enhanced production of both IFNγ and IL-17 compared to WT mice (Figure 3-11). Whereas cytokine levels were similar in T cells from WT, CD11b and CD11d KO mice. This indicates that, in addition to their increased activation status in CD11a and CD11c KO mice, CD4 T cells show an enhanced ability to produce IFNγ and IL-17.



Figure 3-11 Increased production of IFN γ and IL-17 by CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD11c KO mice.

Cells isolated from the spleen of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice were stimulated *in vitro* with PMA/ionomycin and levels of IFN γ and IL-17 were measured by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4+. Percentage of CD4+ cells that expressed IFN γ or IL-17 are shown. IFN γ n=6, IL-17 n=4, data pooled from 2-3 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA **p*<0.05, ** *p*<0.01, ****p*<0.005, *****p*<0.0001.

3.2.5 Dock2 mutation found in CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice

A publication by Mahajan *et al.* was brought to the attention of the lab in August 2016. The authors described an additional genetic mutation found in their line of sialic acid-deficient mice, in a gene called *Dock2*. The mutation in the *Dock2* gene was a frameshift mutation that causes the production of nonsense RNA, leading to a loss of functional *Dock2* expression. They traced this mutation to a line of 'WT' C57BL/6N^{Hsd} mice from Harlan Sprague Laboratories in the US (now Envigo Biosciences) and suggested the mutation in *Dock2* spontaneously arose in the C57BL/6N^{Hsd} colony. As the C57BL/6N^{Hsd} line is routinely used for backcrossing, it is likely that many GM strains generated in the US may exhibit phenotypes due to this unknown deficiency in the *Dock2* gene is referred to as *Dock2^{Hsd}*.

It was decided to screen the β_2 integrin-deficient mice for $Dock2^{Hsd}$ as they were originally generated in US labs and may have been backcrossed onto C57BL/6N^{Hsd} mice affected by the *Dock2* mutation. DNA from β_2 integrin-deficient mice was analysed for expression of $Dock2^{Hsd}$ by PCR. Note that this PCR protocol detects $Dock2^{Hsd}$ in genomic DNA, however it does not discriminate between heterozygous and homozygous expression.

For CD11a and CD11b KO lines, the original breeders (2 males and 2 females that were purchased from Jackson Laboratories) were analysed. The CD11c KO mice were a gift from Professor Christie Ballantyne (Baylor College of Medicine, Texas, USA). Ear clips were not kept from the original breeders so DNA from the first litter of mice that were then bred to continue the line were examined. Both the CD11d and CD18 KO lines originated from cryopreserved embryos purchased from Jackson Laboratories, so DNA from the mice born following implantation of these embryos was analysed.

The expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd} was identified in the CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice, but was absent from CD11b KO, CD18 KO and WT control (Figure 3-12A). The implantation of cryopreserved embryos resulted in the birth of 3 mice for the CD11d KO line and only 1 for the CD18 KO line. Due to this low number, one of each line was bred with a C57BL/6 purchased from Harlan UK (negative for *Dock2*^{Hsd}). To assess whether the CD11d KO line retained the expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd} and to confirm the absence in the CD18 KO line, DNA from the breeders of these lines was examined. The expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd} was found in 7 out of the 12 CD11d KO breeders, whereas all of the CD18 KO breeders were negative for *Dock2*^{Hsd} (Figure 3-12B).

This indicates that CD11a KO, CD11c KO and some of the CD11d KO mice I used for previous experiments had a mutation in the *Dock2* gene in addition to their integrin deficiency. The expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd} is probably homozygous in the CD11a and CD11c KO lines, whereas many of the CD11d KO mice are likely to be heterozygous. This is because the CD11a and CD11c KO mice were obtained as live breeding pairs, whereas the CD11d KO was from an implanted embryo that was bred with a WT. Based on these findings, a careful re-examination of the data was

required to determine which immune phenotypes were due to the β_2 integrin deficiency and which were due to loss of Dock2 function.



Figure 3-12 Mutated form of *Dock2* (*Dock2*^{Hsd}) is expressed in CD11a, CD11c and CD11d KO mouse strains.

DNA from digested ear clips of CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO, CD18 KO or C57BL/6 (WT) mice. *Dock2*^{Hsd} was amplified by PCR and the resulting fragments were separated by gel electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel (1X TAE 1X SYBR safe). The expected band size of the mutated form of *Dock2* is 305bp. (A) Analysis of DNA from CD11a KO and CD11b KO line original breeders, CD11c KO line first litter, CD11d KO and CD18 KO lines original mice obtained from embryos. (B) Analysis of DNA from CD118 KO line breeders.

3.2.6 Determination of immune phenotypes in CD11a and CD11c KO mice due to loss of Dock2 or integrin expression

Dock2 is a guanine nucleotide exchange factor that regulates membrane polarisation and cytoskeletal dynamics. It is expressed exclusively in haematopoietic cells, therefore the mutation in this gene is particularly relevant for mice used to study immune cells. The main immune phenotypes that have been characterised due to *Dock2*^{Hsd} are an increase in memory CD8 T cells, loss of marginal zone B cells, iNKT cells and pDCs³⁰⁹.

Both Dock2 and β_2 integrins play important roles in leukocyte migration. It was, therefore, imperative to determine which effects described earlier in this chapter were due to the β_2 integrin deficiency and which phenotypes were due to the mutation in *Dock2*. In order to answer these questions, mice from the CD11a and CD11c KO lines (where the most significant differences were seen in DCs and CD4 T cells) were crossed to create CD11a/CD11c hets (Figure 3-13). These mice were heterozygous for the expression of both CD11a and CD11c but retained homozygous expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}. The phenotype of cells from these integrin hets was compared with the homozygous integrin KO *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice (CD11a KO & CD11c KO), mice that express WT integrins/Dock2 (WT) and mice with WT integrins/*Dock2*^{Hsd} (Dock2).



Figure 3-13 Mice used to determine effects downstream of β_2 integrin-deficiency or $\textit{Dock2}^{Hsd}$.

C57BL/6 (WT) mice were purchased from Harlan, CD11a KO mice were purchased from Jackson Labs, and CD11c KO mice gifted from Christie Ballantyne (Baylor College of Medicine, Texas, USA). CD11a/CD11c het mice were bred in-house by crossing CD11a and CD11c KO strains. Dock2 mice were bred in-house from the offspring of crossed F1 generation from CD11c KO mice crossed with WT C57BL/6 (see Figure 1-21). The integrin and Dock2 genotypes are shown.

Before assessing the immune phenotypes, β_2 integrin expression was first assessed on total splenocytes from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c het mice. The aim was to assess the altered integrin expression in CD11a/CD11c het mice to determine if they had the expected intermediate level of integrin expression. The expression of CD18 was significantly lower on cells from CD11a KO mice compared to WT, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c hets (Figure 3-14). CD11a was expressed to a similar extent on cells from WT and CD11c KO mice, but was absent in CD11a KO mice, as expected. The expression of CD11a on cells from CD11a/CD11c hets was higher than the CD11a KO mice but lower than the CD11c KOs, indicative of heterozygous expression. The Dock2 mice showed lower expression of CD11a than the CD11c KO mice but no difference compared to WT. The expression of CD11c was significantly increased on cells from CD11a and CD11a/CD11c hets than WT, CD11c KO or Dock2 mice. There was no significant difference in the mean expression of CD11c between WT and CD11c KO mice, suggesting that there was a high level of background staining or due to a low number of CD11c⁺ cells present in the spleen.

As expected, the expression of both CD11a and CD11c in the CD11a/CD11c het mice was higher than their respective homozygous KO mice. The expression of CD18, CD11a and CD11c was similar on cells from WT mice regardless of their Dock2 expression (WT and Dock2 groups).



Total Splenocytes

Figure 3-14 Expression of β2 integrins in integrin-deficient dock2 mutant mice. Splenocytes from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice were analysed by flow cytometry for expression of β_2 integrins and ICAM-1. Data shown is geometric mean from total live single cells. WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het n=9, data from 3 independent experiments. Dock2 n=3 from 1 experiment. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

The CD11a/CD11c deficient *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice displayed higher integrin expression than the KO mice but, in some cases, reduced compared to WT. There are two possible functional consequences of this altered integrin expression, either the intermediate level of CD11a/CD11c expression will be: 1) sufficient for cell function so the het mice will appear as WT or 2) insufficient to restore integrin function so the het mice will display the same phenotype as KO.

Next, I wanted to confirm the mutation in *Dock2* resulted in the expected altered immune phenotype that has been reported. One of the major immune cell phenotypes that occurs in mice with *Dock2*^{Hsd} is the loss of marginal zone B cells (MZ B cells)^{309,317}. To confirm that *Dock2*^{Hsd} resulted in a loss of MZ B cells in the integrin-deficient mice, splenic B cells were analysed from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice.

The total B cell population in the spleen can be identified by gating on CD19⁺ cells, then MZ B cells are identified as CD21/35^{hi} CD23^{lo 318} (Figure 3-15A). The Dock2 mice (which have WT integrin expression but express *Dock2*^{Hsd}; see Figure 3-13) were obtained from in-house breeding of the CD11a/CD11c KO lines to remove expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}. This was done by crossing the CD11a or CD11c KO mice with WT C57BL/6, then the F1 generation were crossed, and this resulted in the generation of some mice that had WT integrin expression but expression but expressed *Dock2*^{Hsd}.

However, the PCR to test for *Dock2*^{Hsd} does not discriminate between mice that are heterozygous or homozygous, therefore it was known that the mice in the Dock2 group expressed *Dock2*^{Hsd}, but they may have 1 or 2 copies of the mutated gene. Analysis of MZ B cells from the Dock2 mice revealed that 2 out of the 3 mice had a population of MZ B cells but the other mouse was deficient (Figure 3-15B). This suggests that mouse number 3 was homozygous for *Dock2*^{Hsd} whereas mice 1 and 2 were heterozygous. This *Dock2*^{Hsd} homozygote mouse appears to have a population of CD23^{hi} B cells that is absent in the WT and het mice, though this was not investigated further. In the WT spleen, MZ B cells represented around 7% of the total B cell population (Figure 3-15C). Whereas in CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c het mice the MZ B cells were significantly decreased in all of the integrin-deficient mice compared to WT.

Analysis of the MZ B cell populations confirmed that, as expected, the homozygous mutation in *Dock2* found in the CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c het mice resulted in a complete loss of MZ B cells in the spleen. The data also revealed that in the Dock2 group (mice with *Dock2*^{Hsd} but WT integrin expression), 2 out of 3 mice were likely heterozygous for *Dock2*^{Hsd}. This must be taken into consideration when interpreting the results from experiments using the Dock2 group of mice (Figures 3-16 to 20).





Splenocytes from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO or CD11a/CD11c het mice were analysed by flow cytometry. (A) Cells were gated on CD19+ (total B cells) then CD21/35^{hi} CD23^{lo} (marginal zone B cells). (B) Plots and the absolute numbers of marginal zone B cells from replicates of Dock2 mice. (C) Representative plots showing marginal zone B cells, percentages and numbers of CD19⁺ cells and marginal zone B cells. n=9, data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.0001.

Having confirmed CD11a and CD11c KO mice possess the *Dock2*^{Hsd} mutation at the genomic level and display the expected immune phenotype of marginal zone B cell loss, I next analysed their DC phenotype. In the initial experiments in this chapter, DCs were generated *in vitro* to determine which β_2 integrin subunits are responsible for regulating the activation state of BMDCs. First, β_2 integrins and ICAM-1 expression were assessed on the BMDCs and it was found that BMDCs lacking CD11a or CD11c expressed reduced levels of CD18 and CD11b but expressed higher levels of ICAM-1 than WT (Figure 3-1). This same analysis was carried out using BMDCs generated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice to determine whether these effects were due to the loss of β_2 integrin expression or due to Dock2-deficiency.

The expression of both CD18 and CD11b was significantly lower on BMDCs from β_2 integrin KO mice compared to WT, but expression on BMDCs generated from Dock2 mice was equivalent to WT (Figure 3-16). This was true regardless of the maturation status of the BMDCs. This indicates that, as expected, the downregulation of CD18 and CD11b on CD11a/CD11c-deficient BMDCs is due to the loss of integrin expression and not the absence of functional Dock2. As expected, CD11a KO and CD11c KO BMDCs lacked expression of CD11a and CD11c respectively. The CD11a/CD11c het BMDCs expressed CD11a and CD11c, but at significantly lower levels than WT. There was no difference in the expression of iCAM-1 was higher on immature CD11a KO and CD11a/CD11c het BMDCs compared to WT. The BMDCs compared to WT. However, following maturation, all integrin-deficient and Dock2 BMDCs expressed increased ICAM-1 compared to WT.

This data confirms the expected loss/reduced expression of CD11a and CD11c on BMDCs based on their genotype. The mutation in the *Dock2* gene did not impact on β_2 integrin expression but did contribute to the upregulation of ICAM-1 on mature BMDCs.

Chapter 3 Characterisation of β 2 integrin-mediated regulation of dendritic cells and the impact on interactions with T cells





Figure 3-16 Altered expression of β_2 **integrins on BMDCs is independent of Dock2.** BMDCs generated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice were cultured with or without 50ng/ml LPS overnight then cell surface marker expression was measured by flow cytometry. Values shown are relative to WT -LPS from individual experiments. WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het n=9, data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Dock2 n=3, data from 1 experiment. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

After confirming the reduced β_2 integrin expression on BMDCs was independent of Dock2, the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and the chemokine receptor CCR7 were assessed. The previous results (Figure 3-2) demonstrated that in the absence of CD11a or CD11c, BMDCs express higher levels of CD40, CD80 and CD86. The expression of CCR7 was increased only on mature CD11a KO BMDCs.

All of the immature BMDCs expressed similar levels of the markers analysed (Figure 3-17). However, mature BMDCs from CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c het mice expressed significantly higher levels of CD40, CD80 and CD86 than WT

mice. The expression of these co-stimulatory molecules was equivalent in WT and Dock2 BMDCs. In contrast to the previous experiments, there was no significant difference in CCR7 expression across any of the groups.

The aim with comparing the phenotype of cells from CD11a/CD11c het mice with CD11a and CD11c KO, was that intermediate levels of integrin expression may be sufficient to rescue any effects that occur due to integrin loss. Based on this idea, the expectation was that CD11a/CD11c hets would display a similar phenotype to the Dock2 and WT groups. In contrast to this, the enhanced expression of co-stimulatory molecules on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs was maintained in the CD11a/CD11c hets. This data indicates that reduced β 2 integrin expression is sufficient to induce the enhanced expression of co-stimulatory molecules on BMDCs and importantly, this effect is due to the loss of integrin expression and independent of the mutation in Dock2.



Figure 3-17 Elevated expression of co-stimulatory molecules on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs is independent of *Dock2*^{Hsd}.

BMDCs generated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice were cultured with or without 50ng/ml LPS overnight then cell surface marker expression was measured by flow cytometry. Values shown are relative to WT from individual experiments. WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het n=9, data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Dock2 n=3, data from 1 experiment. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. Data represents mean + SD. *p<0.05, ** p<0.005, ***p<0.005, ***p<0.0001.

The enhanced activation of β_2 integrin-deficient DCs generated *in vitro* was found to be an integrin-dependent effect. The next question was whether the increased proportions of DCs in secondary lymphoid tissues of CD11a and CD11c KO mice (Figure 3-7) is also an integrin-dependent effect. To test this, DCs were identified by *ex vivo* analysis in the CD11a/c het mice.

An increased percentage of DCs was identified in the spleen of CD11c KO mice and CD11a/CD11c het compared to WT, but there was no difference in the CD11a KO or Dock2 mice. There was variability in the data from CD11a KO mice (indicated by the large error bar), which may explain why the percentage of DCs was not significantly different in this group. No significant differences were seen between

any groups in the mLN or pLN analysis. Calculation of the absolute numbers of DCs showed a greater number of DCs in the spleen of CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c het mice compared to WT, but no difference in the Dock2 mice. Similar to the percentage data, the numbers of DCs did not differ in the mLN and pLN.

As found with the BMDC data, the CD11a/CD11c het group displayed the same phenotype as the CD11a and CD11c KO mice, but not the WT or Dock2. This indicates that intermediate expression of CD11a/CD11c is sufficient to cause an increase in DCs. As the increase in splenic DCs in CD11a, CD11c KO mice and CD11a/CD11c hets was not found in WT or Dock2 mice it can be concluded that the expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd} does not influence DC numbers *in vivo*.



Figure 3-18 Increased proportions and numbers of DCs in vivo is due to the β_2 integrin defect.

Cells were isolated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het or Dock2 mutant mice then DCs analysed by flow cytometry. As per the gating strategy in (Figure 3-7A). WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het n=9, data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Dock2 n=3, data from 1 experiment. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ***p<0.001.

The enhanced activation of BMDCs and increased proportion of DCs *ex vivo* from CD11a and CD11c KO mice have now been confirmed as integrin-dependent effects, and not due to the expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}. To determine the potential effect the increased number of DCs may have on the subsequent T cells response, the

phenotype of CD4 T cells was assessed in β_2 integrin deficient mice earlier in this chapter (Figure 3-10). Before looking at T cell activation, the percentages and numbers of CD4 T cells were first analysed. It is known that CD11a plays a major role in $\alpha\beta$ T cell extravasation into LNs⁶⁸ and Dock2 also plays a role in regulating this process³¹⁹. Therefore, the deficiency in both integrin and Dock2 may contribute to altered T cell populations in lymphoid organs. The percentages and numbers of CD4 T cells were assessed in the WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice to determine the effect of integrin deficiency vs loss of Dock2 on the overall CD4 T cell population present in the spleen and LNs.

The percentage of CD4 T cells in the spleen was decreased in CD11a KO mice compared to WT but remained equivalent in CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice (Figure 3-19). In the mLN, all of the CD11a/CD11c deficient mice displayed a lower percentage of CD4 T cells but the deficiency of Dock2 alone had no effect. In the peripheral LNs, the proportion of CD4 T cells was significantly reduced in CD11a KO and to a lesser extent in CD11c KO mice. However, this effect was lost in the CD11a/CD11c het LNs and, again, mice with the Dock2 mutation displayed a similar percentage of CD4 T cells to WT mice.

Despite a decreased percentage in the spleen of CD11a KO mice, the number of CD4 T cells was similar across all of the groups. On the contrary, in the mLN and pLNs there was a β_2 integrin-dependent defect in the number of CD4 T cells. Mice with the mutated form of *Dock2* and reduced expression of CD11a/CD11c showed a significantly lower number of CD4 T cells, whereas mice with *Dock2*^{Hsd} and WT integrin expression had numbers equivalent to WT.

In summary, the loss of CD11a and/or CD11c expression leads to a reduced number of CD4 T cells in the mLN and peripheral LNs of mice but the absence of functional Dock2 has no effect on CD4 T cell distribution.



Figure 3-19 Reduced numbers of T cells in LNs is due to the β 2 integrin defect. Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric lymph nodes (mLN) and peripheral lymph nodes (LNs) of WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het or Dock2 mutant mice. Cells were gated on CD3+CD4+ then T cell numbers and percentages calculated. WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het n=9, 3 expt; Dock2 mutant n=3, 1 expt. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way or one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

After identifying that *Dock2*^{Hsd} does not impact the number of CD4 T cells in spleen and LNs, the phenotype of these cells was then analysed. Previous experiments showed an increase in the expression of activation markers on CD4 T cells in mice lacking CD11a or CD11c (Figure 3-10).

In the spleen, CD4 T cells from CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11a/CD11c het mice displayed increased expression of CD44 compared to WT (Figure 3-20A), as was found previously in the CD11a and CD11c KO mice (Figure 3-10). Expression of CD44 on T cells from the Dock2 mice was variable but not significantly different from WT. In contrast to the previous findings, there was no difference in the expression of CD62L on CD4 T cells from CD11a or CD11c deficient mice. Similarly, the expression of CD25 and CD69 was equivalent on CD4 T cells regardless of their genotype.

In the mLN, there were no differences in the expression of CD62L, CD25 or CD69 (Figure 3-20B). The percentage of CD44⁺ CD4 T cells was greater only in the CD11c KO mice, as found previously (Figure 3-10). However, unlike the initial experiments,

CD11a KO T cells expressed CD44 at the same levels as WT. In pLNs, the data also showed inconsistencies with the previous experiments, where an increase in CD44 expression was identified in the absence of CD11a and CD11c, and CD11c KO mice showed higher expression of CD25 and reduced CD62L. CD4 T cells from all mice with the Dock2 mutation, regardless of β_2 integrin expression, expressed similar levels of CD44 and CD25 to those from WT mice (Figure 3-20C). The percentage of CD62L⁺ T cells was similar between WT and β_2 integrin-deficient CD4 T cells but higher on T cells from Dock2 mice. In contrast to the initial experiments, there was also a significant increase in the percentage of CD69⁺ CD4 T cells from CD11a KO mice compared to WT. No difference was seen in CD69 expression on the other groups.

It is unclear why the activation state of CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD11c KO mice was not consistent with the previous experiments. The altered expression of CD44 in the spleen appears to be an integrin-dependent effect, and this is potentially true in the mLN as well. However, this was not accompanied by the expected decrease in CD62L expression, and levels of CD44 were unaltered in the pLN. It is therefore difficult to make firm conclusions about the effect of β_2 integrin deficiency versus loss of Dock2 on the phenotype of CD4 T cells *in vivo*. Further analysis, including cytokine profiling, would be required to confirm the specific roles for integrins and Dock2 in CD4 T cell activation *in vivo*.



Figure 3-20 Loss of β_2 integrins and Dock2 have inconsistent effects on CD4 T cell phenotype.

Cells were isolated from WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het and Dock2 mice and analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD3+CD4+ then activation marker expression was assessed on CD4 T cells from the spleen (A), mesenteric LN (mLN) (B) and peripheral LN (pLN) (C). WT, CD11a KO, CD11c KO, CD11a/CD11c het n=9, data pooled from 3 independent experiments; Dock2 n=3, data from 1 experiment. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, *****p<0.0001.

In summary, it was identified that CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mouse strains possessed an additional mutation in the *Dock2* gene. The CD11a and CD11c KO mice displayed a loss of MZ B cells due to the expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}, whereas, the β_2 integrin-deficiency was responsible for the enhanced co-stimulatory molecule expression on BMDCs, increased population of DCs *in vivo* and reduced number of CD4 T cells in LNs.

3.2.7 Generation and Characterisation of β_2 integrin KO mice with WT expression of Dock2

Upon the discovery that CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mouse strains had a mutation in the *Dock2* gene in addition to the intended β_2 integrin deficiency, the mice were then bred to restore WT expression of Dock2. For the CD11d KO line, only some of the mice expressed *Dock2*^{Hsd} and were likely heterozygous, whereas others expressed *Dock2^{WT}*. Breeders were selected that did not express *Dock2^{Hsd}* so that all future offspring would not possess this mutation. For the CD11a and CD11c KO lines all of the mice were affected by the Dock2 mutation, therefore it was assumed that the mice were homozygous for *Dock2*^{Hsd}. To restore WT expression of Dock2, CD11a and CD11c KO mice were crossed with WT mice (C57BL/6 mice purchased from Envigo) (Figure 3-21). This produced an F1 generation of mice that were heterozygous for both their respective β_2 integrin and Dock2^{Hsd}. The F1 generation were then crossed and breeders from their offspring were selected that had WT expression of Dock2, and either heterozygous or homozygous expression of the relevant integrin subunit. From the F3 generation breeders were then selected that lacked expression of Dock2^{Hsd} and were homozygous KO for the β_2 integrin receptor to continue the line.



Figure 3-21 Breeding strategy for CD11a and CD11c KO mouse strains to remove Dock2^{Hsd}.

In order to confirm the findings that marginal zone B cell loss (Figure 3-15) and enhanced CD4 T cell activation (Figure 3-10, Figure 3-11) in CD11a and CD11c KO mice were due to $Dock2^{Hsd}$, the phenotype of β_2 integrin α -chain deficient mice, all with WT expression of Dock2, was then compared to WT and total β_2 -deficient mice (CD18 KO).

First, the total cell numbers obtained from the spleen, mLN and pLN of these mice were calculated and compared with the mice affected by $Dock2^{Hsd}$. The total cell counts from the original strains affected by $Dock2^{Hsd}$ showed a significant decrease in the number of cells in the spleen, mLN and pLN of CD11a and CD11c KO mice compared to WT (Figure 3-22A). Note, this data is the same as Figure 3-8, with the CD18 KO group added. Interestingly, in total β_2 integrin KO mice (CD18 KO) the cell number was also lower in the mLN and pLN, but numbers were greatly increased in the spleen compared to WT mice. Despite some of the CD11d KO mice expressing $Dock2^{Hsd}$ (probably heterozygous), there was no difference in cell numbers from these mice or in the CD11b KOs. However, in the integrin-deficient mice with WT expression of Dock2 there was no difference in the number of splenic cells in any of the α -chain KO mice compared to WT, and in the mLN and pLN the decreased number was only seen in the CD11a KO and CD18 KO but not in the CD11c KO mice.

This suggests that the decreased cellularity of the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice was due to *Dock2*^{Hsd}. This reduction in cellularity may therefore be attributed to the loss of MZ B cells. Similarly, the reduced cellularity of CD11c KO LNs was also due to *Dock2*^{Hsd}, though the reason for this remains unknown. However, the decreased cell number in the mLN and pLN of CD11a KO mice was due to the loss of CD11a expression. This is to be expected due to the essential role for CD11a in leukocyte extravasation into the LNs.





Figure 3-22 Reduced total cell numbers in the spleen of CD11a KO, spleen and LNs of CD11c KO mice were due to *Dock2*^{Hsd}.

Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric LN (mLN) and peripheral LN (pLN) of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO, CD11d KO, and CD18 KO mice and total cell numbers calculated. Counts from mice affected by $Dock2^{Hsd}$ (A) and with WT Dock2 expression (B). n=16, data pooled from 6 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

I previously showed that CD11a KO and CD11c KO mice displayed one of the most striking immune phenotypes associated with *Dock2*^{Hsd}, the loss of MZ B cells^{309,317}. To confirm the expression of *Dock2*^{WT} in integrin-deficient mice rectified this defect, MZ B cells were analysed from α-chain and β_2 KO mice that expressed *Dock2*^{WT}. The population of MZ B cells in the spleen was restored in *Dock2* WT integrin-deficient mice (Figure 3-23A). In the CD11c KO mice, the MZ B cell population was in fact increased, both by percentage and number, compared to the WT spleen (Figure 3-23B). Similar numbers of MZ B cells were seen in WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11d KO and CD18 KO mice.

The presence of MZ B cells in CD11a and CD11c KO mice confirms the impairment was due to *Dock2*^{Hsd} and the breeding strategy (outlined in Figure 3-21) successfully restored Dock2 function in the integrin-deficient strains. Further to this, the loss of CD11c expression in the absence of *Dock2*^{Hsd} resulted in an increased number of MZ B cells, suggesting a potential role for CD11c in regulating MZ B cells.





Cells were isolated from the spleen of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO, CD11d KO and CD18 KO mice (all WT for Dock2) then cells were analysed by flow cytometry. MZ B cells were gated on CD19⁺ CD21/35^{hi} CD23^{lo}. (A) Representative plots of marginal zone B cells as a percentage of CD19⁺ cells. (B) Percentages and numbers of marginal zone B cells. n=9, data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001.

Following confirmation that $Dock2^{Hsd}$ removal from CD11a and CD11c KO mice strains resulted in the expected return of MZ B cells, the CD4 T cell population was then analysed. Data obtained from experiments using the CD11a/CD11c het mice suggested that the loss of CD11a and/or CD11c expression, but not Dock2, caused a reduction in the number of CD4 T cells in LNs (Figure 3-19). To confirm these findings, CD4 T cells were analysed from β_2 integrin-deficient mice with $Dock2^{WT}$ expression. There was no difference in the number of CD4 T cells in the spleen of CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO or CD11d KO mice compared to WT, but numbers were increased in CD18 KO mice (Figure 3-24A). In both the mLN and

pLN, there was a significant decrease in CD4 T cell numbers in CD11a KO and CD18 KO mice compared to WT. Equivalent numbers of CD4 T cells were found in the mLN and pLN of WT, CD11b KO and CD11d KO mice.

There were inconsistencies in activation marker expression on CD4 T cells between the initial experiments carried out in integrin-deficient mice with *Dock2*^{Hsd} (Figure 3-10) and experiments using CD11a/CD11c het mice (Figure 3-20). The initial data showed that CD4 T cells from the tissues of CD11a and CD11c KO mice displayed a more activated phenotype, but this was not apparent in the repeat experiments. To clarify this contradictory data, the expression of activation markers was assessed on CD4 T cells from the spleen of β_2 integrin-deficient mice with *Dock2*^{WT} expression. There was a reduced expression of CD25 on CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD18 KO mice compared to WT, whereas higher expression was seen on cells from CD11d KO mice (Figure 3-24B). CD11a KO CD4 T cells also displayed lower levels of CD69, whereas CD69 expression was upregulated on cells from CD11c and CD11d KO mice compared to WT. Fewer CD4 T cells expressed CD62L in the CD18 KO spleen, but no difference was found on T cells from any other integrindeficient mice. CD44 expression was similar across all genotypes.

In the initial experiments using integrin-deficient mice expressing *Dock2*^{Hsd}, CD4 T cells from the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice produced significantly higher levels (~2-fold) of IFN γ and IL-17 following *in vitro* re-stimulation (Figure 3-11). To determine whether the mice with *Dock2*^{WT} retained this phenotype, the levels of IFN γ and IL-17 were measured in response to PMA/ionomycin in CD4 T cells from integrin-deficient mice expressing *Dock2*^{WT}. The percentage of CD4 T cells producing IFN γ was similar across the β_2 integrin-deficient mice, except for the CD11d KO cells that showed a small but significant increase compared to WT (Figure 3-24C). In contrast to this, there was increased production of IL-17 in CD4 T cells from CD11a and CD18 KO mice, but the CD11b, CD11c and CD11d KO T cells produced similar levels to WT. The increase in IL-17 production was similar in magnitude (~2-fold) to that seen in CD11a KO mice expressing *Dock2*^{Hsd}.

This suggests that the absence of CD11a but not CD11c leads to a decreased number of CD4 T cells in LNs and enhanced production of IL-17 by T cells in the spleen. Loss of β_2 integrin expression does not have consistent effects on CD4 T
cell activation marker expression, but additional experiments are required to examine this further. Finally, the enhanced IFN γ production by CD4 T cells in CD11a KO mice was due to the *Dock2*^{Hsd} mutation.



Figure 3-24 Reduced numbers of CD4⁺ T cells in CD11a/CD18 KO mice and enhanced IL-17 production in the spleen due to the integrin-deficiency.

Cells were isolated from the spleen, mesenteric LN (mLN) and peripheral LN (pLN) of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO, CD11d KO and CD18 KO mice (all WT for Dock2). (A) Cells were gated on CD3⁺CD4⁺ then T cell numbers calculated. (B) Percentage of splenic CD4 T cells expressing activation markers. (C) Production of IFNy and IL-17 from splenic CD4 T in cells following *in vitro* re-stimulation with PMA/ionomycin. n=6, data pooled from 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean + SD. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001, #p<0.01 when CD18 KO group excluded.

3.3 Discussion

In summary, I set out with the aim to determine which β_2 integrin family members regulate DCs and how this impacts the subsequent T cell response. However, this was confounded by the discovery that the integrin-deficient mouse strains used contained an additional mutation in a gene called *Dock2*. I have now identified the major phenotypes due to *Dock2*^{Hsd} are a loss of MZ B cells and reduced number of CD4 T cells in the LNs of CD11c KO mice. The loss of both of these cell types is likely to have contributed to the reduced total cell number in the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice, and in the LNs of CD11c KO mice affected by *Dock2*^{Hsd}. Importantly, the increased activation of *in vitro* generated BMDCs and increased proportion of DCs found *in vivo* in CD11a KO and CD11c KO mice, were due to the loss of integrin expression. Further work is ongoing in the lab to follow up on the mechanism(s) by which CD11a and CD11c integrin subunits regulate the various aspects of DC phenotype and function.

3.3.1 Implications of the *Dock2* mutation identified in several strains of β_2 integrin-deficient mice

DCs are antigen presenting cells that play an essential role in mediating the induction of an immune response or tolerance of immune cells to specific antigens. It is essential to better understand the mechanisms regulating DCs and their ability to induce immune activation versus tolerance, to identify potential therapeutic targets for diseases where there is a loss of tolerance, such as autoimmunity. In recent years it has become apparent that β_2 integrins are important regulators of immune activation, particularly in DCs. CD18 KO BMDCs showed enhanced cytokine production in response to TLR stimulation¹⁸² and the loss of β_2 integrin receptor function increased co-stimulatory molecule expression on DCs under steady state conditions⁷³. DCs lacking functional β_2 integrins induced greater Th1 responses⁷³ whereas DCs expressing a constitutively active form of CD11a inhibited the generation of Th1 cells shown by reduced T-bet expression and IFNy production⁸⁸. These studies demonstrate that β_2 integrins are important for the negative regulation of DC function and limiting the priming of T cell responses. However, it has not yet been determined which of the subunits and associated signalling pathways are responsible for this regulation.

The aim of this chapter was to determine which β_2 integrin subunit(s) regulate DCs *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and to assess the impact that integrin loss on DCs has on their ability to prime T cells. These questions were answered using β_2 integrin-deficient mice that lack a specific subunit: CD11a, CD11b, CD11c or CD11d. My initial findings indicated that CD11a and CD11c KO mice have significant differences in DC and T cell activation compared to WT: CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs expressed higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules and displayed reduced adhesion to ICAM-1. *Ex vivo* analysis of spleen and LNs found an increased percentage of DCs in CD11a and CD11c KO mice, and increased activation and cytokine production in CD4 T cells. Together, these initial findings suggested that integrin subunits CD11a and CD11c mediate regulation of DC phenotype that, in turn, keeps T cell activation in check.

While this work was underway, a publication highlighted that an additional mutation in a gene called *Dock2* was present in several genetically modified mouse strains including Siae and Cmah KO mice³⁰⁹. They proposed this mutation originated from the C57BL/6Hsd colony at Harlan in the USA. As these mice were used for backcrossing of newly generated genetically modified strains, other mouse colonies may express the mutated form of *Dock2*, termed *Dock2*^{Hsd}. Using PCR to test for the *Dock2*^{Hsd} gene it was found that CD11a, CD11c and CD11d KO mice expressed the mutated form of *Dock2* but CD11b KO and CD18 KO mice did not. The *Dock2*^{Hsd} allele is a functional mutation that results in a failure of protein translation, therefore mice possessing the Dock2^{Hsd} mutation pheno-copy Dock2 KO mice. The presence of *Dock2*^{Hsd} in addition to the intended β_2 integrin defect called into question whether the immune phenotypes described in the early sections of this chapter (Figures 3-1 – 3-11) were due to the loss of integrin subunits or Dock2.

Both Dock2 and integrins play important roles in cytoskeletal rearrangement, cell adhesion and migration. Given that the functions of β_2 integrins and Dock2 in immune cells are similar, it was imperative that any effects resulting from *Dock2*^{Hsd} were identified, and that the findings describing CD11a and CD11c as mediating the negative regulation of DC and T cell phenotypes were confirmed.

3.3.1.1 Uncovering Dock2-related phenotypes using CD11a/CD11c hets

The initial approach taken to uncover which altered immune phenotypes were caused by $Dock2^{Hsd}$ and which were due to the β_2 integrin loss, was to cross the CD11a and CD11c KO mice to create CD11a/c hets. These mice still expressed homozygous $Dock2^{Hsd}$ but were heterozygous for both CD11a and CD11c. The CD11a/CD11c het mice expressed intermediate levels of both of these integrin receptors and it was hypothesised that this level of expression would be sufficient to restore integrin function. If this hypothesis was correct then BMDCs generated from CD11a/CD11c hets would express co-stimulatory molecules at the same levels as WT, and the increased expression of T cell activation markers seen in CD11a and CD11c KO mice would be lost. Comparison of immune phenotypes in mice that were CD11a or CD11c homozygous KO or heterozygous for CD11a/CD11c expression with WT mice that either expressed WT Dock2 or $Dock2^{Hsd}$ allowed the separation of effects that were integrin-dependent or Dock2-dependent.

However, it was identified in the Dock2 group (WT integrin expression but nonfunctional Dock2), only one of the three mice was homozygous for *Dock2*^{Hsd} and the other two were likely heterozygous based on the presence of MZ B cells in the spleen. As mice that were heterozygous for *Dock2*^{Hsd} did not display an absence of MZ B cells it is likely that this trait is recessive. In the analysis of DCs, both *in vitro* and *ex vivo*, the hom and het *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice clustered closely together and appeared similar to the WT mice. The fact that the increased co-stimulatory molecule expression on BMDCs and increased number of DCs found in the spleen were not seen in the Dock2 mice, despite variability in the expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}, further confirms the increased activation of DCs as an integrin-dependent and not a Dock2-dependent effect.

3.3.1.2 Reduced cell numbers in CD11a and CD11c KO mice due to Dock2^{Hsd}

To confirm the findings from experiments using CD11a/CD11c het and integrin WT *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice, cells from CD11a and CD11c KO mice bred to restore *Dock2*^{WT} were analysed to confirm which effects were due to the integrin deficiency (figures 21-23). There was a decreased total cell number in the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice with *Dock2*^{Hsd} however, in the same strains with *Dock2*^{WT} expression the cell counts were equivalent to WT. A potential explanation for this is that the reduced

total cell number in the spleen was due to the loss of MZ B cells. MZ B cells absent from the spleen in CD11a and CD11c KO *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice were restored upon the removal of the Dock2 mutation. There was also no defect found in the numbers of any other leukocyte population examined from the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice with restored Dock2 function (CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NK cells, neutrophils, macrophages, DCs, eosinophils; McIntyre & Morrison unpublished data). Taken together, this data suggests that *Dock2*^{Hsd} caused a decreased total cell number in the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice due to the loss of MZ B cells. In CD11c KO mice expressing *Dock2*^{WT}, the numbers of MZ B cells were in fact increased compared to WT mice. This finding was surprising as it has previously been shown that B cell development is unaffected by the loss of functional β_2 integrin receptors³²⁰. The equivalent number of MZ B cells in CD18 KO mice compared to WT is in agreement with this finding, but further work is required to determine why the loss of CD11c alone results in an increased number of MZ B cells.

In addition to changes in B cell populations there were also differences found in CD4 T cells. The number of CD4 T cells was reduced in the LNs of mice deficient in CD11a and CD11c that expressed *Dock2*^{Hsd}. When the mice were bred to remove Dock2^{Hsd}, this defect in CD4 T cells was lost from the CD11c KO but remained in the CD11a KO mice. Dock2 is known to play a role in T cell migration, as in Dock2 KO mice the homing of CD4 T cells to the mLN and inguinal LNs was impaired³¹⁹. The reduced number of CD4 T cells in CD11a and CD11c KO mice with Dock2^{Hsd} is in agreement with these findings. The equivalent number of CD4 T cells found in the LNs of WT and WT *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice is likely due to the fact that 2/3 of the Dock2 mice were heterozygous for *Dock2*^{Hsd}. This would mean that one WT copy of *Dock2* is sufficient to mediate CD4 T cell migration into secondary lymphoid tissues. A reduced number of CD4 T cells was found in the mLN and pLN of CD11a KO mice regardless of their Dock2 expression. It has previously been established that CD11a is involved in the migration of T cells into LNs by mediating firm adhesion of lymphocytes to endothelial cells⁶⁸, therefore it is unsurprising that the decrease in CD4 T cells in CD11a KO mice is integrin-dependent. When comparing the average number of CD4 T cells from *Dock2*^{Hsd} CD11a KO mice (mLN 5.5x10⁵, pLN 3.1x10⁵) with the *Dock2*^{WT} CD11a KO (mLN 1.3x10⁶, pLN 4.5x10⁵), the number of LN CD4 T cells increased with the restoration of Dock2 function. This indicates that the

absence of *Dock2* expression had an additive effect on the impairment in CD4 T cell migration seen in CD11a KO mice.

3.3.1.3 Loss of *Dock2* and β_2 integrins contributed to changes in CD4 T cells

The phenotype of CD4 T cells was also characterised in β_2 integrin-deficient mice to determine whether the increased activation of T cells by CD11a KO DCs *in vitro* may also occur *in vivo*. Initial experiments showed increased activation of CD4 T cells in the absence of CD11a or CD11c expression, although these findings were not consistent when these same mice were compared to CD11a/CD11c hets, or when WT mice were compared to integrin-deficient mice with restored *Dock2*^{WT} expression. There is evidence linking both Dock2 and β_2 integrins to CD4 T cell activation. Dock2 is induced downstream of CD28 co-stimulatory signal to activate Rac, which is required for effective T cell activation³²¹ and *in vivo* transfer of antigenspecific Dock2 KO CD4 T cells show impaired activation in response to DC immunisation, based on CD25 and CD69 expression³²². In β_2 integrin signallingdeficient mice, T cell activation was reduced following immunisation but unchanged during homeostasis³²⁰.

In the experiment using mice expressing *Dock2*^{Hsd} there was a consistent increase in the percentage of CD44⁺ CD4 T cells in the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice, but this difference was lost when *Dock2*^{WT} expression was restored. This suggests that enhanced activation of CD4 T cells was due to Dock2. However, as the absence of Dock2 is linked to reduced T cell activation³²² and the *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice had a global loss of Dock2 function, the mechanism could be mediated by another cell population as opposed to a cell-intrinsic effect on T cells. There was a significant decrease in CD25 expression on CD4 T cells from both CD11a and CD18 KO mice. Expression of CD25 (IL-2R α) is upregulated during activation of conventional T cells but it is also expressed highly on regulatory T cells (Tregs)^{323,324}. It has been shown that CD18-deficient mice have a reduced number of CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs^{325,326}, therefore the reduced expression of CD25 may be due to the Treg deficiency in these mice, although a defect in activation of conventional CD4 T cells cannot be ruled out.

In contrast to this, CD4 T cells from CD11d KO mice expressed higher levels of CD25 and CD69 than WT. To my knowledge, the loss of CD11d expression has not

previously been linked to an increased activation of CD4 T cells. CD11d is generally expressed on myeloid cells and not T cells, therefore this effect may be due to the loss of CD11d altering another cell population that ultimately increases CD4 T cell activation. It has been shown that CD11d-deficient T cells have an impaired proliferative response to staphylococcal enterotoxins⁵⁸, suggesting that CD11d is required for an optimal T cell response. However, the CD11d KO mice used in the published study were the original strain donated to Jackson Labs and, therefore, the altered T cell response may be due to expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}.

In the CD11d KO colony only some mice expressed $Dock2^{Hsd}$. This indicates that of the mice that tested positive, the expression was likely heterozygous. In the initial experiments comparing DC and T cell phenotypes in β_2 integrin-deficient mice, there were no significant findings identified in the CD11d KO mice. Given that the absence of splenic MZ B cells and reduced number of CD4 T cells in LNs were not seen in WT $Dock2^{Hsd}$ mice with heterozygous expression, it is probable that there were no apparent changes in immune cell phenotype in the CD11d KO mice that were due to $Dock2^{Hsd}$ because of the presence of at least one WT allele.

3.3.1.4 Altered DC phenotypes were independent of $Dock2^{Hsd}$ and due to defects in β_2 integrin expression

It is clear the loss of both Dock2 and integrins contributed to changes in B and T cell populations in the β_2 integrin α -chain deficient mice. Yet, the main aim of this chapter was to explore the regulatory function of β_2 integrins in DCs. This was based on the previous report that the loss of β_2 integrin-mediated signalling results in enhanced activation of BMDCs and an increase in mature migratory DCs *in vivo*⁷³. The generation of BMDCs from *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice with differing expression of CD11a and/or CD11c showed an upregulation of CD40, CD80 and CD86 in cells deficient in CD11a and/or CD11c but not those with WT integrin expression. Similarly, the increased number of DCs in the spleen of CD11a- and CD11c-deficient mice was also found to be β_2 integrin-dependent. The study that demonstrated β_2 integrin loss alters DCs used beta2^{TTT/AAA} knock-in mice that have a mutated kindlin-3 binding site downstream of CD18, causing a loss of receptor function⁷³. Importantly, these mice express *Dock2*^{WT}. Therefore, the increased co-stimulatory molecule expression by BMDCs is due to the loss of β_2 integrin expression. Taken together, this data shows that in the absence of CD11a or CD11c expression DCs show an

increased level of activation *in vitro*, suggesting that CD11a and CD11c are involved in the negative regulation of DCs.

I did not find any evidence to suggest that the DC phenotypes I described in β_2 integrin-deficient mice were related to the mutation in Dock2. However, Dock2 has previously been reported to influence the development and function of DC populations. A reduced number of plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) has been described in the spleen and LNs of Dock2-deficient mice^{309,327}. Dock2 is essential for pDC migration, in Dock2 KO mice pDCs are reduced in the spleen and LNs despite normal development in the bone marrow, and in *in vitro* assays were unable to migrate towards chemokine stimuli³²⁷. However, this is not true for cDCs as they express Dock180 in addition to Dock2 KO mice were not present in cDCs³²⁷. The majority of pDCs express B220³²⁸, and in the *ex vivo* DCs analysis B220⁺ cells were removed within the dump gate. The DC data from β_2 integrin-deficient mice only included cDCs and was therefore not impacted by the reduction in pDCs caused by *Dock2^{Hsd}*.

Finally, it is worth noting that the identification of *Dock2*^{Hsd} in CD11a KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice is an important finding that must be taken into consideration when interpreting any results published previously using these mice. In addition to the lack of MZ B cells and reduced numbers of pDCs, mice expressing Dock2^{Hsd} have increased numbers of splenic CD8 T cells with a memory phenotype³⁰⁹. Indeed, a higher number of central memory CD8 T cells was also described in CD11a KO mice that were obtained from Jackson, so will express *Dock2*^{Hsd 329}. This alteration in CD8 T cells may not be a CD11a-dependent effect, as interpreted by the authors, but instead due to *Dock2*^{Hsd}. Using Dock2 KO mice it was shown that Dock2-deficient T cells have impaired TCR clustering³³⁰. This decreased TCR clustering was also described in CD8 T cells from CD11a KO mice, where they attributed this effect to the absence of CD11a expression, however it is likely that these mice expressed *Dock2*^{Hsd 331}. My data shows the increased expression of CD44 on CD4 T cells in the spleen of CD11a and CD11c KO mice and loss of MZ B cells was due to *Dock2*^{Hsd} and not the integrin-defect. Importantly, the altered phenotype of BMDCs and DCs ex vivo were β_2 integrin-dependent. The loss of MZ B cells and pDCs, increase in memory CD8 T cells in mice affected by Dock2^{Hsd} will

likely also have an indirect effect on other leukocyte populations. For example, pDCs can drive T cell responses, activate NK cells and recruit other immune cells through chemokine production³³². Therefore, there will be knock-on effects on the phenotype and function of other leukocyte subsets. These findings highlight the importance of using multiple approaches to validate findings and not relying completely on genetically-deficient mouse models.

3.3.2 Regulation of DCs by β_2 integrins

My data demonstrates that, regardless of the mutation in *Dock2*, CD11a and CD11c act as negative regulators of DC activation. This conclusion can be made based on the following evidence: (i) BMDCs with reduced or absent CD11a and CD11c expressed higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules, whereas in integrin-sufficient BMDCs expression was unchanged whether from *Dock2*^{WT} or *Dock2*^{Hsd} mice. (ii) These findings are in line with previously published data, where mice with signalling-deficient β_2 integrin receptors showed an increased percentage of DCs in the spleen and BMDCs generated from these mice expressed higher levels of co-stimulatory molecules⁷³.

Initial experiments carried out used β_2 integrin-deficient *in vitro* generated BMDCs. First, integrin expression was assessed on the BMDCs to determine whether the loss of one β_2 integrin subunit affects the expression of the others. β_2 integrin family members have overlapping ligand repertoires and as a result there is a level of redundancy of function between the receptors. It is therefore possible that in the absence of one β_2 integrin, another may be upregulated to help compensate for the loss. Other than the loss of integrin expression expected based on the genetic KO, the only difference seen was in the levels of CD11b. CD11b expression was downregulated in CD11a, CD11c and CD11d KO BMDCs. However, as there were no significant differences in the activation or priming of T cells by CD11b KO BMDCs it is unlikely that the reduced CD11b expression in the other genotypes is contributing to the effects seen.

It was previously shown that in BMDCs expressing non-functional β_2 integrin receptors there was an enhanced expression of MHC II, CD40, CD80 and CD86⁷³. From the results in the β_2 α -chain KO mice, the increased co-stimulatory molecule expression can be attributed specifically to the loss of CD11a and CD11c,

suggesting that these integrins are involved in the regulation of signalling pathways associated with co-stimulatory molecule gene expression. The transcription factor PU.1 induces the transcription of CD80 and CD86 in BMDCs³³³ and can be activated by GM-CSF³³⁴ and Akt³³⁵. It was previously shown that GM-CSF-induced activation of the MAPK pathway, including pAkt, was enhanced in β_2 signalling-deficient BMDCs⁷³. Therefore, enhanced signalling through pAkt in the absence of CD11a and CD11c may activate PU.1 to induce greater transcription of CD80/CD86. There was no difference in MHC II expression in the absence of any of the individual CD11 subunits. This could be explained by the differential signalling pathways that control the expression of MHC II compared to CD80/CD86. The transcription of MHC II is activated by the transactivator protein CIITA, which can be induced by STAT5³³⁶. In the absence of β_2 integrin signalling, BMDCs showed comparable levels of pSTAT5⁷³, indicating that β_2 integrin-mediated regulation occurs independently of STAT5. There was no difference in the activation of BMDCs from CD11b mice, in agreement with the findings of Ling et al., who reported similar expression of MHC II, CD40, CD80 and CD86 in WT and CD11b KO immature BMDCs ¹⁸⁵. However, in contrast to my findings the authors also demonstrated reduced expression of MHC II, CD80 and CD86 after LPS-stimulation in CD11b KO BMDCs. The concentration of LPS they used was 20 times greater than I used in this study (1µg/ml compared to 50ng/ml) and the duration of stimulation was longer at 24h, which may explain the inconsistency in results.

Following identification of increased co-stimulatory molecule expression on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs, the effect on the subsequent T cell response was then tested. In co-cultures of BMDCs with CD4 T cells there was increased proliferation and activation of T cells when cultured with CD11a KO but not CD11c KO BMDCs compared to WT, despite both CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs displaying increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules. Although there were differences in the levels of co-stimulatory molecules between CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs. The expression of CD40 was not significantly upregulated on CD11c KO BMDCs compared to WT, and in the absence of LPS the levels of CD86 were similar in CD11c KO and WT BMDCs. This indicates that there are subtle differences in co-stimulatory molecule expression on CD11c KO BMDCs, potentially explaining the enhanced T cell response with CD11a KO but not CD11c KO BMDCs.

The interactions between CD11a KO BMDCs and CD4 T cells in vivo resulted in an increase in the number of T cells in the draining LN, but these T cells displayed lower levels of activation marker expression. This is in contrast to the *in vitro* data where the absence of CD11a on BMDCs caused an increase in T cell activation. The higher number of OT-II T cells in the LN of mice that received CD11a KO BMDCs suggests that these cells induced greater recruitment or proliferation of the transferred CD4 T cells. CFSE staining of the transferred OT-II T cells could be used to investigate this in the future. A potential explanation for the reduced expression of CD25, CD69 and CD44 is that the CD11a KO BMDCs induced an earlier activation of the T cells, so after 3 days these receptors may already be downregulated. Whereas the WT BMDCs may activate the T cells at a slower rate, therefore at the 3 day timepoint the expression of activation markers may be at their peak. A time-course of analysis would be required to address this issue. Alternatively, the phenotype of the BMDCs may be changed when they are transferred in vivo, thereby losing their capacity to induce enhanced T cell responses. Recovering enough BMDCs from the draining LN after transfer makes this difficult to study.

When integrin-deficient DCs were stained ex vivo for activation marker expression the altered co-stimulatory molecule expression found in the BMDCs was not replicated, with the exception of higher CD86 expression on splenic DCs from CD11c KO mice. There was a high variability in the data from DCs stained ex vivo, demonstrated by large error bars, therefore it was not possible to detect any subtle effects. This discrepancy between in vitro and in vivo DCs, may be due to factors within the microenvironment in vivo that affect expression of these markers. In particular for CD40 the difference in expression was only seen when DCs were activated with LPS, suggesting an inflammatory insult may be required to detect any differences in this marker. In addition, the generation of BMDCs produces a mixed population of DCs and macrophages³³⁷ compared to the analysis of DCs ex vivo, where monocyte-derived cells were excluded. In the in vivo setting DCs were analysed by gating out other leukocytes then gating on MHC II⁺ cells, therefore the purity of DCs analysed may have impacted the results, discussed in detail below. There is also evidence that BMDCs display a transcriptional signature related to subsets of migratory DCs found in vivo337, so the enhanced expression of co-

stimulatory molecules may be subset-specific and consequently not detected by analysis of total DCs *in vivo*.

It was previously found that when β_2 integrin receptors are functionally impaired, DCs in the spleen expressed higher levels of CD86⁷³. An increase in CD86 expression was also identified in splenic DCs from CD11c KO mice, indicating that the effect seen in the signalling-deficient mice may be due to the specific loss of CD11c. However, it must be taken into consideration that the markers used to identify the DCs were different. In the beta2^{TTT/AAA} KI mice, the integrin receptors have impaired signalling but are still expressed on the cell surface, therefore CD11c was used as marker to identify DCs. The use of CD11c KO mice meant that an alternative gating strategy had to be used to identify DCs from the β_2 integrin α chain KO mice. This was done by using 'dump' markers to exclude monocytes/macrophages (CD64), pDCs (B220), B cells (CD19/B220), NK/NK T cells (NK1.1), neutrophils (Gr1) and T cells (TCRβ). Cells were then gated on MHC II⁺ and these were considered DCs. Using this method, the DCs were of 80-90% purity based on the percentage of CD11c⁺ identified in WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO and CD11d KO mice. This means that 10-20% of the cells are not DCs as they did not express CD11c. Potential sources of contamination would be cell types that were not removed by the dump gate and are known to express MHC II. This includes: ILCs³³⁸, stromal cells³³⁹ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁶². The addition of CD45 to the panel would remove any stromal cells and replacement of TCR^β with CD3 would allow the exclusion of $y\delta$ T cells in addition to $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Further optimisation of the gating strategy for DCs in β_2 integrin-deficient mice will clarify whether the findings from BMDCs generated in vitro are not replicated with in vivo DCs, or if the effects were lost due contamination of other cell populations.

One of the main unanswered questions is why the loss of CD11a and CD11c results in enhanced DC activation but not CD11b or CD11d. This could potentially be explained by the differential expression of the receptors on DCs, distinct ligand binding or downstream signalling pathways. BMDCs expressed CD11a, CD11b and CD11c (Figure 3-1), but CD11d was not measured due to the lack of a commercially available murine CD11d antibody. It could be hypothesised that higher expression of CD11a and CD11c than CD11b would indicate the functional significance of these subunits in BMDCs. Contrary to this, CD11b was expressed highest by BMDCs

(95%), followed by CD11a (70-80%) and then CD11c (65%) (relative expression shown in Figure 3-1). This suggests that the negative regulation of DCs by CD11a and CD11c is not governed by cellular expression levels of the receptors.

An alternative explanation is that CD11a and CD11c share a ligand specificity that differs from CD11b and CD11d. CD11a has the most restricted β_2 integrin ligand repertoire, only recognising the ICAM family (ICAM-1-5) and CD11c has also been shown to bind ICAM-1¹⁰³. CD11b and CD11d have a high degree of structural homology and can recognise a similar diverse ligand repertoire including ICAM-3, VCAM-1, fibronectin, fibrinogen and other matrix proteins²²⁻²⁵. But unlike CD11b, CD11d does not display affinity for ICAM-1²⁴. CD11b and CD11c also share a high degree of structural homology and the ability to bind ICAM-1²⁵, meaning there is not an obvious ligand that conveys specificity for CD11a and CD11c. However, ICAM-1 can exist in different isoforms, which consist of a combination of immunoglobulin (Ig) domains numbered 1-5³⁴⁰. The ability of ICAM-1 to bind CD11a is isoformdependent³⁴¹ and CD11a binds to Ig domain 1 whereas CD11b binds to Ig domain 3³⁴². The CD11c-binding Ig domain has not been characterised, but there may be a specific isoform/s of ICAM-1 that demonstrate specificity for CD11a and CD11c over CD11b. In my adhesion assay data, CD11a and CD11c were the major mediators of BMDC binding to ICAM-1, suggesting it may be specifically integrin binding to ICAM-1 that regulates DCs.

Downstream of β_2 integrin receptor binding signalling pathways are activated by the intracellular cytoplasmic tails. The β_2 integrin α chains differ in length and sequence, with different phosphorylation residues on their cytoplasmic regions³⁴³. The specific signalling molecules that bind individual α chains are not well characterised, unlike the CD18 chain, but shared downstream signalling molecules may explain the negative regulation of DCs by CD11a and CD11c, with different pathways induced compared to CD11b and CD11d.

In addition to the reason for DC regulation being specific to CD11a and CD11c receptors, the mechanism of this regulation is also unknown. BMDC cultures contained GM-CSF and IL-4, therefore it is likely that the β_2 integrin-mediated regulation of DCs occurs downstream of signalling from the receptors for these cytokines. It was previously shown that in the absence of β_2 integrin signalling, GM-

CSF treatment of BMDCs enhanced phosphorylation of Syk, p38, Erk and Akt but not STAT5⁷³. This suggests that under homeostatic conditions, β_2 integrin receptor signalling may induce inhibitors of the MAPK and PI3K pathways. This could occur through the targeting of GM-CSF-induced signalling molecules for degradation via phosphorylation that enables degradation by ubiquitination, as was demonstrated for the signalling adapters TRIF and MyD88 in macrophages downstream of CD11b¹⁸³. Thus, in the absence of β_2 integrins, signalling molecules downstream of GM-CSF are unconstrained.

3.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, I have identified that the loss of CD11a and CD11c leads to enhanced co-stimulatory molecule expression on BMDCs generated *in vitro*. These findings demonstrate that CD11a and CD11c function as negative regulators of DC activation. The presence of an additional mutation in the *Dock2* gene in CD11a, CD11c and CD11d KO mouse strains contributed to altered immune phenotypes in addition to the β_2 integrin-deficiency. Loss of *Dock2* expression caused a loss of MZ B cells and in CD11c KO mice reduced CD4 T cell numbers in LNs. Whereas the defect in CD4 T cells in CD11a KO mice was due to the loss of both *Dock2* and CD11a. The enhanced expression of co-stimulatory molecules on DCs *in vitro* and increased percentage of DCs *in vivo* in CD11a and CD11c KO mice was independent of *Dock2*. These findings have provided new information on how integrins regulate DCs, with the identification of the specific β_2 integrin receptor subunits, CD11a and CD11c as negative regulators of DCs. Further studies can now focus on the potential ligands for these receptors and the mechanism of this regulation.

4.1 Introduction

 β_2 integrin receptors play an essential role in $\alpha\beta$ T cell migration and function. CD11a is the β_2 integrin most highly expressed on T cells and plays a major role in cell adhesion of CD4 and CD8 T cells. The binding of CD11a to ICAM-1 expressed on antigen presenting cells mediates the formation of the immune synapse, an important interaction for the differentiation and activation of T cells ^{75,304}. In a similar interaction, CD8 T cells adhere to target cells via CD11a and this interaction is necessary for effective cell killing through release of cytotoxic granules ^{77,87}. CD11a-ICAM-1 contacts are also required for $\alpha\beta$ T cell migration, both extravasation from the bloodstream into tissues and for entry into lymph nodes via the high endothelial venule ^{64,68}.

 β_2 integrins are also expressed on $\gamma\delta$ T cells however, their role is much less understood than on $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Previous studies suggest that unlike $\alpha\beta$ T cells, the migration of $v\delta$ T cells to sites of inflammation is not dependent on β_2 integrins. Models of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) and psoriasis carried out in β_2 integrin-deficient mice demonstrated that $\gamma \delta$ T cells were able to effectively migrate to the primary site of inflammation, central nervous system and skin respectively, despite lacking the adhesion receptor ^{295,296}. There has also been work demonstrating that mice deficient in β_2 integrins can develop inflammation associated with an increase in vo T cells. In a model of reduced CD18 expression (CD18^{hypo}PL/J) mice spontaneously develop skin inflammation, with IL-17producing $v\delta$ T cells found in the skin lesions and draining lymph nodes ²⁹⁶. CD11a KO mice can develop periodontal disease as they age, which is also associated with an increased number of IL-17-producing $v\delta$ T cells in the oral mucosa ³⁰². There is additional evidence of expanded $\gamma\delta$ T cells in integrin-deficient mice without signs of inflammation. An increased number of $v\delta$ T cells has been described in the cervical lymph nodes and spleen of CD18 KO mice ^{297,303}.

Despite several studies demonstrating an expansion of $\gamma \delta T$ cells in the absence of β_2 integrins, the mechanism of this expansion has not been identified. Furthermore, the number of $\gamma \delta T$ cells in other mucosal tissues, where they perform essential

functions such as the lungs and intestines, were not investigated. To address this, I used total β_2 integrin deficient mice, CD18 KO, to assess $\gamma\delta$ T cells more globally under steady-state conditions. It is worth noting that some strains of CD18 KO mice have been reported to develop a spontaneous dermatitis⁵, however the colony housed at our mouse facility are on a C57BL/6 background which are resistant to the development of skin inflammation³⁴⁴.

4.1.1 Hypothesis and Aims

Given that several mouse models indicate the loss of β_2 integrin expression leads to an increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, my hypothesis is that β_2 integrins are a novel regulator of $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

The overall aim of this chapter was to examine how the absence of β_2 integrins alters the phenotype and localisation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells under steady state conditions. This is further divided into 4 sub-aims:

- 1. At which lymphoid/mucosal sites are $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers increased in CD18 KO mice?
- 2. Is the increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells due to a global expansion or specific subset/s?
- 3. Which β_2 integrin family member/s (CD11a/b/c/d) is responsible for the phenotype?
- 4. Does β_2 integrin expression differ on subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells?

4.3 Results

4.3.1 CD18 KO mice have a tissue-restricted increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells

The first aim was to determine which lymphoid and mucosal sites display an increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. Cells were isolated from the spleen, blood, lungs, uterus, skin (ears), small intestine lamina propria (LP), small intestine epithelium (Ep), colon, Peyer's patches, mesenteric lymph nodes (mLN), peripheral lymph nodes (pLN; inguinal, brachial and axillary pooled), gingiva (oral mucosa), thymus and bone marrow. These were analysed by flow cytometry to determine the percentage and number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells present in each tissue. Evaluation of $\alpha\beta$ T cells was provided as a comparator population. A defined gating strategy was used to determine cell populations (Figure 4-1).



Figure 4-1 Flow cytometry gating strategy to identify $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

(A) Gating strategy used to identify $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells for data shown in figures 4-2 and 4-3 with the exception of small intestine, colon, mLN and Peyer's patches, which were gated as shown in (B). (C) Gating strategy used to identify $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells for figures 4-4 onwards. Examples shown in (A & C) from CD18 KO spleen are representative of WT and of other tissues. Example shown in (B) from WT mLN is representative of CD18 KO and other intestinal tissues.

The comparison between WT and CD18 KO mice revealed that with the exception of the skin, colon and thymus, there was a substantial increase in the percentage of CD3⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice (Figure 4-2). This was accompanied by the expected decrease in proportion of $\alpha\beta$ T cells. Enumeration of the absolute cell numbers (Figure 4-3) revealed that the actual differences in $\gamma\delta$ and $\alpha\beta$ T cells were site-specific. Notably, the absolute number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells were greater only in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus (Figure 4-3). In the skin, small intestine, colon, Peyer's patches, lymph nodes, gingiva, thymus and bone marrow there was no difference in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In addition, the number of $\alpha\beta$ T cells was decreased in the colon, Peyer's patches, mLN, pLN, thymus and bone marrow. It has already been established that $\alpha\beta$ T cell migration is dependent on β_2 integrins, in particular they require these integrin receptors to enter lymph nodes via high endothelial venules⁶⁸. It is therefore unsurprising that CD18 KO mice show a decreased number of $\alpha\beta$ T cells in several lymphoid tissues including the mLN, pLN and Peyer's patches.

This comprehensive tissue analysis indicates that in the absence of CD18 there is an increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in a restricted number of sites, namely the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus.



Figure 4-2 Increased proportion of \gamma\delta T cells in multiple tissues of CD18 KO mice. Cells were isolated from various tissues of WT and CD18 KO mice then analysed by flow cytometry. Percentage of $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells as a proportion of CD3⁺ are shown, as per the gating strategy in Fig 1-1A. Spleen, blood, lungs, skin, pLN, gingiva, thymus, bone marrow n=10. Uterus, Peyer's patches n=9. Small intestine LP WT n=9, CD18 KO n=8. Small intestine Ep WT n=9, CD18 KO n=8. Colon and mLN n=6. Male and female mice were used, aged 6-14 weeks. Data are pooled from a minimum of 3 independent experiments; each symbol representing an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.



Figure 4-3 Increase in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus of CD18 KO mice.

Cells were isolated from various tissues of WT and CD18 KO mice then analysed by flow cytometry. Absolute number of $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells per tissue are shown. For blood numbers were calculated per 100µl. Spleen, blood, lungs, uterus, skin n=18. Gingiva and bone marrow n=10. Small intestine LP WT n=9, CD18 KO n=8. Small intestine Ep WT n=8, CD18 KO n=9. Colon and mLN n=6. Peyer's patches n=9. pLN WT n=18 CD18 KO n=16. Thymus n=20. Male and female mice were used, aged 6-14 weeks. Data from a minimum of 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

Given that there was an increase in the number of $y\delta T$ cells found in the blood and also lungs, a highly vascularised organ, there could be contaminating cells in the lung samples that were circulating in the blood. To minimise contamination by leukocytes present in the vasculature, the lungs were perfused prior to removal. This will not completely remove all circulating cells present in the lung vasculature but does provide an appropriate comparator. Thus, to confirm that the cells analysed were present in lung tissue, vo T cells recovered from perfused lung tissue were compared to unperfused. Both the percentage and number of $y\delta$ T cells isolated from unperfused or perfused lung tissue were similar (Figure 4-4). The same significant increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be seen when comparing CD18 KO to WT. There was no significant difference between the number of $y\delta$ T cells from unperfused and perfused lungs, regardless of the genotype, suggesting that the $\gamma\delta$ T cells analysed are likely to reside in the lung tissue. Ideally, immunofluorescent microscopy could provide information on the location of $\gamma\delta$ T cells within the lungs and visualise their position in relation to blood vessels and lung tissue. Unfortunately, although staining of lung sections for TCRy δ was attempted, due to technical issues it was unsuccessful. Alternatively, intravenous administration of labelled antibody (e.g. anti-CD45) prior to analysis of the lungs would confirm whether or not the $v\delta$ T cells are in the circulation (staining positive) or the tissue (staining negative).



Figure 4-4 Perfusion of lungs does not affect the percentage/number of γδ T cells analysed. Cells were isolated from the lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice either immediately, or following perfusion with 2mM EDTA. WT/CD18 KO unperfused and WT perfused n=8, CD18 KO perfused n=7. 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents and individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. ns not significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

As noted above, analysis of individual tissues from CD18 KO mice identified that $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers are increased in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus compared to WT. In order to assess the impact this has on the overall number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from

WT and integrin-deficient mice, the total number of $\gamma \delta$ T cells was calculated by plotting the average number from all organs analysed. It was found that overall CD18 KO mice had a 6.5 times greater number of $\gamma \delta$ T cells at 1.1×10^7 , compared to 1.7×10^6 in WT mice (Figure 4-5). This was predominantly due to heightened numbers within the spleen, with CD18 KO mice displaying a 50-fold increase in $\gamma \delta$ T cells in this organ. Similarly, in the lungs there was also a 50-fold increase in $\gamma \delta$ T cells, whereas the increase was lower in the blood and uterus (8- and 4-fold respectively).





Data from Figure 1-3 represented as the average number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells per tissue, used to calculate the total number in WT and CD18 KO mice. For the blood the total number was calculated based on mouse blood volume 58.5ml/kg and an average weight of 25g³⁴⁵.

In summary, the loss of CD18 expression leads to a 6.5-fold increase in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This was due to higher numbers in a restricted number of sites; the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus. There were no differences in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers found in the 10 other tissues examined.

4.3.2 Loss of β_2 integrin expression causes a specific increase in Vy6V δ 1⁺ IL-17-producing y δ T cells

After establishing that the increase in $\gamma \delta$ T cells found in β_2 integrin-deficient mice is not restricted to the spleen and cervical LNs as previously reported ^{297,303}, the next question was whether the expanded $\gamma \delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice were phenotypically different from those in WT mice. There are a number of cell surface markers, cytokines and transcription factors that are commonly used to characterise $\gamma \delta$ T cells. The ability to produce either IFN γ or IL-17 broadly divides $\gamma \delta$ T cells into two subsets. These subsets have different functions in response to infectious challenge and in diseases such as cancer can either promote or protect against tumour progression. Previous studies have identified that IFN γ -producing $\gamma \delta$ T cells are CD62L^{hi} CD44^{lo} CD45RB⁺ CD27⁺ and express T-bet, whereas IL-17-producing $\gamma \delta$ T cells are CD62L^{lo} CD44^{hi} CD45RB⁻ CD27⁻ and express ROR γ t ^{199,206,207}.

Initial experiments evaluated the expression of surface markers. The majority of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen of CD18 KO mice expressed CD44 but lacked expression of CD62L, CD27 and CD45RB (Figure 4-6A). Whereas those from a WT spleen mainly expressed CD62L, CD27 and CD45RB but lacked CD44. Both expression of the TCR and its co-receptor CD3 were higher on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO compared to WT. High expression of these markers on $\gamma\delta$ T cells has previously been shown to identify a population of IL-17-producing cells that express V $\gamma6^{-346}$. Combined, this implies that there may be an increase in V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the CD18 KO spleen. This was further supported by the analysis of transcription factors T-bet and ROR γ t (associated with IFN γ and IL-17 production respectively), which showed an increased proportion of CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed ROR γ t in comparison with WT. There was no difference in the expression of T-bet (Figure 4-6A).

Based on the expression of surface markers and transcription factors, CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells display a phenotype associated with IL-17 production. To investigate if this was the case, splenocytes from WT and CD18 KO mice were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin and their cytokine production was analysed. $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO mice produced higher levels of IL-17 and less IFN γ (Figure 4-6C). Despite this percentage difference, calculation of the number in the whole spleen showed that IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells were increased but there was no difference in the IFN γ^+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Chapter 4 Characterisation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β 2 integrin-deficient mice



Figure 4-6 CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ **T cells express high levels of CD44, CD3, TCRy\delta, RORyt and IL-17.** Analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen of WT and CD18 KO mice by flow cytometry. **(A)** Representative plots of cell surface markers and transcription factors. **(B)** Percentages and number of IL-17⁺ and IFNy⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells following *in vitro* stimulation with PMA/ionomycin for 4h. n=9. Data representative of 3 independent experiments. Statistical differences were determined using a twoway ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

As $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO mice showed an increased ability to produce IL-17 following *in vitro* stimulation, the next question was whether CD18 KO mice display higher levels of IL-17 *in vivo*. The quantity of IL-17 was measured by ELISA in the serum and tissue supernatants (media from the whole tissue incubated for 4h) isolated from WT and CD18 KO mice. The levels of IL-17 were increased in the serum and spleen of CD18 KO mice compared to WT but there was no difference in the lungs or uterus. This suggests that circulating IL-17 is increased in CD18 KO mice, however, it is apparent that IL-17 production is not enhanced at all the sites where an increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers was found.

The ELISA data showed that CD18 KO mice have increased levels of IL-17 in the serum and spleen, but this does not confirm that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the source of the IL-17. The ability of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the lungs and uterus (where an increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells was found) to produce IL-17 had also not been assessed. To determine which cells produce IL-17 in the tissues of WT and CD18 KO mice, and therefore

assess the potential contribution of $\gamma\delta$ T cell-derived IL-17 to the levels measured in supernatant samples, cells were re-stimulated *in vitro* with PMA/ionomycin and the phenotype of IL-17-producing cells was analysed. The gating strategy is shown in Figure 4-7B.

In the spleen, lungs and uterus of WT mice, the predominant IL-17 producers were a population of non-T cells (CD3⁻) (Figure 4-7C). Conversely, in CD18 KO mice the main source of IL-17 was $\gamma\delta$ T cells, with a significant increase found in the percentage of IL-17⁺ cells that were TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ compared to WT. In all tissues this was accompanied by a significant decrease in the percentage of IL-17-producing non-T cells. This shows that $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen and lungs have an enhanced potential to produce IL-17 despite similar levels of IL-17 detected by ELISA. Interestingly, in the CD18 KO spleen there was also a decreased proportion of CD4 T cells and in the uterus a decrease in CD45⁻ cells within the IL-17⁺ population compared to WT.

When the total number of IL-17-producing cells were calculated and compared across tissues, a significant increase in the number of IL-17⁺ cells was detected in the spleen but not lungs or uterus of CD18 KO mice compared to WT (Figure 4-7D). This shows that although there appears to be an increased number of IL-17-producing cells in the lungs and uterus, this is not significant when compared alongside the spleen, indicating that there is a greater increase in IL-17⁺ cell numbers in the spleen. This may explain why there is an increase in IL-17 levels in the spleen but not lungs or uterus of CD18 KO mice.

Overall, this data indicates that in CD18 KO mice the predominant cell type capable of producing IL-17 is $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Consequently, it is likely that the increased levels of IL-17 found *in vivo* are due to enhanced production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells.



Figure 4-7 Increased levels of IL-17 in the serum and spleen of CD18 KO mice *in vivo* and in $\gamma\delta$ T cells *in vitro*.

(A) Levels of IL-17 were measured by ELISA from serum isolated from the blood of WT and CD18 KO mice, and from tissue supernatants collected by incubating the whole tissue in complete media for 4h at 37°. Dotted line indicates the limit of detection (62.5pg/ml). Serum n=11, spleen n=9, uterus and lungs n=8. Each symbol represents an individual mouse, with mean shown. (**B&C**) The phenotype of IL-17⁺ cells were analysed by flow cytometry, gating strategy (**B**) percentage of IL-17⁺ cells of indicated phenotype. (**D**) Total number of IL-17⁺ cells. Data represents mean <u>+</u> SD. n=9. Data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. ns not-significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

I have identified that there is an increase in IL-17A-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrindeficient mice, specifically in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus. The next question was whether the expanded population occurred due to the enhancement of one or more subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Murine $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be categorised according to the V γ chain expressed as part of the TCR, each of which is associated with a specific wave of thymic development, tissue-homing properties and cytokine profile¹⁹⁶. These are numbered V γ 1-7 (Heilig and Tonegawa nomenclature ²²⁴), with IL-17 production predominantly by V γ 4⁺ and V γ 6⁺ cells (Figure 1-5, Table 1-1). In order to determine any V γ chain bias in the expanded population, cells isolated from various tissues of WT and CD18 KO mice were analysed by flow cytometry for expression of V γ chains that have commercially available antibodies (V γ 1, V γ 4 and V γ 5). Based on the data above (increased number of IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice) it was hypothesised that the expanded population is likely to be either V γ 4⁺, V γ 6⁺, or a combination of both.

In line with prior studies, the majority of the $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the WT spleen, blood and lungs were V γ 1⁺ or V γ 4⁺ (Figure 4-8A). Over 70% of the $\gamma\delta$ T cells in these tissues were accounted for in WT mice using the available V γ 1, V γ 4 and V γ 5 antibodies. In contrast, CD18 KO mice showed a decrease in the proportion of V γ 1⁺ and V γ 4⁺ cells, with V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻V γ 5⁻ cells representing over 85% of the $\gamma\delta$ T cell repertoire in the spleen, blood and lungs. In the WT uterus 90% of $\gamma\delta$ T cells were V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻V γ 5⁻. This is expected as the predominant subset in the uterus expresses V γ 6⁻¹⁹⁸. In the CD18 KO uterus the percentage of V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻V γ 5⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was increased to 98%. In the small intestine over 50% of the repertoire was unidentified in WT mice. The likely explanation is that the majority of these cells are V γ 7⁺, the predominant subset located in the intestine ^{202,347}. Interestingly in CD18 KO mice the lamina propria displayed an increase in the V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻V γ 5⁻ population similar to the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus whereas in the epithelium there was no difference in repertoire between the WT and CD18 KO mice. In the skin of both WT mice and CD18 KO mice, all $\gamma\delta$ T cells could be accounted for and, as expected, 95% were V γ 5⁺.

Despite changes in the proportions of multiple $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets in CD18 KO mice, calculation of the absolute numbers of each subset revealed that only the V $\gamma1$ -V $\gamma4$ -V $\gamma5$ - $\gamma\delta$ T cells were significantly altered (Figure 4-8B). The number of this subset was increased in the same tissues that we found the total $\gamma\delta$ numbers raised in

(spleen, blood, lungs and uterus; Figure 1-3) and surprisingly also in the small intestine lamina propria.



Figure 4-8 Increased number of V γ 1⁻⁴⁻⁵⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs, uterus and small intestine lamina propria of CD18 KO mice.

Cell were isolated from WT and CD18 KO mice lymphoid/mucosal tissues then analysed by flow cytometry. Samples were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ then V $\gamma1^+$, V $\gamma4^+$, V $\gamma5^+$ or V $\gamma1^-4^-5^-$. (A) Percentage of total $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing each TCR chain. Number in white indicates percentage of V $\gamma1^-V\gamma4^-$ cells shown in the grey segment. Representative plots shown. (B) Absolute numbers of each $\gamma\delta$ subset. n=10, 4 independent experiments. Each symbol represents an individual mouse, with mean shown. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

The increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells found in CD18 KO mice do not express V γ 1, V γ 4 or V γ 5. The remaining subsets are V γ 2, V γ 6 and V γ 7. V γ 2 is expressed at the transcript level in all $\gamma\delta$ T cells, however the transcripts are either out of frame or do not correlate with expression on the cell surface^{225,226}. V γ 7⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the predominant subset in the intestines and tend to produce IFN γ ^{202,347}. The expanded V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻V γ 5⁻ were therefore expected to express V γ 6. To test this, RNA was isolated from CD18 KO splenocytes sorted on V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻ cells then RT-PCR was performed for V γ and V δ chains (Figure 4-9A&B).

The PCR results showed that CD18 KO V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻ cells express the V γ 6 chain but not V γ 7 (Figure 4-9C), confirming my hypothesis. The flow cytometric analysis of V γ chain expression was also confirmed, as expression of V γ 1, V γ 4 and V γ 5 could not be detected. All $\gamma\delta$ T cell receptors exist as dimers of a γ and δ chain. V γ 6 is an invariant TCR that pairs with V δ 1¹⁹⁸. PCR analysis for the six V δ chains demonstrated that the V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻ CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells predominately express mRNA for V δ 1.

In summation, the current data supports the concept that the increased population of V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice are V γ 6⁺V δ 1⁺ cells. In the rest of the thesis, $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus that were gated on V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻ or from the thymus gated on V γ 1⁻V γ 4⁻V γ 5⁻ will be referred to as V γ 6.





CD18 KO splenocytes were sorted by FACS for CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$, V γ 1⁻V $\gamma4^-$ cells then RNA isolated and RT-PCR performed. (A) Gating strategy used for sorting. Representative gels showing expression of V γ and V δ chain mRNA from positive controls (B) and V γ 1⁻V $\gamma4^-$ cells (C). For positive controls for V γ 1, V γ 2, V $\gamma4$, V $\gamma6$, and all V δ chains total spleen RNA was used, for V γ 5 total skin RNA, and for V $\gamma7$ small intestine RNA. Results are representative of 4 mice.

CD18 KO mice have an increased number of V γ 6⁺V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus. Next, I wanted to confirm that the raised levels of IL-17 identified by flow cytometry in the total $\gamma\delta$ population and serum/spleen cytokine levels by ELISA, were due specifically to enhanced IL-17 production by V γ 6⁺ cells. To address this, splenocytes from WT and CD18 KO mice were stimulated *ex vivo* with PMA/ionomycin and the expression of IL-17A and IL-17F were assessed by flow cytometry.

As expected, both V γ 4⁺ and V γ 6⁺ cells from WT mice produced IL-17A but V γ 1⁺ γ δ T cells did not (Figure 4-10A&B). Surprisingly some production of IL-17A was detected by V γ 1⁺ γ δ T cells from CD18 KO mice, with 15% of V γ 1⁺ cells producing IL-17A. However, the majority of this cytokine was produced by the V γ 6⁺ cells, with 80% of these cells staining positive for IL-17A. There was a significant increase in the percentage of V γ 6⁺ γ δ T cells that were IL-17A⁺ in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. In the samples from CD18 KO mice 15% of V γ 1⁺ cells produced IL-17A compared to 0.9% of WT V γ 1⁺ cells, but this was not statistically significant (Figure 4-10B). The levels of IL-17F were very low, with less than 5% of cells expressing the cytokine, and no differences were found in expression between WT and CD18 KO γ δ T cells. This data indicates that the increase in levels of IL-17 seen in the CD18 KO total $\gamma\delta$ T cell population is predominantly due to production by V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.



Figure 4-10 Increased IL-17 production by Vq1'Vq4⁻ **v\delta T cells in CD18 KO mice.** Splenocytes were isolated from WT and CD18 KO mice and cytokine production by v δ T cells was assessed by flow cytometry, following *ex vivo* stimulation with PMA/ionomycin for 4h. Cells were gated on CD3⁺TCRv δ ⁺ then Vq1⁺, Vq4⁺, or Vq1⁻4⁻ (Vv6⁺). (A) Representative plots of Vq subset IL-17A and IL-17F. (B) Percentage of each v δ subset expressing IL-17A or IL-17F. n=6, 2 independent experiments. Data represents mean; each symbol represents and individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

In summary, the phenotype of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO mice is different to WT as they are predominantly CD62L^{Io} CD44^{hi} CD45RB⁻ CD27⁻ ROR γ t⁺. This is due to the specific increase in the V γ 6V δ 1-expressing subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that show an enhanced production of IL-17A.

4.3.3 Increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells is due to the loss of CD11a expression

The β_2 integrin receptors are a family of four adhesion molecules. I have identified that mice lacking expression of the common β_2 chain have an increased number of IL-17-producing V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, therefore I next wanted to identify which of the β_2 integrin family member/s are responsible for this phenotype. To do this, $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers and cytokine production was analysed from mice that lack the individual α chains: CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO.

Flow cytometric analysis revealed that there was a greater number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood and lungs of CD11a KO mice compared to WT (Figure 4-11A). Whereas there were no differences detected in CD11b KO, CD11c KO or CD11d KO mice (Figure 4-11A). Consistent with this, the percentage of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that produced IL-17 was also only increased in the CD11a KO mice, with the proportion of IFN γ -producers in all of the α -chain KO mice remaining unchanged (Figure 4-11B&C). The absolute number of IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was also higher in CD11a KO mice compared to WT, but in contrast to the findings in the CD18 KO, the number of IFN γ^+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells also showed a significant increase in the CD11a KO mice. These data suggest that the expansion of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells found in CD18 KO mice is due to the loss of CD11a expression.



Figure 4-11 Increased number of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice is due to the loss of CD11a.

Cells were isolated from the spleen, blood and lungs of WT, CD11a KO, CD11b KO, CD11c KO and CD11d KO mice then analysed by flow cytometry. **(A)** Absolute numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Levels of IL-17 and IFN γ from $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen were measured following *ex vivo* stimulation with PMA/ionomycin for 4h, representative plots **(B)**, percentages and absolute numbers **(C)**. n=9, 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a one-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

4.3.4 The effect of location and subset on β_2 integrin and ICAM-1 expression on $\gamma\delta$ T cells

After discovering the loss of CD11a expression results in increased $\gamma\delta$ T cells, presumably V $\gamma6^+$ cells as found in CD18 KO mice. I next assessed β_2 integrin expression on different subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in WT mice. The hypothesis was that CD11a expression may be higher on V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, suggesting this integrin may be of more functional importance than on the other subsets. The expression of CD11a, CD11b and CD11c was examined in the spleen, lungs and uterus (tissues where an increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers was found) and in the pLN (site with no difference in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers). CD11d expression could not be measured as there are currently no murine antibodies available.

Over 90% of $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed CD11a in all of the tissues examined (Figure 4-12A). In the spleen and pLN, all subsets expressed equivalent levels of CD11a. Conversely, in the lungs and uterus, $V\gamma6^+ \gamma\delta$ T cells expressed higher levels of CD11a than the $V\gamma1^+$ and $V\gamma4^+$ subsets. When comparing the mean expression of CD11a on $V\gamma6 \gamma\delta$ T cells across tissues there was a significant increase in both the lungs and uterus compared to spleen and pLN, as well as in the uterus compared to the lungs (Figure 4-12B).

In most tissues $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed very low levels of CD11b and CD11c, with the exception of the pLN where all subsets showed some expression of CD11b (Figure 4-12A&B). The majority of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the pLN were CD11b negative, but a small population of cells were CD11b⁺. This population was greater in V γ 4⁺ and V γ 6⁺ than V γ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The expression of CD11b was significantly higher on V γ 4⁺ and V γ 6⁺ cells in the pLN compared to spleen and lungs. The levels of CD11c were significantly increased on all subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen compared to pLN and lungs, although the percentage of CD11c⁺ cells was less than 5. The functional relevance of low level CD11b and CD11c expression by $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the pLN remains unknown.




CD11a was expressed higher on V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells that reside in the lungs and uterus, and loss of CD11a leads to V γ 6 expansion. The main ligand for CD11a is ICAM-1 (CD54), which is expressed on endothelial cells and leukocytes. Therefore, it is likely that the absence of interaction between CD11a and ICAM-1 is involved in mediating the expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice. It has been shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen express ICAM-1³⁴⁸, however comparison of ICAM-1 expression across tissues and subsets has not been done previously.

ICAM-1 expression was initially assessed on total $\gamma\delta$ T cells from different tissues in WT mice (Figure 4-13A). Expression of ICAM-1 was readily detectable on $\gamma\delta$ T cells in all tissues examined but expression was significantly lower on $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs compared to the spleen, pLN and uterus.

Expression of ICAM-1 was then analysed on $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets from WT and KO mice. In the spleen, where in WT mice V γ 1 and V γ 4 subsets predominate but in CD18 KO mice there is a large proportion of V γ 6⁺ cells, there was a significant increase in V γ 1⁺ and V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell expression of ICAM-1 in CD18 KO compared to WT (Figure 4-13B). In the pLN, a site in which $\gamma\delta$ T cells were not expanded in CD18 KO mice, there was an increased percentage of ICAM-1⁺ V γ 4 and V $\gamma6$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The lungs and uterus are tissues in which V γ 6⁺ cells preferentially localise and sites of expanded $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in the absence of CD18. V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells showed reduced expression of ICAM-1 in CD18 KO lungs compared to WT, whereas in the uterus there was no difference. Conversely for V γ 4⁺ cells, there was an increase in ICAM-1 expression in the uterus but not lungs of CD18 KO mice.





Levels of ICAM-1 on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO mice were analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ then V $\gamma1^+$, V $\gamma4^+$, or V $\gamma1^-4^-$ (V $\gamma6^+$). **(A)** Expression of ICAM-1 on total $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT tissues. **(B)** Representative plots and percentages of ICAM-1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets from WT (Blue) and CD18 KO (red) mice. n=8, 3 independent experiments. Data represents mean <u>+</u> SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

The loss of CD11a expression, but not any of the other three β_2 integrin family members, is responsible for the increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells identified in CD18 KO mice. Detailed analysis of β_2 integrin and ligand expression on $\gamma\delta$ T cells across tissues identified that all $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the tissues analysed express CD11a, but expression is higher on V $\gamma6^+$ cells in the lungs and uterus than on other subsets. Together this data suggests that CD11a is important in the regulation of V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells and that it's expression on V $\gamma6^+$ cells may play a central role in their function within specific tissues.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Tissue-restricted increase in V γ 6V δ 1⁺ IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice

In this chapter I have identified that in mice lacking β_2 integrins there is an expansion of $v\delta$ T cells specifically in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus. It was previously reported that these mice have more $y\delta$ T cells in the spleen and cLNs but no difference in pLN (axillary and inguinal) ^{297,303}. This is in agreement with my findings that CD18 KO mice have increased γδ T cells in the spleen but not pLN. However, prior studies did not examine $y\delta$ T cells in other tissues, therefore this is the first data to identify an increase in $v\delta$ T cells in the lungs and uterus of CD18 KO mice. Another novel finding is that the expanded $v\delta$ T cells are Vv6V δ 1⁺, as previous studies did not investigate the subset of expanded vo T cells in the absence of CD18. In a different mouse model where CD18 expression is reduced but not absent, mice develop psoriasis as they age, and increased numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cells were found in the psoriatic lesions of the skin and skin-draining lymph nodes ²⁹⁶. The mice used in that study only develops spontaneous skin inflammation when the CD18-deficiency was on a PL/J background, whereas on a C57BL/6 background the mice are resistant³⁴⁴. The CD18 KO strain used in this thesis was on a C57BL/6 background, therefore it is unsurprising that the mice do not show any signs of skin inflammation. My results suggest that the enhanced yδ response in the absence of β_2 integrins is occurs in multiple, but restricted tissue sites.

One possible explanation for the increased number of $\gamma \delta$ T cells in a restricted number of sites in CD18 KO mice is that there is a re-distribution due to migration into certain tissues being impaired. Calculation of the total $\gamma \delta$ T cells across tissues found an overall 6.5 times increase in the number of $\gamma \delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice, with numbers increased in several tissues yet no sites with a defect in $\gamma \delta$ T cells. It could be inferred that the increase in $\gamma \delta$ T cell numbers is not due to a redistribution effect, but as not all tissues were examined there may be other sites with decreased $\gamma \delta$ T cells into tissues under homeostasis is not dependent on β_2 integrins. Although migration was not directly tested, this is in agreement with studies showing that in inflammatory disease models of EAE and psoriasis, $\gamma \delta$ T cells can migrate effectively to tissue sites (CNS and skin)^{295,296}. Further work is required to determine

whether β_2 integrins play any role in the migration of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, but current evidence does not support their role in migrating into tissues.

An increase in both the percentage and number of $y\delta$ T cells was found in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus of CD18 KO mice. In other lymphoid tissues (Peyer's patches, pLN, mLN, bone marrow) there was a higher percentage of γδ T cells as a proportion of total CD3⁺ cells, but not in absolute number of γδ T cells – this was due to a reduced number of $\alpha\beta$ T cells. This finding is expected, as $\alpha\beta$ T cell migration is dependent on β_2 integrins hence CD18-deficient $\alpha\beta$ T cells display reduced homing to lymphoid tissues, including pLN, mLN, Peyer's patches and bone marrow^{64,68,186,297}. Interestingly there was also a decreased number of $\alpha\beta$ T cells in the colon of CD18 KO mice. Leukocyte migration to the intestines is largely dependent on the integrin $\alpha_4\beta_7^{69}$, however this data suggests there may be a role for β_2 integrins in migration of $\alpha\beta$ T cells to the colon. There was some discrepancy with the data obtained from the small intestine LP. Analysis of total γδ T cell numbers displayed no difference, however the number of Vy1-Vy4-Vy5- cells were significantly increased in this tissue. When guantified by imaging, there was no significant difference in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the small intestine (data not shown). The predominant subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells found in the intestine express $V\gamma7^{202,349}$, therefore it is likely that a large proportion of the cells within the $V\gamma1^{-}V\gamma4^{-}$ Vy5⁻ population will express Vy7. This variability in the data may indicate subtle changes in the $v\delta$ T cell populations in the intestine, however, as the effects in this tissue were unclear compared to other tissues it was decided not to pursue this further.

Surface marker expression analysis revealed that β_2 integrin-deficient $\gamma\delta$ T cells exhibited an altered profile consistent with a V $\gamma6^+$ subset phenotype. V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells are known to be CD62L^{Io} CD44^{hi}, produce IL-17 and express high levels of CD3/ $\gamma\delta$ TCR but do not express CD27^{199,206,346,350,351}. The V $\gamma6V\delta1^+$ phenotype of the expanded CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells was then confirmed by PCR. In addition to the data from total $\gamma\delta$ T cells, those expressing V $\gamma6$ showed an increased production of IL-17A in CD18 KO compared to their WT counterparts. This suggests that the altered phenotype seen in the total $\gamma\delta$ population in CD18 KO mice is not only due to there being an increased number of V $\gamma6^+$ cells, but also due to alterations in cytokine and surface marker expression on this population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

In CD18 KO mice the levels of IL-17 were increased *in vivo* in the serum and spleen. Analysis of the total IL-17⁺ cells showed that $\gamma \delta$ T cells were the predominant source of IL-17 in CD18 KO mice following *in vitro* re-stimulation. In contrast to this, in WT mice the main population producing IL-17 in the spleen and lungs were non-T cells. A likely CD3⁻ source of IL-17 are innate lymphoid cells (ILCs). This group of cells includes lymphoid-tissue transducer-like cells, natural killer cells, ILC2s and ILC3s, that are all known to produce IL-17^{352–354}. In addition, the WT uterus also had a significant population of CD45⁻IL-17⁺ cells. This is in contrast to other papers that describe $\gamma \delta$ T cells as the major IL-17-producing population in the uterus^{355,356}, but in those analyses only CD45⁺ cells were examined. The CD45⁻IL-17⁺ cells are likely to be epithelial and stromal cells, which have previously been shown to express IL-17 in the mouse uterus³⁵⁷.

Despite an increased number of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs and uterus, no difference was detected in the cytokine levels from these tissues. This could indicate that the Vy6⁺ cells have an increased potential to produce IL-17 but are not producing it in the lungs or uterus in vivo. This may be due to the absence of the appropriate stimuli required to induce IL-17 secretion, such as IL-1β and IL-23²⁰⁰ that can be produced by activated macrophages and DCs^{358–361}. Therefore, in an inflammatory setting when APCs come activated, Vy6⁺ cells from CD18 KO mice may produce higher levels of IL-17. This also highlights that the IL-17 data obtained from PMA/ionomycin stimulation may not reflect cytokine production in vivo, therefore cells other than $v\delta$ T cells may be contributing to the IL-17 measured from the serum. The levels of another isoform of IL-17, IL-17F, were also measured but could only be detected at very low levels (<5% of γδ T cells). Using an IL-17F reporter mouse it was shown that 12% of yo T cells in the spleen express this cytokine³⁶². This discrepancy indicates that IL-17F staining may have been suboptimal or that stimulation with reagents other than PMA/ionomycin may be required to induce IL-17F secretion.

V γ 6-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells preferentially localise to the lungs, uterus, tongue, dermis and peritoneal cavity^{198–200}. As the expanded population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells identified in CD18 KO mice were V γ 6⁺, it was unsurprising that the lungs and uterus were sites with higher $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers. However, my data show that $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers were not increased in the skin or oral mucosa. For skin analysis the whole ear was digested, without separating the epidermis and dermis, with over 90% of the $\gamma\delta$ T

cells identified expressing V γ 5. This subset is found exclusively in the epidermis³⁶³, suggesting that cells from the dermis only represent a small fraction of those analysed and therefore any subtle changes to $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the dermis may be lost. In the gingiva of adult mice V γ 6⁺ cells represent only 14% of the total $\gamma\delta$ T cell population³⁶⁴, meaning the effect may be much less in this tissue or the phenotype in CD18 KO mice is truly specific to the lungs, uterus and spleen. The spleen is not a site where V γ 6⁺ cells are described as preferentially homing to, although V γ 6-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been shown to reside in the spleen^{199,346,351}. This raises the question of why there is a higher number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen? A possible explanation is that the increasing number of V γ 6⁺ cells are forced into the circulation and accumulate in the spleen. The enhanced number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the blood fits with this theory. However further experiments to determine which tissues $\gamma\delta$ T cells migrate into, such as adoptive transfer of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells into WT and CD18 KO hosts, are required to clarify this.

In a model of reduced CD18 expression, mice developed a spontaneous psoriasis associated with an increase in IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁹⁶. In this model the expanded $\gamma\delta$ population expressed V $\gamma4$, not V $\gamma6$. The fact that a reduction in CD18 expression is associated with increased Vy4⁺ cells, whereas total loss of CD18 results in Vy6⁺ cell expansion suggests that β_2 integrin regulation of y δ T cells is a finely tuned process. Alternatively, this may indicate a different mechanism during inflammation compared to homeostasis. Under homeostatic conditions, β_2 integrins may play an important role in the regulation of Vy6⁺ y δ T cells but during an inflammatory response, other stimuli may induce the specific expansion of Vy4⁺ yδ T cells. It should also be considered that the mice with reduced CD18 expression are on a different background (PL/J compared to C57BL/6) that renders them susceptible to the development of psoriasis^{344,365}. It was suggested there is a single recessive allele in the PL/J mice that is responsible for disease susceptibility. The discrepancy between β_2 integrin loss causing expansion of Vy4⁺ versus Vy6⁺ y δ T cells could therefore be due to alterations in other genes that differ between mouse strains.

4.4.2 β_2 integrin expression depends on TCR expression and tissue localisation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells

The expansion of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells is due to the specific loss of CD11a. This β_2 integrin is expressed highly on T cells, both $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$, whereas other leukocyte populations express other β_2 integrins in combination with CD11a. I therefore hypothesise that the increase in V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells is due to CD11a loss on T cells. This could be mediated in two different ways: either the direct loss of CD11a on $\gamma\delta$ T cells themselves or through an indirect mechanism whereby loss of CD11a on $\alpha\beta$ T cells affects other cell populations, that in turn drive the expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The finding that CD11a is expressed at higher levels on V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs and uterus supports the idea that V $\gamma6^+$ cells are more dependent on CD11a and that the effect may be intrinsic to $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

In addition to CD11a expression, the CD11b subunit was also present on $\gamma\delta$ T cells isolated from the pLN. This contrasts a previous report that $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen express low levels of CD11b whereas expression is absent in lymph node $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁶. Another study found low level expression of both CD11b and CD11c on splenic $\gamma\delta$ T cells ²⁹⁴. Both of these studies quantified integrin expression by RNA-sequencing, therefore there may be discrepancies between expression at the RNA compared to protein level. It is clear that overall $\gamma\delta$ T cell expression of CD11b and CD11c is very low or negligible. Therefore, the functional relevance of the expression of these integrin subunits in $\gamma\delta$ T cells remains unclear.

I also characterised expression of ICAM-1, the main ligand for CD11a, on γδ T cells. More than half of the γδ T cells in the spleen, pLN and uterus expressed ICAM-1, whereas expression of ICAM-1 was much lower on γδ T cells isolated from the lungs. There was an increase in the percentage of γδ T cells expressing ICAM-1 in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. Although this effect was not limited to the Vγ6 subset but was found across Vγ1⁺ and Vγ4⁺ cells as well. This could indicate there is a regulatory loop between $β_2$ integrin expression (receptor) and ICAM-1 (ligand), whereby engagement of the receptor causes downregulation of its ligand. However, to my knowledge this has not been reported in the literature. The functional role of ICAM-1 expressed on γδ T cells has not previously been studied. In αβ T cells it has been shown that stimulation of ICAM-1 can promote T cell activation and cytokine production^{366,367}. On CD8 T cells a correlation was found between ICAM-1

expression and cytotoxic activity³⁶⁸. ICAM-1 may play a similar role in mediating cell interactions, contributing to cytokine production and cytotoxic function in $\gamma\delta$ T cells, however further work is required to clarify this. The β_2 integrin ligand ICAM-1 is expressed not only on leukocytes but also on endothelial, epithelial and stromal cells. In the lungs ICAM-1 is constitutively expressed on alveolar endothelial and epithelial cells^{369,370}. In the uterus ICAM-1 expression is found on vascular, epithelial and stromal cells³⁷¹. The levels of ICAM-1 on stromal cells were not assessed in WT and CD18 KO mice, but this may play a role in retaining $\gamma\delta$ T cells in tissues or in regulating their function.

4.5 Conclusion

In this chapter I have provided a comprehensive analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrindeficient mice. I have identified the specific expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood, lungs and uterus of CD18 KO mice. These expanded $\gamma\delta$ T cells are V $\gamma6V\delta1^+$ and express high levels of CD44, IL-17, ROR γ t and CD3/ $\gamma\delta$ TCR. This expands the knowledge from previous studies of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice, as two additional sites (lungs and uterus) as well as the subset (V $\gamma6^+$) of expanded $\gamma\delta$ T cells has been identified. In addition to this, analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from individual α -chain KO mice characterised that CD11a was the β_2 integrin family member responsible for this increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Expression of CD11a was higher on V $\gamma6^+$ cells only in the lungs and uterus, potentially indicating an important functional role specific to the subset and tissue residency of the $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Having characterised the specific subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells increased in CD18 KO mice, in the next chapter I will go on to investigate the potential mechanisms underlying their expansion.

5.1 Introduction

I have identified that the loss of CD18 expression in mice leads to a tissue-restricted increase in V γ 6⁺ IL-17 producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The next step was to determine the underlying mechanism(s) of this expansion. I propose 3 possible mechanisms that could lead to the expansion of the V γ 6⁺ subset in CD18 KO mice: (i) an increase in thymic output, (ii) enhanced proliferation in the periphery, or (iii) increased survival/reduced cell death. It should be noted however, that these scenarios are not mutually exclusive. It may be one or a combination of these proposed mechanisms that are responsible for the expanded V γ 6⁺ population in mice lacking β_2 integrins.

5.1.1 Thymic output of $\gamma\delta$ T cells

The initial thymic development of $\gamma\delta$ T cells occurs primarily during embryonic/neonatal life. IL-17-producing $\sqrt{\delta}$ T cells in particular develop exclusively in the embryonic thymus and are then retained in the periphery through selfrenewal²⁴³. Therefore, the loss of β_2 integrin-ligand interactions in CD18 KO mice may either alter the initial $\gamma\delta$ T cell thymic development or their regulation in the periphery. Several studies have identified CD11a as an important factor for normal T cell development. CD11a expression was found to be critical for the development of common lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow ⁸⁹ and blocking CD11a in foetal thymic organ cultures (FTOCs) reduced the development of CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells, whereas blocking ICAM-1 increased $y\delta$ T cell numbers³⁷². Conversely, another study using CD11a KO mice described normal thymic T cell development ³⁷³ and in other FTOC experiments, blocking CD11a impaired T cell development from foetal liver progenitors but not foetal thymus progenitor cells³⁷⁴. Based on these studies it is unclear whether CD11a is required for normal T cell development, and importantly the impact of CD11a on $v\delta$ T cell subset development during different foetal stages was not examined. In adult CD18 KO mice, I found no difference in the number of thymic $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 4-3) but as V $\gamma6^+$ cells are produced in the embryonic thymus, there may be an increased production in mice at this age.

5.1.2 Mechanisms of $\gamma\delta$ T cell proliferation in the periphery

The second potential mechanism of Vy6 expansion in CD18 KO mice is enhanced proliferation in the periphery. There are several cytokines that are known to induce proliferation of IL-17⁺ vδ T cells including IL-7, IL-1β, IL-23 and TGF-β1, ^{235,303,375,376}. IL-7 can stimulate the proliferation of IL-17-producing $v\delta$ T cells ²³⁵, and enhanced expression of IL-7 on thymic stromal cells was shown to expand Vy6⁺ yδ T cells in the thymus of mice at E16.5 and at birth³⁷⁷. The production of IL-1 β and IL-23 by myeloid cells can also stimulate the expansion of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells³⁷⁶. This has led to the development of an *in vitro* protocol to expand IL-17-producing γδ T cells using a combination of IL-1 β and IL-23²¹³. It has been suggested that IL-1 β is more important for inducing IL-17 production by Vy4⁺ compared to Vy6⁺ yδ T cells ²⁰⁰. In agreement with this, Vy6⁺ cells were induced during pneumococcal infection in mice, but the number of these cells was significantly reduced when IL-23 KO mice were infected compared to WT or IL-1R KO mice ³⁷⁸. This data indicates that IL-23 may preferentially induce Vy6⁺ over Vy4⁺ yδ T cells. TGF-β1 is required during thymic development of $\gamma\delta$ T cells; in mice that lack TGF- β 1 itself or the signalling adapter Smad3, there is a loss of IL-17⁺ γδ T cells ³⁷⁵. These studies highlight potential cytokines that may be elevated in the serum and/or tissues of CD18 KO mice and induce the expansion of $Vy6^+ y\delta$ T cells. Some of these cytokines will be investigated in this chapter.

5.1.3 $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival and apoptosis

The final proposed mechanism is that the increased number of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice could be due to an accumulation resulting from increased survival and/or decreased apoptosis. In addition to driving proliferation, IL-7 has also been implicated in $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival. There was a greater loss of BrdU-labelled $\gamma\delta$ T cells in IL-7 KO mice compared to heterozygous controls 14 days post-BrdU administration, indicating that IL-7 is important for $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival²⁴⁶. Another study suggested that IL-7 is required to induce proliferation but not survival of CD27⁻ IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Following IL-7 stimulation *in vitro*, CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells proliferated to a greater extent than their CD27⁺ counterparts but expressed lower levels of *Bcl2*, a gene associated with cell survival ²³⁵. However, *in vivo* administration of IL-7 was shown to upregulate expression of Bcl2 in IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells but not IFN γ^+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁴⁷. It is unclear the precise role that IL-7 plays in mediating the proliferation

versus survival of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This is a complex pathway that involves the coordination of many intracellular signalling molecules in addition to Bcl2. There may be a role for IL-7-mediated survival of V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice and interestingly this pathway is also linked to inhibition of apoptosis through up-regulation of anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-xI and Mcl-1 ³⁷⁹.

Previous studies have demonstrated that β_2 integrins may be involved in mediating $\gamma\delta$ T cell apoptosis: the co-stimulation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells *in vitro* through the TCR and CD11a resulted in calcium-dependent apoptosis, however, this effect was lost when either receptor was activated alone ^{380,381}. This suggests that the engagement of both TCR and CD11a can trigger cell death in $\gamma\delta$ T cells therefore, it is possible that in mice lacking CD11a/CD18 that a failure of apoptosis may occur.

5.1.4 Hypothesis and Aims

The overall aim of this chapter was to determine the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell expansion/accumulation that occurs in CD18 KO mice. This was further divided into three main questions:

- 1. Is there an increase in the thymic development of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice?
- 2. Are V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells expanded in CD18 KO mice due to increased proliferation in the periphery?
- 3. Is there an accumulation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice due to an increase in survival and/or reduction in cell death?

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Thymic development of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells is unaffected by the loss of CD18, whilst V γ 4⁺ development is impaired.

The first hypothesis for the increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells was that the thymic output of V $\gamma6^+$ cells may be increased in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. The development of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells occurs prior to birth²⁴³ and for the V $\gamma6$ subset is predominantly at embryonic days 16-18 (E16-18)²²². To assess thymic development of V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, the populations of $\gamma\delta$ T cells present in the thymus of WT and CD18 KO mice were analysed by flow cytometry at different ages: E18.5, 1 day old, 3 days old and 4 weeks old.

The total number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells within the thymus was similar across ages and showed no difference between WT and CD18 KO (Figure 5-1A). Further analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets based on V γ chain expression revealed that at E18.5 the WT thymus contained a population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that expressed either V γ 1, V γ 4, V γ 5 or V γ 6 (Figure 5-1B). The percentage of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in WT mice was similar in E18.5, 1 day and 3 day old mice, then reduced in 4 week old mice. In the CD18 KO thymus there was an increased proportion of V γ 6⁺ cells compared to WT, accompanied by a decrease in V γ 4⁺, at E18.5, 1 day and 3 days but not in 4 week old mice. This could suggest a bias in $\gamma\delta$ T cell development towards V γ 6 instead of V γ 4.

To determine if this was the case, the absolute numbers of V γ subsets were calculated (Figure 5-1C). Surprisingly, there was no difference in the number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the thymus at any age between WT and CD18 KO mice. However, the number of V γ 4⁺ cells was significantly reduced in the neonatal but not in 4 week old mice.

Together, the data reveal that CD18 KO mice displayed no difference in the number of thymic V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in young mice. This suggests that the increased number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice is not due to enhanced thymic development. Unexpectedly however, the development of the other IL-17-producing subset, that express V γ 4, was impaired. This highlights that CD18 may be important for the development of V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.



Figure 5-1 CD18 KO mice show no difference in V γ 6⁺ thymic development but have impaired development of V γ 4⁺ cells.

WT and CD18 KO mice were culled at E18.5, 1 day old, 3 days old or 4 weeks old and thymic cells were analysed by flow cytometry. Samples were gated on CD3⁺TCRγδ⁺ then Vγ1⁺, Vγ4⁺, Vγ5⁺ or Vγ1⁻4⁻5⁻ (i.e. Vγ6⁺). (A) Total number of γδ T cells. (B) Representative pie charts of the percentage of γδ T cells expressing each Vγ chain. (C) Absolute number of each Vγ subset. WT 3 days n=6, WT 4 weeks n=7, WT & CD18 KO 1-day n=8, WT E18.5 & CD18 KO 3 days and 4 weeks n=10, CD18 KO E18.5 n=11. Data from a minimum of 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

To further investigate the defect in V γ 4⁺ cell development identified in the thymus of neonatal CD18 KO mice, the stages of thymic $\gamma\delta$ T cell development were analysed based on maturation marker expression. During thymic development $\gamma\delta$ T cells go through different stages of maturation. The surface marker CD24 is commonly used to differentiate between immature (CD24⁺) and mature (CD24⁻) populations because CD24 is downregulated on $\gamma\delta$ T cells prior to exit from the thymus ^{382–384}.

Within the immature population of thymic $\gamma\delta$ T cells there was a significant decrease in the number of V $\gamma4^+$ cells in CD18 KO mice compared to WT at E18.5 (Figure 5-2A). This was specific to the V $\gamma4^+$ cells as the numbers of all other $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets were equivalent. In 1 day old mice there was a trend towards a decreased number of CD24⁺ V $\gamma4^+$ cells in the CD18 KO thymus, however, this was not significant. By 3 days old and 4 weeks old, the immature V $\gamma4^+$ population was similar in number in WT and CD18 KO mice. This indicates that during embryonic development in CD18 KO mice there is a defect in the generation of immature V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

During thymic development $v\delta$ T cells express different levels of the cell surface markers CD27, CD44 and CD45RB. CD27 is expressed on the earliest γδcommitted T cell progenitors and is downregulated upon maturation of IL-17producing subsets ^{206,383}. CD44 and CD45RB are not expressed during early γδ T cell development but are upregulated on terminally differentiated $\gamma\delta$ T cells ²⁰³. Both IFNy and IL-17-producers will express CD44, whereas CD45RB expression is only expressed by IFNy-producers. Analysis of these surface markers showed a decreased percentage of CD44⁺ and concurrent increase in CD44⁻ immature embryonic Vy4⁺ cells from CD18 KO mice compared to WT (Figure 5-2B). Most of these cells (>90%) expressed CD27 and lacked CD45RB in both WT and CD18 KO, indicative of their expected immature phenotype. Conversely, the immature Vy6⁺ population in the CD18 KO thymus displayed a small but significant increase in the percentage of CD27⁻ cells, potentially indicating a more mature phenotype. Although in contrast to this, there was also a greater proportion of CD44⁻ Vy6⁺ cells, which may suggest a more immature phenotype. As the differences were not found in percentages of CD27⁺ and CD44⁺ Vy6⁺ cells, it is unclear whether the maturation of these cells is truly different in the CD18 KO thymus.

Together, examination of the immature CD24⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell populations in the thymus of WT and CD18 KO mice at E18.5 demonstrated a differential maturation status of the V γ 4-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cell subset. There was a reduced number of developing V γ 4⁺ cells, and they displayed a more immature phenotype (based on CD44 expression). In contrast to this, the downregulation of CD27 and CD44 in V γ 6⁺ cells from CD18 KO mice does not indicate a clear change in maturation status.



Figure 5-2 The embryonic CD18 KO thymus has a reduced number of V γ 4⁺ γ δ T cells with an immature phenotype.

Cells isolated from WT and CD18 KO thymus at E18.5 were analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were first gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ CD24⁺, then V $\gamma1^+$, V $\gamma4^+$, V $\gamma5^+$ or V $\gamma1^-4^-5^-$, followed by CD27, CD44 or CD45RB. (A) Percentage and number of CD24+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells according to V γ chain expression. (B) Percentage of V $\gamma4^+$ or V $\gamma1^-4^-5^-\gamma\delta$ T cells from E18.5 thymus that are positive or negative for CD27, CD44 and CD45RB. WT n=10, CD18 KO n=11. Data from 6 independent experiments. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

Following the identification of reduced numbers and maturation of V γ 4⁺ cells within the immature $\gamma\delta$ population in CD18 KO mice, the mature (CD24⁻) cells were then analysed. Due to the defect in V γ 4⁺ cells occurring at the E18.5 immature stage of development, a subsequent reduction in mature V γ 4⁺ cells was expected. The numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets within the CD24⁻ thymic population were similar between WT and CD18 KO mice at the embryonic stage and immediately post-birth (Figure 5-3). However, by 3 days old the CD18 KO mice displayed a significantly reduced number of mature CD24⁻ V γ 4⁺ cells compared to their WT counterparts. This reduction was maintained into adulthood, as mice at 4 weeks old also showed a decrease in CD24⁻ V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Within the mature population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, different stages of $\gamma\delta$ T cell development can be further identified. A recent study by Sumaria *et al.* described a gating strategy to analyse the mature $\gamma\delta$ T cells committed to either IFN γ or IL-17 production ²⁰³. They showed that after gating on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ CD24⁻ cells, the expression of CD45RB and CD44 can segregate the cells into 4 discrete populations (Figure 5-4A). CD45RB⁻CD44⁻ cells have the potential to develop into either IL-17 or IFN γ producers. CD45RB⁺CD44⁻ are a population of developing IFN γ -producers that will then upregulate CD44 to become CD45RB⁺CD44⁺, a more terminally differentiated population. Whereas, in the IL-17 development pathway, the cells will upregulate CD44 to become CD45RB⁻CD44⁺.

Analysis of these 4 populations in the thymus of WT and CD18 KO mice showed that at E18.5 cells are present at all stages of the pathway (Figure 5-4B). At 1 and 3 days old, the mature IL-17-producers (CD45RB⁻CD44⁺) predominate, whereas at 4 weeks old most of the cells are of unknown commitment (CD45RB⁻CD44⁻). There was no difference in the number of cells at each stage of the development pathway at E18.5, 1 day and 3 day old mice between WT and CD18 KO. The only difference was seen at 4 weeks old, where the number of CD45RB⁻CD44⁻ cells were significantly decreased in CD18 KO mice. This suggests that the commitment of mature CD24⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells to the IL-17- and IFNγ-producing lineages is unaffected by the loss of CD18 expression. Interestingly, at 4 weeks old the total number of thymic cells was decreased in CD18 KO mice (8.6x10⁷±1.5x10⁷ cells) compared to WT (1.04x10⁸±3.4x10⁷ cells) (Figure 5-4C). Therefore, the decreased number of

uncommitted mature $\gamma \delta$ T cells may contribute to the overall decrease in cellularity in the thymus.



Figure 5-3 The defect in V $q4^+$ cell numbers in newborn CD18 KO mice is in the mature CD24⁻ population of $q\delta$ T cells.

Cells isolated from WT and CD18 KO thymus at various ages were analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were first gated on CD3⁺TCR γ 5⁺CD24⁻, then V γ 1⁺, V γ 4⁺, V γ 5⁺ or V γ 1⁻4⁻5⁻ (V γ 6⁺). Percentage of CD24- γ 5 T cells according to V γ chain expression. WT n=10, CD18 KO n=11. Data from 6 independent experiments. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

Chapter 5 Defining the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell increase in $\beta2$ integrindeficient mice





Cells isolated from WT and CD18 KO thymus at various ages were analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were first gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ CD24⁻ then separated into 4 populations based on expression of CD45RB and CD44. (A) Gating shown with representative plots from 1 day old thymus. (B) Percentages of $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressing CD45RB/CD44. (C) Total number of thymocytes. WT 3 days n=6, WT & CD18 KO 4 weeks n=7, WT & CD18 KO 1 day n=8, WT E18.5 & CD18 KO 3 days n=10, CD18 KO E18.5 n=11. Data from a minimum of 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

A defect in the thymic development of V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was identified in CD18 KO mice. This population is one of the predominant $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets present in lymphoid organs, along with V γ 1⁺. I have already established that there is no difference in the number of V γ 4⁺ cells in the spleen, blood or mucosal tissues of CD18 KO mice (Chapter 4, Figure 4-8). As this subset tends to reside within lymphoid tissues, the peripheral LNs (pLN), mediastinal LN (medLN), mesenteric LNs (mLN) and bone marrow were examined for the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets. My hypothesis was that the defect in development of V γ 4 cells in CD18 KO mice would result in a peripheral defect in lymphoid tissues.

Calculation of V γ 4⁺ cell numbers revealed a defect in the pLN of CD18 KO mice but no difference in the medLN, mLN or bone marrow (Figure 5-5). The number of V γ 1⁺ and V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells were equivalent between WT and CD18 KO at all the lymphoid sites analysed. This suggests that the impaired development of V γ 4⁺ cells results in a peripheral defect specifically in the pLN.



Figure 5-5 CD18 KO mice have a defect in numbers of Vg4+ \gamma\delta T cells only in the pLN. Cells isolated from the peripheral LN (pLN; axillary, brachial and inguinal pooled), mediastinal LN (medLN), mesenteric LN (mLN) and bone marrow of adult WT and CD18 KO mice were analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD3+TCR $\gamma\delta$ + then V γ 1+, V γ 4+, V γ 6+ (V γ 1-4-5- for bone marrow and mLN; V γ 1-4- for pLN and medLN). Absolute cell numbers shown. pLN, mLN and bone marrow n=9 from 3 independent experiments. medLN n=6 from 2 independent experiments. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ***p<0.0001.

The results shown in figures 5-1 to 5-4 indicate that thymic development of V γ 6⁺ cells was unaffected by the loss of β_2 integrin expression. Therefore, enhanced thymic output is not the reason for the increase in V γ 6⁺ cell numbers in the CD18 KO adult mice. The next question was to determine when during the lifespan of the mouse this V γ 6⁺ cell expansion occurs. To answer this, the V γ repertoire was analysed from the spleen and lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice across different ages.

The Vy repertoire in the WT lungs showed the presence of Vy1, Vy4, Vy5 and Vy6expressing vδ T cells (Figure 5-6A). The percentage of Vy6⁺ cells increased from embryonic to newborn mice and was retained up to 4 weeks old. In contrast to this, the percentage of Vy6⁺ cells in CD18 KO lungs was higher than WT at 1 day old and further increased at 3 days and 4 weeks old. There was also a large proportion of V γ 5⁺ cells in both genotypes at E18.5, that decreased by 1 day and was absent in the 4 week old mice. As Vy5⁺ cells are found exclusively in the epidermis of adult mice³⁶³, it could be assumed that these are circulating cells that will become resident in the skin. The WT spleen showed a large proportion of Vy1⁺ and Vy4⁺ cells, with a smaller percentage of Vy6⁺ at all ages that were analysed. Note, for the spleen of E18.5 mice the percentage of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets is not shown due to very low cell numbers, meaning that there were no representative plots due to high variability. The proportion of $Vy6^+$ cells in the WT spleen was similar across all ages studied. In contrast to this, the CD18 KO spleen displayed a greater proportion of Vy6⁺ cells in 1 day old mice that was further increased at 3 days and again at 4 weeks old. In the lungs at E18.5 most of the cells were $Vy5^+$, this population decreased with age and was absent by 4 weeks regardless of genotype, as these cells have homed to the skin.

There was a similar number of V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen and lungs of embryonic WT and CD18 KO mice. In the lungs, the number of V γ 6⁺ cells was significantly increased in CD18 KO mice compared to WT from 1 day old onwards (Figure 5-6B). Whereas a higher number of V γ 6⁺ cells in the CD18 KO spleen was only seen from 3 days old relative to WT mice. This data indicates that the increased number of V γ 6⁺ γ \delta T cells in CD18 KO mice is present initially in the lungs from 1 day post-birth and by 3 days also in the spleen.



Figure 5-6 Increase in Vy6+ yō T cells in the spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice. Analysis of yō T cells from the spleen and lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice at various ages. Cells were gated on CD3+TCRyō+ then Vy1+, Vy4+, Vy5+ or Vy1-4-5-. **(A)** Representative pie charts of the percentage of yō T cells expressing each Vy chain. E18.5 spleen not shown due to very low cell number. **(B)** Absolute number of Vy6+ (Vy1-Vy4-Vy5-) yō T cells. WT spleen & lungs 3 days n=6. CD18 KO spleen 1 day, WT/CD18 KO lungs 1 day, WT/CD18 KO spleen 4 weeks, WT lungs 4 weeks n=7. WT spleen 1-day n=8. CD18 KO spleen 3 days, CD18 KO lungs 3 days/4 weeks, WT spleen E18.5 n=10. CD18 KO spleen/lungs E18.5 n=11. E18.5 data from 6 litters, 1 day old from 6 litters, 3 day old from 4 litters, 4-week old from 5 litters; data from 4-6 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a Student's t test with false discovery rate approach two-stage linear step-up procedure of Benjamini, Krieger and Yekutieli. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001.

Having determined that CD18 KO mice show an increased number of V γ 6⁺ cells in the lungs and spleen by 1 and 3 days old, respectively, the $\gamma\delta$ T cells were then analysed for the expression of markers associated with IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ cells (CD45RB⁻, CD44⁺, CD27⁻). The lungs of CD18 KO mice displayed a higher percentage of CD45RB⁻, CD44⁺ and CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells than WT mice at 1 day, 3 days and 4 weeks old (Figure 5-7). There was also an increased percentage of CD45RB,

CD44⁺ and CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen of 3 day and 4 week old CD18 KO mice In addition, there was a small increase in the proportion of CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in 1 day old mice. This data fits with the findings from Figure 5-6 that there is an increased number of V $\gamma6^+$ cells with an IL-17-producing phenotype in CD18 KO mice from 1 day old in the lungs and from 3 days old in the spleen.



Figure 5-7 Increase in IL-17-producing (CD45RB⁻CD44⁺CD27⁻) $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen and lungs of young CD18 KO mice

Analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice at various ages. Cells were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$. Data shown as percentage of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that were CD45RB⁻, CD44⁺ or CD27⁻. WT spleen & lungs 3 days n=6. CD18 KO spleen 1 day, WT/CD18 KO lungs, WT/CD18 KO spleen & lungs 4 weeks, n=7. WT spleen 1 day n=8. CD18 KO spleen & lungs 3 days, n=10. Data from 4-6 litters, with each litter run as an independent experiment; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.001.

In summary, the loss of β_2 integrin expression resulted in a reduced number of immature V γ 4⁺ cells in the thymus and a delayed upregulation of maturation markers, revealing a novel role for β_2 integrins in promoting the development of V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In contrast, thymic development of V γ 6⁺ cells was unaffected but these cells were increased in CD18 KO lungs from 1 day old and in the spleen from 3 days old. This data indicates that the expanded population of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice is not due to enhanced thymic output.

5.2.2 CD18 KO mice show no evidence of enhanced $\gamma\delta$ T cell proliferation

The increased number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice was not due to enhanced thymic output. Next, I explored the second potential mechanism of V γ 6⁺ cell expansion: that there may be increased proliferation of V γ 6⁺ cells in the periphery of CD18 KO mice. The primary aim was to determine if the environment in mice lacking β_2 integrins preferentially induced proliferation compared to WT mice. To address this question, total T cells (CD3⁺) were isolated from the spleen of CD18 KO mice, labelled with CFSE, and then transferred i.v. into either WT or CD18 KO hosts. The mice were culled 1-, 4- or 8-days post-transfer. Ideally, WT $\gamma\delta$ T cells would be used as a control in this adoptive transfer experiment; however, due to low $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers and different subset ratios in WT mice, this was neither feasible nor appropriate.

Following the transfer of CD18 KO T cells, the thymus, spleen, blood, mLN, pLN and lungs of host mice were analysed by flow cytometry. The percentage of transferred cells that were recovered was calculated by dividing the sum of CFSE⁺ cells from all tissues by the number that were initially transferred, then multiplying by 100. There was an average of 10% cell recovery from both WT and CD18 KO mice across all timepoints (Figure 5-8A). Prior to transfer the T cells were labelled with CFSE to allow assessment of cell proliferation. There was a loss of CFSE expression over the timecourse, however only a single peak was present, suggesting that the cells did not proliferate (Figure 5-8B). Although as there was no positive control to confirm this conclusion. Comparison of the mean CFSE expression showed no difference between WT and CD18 KO, indicating that the proliferative capacity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells was unaltered between WT or CD18 KO hosts.

There was no evidence of $\gamma\delta$ T cell proliferation over the 8 day timecourse, but the experimental set-up allowed the analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cell homing to different tissues in WT and CD18 KO mice. The number of transferred $\gamma\delta$ T cells found in tissues would reflect the preferential migration and/or retention at this site. The ratio of $\gamma\delta$ to $\alpha\beta$ T cells was calculated in the initially transferred cells and in the CFSE⁺ cells found in each tissue at 1-day post transfer. An increased ratio indicates a preferential migration/retention of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to that tissue, whereas a decreased ratio indicates a preferential migration for $\alpha\beta$ T cells. A similar ratio of $\alpha\beta$: $\gamma\delta$ T cells was found in the thymus

as in the transferred cells (shown as a grey dotted line) (Figure 5-8C), indicating equivalent migration of $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells to this site. The ratio was increased in the spleen and blood, and to a greater extent in the lungs. Conversely, the ratio was decreased in the mLN and pLN. This suggests that there was a preferential recruitment and/or retention of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood and lungs, and for $\alpha\beta$ T cells in the mLN and pLN. These findings were as expected because the majority of the transferred $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed V γ 6, and these cells are known to preferentially home to the lungs¹⁹⁹, whereas $\alpha\beta$ T cells tend to home to LNs. The spleen, blood and lungs were the sites where most of the transferred $\gamma\delta$ T cells were located. Therefore, the number of CFSE⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was calculated in these tissues from WT and CD18 KO hosts. There was no difference in the number of transferred $\gamma\delta$ T cells that were found in the spleen, blood or lungs of WT and CD18 KO hosts across all of the timepoints studied (Figure 5-8D), indicating that there was not a preferential migration or retention of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice compared to WT.

Overall, this experiment demonstrated that, following adoptive transfer, CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells do not proliferate within 8 days. Additionally, the CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells preferentially migrate and/or are retained in the spleen, blood and lungs compared to $\alpha\beta$ T cells. As there were no differences found in the $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers whether transferred into WT or CD18 KO mice, there is no evidence of an altered environment in the absence of CD18 that leads to enhanced proliferation or migration/retention.





CD3⁺ cells were purified from CD18 KO splenocytes, labelled with CFSE and then 2x10⁶ cells were transferred i.v. into WT or CD18 KO hosts. 1, 4 or 8 days after transfer, cells from the thymus, spleen, blood, mesenteric LNs (mLN), peripheral LNs (pLN) and lungs were analysed by flow cytometry. (A) Percentage of transferred cells calculated as the number of CFSE+ cells (total from all tissues harvested) divided by the number of CFSE+ cells transferred, multiplied by 100. (B) The mean expression of CFSE on $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Representative plot shown from WT spleen. (C) The ratio of CFSE+ $\gamma\delta$ to $\alpha\beta$ T cells in different tissues of WT mice 1 day after transfer. Grey dotted line shows the ratio in the transferred cells. (D) The absolute number of CFSE+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO hosts. n=6, data pooled from 2 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.001.

The data obtained from adoptive transfer of CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells showed no evidence of proliferation in either WT or CD18 KO hosts. To further assess the proliferative capacity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells *in vivo* within their native setting, WT and CD18 KO mice were administered with a single i.p. dose of BrdU, followed by 7 days in the drinking water. $\gamma\delta$ T cells were then analysed by flow cytometry for BrdU incorporation as a measure of proliferation (BrdU labels cells undergoing DNA replication, i.e. in S-phase). Cells were also assessed for their expression of Ki67, a marker that is only expressed during active cell cycle (G1, S, G2 and M) ³⁸⁵. The hypothesis was that V $\gamma6^+$ cells, which increased in the spleen and lungs of CD18 KO mice, may display enhanced proliferation compared to WT. V $\gamma4^+$ cells were used as controls as they display comparable numbers in the CD18 KO spleen and lungs to WT.

The levels of Ki67 were higher in $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the lungs compared to the spleen, regardless of the subset (Figure 5-9A). When compared to WT, the expression of Ki67 was significantly increased in V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells from both the spleen and lungs of CD18 KO mice. In V $\gamma4^+$ cells, Ki67 levels were equivalent between genotypes. Similar to Ki67, the expression of BrdU was higher in the lungs than the spleen for both V $\gamma6^+$ and V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 5-9B). This suggests that $\gamma\delta$ T cells may proliferate preferentially in the lungs rather than the spleen. However, there was no difference in BrdU incorporation when comparing either the V $\gamma4^+$ or V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells are actively undergoing DNA replication (S-phase) in either WT or CD18 KO mice within a 1 week period.

The levels of both Ki67 and BrdU detected in $\gamma\delta$ T cells was very low, when compared with a positive control of cells from an inflamed LN. The increased expression of Ki67 on V $\gamma6^+$ cells from CD18 KO mice could indicate that more cells are in active cell cycle. Based on this data it can be concluded that very few V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells are proliferating within a 1 week period, and the levels of proliferation are similar between WT and CD18 KO mice.



Figure 5-9 Increased expression of Ki67 in V γ 6⁺ CD18 KO γ δ T cells but low levels of proliferation measured by 1 week of BrdU.

WT and CD18 KO mice were injected with 1mg BrdU i.p. then fed 0.8mg/ml BrdU in the drinking water for 7 days. Cells isolated from the spleen and lungs were analysed by flow cytometry for the expression of Ki67 (A) and BrdU incorporation (B). Representative histograms shown from the spleen. Grey dotted line indicates the FMO, blue line is WT, red line is CD18 KO and green line is a positive control of cells from the inguinal LN of mice with tail lesions. Data is representative of 2 experiments; each symbol represents and individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

There was no difference found in the proliferation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice, measured by BrdU incorporation over 1 week. However, there was an enhanced expression of Ki67, which may indicate that the cells have a higher proliferation but at low levels, over a longer period of time. I next investigated the quantities of IL-1 β and IL-23 in WT and CD18 KO mice, as these cytokines are known to induce the proliferation of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells²⁰⁰. In addition to this, both IL-1 β and IL-23 can induce IL-17 production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{244,386}, therefore, higher levels of these cytokines could explain why CD18 KO V γ 6⁺ cells produce more IL-17 (Figure 4-10). Previous studies using CD18 KO mice have also identified higher levels of IL-1 β in the spleen³⁸⁷ and increased IL-23 transcript was measured in the mLN of these mice³⁰³. However, the levels in the serum or other tissues where I have found increased V γ 6⁺ cells (lungs and uterus) were not measured.

The levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 in WT and CD18 KO mice were measured by ELISA, from the serum and tissues where $\gamma\delta$ T cells were expanded. The serum cytokine results were inconclusive, as in at least half of the samples the cytokines were below the limit of detection (Figure 5-10A). Statistically, there was no significant difference in the serum levels of IL-1 β or IL-23 from CD18 KO mice compared to WT, although it is possible that differences may be found with a more sensitive method of detection. Cytokine levels were detectable in tissues, where supernatant samples isolated from CD18 KO spleen cultures showed significantly higher levels of both IL-1 β and IL-23 than WT. In contrast to this, the lungs and uterus displayed equivalent levels of both cytokines regardless of the genotype.

It is not only the levels of cytokine present that dictate the cellular response, but the expression of the corresponding receptor will also influence the strength of signal that the cell will receive. As the levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 were increased in the spleen of CD18 KO mice, the levels of the receptors for these cytokines were measured on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice.

WT and CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs expressed low levels of IL-1 β R and IL-23R (Figure 5-10B). In the spleen, the expression of IL-1 β R was absent on V $\gamma4^+$ cells and very low on V $\gamma6^+$ cells (Figure 5-10C). Although significantly higher expression of IL-1 β R was detected on CD18 KO V $\gamma6^+$ cells compared to WT, the levels were only slightly above the FMO. IL-23R was detected on both subsets

of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, with equivalent expression on V $\gamma4^+$ cells, and a small, but significant increase in expression on CD18 KO V $\gamma6^+$ cells compared to WT. The increased expression of IL-1 β R and IL-23R on V $\gamma6^+$ cells in the CD18 KO spleen is a very subtle effect therefore may not have any biological significance. Similar to those in the spleen, V $\gamma4^+$ cells from the lungs did not express the IL-1 β R regardless of genotype. Expression was found on V $\gamma6^+$ cells from both WT and CD18 KO mice. $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the lungs showed higher expression of IL-23R than in the spleen. However, as the data from the lungs was n=2, the experiment would have to be repeated to determine if there are any differences in the expression of IL-1 β R or IL-23R on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO lungs.

In sum, no differences were detected in the serum levels of IL-1 β or IL-23 as samples were largely below the limit of detection, but higher levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 were found specifically in the spleen of β_2 integrin-deficient mice compared to WT. The expression of the corresponding receptors could be detected on both WT and CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells, but only at low levels.

Chapter 5 Defining the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell increase in $\beta2$ integrindeficient mice



Figure 5-10 CD18 KO mice have increased levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 in the spleen and higher expression of IL-1 β R and IL-23R on V γ 6+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

(A) Levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 were measured by ELISA from serum and tissues isolated from WT and CD18 KO mice, tissue supernatants were collected by incubating the tissue in complete media for 4h at 37°C. Dotted line indicates the limit of detection: IL-23 8pg/ml, IL-1 β 16pg/ml. Levels of the IL-1 β R (CD121a) and IL-23R were measured on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs of WT and CD18 KO adult mice by flow cytometry. (B) Representative plots of IL-1 β and IL-23 expression on total $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs. Grey dotted line indicates the FMO, blue line is WT and red line is CD18 KO. (C) Mean expression of IL-1 β and IL-23 on V $\gamma4^+$ and V $\gamma6^+$ cells. Serum n=14, spleen n=9, WT IL-1 β /IL-23 uterus n=8, CD18 KO IL-1 β uterus n=7, CD18 KO IL-23 uterus n=6. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. IL-1 β R/IL-23R spleen n=9; data pooled from 3 independent experiments. IL-1 β R/IL-23R lungs n=2; data from one experiment. Data represents mean <u>+</u> SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.001

In summary, there was no evidence of enhanced proliferation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice after adoptive transfer or by BrdU incorporation. There were small but significantly increased levels of IL-1 β and IL-23 identified in the spleen of CD18 KO mice, although the effect of this is unclear as the proliferation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen was equivalent in WT mice. Overall, this data indicates that either the mechanism of V γ 6⁺ cell expansion in CD18 KO mice is not due to proliferation or that the cells proliferate in younger mice and are then retained in the adults.

5.2.3 Vy6⁺ y δ T cells from CD18 KO mice show no evidence of enhanced survival signalling downstream of the IL-7R but show reduced apoptosis in the lungs

Having found no differences in the thymic development or proliferation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice, I next explored my third hypothesis to explain the increased V γ 6⁺ cell numbers in CD18 KO mice. I hypothesised that V γ 6⁺ cells may accumulate due to an increased survival and/or failure of homeostatic cell death. IL-7 is an important pro-survival signal for $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{247,388}, and in mice with reduced CD18 expression levels of the IL-7R were increased on CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (IL-17-producers) compared to WT²⁹⁶. Based on this knowledge, I further investigated IL-7 and the downstream survival signalling in V γ 6⁺ cells from WT and CD18 KO mice.

First, the serum levels of IL-7 were measured by ELISA. The quantity of IL-7 was undetectable in the majority of serum samples from both WT and CD18 KO mice (Figure 5-11A). Suggesting that in general the circulating levels of IL-7 are very low. Next the expression of the IL-7R α (CD127) was assessed on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs. The IL-7R was expressed at higher levels on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen of CD18 KO mice compared to WT whereas, expression on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the lungs was similar (Figure 5-11B). When compared on $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets, V $\gamma4^+$ cells (which are equivalent in number) had similar levels of IL-7R whether from WT or CD18 KO mice (Figure 5-11C). Whereas, V $\gamma6^+$ cells from CD18 KO mice (increased in number) had higher IL-7R expression than WT in the spleen but not the lungs. Interestingly, in the lungs almost 100% of $\gamma\delta$ T cells stained positive for the IL-7R, and this was also true for those in the spleen of CD18 KO mice but not WT. This could indicate that there is an increased recirculation of V $\gamma6^+$ cells from the lungs to the spleen in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. Alternatively, factors present in the CD18 KO spleen may induce upregulation of the IL-7R.



Figure 5-11 Vy6⁺ cells from the CD18 KO spleen express higher levels of IL-7R and IL-1 β R than WT.

(A) Levels of IL-7 were measured by ELISA in serum from WT and CD18 KO adult mice. Grey dotted line indicates the limit of detection, 6.3pg/ml. (**B&C**) Levels of the IL-7R (CD127) were measured on $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs of WT and CD18 KO adult mice by flow cytometry. (**B**) Representative plots of cytokine receptor expression on total $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Grey dotted line indicates the FMO, blue line is WT and red line is CD18 KO. (**C**) Mean expression of cytokine receptors. n=8. Data pooled from 3 independent experiments. Data represents mean <u>+</u> SD. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

It was found that V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the CD18 KO spleen expressed higher levels of IL-7R, this raised the question of whether this increased receptor expression could result in increased downstream survival signalling, which may contribute to the increased V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice. One of the major anti-apoptotic molecules known to be induced by IL-7 and enhance cell survival is Bcl2 ^{389,390}. To assess if pro-survival signalling is altered in CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells, Bcl2 expression was assessed by flow cytometry in $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets from WT and CD18 KO mice.

Initially, Bcl2 expression was examined in $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen of adult mice (Figure 5-12A&B). V γ 4-expressing cells from WT and CD18 KO mice expressed Bcl2 to a similar level. In contrast to this, the V γ 6⁺ cells from WT mice expressed similar levels to V γ 4⁺ cells whereas in CD18 KO mice Bcl2 was significantly decreased only in the V γ 6⁺ population. This suggests that the increased expression of IL-7R on V γ 6+ cells in the spleen does not correlate with an enhanced expression of Bcl2, in fact the data shows the opposite. As the increased number of V γ 6⁺ cells were present in young CD18 KO mice, meaning that the mechanism driving $\gamma\delta$ T cell expansion is likely present prior to adulthood, Bcl2 expression was then analysed in 4-week old mice. $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the spleen and lungs showed no significant difference in expression of Bcl2, regardless of subset, when comparing WT and CD18 KO mice (Figure 5-12C).

Despite expressing more IL-7R, $V\gamma6^+\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen of CD18 KO mice do not express higher levels of the anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl2. This data does not support the hypothesis that $V\gamma6^+$ cells in CD18 KO mice have enhanced survival signalling downstream of the IL-7R. On the contrary, $V\gamma6^+$ cells in the spleen of adult mice display reduced Bcl2, but expression is unaltered in 4 week old mice. This suggests a potentially age-dependent effect on Bcl2 expression, but there was no evidence of increased survival downstream of the IL-7R mediated by Bcl2. Bcl2 is one of many anti-apoptotic molecules that enhance cell survival in a complex pathway, so it is possible that other pro-apoptotic or anti-apoptotic molecules, such as Bcl-xL, Mcl-1 or BIM, may be altered in CD18 KO V $\gamma6^+\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Chapter 5 Defining the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell increase in $\beta2$ integrindeficient mice





Bcl2 expression was analysed by flow cytometry in $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO mice in the spleen of adults **(A&B)** and in the spleen and lungs of 4-week old mice **(C)**. Adult spleen n=8, 4-week old spleen/lungs n=7. Data pooled from a minimum of 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. **p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001.

Vγ6⁺ γδ T cells in the spleen of CD18 KO mice express higher levels of IL-7R and reduced levels of Bcl2, whereas in the lungs the expression of IL-7R was equivalent to WT. This suggests that despite expressing higher levels of the receptor for IL-7 compared to WT, Vγ6⁺ cells in the CD18 KO spleen do not have elevated downstream Bcl2. I next tested IL-7R signalling to determine if the reduced levels of Bcl2 could be explained by an impaired ability of CD18 KO Vγ6⁺ cells to activate signalling pathways in response to IL-7. Cells isolated from the spleen and lungs of WT or CD18 KO mice were stimulated *in vitro* with IL-7 and the response of Vγ6⁺ cells (higher IL-7R expression). The levels of the downstream phosphorylated signalling molecules pSTAT5 and pSTAT3 were measured 1, 10 and 30mins after stimulation.

Stimulation with IL-7 resulted in the upregulation of pSTAT5 in $\gamma\delta$ T cells and to a lesser extent pSTAT3 (Figure 5-13A), as seen previously²³⁵. In both Vy6⁺ and Vy4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT spleen there was a time-dependent increase in pSTAT5, with highest levels seen after 30mins (Figure 5-13B). When compared with CD18 KO γδ T cells, the levels of pSTAT5 were significantly higher in the WT cells after 10 and 30mins of IL-7 treatment. This was true for both Vy4⁺ and Vy6⁺ cells. This suggests that the induction of STAT5 phosphorylation in response to IL-7 is impaired in CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The expression of pSTAT3 in splenic $\gamma\delta$ T cells was not upregulated until 10mins after stimulation with IL-7. Unlike pSTAT5, the expression of pSTAT3 was induced to a similar extent in Vy6⁺ cells from WT and CD18 KO mice. While for Vy4⁺ cells, a defect in pSTAT3 levels in CD18 KO cells was seen after 10 and 30mins of IL-7, similar to the effect on pSTAT5. This shows that the loss of CD18 reduces the ability of Vy4⁺ cells to induce pSTAT3 downstream of the IL-7R, but not in Vy6⁺ cells. In the unstimulated samples, the expression of both pSTAT5 and pSTAT3 were slightly lower, although not significant, in the CD18 KO γδ T cells compared to WT.

The effect of IL-7 on signalling in $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the lungs displayed different dynamics than those from the spleen (Figure 5-13C). For V $\gamma4^+$ cells, the expression of pSTAT5 peaked after 10mins and only at this timepoint was there a significant decrease in expression in CD18 KO cells compared to WT. Unlike the V $\gamma4^+$ cells from the spleen, where lower levels of pSTAT3 were seen, the dynamics of pSTAT3
induction in response to IL-7 were similar in cells from the lungs regardless of genotype. This shows that the reduced responsiveness of V γ 4⁺ cells in the spleen is not mirrored in the lungs, indicating that the loss of β_2 integrin expression causes a tissue-specific rather than cell-intrinsic effect. pSTAT3 increased after 1min of IL-7 stimulation, peaked after 10mins then was slightly decreased after 30mins in V γ 4⁺ cells from both WT and CD18 KO mice. This same effect was seen in V γ 6⁺ cells, with no difference in the levels of pSTAT3 between WT and KO. This suggests that in V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, pSTAT3 signalling downstream of the IL-7R is unaffected by the loss of CD18. The induction of pSTAT5 differed in V γ 6⁺ cells from the lungs: after exposure to IL-7 for 10mins, V γ 6⁺ cells upregulated pSTAT5, however this high expression was retained after 30 mins. There was no significant difference pSTAT5 in V γ 6⁺ cells from the lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice at any time following treatment with IL-7. This reiterates the point that the impaired IL-7R-mediated signalling in β_2 integrin-deficient $\gamma\delta$ T cells is a tissue-specific effect.

Overall, V γ 4⁺ and V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO spleen failed to upregulate pSTAT5 to the same extent as WT in response to IL-7. This effect was also seen for pSTAT3 in V γ 4⁺ but not V γ 6⁺ cells. In contrast, CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells from the lungs upregulated pSTAT5 and pSTAT3 in a similar manner to WT, with the exception of V γ 4⁺ cells that displayed reduced pSTAT5 at the peak of the response, although the difference was much smaller than those seen in the spleen. This indicates that the ability of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to signal downstream of the IL-7R is altered in CD18 KO mice depending on their subset and location.

Chapter 5 Defining the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell increase in $\beta2$ integrindeficient mice





Cells from adult WT and CD18 KO spleen and lungs were stimulated *in vitro* with 100ng/ml IL-7 for 1, 10 or 30mins. Cells were then analysed by flow cytometry for the expression of phosphorylated STAT3 and STAT5. Samples were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ then V $\gamma4^+$ or V $\gamma1^-4^-5^-$ (V $\gamma6^+$). (A) Representative plots from the total $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO lungs. Mean expression of pSTAT3 and pSTAT5 in cells from the Spleen (B) and Lungs (C). n=7. Data pooled from 2 independent experiments; each symbol represents an individual mouse, with mean shown. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. **p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

I did not find any evidence to suggest that the increased Vγ6⁺ cell numbers in CD18 KO mice corresponded to enhanced IL-7R-mediated signalling or downstream Bcl2 expression. I next explored the hypothesis that the cells may be accumulating due to decreased apoptosis. Apoptosis was measured in WT and CD18 KO γδ T cells by *ex vivo* staining with Annexin V and 7AAD, which stain cells undergoing early and late apoptosis. During the early stages of death Phosphatidylserine (PS), a phospholipid normally absent from the plasma membrane, translocates to the outer layer of the membrane. Annexin V is a protein that binds to PS and can therefore be used as a marker for early apoptosis ³⁹¹. As cell death progresses, the membrane integrity is lost, which allows the cell to passively take up dyes such as 7-amino-actinomycin-D (7AAD) ^{392,393}.

Co-staining of cells with Annexin V and 7AAD allows segregation into three populations that indicates the state of apoptosis (Figure 5-14A). Cells that are alive will be Annexin V⁻ 7AAD⁻. Cells that are Annexin V⁺ 7AAD⁻ are undergoing early apoptosis. In the transition into late apoptosis, loss of membrane integrity will allow 7AAD to enter into the cell, resulting in a population of Annexin V⁺ 7AAD⁺ cells. Using this gating strategy, $\gamma \delta T$ cell subsets were assessed for the different stages of apoptosis. The percentage of V $\gamma 4^+ \gamma \delta T$ cells that were live, undergoing early or late apoptosis remained equivalent regardless of the tissue they were isolated from or the genotype of the mice (Figure 5-14B). In contrast, V $\gamma 6^+$ cells from the spleen of CD18 KO mice showed a significant increase in late apoptotic cells, accompanied by a decrease in those undergoing early apoptosis. In V $\gamma 6^+$ cells isolated from the lungs, there was a decreased proportion of late apoptotic cells, with an increase in live cells (Figure 5-14B&C).

The altered apoptotic state of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice implies that, in the absence of β_2 integrins, more V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen are undergoing late stage apoptosis, as opposed to the early stage. Importantly, the most striking effect was seen in the lungs where there was a reduction in $\gamma\delta$ T cell death in the CD18 KO mice specifically in the V γ 6⁺ population. This decrease in apoptosis may contribute to the accumulation of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice.





Cells were isolated from WT and CD18 KO spleen and lungs then analysed by flow cytometry. Samples were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ followed by V $\gamma4^+$, or V $\gamma1^-4^-$ (V $\gamma6^+$), then Annexin V⁻7AAD⁻ (live cells), Annexin V⁺7AAD⁻ (early apoptotic) or Annexin V⁺7AAD⁺ (late apoptotic). (**A**) Gating strategy from WT spleen. (**B**) Representative plots of V $\gamma6^+$ cells from the lungs. (**C**) Percentages of $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets at each stage of apoptosis. n=9. Data pooled from 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents and individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

An increase was found in the apoptosis of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs of WT mice compared to CD18 KO, however the expression of apoptosis markers indicates the current stage of death the cell is in, but not the upstream mechanism that triggered the apoptotic pathway within the cell. Therefore a potential upstream regulator of this altered cell death was explored. Fas (CD95) is a death receptor that when engaged on T cells triggers death by apoptosis³⁹⁴. Fas is known to be expressed on $\gamma\delta$ T cells and it has been shown previously that in mice lacking Fas there is an expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells³⁹⁵. I hypothesise that the reduced apoptosis of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice may be linked to reduced Fas expression.

The results show that Fas expression can be detected on $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 5-15A), and the levels of Fas were similar across V γ 4- and V γ 6-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen from both WT and CD18 KO mice (Figure 5-15B). Likewise, in the lungs there was no difference in the percentage of Fas⁺ V γ 4⁺ cells. Conversely, a significantly lower proportion of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells expressed Fas in the lungs of CD18 KO mice compared to WT (Figure 5-15A&B). This fits with my hypothesis that V γ 6⁺ cells display reduced apoptosis, specifically in the lungs of CD18 KO mice due to reduced Fas expression.

Chapter 5 Defining the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell increase in $\beta2$ integrindeficient mice



Figure 5-15 Expression of Fas is reduced on Vy6⁺ y δ T cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice compared to WT.

Cells were isolated from adult WT and CD18 KO thymus, spleen and lungs then analysed by flow cytometry. Samples were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ followed by V $\gamma1^+$, V $\gamma4^+$, or V $\gamma1^-4^-$ (V $\gamma6^+$), then Fas⁺ (CD95). (A) Representative plots of the FMO and V $\gamma6$ cells from the lungs. (B) Percentages of Fas⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets. n=9. Data pooled from 3 independent experiments; each symbol represents and individual mouse. Statistical differences were determined using a two-way ANOVA. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.001.

There was a reduced expression of Fas on V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice and these cells displayed a decreased apoptosis compared to WT mice. Based on these findings, I hypothesised that the increased number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice is due, at least partially, to a failure of homeostatic cell death which results in their accumulation. To examine if CD18 KO mice show an enhanced accumulation of V γ 6⁺ cells as a result of reduced apoptosis (identified in adult mice), I determined the number of V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen and lungs of aged mice (20-24 weeks old) and plotted this alongside the numbers previously shown from embryonic, neonatal, 4 week old and adult mice (Figure 4-3 and Figure 5-6).

The number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs of WT mice steadily increased from E18.5 to 4 week old, were slightly reduced in adults then further increased in aged mice. In the CD18 KO lungs an increase in V γ 6 numbers was also seen between E18.5 and 4 weeks, but at a faster rate than in WT. The number of V γ 6⁺ cells did not increase between 4 week old and adult mice, but did increase between adult and aged mice, at a similar rate to WT. In the spleen the difference in V γ 6 numbers between WT and CD18 KO mice then remained consistent in adult and aged mice.

Taken together, this data suggests that the number of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice increases at a greater rate than in WT during early life. By 4 weeks old, the established difference in V γ 6 numbers between WT and CD18 KO mice does not further increase in adults or aged mice. Further work is therefore required to determine if the decreased apoptosis of V γ 6⁺ γ δ T cells in the lungs of CD18 KO results in an increased accumulation of these cells relative to WT mice.



Figure 5-16 Differences in the number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells found in young CD18 KO mice compared to WT do not further increase from 4 weeks old onwards.

WT and CD18 KO mice were culled at E18.5, 1 day old, 3 days old, 4 weeks old, 8-12 weeks old (adult) and 20-24 weeks old (aged) and cells from the spleen and lungs were analysed by flow cytometry. Samples were gated on CD3⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ then V $\gamma1^-4^-5^-$ (V $\gamma6^+$). Absolute number of V $\gamma6^+$ cells in the spleen and lungs are shown. WT spleen & lungs 3 days n=6. CD18 KO spleen 1 day, WT/CD18 KO lungs 1 day, WT/CD18 KO spleen 4 weeks, WT lungs 4 weeks n=7. WT spleen 1 day n=8. CD18 KO spleen 3 days, CD18 KO lungs 3 days/4 weeks, WT spleen E18.5 n=10. CD18 KO spleen/lungs E18.5 n=11. Adult spleen/lungs n=10. Data pooled from 4-6 independent experiments. Aged spleen/lungs n=4 from 1 experiment. Data represents mean <u>+</u> SD.

5.3 Discussion

The aim of this chapter was to explore potential mechanisms to explain the increased number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice. I found no evidence of enhanced thymic development or proliferation of these cells in the periphery, that would account for the elevated numbers of V γ 6⁺ cells. In the spleen, V γ 6⁺ cells expressed higher levels of the IL-7R accompanied by reduced downstream signalling and lower expression of Bcl2, whereas no differences were seen in the lungs. It can be concluded there is no evidence of enhanced IL-7-mediated survival of V γ 6⁺ cells from CD18 KO mice. Reduced apoptosis was detected in V γ 6⁺ cells from the lungs of CD18 KO mice, associated with a decreased expression of Fas. This data suggests that in β_2 integrin-deficient mice there is an accumulation of V γ 6⁺ cells due, at least in part, to a reduced Fas-mediated apoptosis in the lungs.

5.3.1 Role for β_2 integrins in thymic development of Vq4- but not Vq6-expressing q\delta T cells

The first hypothesis for the mechanism underlying V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell expansion in CD18 KO mice explored, was an increase in thymic output. Surprisingly in embryonic and newborn mice the number of V γ 6⁺ cells in the thymus was unaffected by β_2 integrin loss. As there was no difference in the thymic numbers of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells at any of the ages studied, it seems unlikely that the increased numbers in CD18 KO mice are due to altered development. In addition to this, greater numbers were seen in the tissues from 1-day post birth but at this age or during prior embryonic development the V γ 6⁺ population in the thymus was normal. Unexpectedly, analysis of the embryonic/neonatal thymus identified a defect in the development of V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

This defect was present in the immature V γ 4⁺ cells in the embryonic thymus and in the mature population from 3 days old onwards. This suggests that CD18 is an important factor in promoting V γ 4⁺ cell development but is not completely necessary. As CD18 loss initially affected the immature V γ 4⁺ cells it is likely that the β_2 integrin-ligand interaction plays a role in the early stages of V γ 4⁺ cell development. Within the immature population, the V γ 4⁺ cells expressed lower levels of CD44, a marker that is upregulated during maturation, therefore in addition to the defect in V γ 4⁺ cell selection there may be a delay in maturation. The impaired initial

thymic production also impacted the numbers of mature V γ 4⁺ cells in the thymus and periphery. Interestingly, in adult mice the defect in V γ 4⁺ cell numbers was only found in the peripheral LNs, but not at any other lymphoid site. In WT mice V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells represented a significant proportion of the $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen, blood and lungs, yet in CD18 KO mice there was no difference in the number of V γ 4⁺ cells despite their reduced development. This could indicate that the migration of V γ 4⁺ cells into peripheral LNs is partially dependent on β_2 integrins. Alternatively, there may be factors present in the spleen/lungs but not pLNs that either expand or retain the V γ 4⁺ cells. The expansion of V γ 4⁺ cells in the spleen/lungs could overcome the thymic defect, or the absence of factors that retain V γ 4⁺ cells in the pLNs would result in a preferential retention in other sites such as the spleen/lungs.

What remains unclear is how the loss of CD18 expression causes impaired development of V γ 4-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells. To answer the question of which β_2 integrin subunit and ligand are required for normal V γ 4 development, *in vitro* foetal thymic cultures (FTOCs) using WT thymus and integrin/ligand blocking antibodies could be used. Blocking using an anti-CD18 would determine if β_2 integrin receptor-mediated interactions are required and using an anti-CD11a would confirm if this effect is CD11a-dependent, as was found for the peripheral effect on V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Figure 4-11). Experiments using the α -chain KO mice to analyse thymic $\gamma\delta$ T cell development in embryos/neonatal mice would also help to elucidate which β_2 integrin receptor(s) is involved in promoting V γ 4⁺ cell development.

The main ligand for CD11a is ICAM-1, which is expressed on both thymic epithelial cells and thymocytes^{372,396}. Therefore, the interaction between $\gamma\delta$ T cell progenitors expressing CD18/CD11a and thymic epithelial cells expressing ICAM-1 may be required for optimal V γ 4⁺ cell development. In particular, cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) are known to play a role in IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cell development: The loss of cTECs results in a defective production of V γ 4⁺ cells, whereas the generation of V γ 6-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells continues in greater numbers after birth³⁹⁷. This study highlights that epithelial cells in the thymus can play a differential role in V γ 4⁺ versus V γ 6⁺ cell development. Another factor known to be involved in thymic development of IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells is the transcription factor SRY-related HMG-box 13 (Sox13). The expression of Sox13 in V γ 4⁺ cells is highest at the immature (CD24⁺) stage, and in mice deficient in Sox13 there is a specific defect in the

development of these $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{218,219}. In CD18 KO mice it is also only V $\gamma4^+$ cell thymic development that was impaired and at the earlier stage of development, not other $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets, therefore the loss of β_2 integrin expression may cause a defective upregulation of Sox13 that is required for optimal V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cell development. Examination of Sox13 expression in $\gamma\delta^+$ thymocytes from neonatal WT and CD18 KO mice would clarify whether Sox13 plays a role in the impaired development of V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice. Another important consideration is which phenotype of V $\gamma4^+$ cells show impaired development in CD18 KO mice. V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells can produce either IL-17 or IFN γ , and the loss of Sox13 specifically affects the IL-17-producers^{218,219}. Further analysis of V $\gamma4^+$ cells during thymic development for the expression of CD27 and CD45RB (expressed only on IFN γ -producers) or for cytokine production following *in vitro* re-stimulation would identify which subset of V $\gamma4^+$ are defective in CD18 KO mice.

5.3.2 No evidence for enhanced proliferation of Vy6⁺ y δ T cells in adult CD18 KO mice

There was no evidence of enhanced proliferation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from CD18 KO mice compared to WT within a 1-week timeframe in adult mice. This was concluded following measurement of proliferation by two methods: adoptive transfer of CFSElabelled cells and *in vivo* labelling with BrdU. It is not entirely surprising that an enhanced proliferation of V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells was not detected in adult CD18 KO mice compared to WT, because both V $\gamma4^+$ and V $\gamma6^+$ cells have a reduced rate of proliferation in adults compared to younger mice ²⁰⁰. In addition to this, a study using a tamoxifen-induced $\gamma\delta$ T cell-specific RFP labelling, the frequency of CD27⁻CD44^{hi} RFP⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (IL-17-producers, both V $\gamma4^+$ and V $\gamma6^+$) was the same at 7 weeks post tamoxifen treatment as after 2 weeks ²⁴⁵. This suggests that the homeostatic turnover of these cells is slow, because they retained RFP expression.

There was a discrepancy in the data measuring proliferation of V γ 6⁺ cells by Ki67 and BrdU (Figure 5-9), whereby expression of Ki67 was higher in CD18 KO cells but BrdU incorporation remained the same as WT. Ki67 is commonly referred to as a marker of proliferation^{247,398}, although it is more specifically associated with a cell being in active cell cycle³⁸⁵. A recent study described that Ki67 accumulates within cells during the S, G₂ and M phases and is degraded during the G₁/G₀ phases of the cell cycle ³⁹⁹. They described that although Ki67 levels increase during cell cycle

progression, the initial expression depends on how long a cell has been quiescent for, i.e. the more time spent quiescent, the lower the initial level of Ki67. Whereas BrdU will be incorporated into a cell during DNA replication (i.e. S-phase), in the timeframe where BrdU is present. Taken together, the increased expression of Ki67, but not incorporation of BrdU, that I found in CD18 KO V γ 6⁺ cells could indicate that they spend a longer time in active cell cycle whilst not progressing into proliferation. Alternatively, these cells may be proliferating at an increased rate, but slowly, i.e. longer than 1 week. Therefore, it can be concluded that there is no evidence to support enhanced proliferation of adult CD18 KO V γ 6⁺ γ \delta T cells in a 1 week period, but a role for greater proliferation in these cells cannot be completely excluded.

The suggestion of potential changes in the cell cycle in β_2 integrin-deficient $\gamma \delta$ T cells is interesting, as integrin receptors are known to be involved in cell cycle regulation. The progression of the cell cycle requires interactions between the cell and extracellular matrix (ECM) via integrins⁴⁰⁰. The cell cycle is tightly regulated by cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). Activation of the kinase activity of CDKs by cyclins stimulates the phosphorylation of substrate molecules, which drives progression into the next stage of the cell cycle. In human T cells the activation of the beta2 integrin ligand ICAM-1 has been shown to induce phosphorylation and subsequent inactivation of cdc2 Kinase³⁶⁷. In mice the homolog for cdc2 is CDK1, which is important for increasing the activation of integrins and their clustering at the site of cell adhesion (e.g. area of the cell interacting with the endothelium) in the G1 to S phase⁴⁰¹. Following this, CDK1 inhibition triggers a loss of adhesion to enable entry into mitosis⁴⁰¹. These studies highlight the potential interplay between integrin-mediated adhesion and cell cycle regulation, although further work is required to determine if these pathways are altered in β_2 integrin-deficient $\gamma \delta$ T cells.

One of the remaining questions is where $V\gamma6^+\gamma\delta$ T cells are expanding in CD18 KO mice. No difference was found in the proliferation of $V\gamma6^+$ cells in adult mice, therefore there is not an obvious site of expansion. When $\gamma\delta$ T cells from newborn mice were analysed, the $V\gamma6^+$ cells were increased in number in the lungs of CD18 KO mice from 1 day old, but not in the spleen until 3 days old. I therefore hypothesise that the $V\gamma6^+$ cells are expanding within the lungs; hence the increased numbers are first seen in this tissue, then due to recirculation the $V\gamma6^+$ numbers are then higher in the spleen of CD18 KO mice. Although $V\gamma6^+$ cells are thought of as a

tissue-resident population, a proportion of the cells have been shown to traffic into the blood and LNs under homeostasis, but migration to the spleen was not explored⁴⁰². It is also possible that the loss of CD18 expression on V γ 6⁺ cells impairs their retention within the lung tissue, thereby increasing their recirculation. The adoptive transfer of CD18 KO T cells did not show a difference in the number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells that migrated to the lungs or spleen between WT and CD18 KO hosts. This suggests that the migration and/or retention of KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells to the lungs is not due to a difference in factors present in the CD18 KO microenvironment but due to an intrinsic property of the KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells. However, as this was not compared to the migration of transferred WT $\gamma\delta$ T cells (due to issues with cell yield from WT) it cannot be concluded whether β_2 integrin deficiency affects $\gamma\delta$ T cells would allow a direct comparison to determine the effect on β_2 integrin loss on V γ 6 retention in the lungs, but this would require the *in vitro* expansion of the cells to obtain sufficient numbers for transfer.

Although there was no evidence for altered environmental factors in CD18 KO mice compared to WT causing altered expansion or migration of Vy6⁺ cells following adoptive transfer, increased levels of IL-1ß and IL-23 were found in the spleen but not the lungs of CD18 KO mice. This is in agreement with a previous study describing increased IL-1β in the spleen of CD18 KO mice³⁸⁷. This could indicate that there is a higher number of cells producing these cytokines, or that production is increased by cells in the spleen. APCs are the predominant producers of both IL-23 and IL-1β. An increased number of MFs and DCs were found in the spleen of CD18 KO mice but not the lungs (McIntyre & Morrison; data not shown), both of which are known sources of IL-1ß and IL-23. A previous study suggested that in CD18 KO mice the expansion of $y\delta$ T cells is due to enhanced levels of IL-23^{303,403}. They describe a model whereby under homeostatic conditions MFs and DCs phagocytose apoptotic neutrophils, leading to the downregulation of IL-23. Whereas in CD18 KO mice the defective migration of neutrophils into tissues prevents IL-23 downregulation, leading to an increase in IL-17 production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. They showed that in vitro culture of BMDCs with apoptotic neutrophils decreased their IL-23 secretion (measured by the ability of conditioned media to induce IL-17 secretion from splenocytes) and in vivo transfer of WT neutrophils, but not CD18 KO, decreased the mRNA expression of the p40 subunit of IL-23 in the mLN, and serum

levels of IL-17. This suggests that neutrophil migration can affect the levels of IL-23 and IL-17, however the direct impact of IL-23 on the number of $v\delta$ T cells was not demonstrated. In agreement with this model, I found increased levels of IL-23 in the spleen of CD18 KO mice, although the study did not directly measure IL-23 levels. Furthermore, I have demonstrated that the increase in IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice is due to a specific subset of Vy6-expressing cells. It should also be noted that the neutrophilia described in the CD18 KO mice (caused by a defect in neutrophil migration) was found in both the CD11a and CD11c KO strains (McIntyre & Morrison; unpublished data), but the $\gamma\delta$ T cell expansion was specific to the CD11a-deficient mice. This suggests that there is not an intrinsic link between the expanded neutrophils and $v\delta$ T cells, which was the mechanism suggested in the paper, therefore alternative or additional mechanisms may be involved. I have identified a novel mechanism for the increase in $y\delta$ T cells through a reduced apoptosis of V_{V6^+} cells in the lungs. This may occur in addition to the neutrophilmediated effects, although further experiments are required to determine whether the defect in neutrophil migration affects the $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers through the proposed mechanism.

There could be altered levels of additional cytokines (other than IL-1 β or IL-23) in CD18 KO mice that induce the proliferation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which I did not look at in my study. IL-2 has been implicated in the maintenance or expansion of V γ 6⁺ cells, as mice deficient in IL-2 or IL-25 (IL-2R) displayed reduced numbers in the periphery despite normal thymic development³⁵⁰. It has also been shown that V γ 6⁺ cells bind IL-2 with a higher affinity than V γ 4⁺ cells²⁴⁸. Overall, as there were no differences found in the proliferation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in adult CD18 KO mice, the levels of IL-23, IL-1 β , IL-7, and IL-2 should be compared in WT and CD18 KO neonatal mice, where there is more likely to be an enhanced proliferation that is potentially cytokine-driven.

Environmental factors other than cytokines could also play a role in the increased number of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice. In recent years there has been evidence suggesting a role for the microbiota in the regulation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers. V γ 6⁺ CD3^{bright} $\gamma\delta$ T cells in WT mice were decreased when they were housed in germ-free conditions or treated with antibiotics³⁴⁶. Another study found that, in the absence of the IL-17 receptor, V γ 6⁺ IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells were increased and

the proposed mechanism was that microbiota-activated CD103⁺ DCs were driving $v\delta$ T cell proliferation through cell-cell contacts³⁵¹. It is therefore possible that the absence of CD18 results in alterations to the microbiota that modify the immune response, resulting in Vy6 expansion. Although the role of the microbiota in regulating the increased number of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice was not directly addressed, it can be speculated whether it is likely to play a role. Firstly, it should be noted that the CD18 KO mice were housed in individually vented cages, which limits environmental exposure. Secondly, I used littermate controls in some experiments to control for potential differences in the microbiota. The analysis of $y\delta$ T cells in embryonic/neonatal mice used WT littermates, where an increased number of Vy6⁺ cells was found in the spleen and lungs. Also, for the experiments in chapter 4 where Vy chains were analysed by flow cytometry, a mixture of WT mice that were bought externally and WT littermates from the CD18 KO colony were used. Importantly, the increased number of Vy6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice was consistent regardless of the source of the WT mice. It was also shown in a model of reduced CD18 expression that mice developed psoriasis at the same incidence and magnitude when under germ-free or specific-pathogen free conditions³⁶⁵. This suggests, though does not definitively prove, that the mechanism of $v\delta$ T cell expansion in CD18 KO mice is likely to be independent of the microbiome.

5.3.3 Vy6⁺ y δ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice display no difference in IL-7-mediated survival

The increased expression of IL-7R on V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen but not the lungs of CD18 KO mice highlights that the cells may have a different capacity to respond to IL-7 or be exposed to different levels of IL-7, depending on the tissue microenvironment in which they reside. Interestingly, V γ 6⁺ cells in the lungs of both WT and CD18 KO mice expressed high levels of the IL-7R. In the WT spleen IL-7R expression was reduced compared to the lungs, whereas in the CD18 KO spleen the V γ 6⁺ cells expressed levels similar to those in the lungs. This could be explained by an increased recirculation of V γ 6⁺ cells from the lungs to the spleen in CD18 KO mice, compared to WT where the cells remain more tissue-resident. If the increased numbers of V γ 6⁺ cells originate in the lungs, then the numbers may exceed the level at which the cells can be effectively retained in the tissue, therefore the cells enter the circulation and accumulate in the spleen. If V γ 6⁺ cells from the lungs retain their

high levels of the IL-7R when they migrate to the spleen, this would explain why in CD18 KO mice the V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen express higher levels of the IL-7R.

Given that differences were found in the IL-7R expression on $\gamma\delta$ T cells, I further explored the downstream signalling. The *in vitro* stimulation of spleen and lung cells from WT and CD18 KO mice with IL-7 resulted in the upregulation of pSTAT5 and to a lesser extent pSTAT3, as seen previously²³⁵. In CD18-deficient cells the upregulation of pSTAT5 was impaired in both Vy4⁺ and Vy6⁺ cells whereas a pSTAT3 defect was only seen in the Vy4-expressing yδ T cells. The phosphorylation of both STAT3 and STAT5 are known to be induced by IL-7R engagement⁴⁰⁴ but pSTAT3 upregulation occurs to a greater extent in IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells than in IFNy producers²³⁵. Again, the alterations in $y\delta$ T cells from the CD18 KO spleen were not found in those isolated from the lungs, re-enforcing the tissue specific differences seen between lungs and spleen. The IL-7 stimulation assay was performed using unsorted cells, so the number of Vy6⁺ cells per well from CD18 KO mice would have been higher than from WT. It could be argued that the quantity of IL-7 per cell would therefore be lower in the cultures from KO mice, however it has been estimated that using 0.01-0.1ng/ml IL-7 in vitro recapitulates the levels found in vivo ⁴⁰⁵ and maximal levels of pSTAT5 should be induced after exposure to 0.1ng/ml of IL-7 ⁴⁰⁶. As the levels used here were far in excess of this (100ng/ml), the maximal signalling is likely to have been achieved. The defect in pSTAT5 signalling was also found in the Vy4⁺ population, for which numbers were equivalent between WT and CD18 KO mice, suggesting that cell numbers and IL-7 availability are not responsible for the defect in STAT phosphorylation.

Vγ6⁺ cells in the spleen showed impaired signalling immediately downstream of the IL-7R (Figure 5-13) despite expressing higher levels of receptor (Figure 5-11). This higher expression of IL-7R was accompanied by a decreased expression of Bcl2 (Figure 5-12), which is in agreement with a previous study that identified higher expression of Bcl2 in IL-7R^{low} γδ T cells compared to IL-7R^{high 407}. The reduced expression of Bcl2 in CD18 KO splenic Vγ6⁺ cells suggests a reduced survival, which fits with the apoptosis data, where Vγ6⁺ cells from the spleen of CD18 KO mice displayed an increase in apoptosis compared to WT. However, this reduced Bcl2 expression was only found in Vγ6⁺ cells from the spleen of adult mice (8 weeks or older) but not in mice aged 4 weeks old (Figure 5-12). This may indicate that there

is an age-dependent effect, whereby the initial increase in V γ 6⁺ cells occurs in the young mice following birth then during adulthood the cells accumulate. This accumulation is at least partially driven by a reduced apoptosis in the lungs, although in the spleen there may not be enough survival signals to sustain the expanded V γ 6⁺ population, hence the increased apoptosis and decreased Bcl2 expression. Expression of the IL-7R is downregulated in response to IL-7 binding, so the increased expression on V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen may reflect lower levels of IL-7. I also found that V γ 6⁺ cells in the spleen showed impaired signalling downstream of the IL-7R.

It was only the initial signalling immediately downstream if the IL-7R in response to IL-7 that was measured. Therefore, the impact this impaired signalling through pSTAT3 and pSTAT5 has on downstream pathways and on cell proliferation is unknown. *In vitro* IL-7 stimulation of cells with reduced CD18 expression for 5 days selectively increased the CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T cells compared to cells from WT mice⁴⁰⁸. Therefore, a longer culture of $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO mice using IL-7 would help to elucidate if there is a difference in their functional response to IL-7, however as the starting cell populations from the spleen/lungs of WT and CD18 KO mice. Overall, there was no evidence of enhanced IL-7-mediated survival of V $\gamma\delta$ ⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice, shown by short-term *in vitro* cultures and *ex vivo* staining for Bcl2.

5.3.4 Vy6⁺ y δ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice display reduced Fas-mediated apoptosis in the lungs

There was a decreased apoptosis of $V\gamma6^+$ cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice compared to WT. This effect was found to be both $\gamma\delta$ subset-dependent and tissuespecific as the apoptosis of $V\gamma4^+$ cells was unaffected by β_2 integrin loss, as were the $V\gamma6^+$ cells in the spleen. Analysis of the death receptor Fas on $V\gamma6^+$ cells, showed that in the lungs of CD18 KO mice these cells express lower levels of Fas, in addition to their reduced apoptosis. It is therefore likely that the reduced apoptosis of $V\gamma6^+$ cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice is at least partially mediated by reduced Fas-mediated signalling compared to WT mice. A decrease in apoptosis indicates that there is an increase in cell survival, although the mechanism of this higher

survival is unclear as this was not an IL-7-dependent effect. Bcl2 expression in V γ 6⁺ cells was either unchanged or significantly reduced in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. This suggests that the increase in V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice is not due to an enhanced survival mediated by the upregulation of Bcl2. The anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl2 is part of the intrinsic death pathway, whereas the Fas receptor activates the extrinsic apoptosis pathway⁴⁰⁹. Given that reduced expression of Fas was identified on V γ 6⁺ cells in the lungs of CD18 KO mice, it is likely that the increased survival was mediated by a reduction in signalling downstream of the extrinsic apoptosis pathway. Caspase-8 is activated downstream of Fas, which can cleave other downstream caspases such as caspase-3⁴¹⁰. Assessment of these caspase molecules in V γ 6⁺ cells from WT and CD18 KO mice would determine if there are differences in the activation of caspases downstream of the Fas receptor.

The lower levels of V γ 6⁺ cell apoptosis in the lungs of CD18 KO mice were identified in adult mice, therefore I hypothesised that there may be an increased accumulation of V γ 6⁺ cells compared to WT, due to a failure of homeostatic cell death. Analysis of aged mice showed that the difference between WT and CD18 KO V γ 6⁺ cell numbers present in adults does not become greater as the mice age, indicating that there is not an enhanced accumulation of these cells in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. However, reduced apoptosis may contribute to the retention of V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice, while other mechanisms could retain the cells in WT mice. The comparison of V γ 6⁺ γ \delta T cell numbers across all the ages analysed (Figure 5-16) highlights that the difference between WT and CD18 KO mice occurs prior to 4 weeks of age. Data from neonatal CD18-deficient mice, showed that V γ 6⁺ cells are increased in the tissues from 1 day post birth. Taken together with the data showing that there is no difference in V γ 6⁺ cell proliferation in adult mice, I propose that there is an expansion of V γ 6-expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in young CD18 KO mice and these cells are then retained in the adults.

5.3.5 The loss of CD18 may affect the expression of receptors and ligands that are β_2 integrin-dependent or independent

One of the important questions that remains unanswered is whether the loss of β_2 integrin expression has a cell-intrinsic effect on the $\gamma\delta$ T cells or affects another cell type that indirectly leads to the expansion of V $\gamma6^+$ cells. The generation of mice with

a $\gamma\delta$ T cell-specific loss of CD18 expression would be an effective way to test this, although this would first require a CD18-floxed mouse to be created. It could be argued that as the V $\gamma6^+$ cell expansion is dependent on CD11a (Figure 4-11), and T cells rely on CD11a, whereas other leukocytes express multiple β_2 integrin receptors that may compensate for the loss of CD11a, the defect could be T cell-mediated. To rule out the potential involvement of $\alpha\beta$ T cells, the CD18 KO mice could be crossed with an $\alpha\beta$ -deficient line. Alternatively, CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells could be used to reconstitute $\gamma\delta$ T cell deficient mice by adoptive transfer. If the $\gamma\delta$ T cell phenotype remained, then an indirect effect of $\alpha\beta$ T cells would be excluded. Determining if the V $\gamma6^+$ cell expansion effect is intrinsic to $\gamma\delta$ T cells will be pivotal in the future plans for this study.

A second question is why the expansion effect is restricted to V γ 6-expressing $\gamma \delta$ T cells. For some subsets of $\gamma \delta$ T cells, molecules that drive their specific expansion and retention have been identified. Both the development and retention of V γ 5⁺ cells is linked to their interaction with Skint1 ^{214,215}. The expression of Skint1 in thymic epithelial cells is involved in V γ 5⁺ cell selection, after which they home to the epithelium where Skint1 is expressed in keratinocytes. Similarly the expression of Btnl1 in the intestines selectively drives the maturation and expansion of V γ 7⁺ $\gamma \delta$ T cells²¹⁶. The expression of such a ligand for the V γ 6-expressing $\gamma \delta$ T cells has not yet been identified. It is possible that a specific ligand exists that is important for the proliferation and retention of V γ 6⁺ cells in sites such as the lungs, and that it is upregulated in CD18 KO mice. Alternatively, the $\gamma \delta$ T cell interactions with the epithelium mediated by β_2 integrins themselves may be driving the enhanced population of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma \delta$ T cells, as discussed previously.

Unlike $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells are not restricted to recognising peptides presented in the context of MHC molecules. Several ligands for the $\gamma\delta$ TCR have been identified including the algal protein phycoerythrin²⁵⁰, phospholipid antigens in the context of CD1d²⁵¹ and more recently it was shown that the V γ 7 TCR has distinct sites to bind both antigen and the co-stimulatory molecule Btnl²¹⁷. However, to date the ligand for V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells has not been identified. This population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells express a TCR with an identical sequence (invariant), but can be induced by a variety of stimuli including infection with Mycobacterium⁴¹¹ or Listeria⁴¹², ovarian cancer²⁸³ and

CFA¹⁹⁹. It is therefore likely that $V\gamma6^+$ cells are not solely activated through a single TCR-restricted ligand.

Finally, it is possible that the increase in V γ 6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice may not be due directly to the loss of CD18, but instead to an indirect effect whereby CD18 loss results in the upregulation of another integrin receptor, or downregulation of something else within the cell. In CD18 KO mice the expression of VCAM-1 was found to be upregulated in the pulmonary arteries, accompanied by an 5-fold increase in the number of VLA-4⁺ (α 4 β 1) leukocytes in the alveolar walls of these mice⁴¹³. These VLA-4⁺ leukocytes may represent the expanded population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In humans, VLA-4-ICAM-1 interactions were shown to be involved in the interactions between $\gamma\delta$ T cells and endothelial cells²⁹⁸ and in mice V γ 1⁺ and V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO mice may reveal an α 4 β 1 integrin-mediated migration or retention of these cells in the lungs. Although an increase in VLA-4 may cause the altered distribution of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, it doesn't explain the increased numbers of V γ 6⁺ cells found in CD18 KO mice, or the reduced apoptosis and expression of Fas that I have identified.

5.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, β_2 integrin receptors play an important role in promoting the development of V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells and in the peripheral regulation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The thymic production of V γ 4⁺ cells was reduced in CD18 KO mice from the embryonic stage and into early life, which resulted in a defect in V γ 4⁺ numbers, specifically in pLNs. The increased numbers of V γ 6⁺ cells were present in the lungs of CD18 KO mice from 1 day post-birth and in the spleen from 3 day old mice. In adult mice there was no difference in IL-7R-mediated signalling or survival on V γ 6⁺ cells, but they accumulated due to reduced apoptosis in the lungs of CD18 KO mice compared to WT. The decreased expression of Fas on CD18 KO V γ 6⁺ cells suggests that the lower level of apoptosis was due to reduced Fas-mediated cell death. These findings highlight the novel and differential roles for β_2 integrins on IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets. Further work is required to determine the precise mechanisms of these roles and establish the functional outcomes.

The β_2 integrins are a family of leukocyte-specific adhesion receptors that play key roles in cell migration, adhesion and interactions. Traditionally, the functions of β_2 integrins have been associated with immune activation. This is based on their involvement in the migration of $\alpha\beta$ T cells and neutrophils to LNs and tissue sites during inflammation, immune synapse formation between $\alpha\beta$ T cells and APCs, binding of cytotoxic T cells/NK cells to target cells, and phagocytosis of complement-coated particles by myeloid cells/granulocytes. More recently, there is accumulating evidence that β_2 integrins also play a regulatory role in the immune system. In both mice and humans, the loss of β_2 integrin expression is associated with inappropriate inflammation and autoimmunity. The overall aim of this thesis was to understand the immunoregulatory roles of β_2 integrins. This was explored in DCs and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, based on preliminary evidence in the literature for integrin-mediated regulation of these cell types.

6.1 Summary of the role for β_2 integrins in DC regulation

In the absence of β_2 integrin expression, DCs were hyperresponsive to TLRmediated signalling¹⁸² and in the absence of TLR signals, DCs with functionallydeficient β_2 integrins displayed enhanced activation based on co-stimulatory molecule expression and IL-12 production⁷³. These studies suggest that β_2 integrins act as a negative regulator of DC activation. In chapter 3, I showed the specific loss of CD11a or CD11c expression causes the enhanced co-stimulatory molecule expression on DCs generated. In addition, BMDCs lacking CD11a were capable of inducing greater T cell responses. This furthers our understanding of how β_2 integrins regulate DCs, through identification of the specific subunits responsible for this regulation, namely CD11a and CD11c.

6.2 Mechanisms of DC regulation by β_2 integrins

The primary aim in chapter 3 was to determine which β_2 integrin subunits are responsible for regulating DCs and what effect this has on the subsequent T cell response. Importantly, these studies were conducted using DCs deficient in each of the four α -subunits (CD11a, CD11b, CD11c or CD11d) to provide a complete and unbiased assessment of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation in DCs. This provides

additional knowledge compared to previous studies where DCs were examined from total β_2 integrin-deficient mice^{73,97,182}, CD11b KO alone¹⁸⁵ or CD11a compared with CD11b KO mice¹⁸².

Whilst these studies were ongoing, it was discovered that the CD11a, CD11c and some CD11d KO mice expressed an additional mutation in the *Dock2* gene (*Dock2*^{Hsd}). The focus of chapter 3 then became to identify which effects described in the CD11a and CD11c KO mice were integrin-dependent and which were due to the unknown defect in Dock2 function. Crucially, I identified that the enhanced costimulatory molecule expression by CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs in these KO mice was due to the β_2 integrin-deficiency and independent of *Dock2*^{Hsd}. Heterozygous expression of CD11a/CD11c was sufficient to induce these effects relative to WT or mice with hom/het expression of *Dock2*^{Hsd}. The alterations in DC phenotype should be confirmed in CD11a and CD11c KO mice with *Dock2*^{WT} expression to consolidate these findings.

The enhanced co-stimulatory molecule expression on CD11a and CD11c KO BMDCs generated *in vitro* may suggest that the loss of integrin expression has a cell-intrinsic effect on DCs, meaning that β_2 integrin receptors directly regulate DC activation. Alternatively, there may be changes in epigenetic programming in the mouse due to the altered environment. The enhanced expression of CCR7 on CD11a KO BMDCs suggests that integrin loss can also have indirect effects on DC function. To determine whether the increased levels of CCR7 enhance CD11a KO BMDCs to the CCR7 ligands CCL19 and CCL21. In addition, the co-transfer of labelled WT and KO BMDCs would determine if there are differences in CD11a KO BMDC ability to migrate to LNs *in vivo*.

It is well established that CD11a expressed on CD4 T cells binds to ICAM-1 on the APC to mediate immune synapse formation, but what is less well characterised, is the importance of CD11a expressed on the DC binding to ICAM-1 on the T cell. I showed that the loss of CD11a on BMDCs reduced their ability to bind to ICAM-1, which is in agreement with previous findings where BMDCs expressing constitutively active CD11a displayed enhanced adherence to ICAM-1⁸⁸. A decreased number of DC-T cell conjugates form when CD4 T cells are cultured with CD18 KO BMDCs compared to WT (Morrison, unpublished data), suggesting that

the loss of β_2 integrin expression on DCs does reduce their ability to form contacts with T cells. Despite this evidence for reduced adhesion to T cells, the co-culture of CD11a KO BMDCs with antigen-specific CD4 T cells demonstrated their ability to induce greater levels T cell activation, proliferation and differentiation than WT BMDCs. This may indicate that β_2 integrin expression on the T cell mediates binding that is sufficient for T cell activation. It should be noted; this data should first be confirmed using CD11a KO BMDCs with WT Dock2 expression. Perhaps there is a threshold for the strength of interaction that is required to enable T cell activation, and despite reduced adherence by CD11a KO BMDCs, the binding is still above the required threshold. To investigate if this is the case, TCR signal strength could be measured using T cells from Nur77^{GFP} mice, which express GFP from the Nr4a1 (Nur77) locus, so GFP is activated in response to TCR signalling and correlates with signal strength⁴¹⁴. Co-culturing Nur77^{GFP} T cells with WT and CD11a KO BMDCs would determine if there are differences in the strength of signal provided to T cells and using anti-CD11a antibody to block the integrin on the T cell side of the interaction would determine if CD11a expressed on the T cell is required for sufficient TCR signalling. Further to this, the titration of an inhibitor of TCR signalling, e.g. Zap-70 inhibitor⁴¹⁵, would determine whether there is a threshold of TCR signalling required for T cell activation.

This reductionist approach of using β_2 integrin-deficient BMDCs generated *in vitro*, allowed the specific effects of integrin subunit loss in BMDCs to be assessed and enabled the generation of sufficient numbers of BMDCs to carry out functional assays. It will be important for future studies to validate these results in vivo to determine the physiological relevance and functional significance of these findings. When I analysed DCs *ex vivo* from β_2 integrin-deficient mice, I found no difference in their activation marker expression. There are several possible reasons for this discrepancy between integrin-deficient BMDCs in vitro and endogenous DCs in vivo. It is possible that the *in vitro* system is simply not representative of DCs *in vivo*. The GM-CSF/IL-4-cultured bone marrow cells that I refer to as BMDCs (based on expression of MHC II) are in fact derived from both common DC precursors (CDP) and common monocyte precursors³³⁷. This is in contrast to endogenous DCs that only develop from CDPs¹²⁸ therefore, BMDCs actually represent a mixed population of DCs and macrophages. However, a previous study using β_2 integrin signallingdeficient mice showed that in vivo splenic DCs, gated by CD11c⁺ MHC II⁺ cells, did express higher levels of CD86⁷³. The $\beta_2 \alpha$ -chain KO mice have a global integrin

deficiency, therefore not only the DCs will be affected by integrin loss, and alterations in other immune cell populations may indirectly impact on the activation status of the DCs. The generation of a DC-specific β_2 integrin KO mouse, using CD11c^{Cre} and CD11a^{flox} mice, would determine any effects of integrin loss that are due to the absence on DCs. The analysis of DCs *ex vivo* encompassed a mixed population of DCs, as cells were gated on dump negative (to exclude T cells, B cells, NK/NKT cells, monocytes/MFs, pDCs and neutrophils) then MHC II⁺. Therefore, the separation into specific subsets, e.g. cDC1 and cDC2, may reveal that β_2 integrin-mediated regulation of DCs is a subset-specific effect. Finally, the improvement of DC purity for analysis, as discussed in chapter 3, would also reduce variability in the data because the study using signalling-deficient mice⁷³ gated through CD11c which was not possible in my case, due to the use of CD11c KO mice.

6.3 The relevance of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation of DCs to disease

There is clear evidence that the loss of β_2 integrin expression is linked to the development of autoimmunity in both humans^{119,120} and mice^{122,124}. My data and previously published studies^{73,88,97,182} suggest that loss of β_2 integrin function in DCs results in increased activation and enhances their ability to induce T cell responses. What remains to be determined is whether these two phenomena are linked. Does the loss of β_2 integrin expression/function in DCs contribute to the development of autoimmunity? The aberrant activation of DCs has been described in many autoimmune diseases⁴¹⁶. It is possible that a reduction in β_2 integrin activation or expression results in a loss of negative regulation, thereby promoting DC-mediated priming of autoreactive T cells. This could be tested using mouse models of autoimmune disease but would require a DC-specific system. This could be achieved through the adoptive transfer of WT or integrin-deficient DCs, or the generation of DC-specific integrin KO mice. Work is also currently ongoing in the lab to assess β_2 integrin expression and activation on DCs from rheumatoid arthritis patients, which will help to determine the potential relationship between integrinmediated regulation of DCs and autoimmune disease.

6.4 Summary of the mechanism of β_2 integrin-mediated regulation in $\gamma\delta$ T cells

Mouse models of β_2 integrin-deficiency can develop inflammation in the skin or oral mucosa that is associated with an increase in IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{296,302}. It was also shown under steady state conditions that CD18 KO mice have an increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the cervical LNs²⁹⁷ and IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the spleen³⁰³. Based on these findings my hypothesis was that β_2 integrins are a novel regulator of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In chapter 4, I identified that in addition to the spleen, the loss of CD18 expression leads to increased numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the lungs, uterus and blood. This increase was due to the specific expansion of V $\gamma6V\delta1^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells that display an enhanced potential for IL-17 production. This is the first evidence identifying β_2 integrins as a negative regulator of V $\gamma6^+\gamma\delta$ T cells.

In chapter 5 I explored the potential mechanism(s) underlying the increase in Vy6⁺ γδ T cells in CD18 KO mice. Analysis of γδ T cells in the thymus and peripheral tissues of CD18 KO mice from foetal stage to adults revealed that β_2 integrins play different roles in Vy4- and Vy6-expressing yo T cell subsets (summarised in Figure 6-1). The thymic development of Vy6-expressing cells was unaffected by β_2 integrinloss, whereas Vy4⁺ yδ T cell development was impaired (Figure 6-1A). This reduced thymic development resulted in a lower number of Vy4⁺ cells in peripheral LNs. On the contrary, an increased number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells were found in the tissues (lungs & spleen) of neonatal mice (Figure 6-1B) and their numbers continued to increase in CD18 KO mice above their WT counterparts up to 4 weeks old. In the periphery of adult mice, the active proliferation of Vy6⁺ cells could not be detected, and I found no evidence to suggest any factors present in CD18 KO mice that were driving Vy6⁺ γδ T cell expansion. Vy6⁺ γδ T cells did display reduced apoptosis in the lungs and expressed lower levels of Fas, suggesting a reduced susceptibility to induced cell death via the Fas pathway (Figure 6-1C). Overall, these studies reveal a previously unknown role for β_2 integrins in promoting the thymic development of Vy4⁺ y δ T cells and regulating V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in the periphery.



Figure 6-1 Differential effects of β_2 integrin loss of Vy4* and Vy6* y\delta T cells

6.5 Potential mechanisms of $\gamma\delta$ T cell expansion in β_2 integrin-deficient mice

The main unanswered question from this data is whether or not the increase in $y\delta$ T cells is due to a cell-intrinsic effect. β_2 integrins are expressed on most leukocytes but the levels of individual family members varies according to cell type. I identified the specific loss of CD11a causes an increase in γδ T cell numbers. CD11a is highly expressed on both $\gamma\delta$ and $\alpha\beta$ T cells, potentially indicating the increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells is a T cell-mediated effect. This raises the question of whether integrin loss on $\alpha\beta$ T cells could indirectly increase yo T cell numbers. A previous study demonstrated that $\alpha\beta$ T cells inhibit the homeostatic expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells⁴¹⁷. As $\alpha\beta$ T cell migration to LNs and tissues is impaired in CD18 KO mice this raises the possibility that the loss of β_2 integrin expression prevents $\alpha\beta$ T cell-mediated regulation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells due to altered localisation of $\alpha\beta$ T cells. However, the mechanism of $\gamma\delta$ T cell regulation identified was through competition with $\alpha\beta$ T cells for IL-15⁴¹⁷, a cytokine required for the expansion of CD27⁺ but not CD27⁻ γδ T cells²³⁵. As the expanded population in CD18 KO mice are CD27⁻ γδ T cells, this competition for IL-15 is unlikely to be the mechanism here. In addition to this, there is contradictory evidence that CD4 T cells in fact enhance IL-17⁺ γδ T cells numbers and cytokine production⁴¹⁸. However, my data showed increased numbers of $y\delta$ T cells present in mice from 1 day post-birth, an age at which very few $\alpha\beta$ T cells are present, making it unlikely to be an $\alpha\beta$ T cell-driven mechanism of $v\delta$ T cell expansion in the CD18 KO mice.

I propose that the loss of CD11a/CD18 expression on γδ T cells leads to a loss of regulation as a direct result of the absence of CD11a-mediated signals, thereby they increase in number. Analysis of CD11a expression on γδ T cells in WT mice showed higher expression on Vγ6⁺ cells than other γδ T cell subsets in the lungs and uterus, the tissues where these cells usually reside. This may partially explain why the loss of CD18 expression only affects Vγ6-expressing cells in specific tissues. Under homeostasis, signals in the lungs/uterus tissues may induce CD11a upregulation to perform important functions in Vγ6⁺ γδ T cells. In αβ T cells, particularly CD8⁺, TCR-mediated signalling leads to the upregulation of CD11a^{74,329}. Therefore, there may be a Vγ6 TCR ligand present in the lungs and uterus that drives enhanced CD11a expression. There is evidence that CD11a expression on γδ T cells is required for

their cytotoxic functions^{79,80}, but its functional role in other types of $\gamma\delta$ T cell remains undetermined.

It cannot be ruled out that CD18 loss on a non-T cell population may be responsible for the increased number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice. Expression of CD11a has been identified on neutrophils⁶⁶, dendritic cells²⁷ and macrophages³¹, therefore the loss of CD11a is likely to also have a functional impact on these cells. A common approach to determine cell-intrinsic effects is to use bone marrow chimeras, however as V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells are produced exclusively during embryonic/neonatal stages of thymic development, this would not provide any insight. It has previously been shown that following irradiation and bone marrow transplantation, V $\gamma6^+$ cells remain absent whereas V $\gamma1$ - and V $\gamma4$ -expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells can develop²⁴³. The best approach to determine if β_2 integrin loss has a cellintrinsic effect on $\gamma\delta$ T cells would be to create a $\gamma\delta$ -specific knockout of CD11a or CD18. This requires mice with a CD11a or CD18 lox-P flanked sequence (which do not currently exist) crossed with mice expressing TCR δ Cre recombinase.

The increased number of Vy6⁺ yδ T cells in CD18 KO mice occurs despite normal thymic output, indicating that factors in the periphery are contributing to the expansion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells above the numbers found in WT mice. I was unable to detect proliferation of γδ T cells *in vivo* following BrdU labelling in adult mice or adoptive transfer of cells from adult mice, indicating that KO vδ T cells are not undergoing proliferation in adult mice. I identified that Vy6⁺ cells in the adult lungs express lower levels of Fas and display reduced apoptosis. This indicates a reduction in cell death, therefore is likely to contribute to the accumulation of Vy6⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice. Further experiments are required to determine if reduced Fas expression on CD18 KO Vy6⁺ cells renders them resistant to Fas-induced cell death. This could be determined by measuring the apoptosis of Vy6⁺ cells following incubation with Fas ligand and a cross-linking antibody in vitro. In addition to this, the reduction in Vy6⁺ yδ T cell apoptosis implies they have an increased survival. My data suggests that this survival is independent of IL-7R-mediated signalling and Bcl2, but further analysis of survival pathways may identify alterations in other survival-related signalling molecules.

Analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in the tissues of WT and CD18 KO mice across different ages identified that the higher number of $\gamma\delta$ T cells is present from 1 day

following birth. This indicates that the factor/s driving the increase in Vy6⁺ y δ T cells is present in CD18 KO mice from neonatal age. This raises the question of what mechanism is responsible for the increased yo T cell numbers in neonatal CD18 KO mice. There are a number of factors that could be contributing to the increase in $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO newborn mice such as cytokines, loss of signalling downstream of β_2 integrin receptors or altered signalling via other receptors/ligands. RNA sequencing of Vy6⁺ cells from WT and CD18 KO neonatal mice would provide further information on the pathways that are altered in $y\delta$ T cells in the absence of β_2 integrins and may provide indications for the upstream regulators. For example, alterations in integrin-related pathways would indicate an intrinsic effect on the $y\delta T$ cells whereas changes in cytokine-related pathways would suggest the impact of factors in the microenvironment. It is possible that although no differences in the proliferation of Vy6⁺ cells are being detected in adult mice, there is an enhanced expansion of these cells in young CD18 KO mice. Analysis of γδ T cell proliferation in WT and CD18 KO neonatal mice would confirm if Vy6⁺ cells are proliferating earlier in life. Alternatively, the increased number of Vy6⁺ cells may be due to an enhanced survival, as suggested by the data obtained from adult mice. When $V\gamma6^+$ cells leave the thymus, presumably only a proportion of those cells that migrate to the lungs will actually survive therefore there may be an increased survival of Vy6⁺ cells that initially seed the lungs in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. It has been hypothesised that V $\gamma 5^+ \gamma \delta$ T cells initially colonise the epidermis to form small clusters that undergo homeostatic expansion to fill the niche⁴¹⁹. Perhaps, if the same phenomenon occurs for Vy6⁺ cells, then either the initial colonisation or homeostatic expansion of Vy6⁺ yδ T cells is enhanced in the lungs of CD18 KO mice compared to WT.

6.6 Implications of the expanded Vy6⁺ y δ T cell population in CD18 KO mice

Having established there is an expansion/accumulation of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in β_2 integrin-deficient mice, the next step would be to determine the functional consequences. There are many studies that have described protective or pathogenic effects of V γ 6⁺ IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the setting of infection, autoimmunity or cancer. Mice deficient in $\gamma\delta$ T cells showed impaired clearance of *Staphylococcus aureus* and efficient bacterial clearance was dependent on neutrophil recruitment via IL-17 production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{271,420,421}. In a similar

mechanism, fungal clearance following *Candida albicans* infection also required $\gamma\delta$ T cell IL-17 production to induce neutrophil migration²⁷⁴. These studies show that V $\gamma6^+ \gamma\delta$ T cells are protective in response to certain infections. In an Aldara-induced model of psoriasis, V $\gamma6^+ \gamma\delta$ T cells were the main producers of IL-17 in the inflamed skin and exacerbated pathology⁴²². In a model of autoimmune arthritis V $\gamma6^+$ cells were also the predominant source of IL-17, and migration of these cells via CCL2 increased disease incidence⁴²³. In contrast to the examples of infection, V $\gamma6^+$ cells play a pathogenic role in autoimmune disease. In the ID8 model of ovarian cancer, IL-17 production by V $\gamma6^+$ cells enhanced tumour growth through recruitment of small peritoneal macrophages²⁸³. Similar to their role in autoimmunity, V $\gamma6^+ \gamma\delta$ T cells are also pathogenic in cancer.

Using these models in WT and CD18 KO mice, it would be expected that the increased population of Vy6⁺ y δ T cells would enhance the clearance of *S. aureus* or C. albicans, whereas exacerbate psoriasis, arthritis or cancer development. It was previously shown that CD11a KO mice display an increased susceptibility to tumour development using the B16 melanoma cancer model, despite NK cell cytotoxicity being unaffected³⁷³. As IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been shown to promote tumour growth in this model⁴²⁴, the expanded population of V γ 6⁺ cells may explain the increased susceptibility of CD11a KO mice to tumour development. However, the major caveat to infecting or inducing disease models in β_2 integrin-deficient mice is that the β_2 integrin defect is a global deficiency; therefore it would be difficult to attribute effects specifically to the expanded population of $v\delta$ T cells. In addition to this, the defective function of other immune cells may exacerbate or protect against disease. For example, the migration of $\alpha\beta$ T cells is defective in CD18 KO mice and arthritis development is $\alpha\beta$ T cell-dependent, meaning that CD18 KO mice will likely not develop disease to the same extent as WT. This was demonstrated in a study using the K/BxN model of arthritis, where CD11a KO mice were resistant to developing arthritis¹²⁴. To circumvent this issue, models could be induced in WT mice or γδ T cell KO mice and then Vγ6⁺ γδ T cells adoptively transferred. This would provide a more direct readout of $y\delta$ T cell function. Another question that remains is whether the CD18 KO vo T cells are functionally different to WT. My data demonstrated that the Vy6⁺ cells have an enhanced capacity to produce IL-17 when re-stimulated in vitro, suggesting that they may produce higher levels of IL-17 than the WT counterparts. The transfer of WT and CD18 KO Vy6⁺ cells into WT mice during an infection or disease model would test this, however this would require ex

vivo expansion of the cells as only a small number of V γ 6⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells exist in WT mice, making it difficult to obtain sufficient numbers for transfer.

In addition to the question of what effect the increased number of V γ 6⁺ γ δ T cells in CD18 KO mice will have on their ability to respond to infection or disease, there are also a number of unanswered questions about the direct impact that integrin loss has on $\gamma\delta$ T cell functional ability. An important function of β_2 integrins in several leukocyte populations is to enable migration^{64,65,68}, this raises the question of whether CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells are able to efficiently migrate to target sites, e.g. to a tumour. My data showed that under steady state conditions, there was no defect in $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers in any of the tissues analysed, which suggests that $\gamma\delta$ T cell migration or disease and could be different depending on the subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cell. The transfer of specific subsets of WT and CD18 KO $\gamma\delta$ T cells into mice during an infection or cancer model would directly assess whether β_2 integrins are required to mediate $\gamma\delta$ T cell migration to effector sites.

In addition to contributing to migration, β_2 integrins are also important for facilitating cell contacts. There is evidence from *in vitro* studies using human $\gamma\delta$ T cells and integrin blocking antibodies to suggest that β_2 integrins are required for optimal killing of target cells by $\gamma\delta$ T cells^{79,80}, although this has not yet been demonstrated *in vivo*. The cytotoxic capacity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells also requires the delivery of signals mediated by receptors/ligands such as NKG2D¹⁹⁰ and FasL⁴²⁵. The ability of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to receive signals via NKG2D and provide signals to target cells via FasL may be impacted by β_2 integrin loss, either through indirect effects on expression levels or by loss of cell interactions that are required to facilitate receptor-ligand binding. Analysis of NKG2D/FasL levels on $\gamma\delta$ T cells with target cells to measure killing would help to clarify the effect of β_2 integrin loss on $\gamma\delta$ T cells cells to measure killing would

6.7 β_2 integrins promote V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell development

My initial hypothesis was that β_2 integrins are a negative regulator of IL-17producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells. However, analysis of $\gamma\delta$ T cell thymic development revealed an unexpected defect in V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cell development in the absence of CD18, suggesting that integrins play a role in promoting the development of this $\gamma\delta$ T cell

subset. The mechanisms involved in the development of specific $v\delta$ T cell subsets are still not well understood. Vy4⁺ yδ T cells are capable of producing either IL-17 or IFNy depending on their functional pre-programming. It has been suggested that IL-17-producers (that express Vy6 or Vy4) are generated in the thymus during embryonic and neonatal life, whereas Vy4⁺ cells that produce IFNy are produced at the postnatal stage^{426,427}. I did not characterise the phenotype of the Vy4⁺ cells that display impaired development in CD18 KO mice compared to WT. This could be done by staining cells from the neonatal thymus for IL-17/IFNy and other markers that distinguish these subsets such as CD27, CD45RB and CD73^{203,206,427}. The defect in Vv4⁺ vo T cell development is present in the thymus of neonatal mice but not adults, which may suggest that the impaired development is likely to be the IL-17-producing Vy4⁺ cells. In the absence of Sox13, mice display a complete loss of $Vy4^+$ y δ T cells but $Vy6^+$ cells are present at normal frequency in the periphery²¹⁹, meaning the loss of β_2 integrin expression may reduce the levels of Sox13 and thereby impair Vy4⁺ yδ T cell development. Alternatively, the development of IFNyproducing Vy4⁺ cells may be reduced in CD18 KO mice. There is evidence to suggest that strong TCR signals favour the development of IFNγ-producing γδ T cells^{205,428}, therefore cell adhesion via β_2 integrins could be required for optimal signalling, a function that has been demonstrated in $\alpha\beta$ T cells^{83,84}. The development of IFNy-producing yo T cells can also be promoted by co-stimulation via CD70-CD27²⁰⁶, and again β_2 integrins may facilitate the cell interactions necessary to facilitate co-stimulatory molecule interactions. Further analysis of signalling pathways in thymic $\gamma\delta$ T cells from WT and CD18 KO mice would elucidate the potential involvement of these molecules in promoting Vy4 development downstream of β_2 integrin signalling.

The importance of β_2 integrin receptor interactions in promoting V γ 4⁺ cell development in the thymus should also be further explored. Foetal thymic organ cultures (FTOCs) using a CD18 blocking antibody would confirm that β_2 -mediated interactions are required for optimal V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ cell development. In addition, comparing V γ 4⁺ cell development in FTOCs using CD18 KO donor thymocytes and WT stromal cells, with WT donor cells and CD18 KO stromal cells, would determine whether the defect in CD18 has an intrinsic effect on the $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Finally, the functional outcome of the reduced number of V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in CD18 KO mice should also be considered. In the B16 melanoma model, V γ 4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells

play a protective role in decreasing the tumour burden through IFN_Y and perforin production^{279,429}. In CD18 KO mice the absence of anti-tumour V_Y4⁺ cells in combination with the expanded pro-tumour V_Y6⁺ cells would likely result in exacerbation of disease. Following infection with respiratory syncytial virus, V_Y4⁺ cells producing IFN_Y enhanced viral control and reduced disease severity⁴³⁰ therefore, the reduced numbers of V_Y4⁺ cells may enhance disease following viral infection. The protective role of V_Y4⁺ cells has also been demonstrated in a model of sepsis, where IL-17 production by V_Y4-expressing γδ T cells delayed mortality in mice⁴³¹ whereas in a model of psoriasis IL-17-producing V_Y4⁺ cells contributed to pathology^{432,433}. The lower number of V_Y4⁺ cells in CD18 KO mice could result in protection against pathology in psoriasis but exacerbated pathology in sepsis. Altogether these studies clearly demonstrate that the role of V_Y4⁺ γδ T cells is modeldependent and differs according to their cytokine production. The determination of which type of V_Y4⁺ cells (IFN_Y- and/or IL-17-producers) show impaired development in β₂ integrin-deficient mice will elucidate the potential functional outcome.

6.8 Links to human $\gamma\delta$ T cells

The data presented in this thesis demonstrated that in the absence of β_2 integrins, mice have an increased number of Vy6⁺ IL-17-producing y δ T cells. In future work the significance of these findings for human biology must be considered. In humans, β_2 integrin-deficiency exists in a disease called leukocyte adhesion deficiency (LAD). In type I LAD, patients have a mutation in the CD18 gene leading to reduced or absent β_2 integrin expression and in type III LAD, patients have mutations in kindlin-3 that prevent β_2 integrin activation¹¹⁴. It was shown previously that LAD I patients with periodontitis have an increase in IL-17-producing CD3⁺ cells in their gingival tissue but not peripheral blood³⁰². These cells were defined as TCRγδ⁻ (although the data was not shown), and in the blood only the percentage of total T cells producing IL-17 was analysed. Further characterisation of the vo T cell populations in LAD patients would provide more information on whether the loss of β_2 integrin expression results in an increase of $v\delta$ T cells in humans, as found in mice. Although a subset equivalent to the Vy6⁺ yδ T cells identified in mice does not exist in humans, analysis of the V δ 1- and V δ 2-expressing subsets, both of which have been shown to produce IL-17^{236,237,434}, may reveal a potential role for β_2 integrins in regulating specific subsets of human $y\delta$ T cells.

6.9 Potential therapeutic targeting of β_2 integrins

Pre-clinical and clinical studies have assessed the potential use of β_2 integrin blocking molecules, with mixed sucess⁴³⁵. In pre-clinical studies odulimomab, a monoclonal antibody against CD11a, reduced graft rejection in mice⁴³⁶ and rats⁴³⁷, and odulimomab protected against ischaemia and reperfusion injury following transplantation in primates⁴³⁸. This drug was not taken further into clinical trials. The blocking of CD11a or CD11b had a therapeutic effect in the mouse model of multiple sclerosis, EAE⁴³⁹. Whereas, rovelizumab, a humanised anti-CD11a, did not show any clinical benefit in a phase II trial using patients with acute exacerbations of MS⁴⁴⁰. Efalizumab, another humanised anti-CD11a, was shown to be an effective treatment for plaque psoriasis⁴⁴¹. However, it was subsequently withdrawn due to 4 reported cases of multifocal leukoencephalopathy, a rare side effect thought to be caused by immunosuppression⁴⁴². The CD11a antagonist BMS-587101 was shown to be protective in a mouse model of arthritis and inhibited T cell adhesion, proliferation and Th1 cytokine production⁴⁴³. It was designed for topical use in a phase II trial for psoriasis but was stopped after showing signs of hepatotoxicity⁴⁴⁴. A CD11a antagonist currently in clinical use is Lifitegrast, a small molecule inhibitor that acts as a competitive antagonist of CD11a binding to ICAM-1⁴⁴⁵. This drug is used in eye drops to decrease T cell-mediated inflammation and reduce eye dryness⁴⁴⁶. The success of Lifitegrast may be partially attributed to the topical application that limits potential side effects, such as broad immunosuppression.

These studies emphasise the potential issues with translating studies from animal models and the potential side effects of blocking β_2 integrins, such as immunosuppression. My data showed that in contrast to the functions previously described where β_2 integrins contribute to immune activation, these receptors also play a role in the negative regulation of DCs and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Taken together, this highlights the need for careful and effective drug design, considering the differential roles for β_2 integrins in the immune system.

6.10 Concluding Remarks

The data presented in this thesis has characterised the immuno-regulatory roles of β_2 integrins in DCs and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. CD11a and CD11c act as negative regulators of DC activation and restrict the ability of DCs to induce T cell responses. Whereas in $\gamma\delta$ T cells β_2 integrins play differential roles in $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets, promoting V $\gamma4^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cell development and regulating V $\gamma6^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the periphery. These findings highlight the importance of β_2 integrins in regulating immune responses. Further work to understand the downstream pathways of this regulation will identify potential therapeutic targets for diseases where DC or $\gamma\delta$ T cell responses are dysregulated.

List of References

- 1. Viganò, S., Perreau, M., Pantaleo, G. & Harari, A. Positive and Negative Regulation of Cellular Immune Responses in Physiologic Conditions and Diseases. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 1–11 (2012).
- 2. Ven, A. van de, Prakken, B. & Albani, S. Immunological Tolerance in the Therapy of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Discov. Med.* **7**, 46–50 (2009).
- 3. Hilkens, C. M. U. & Isaacs, J. D. Tolerogenic dendritic cell therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: where are we now? *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **172**, 148–57 (2013).
- 4. Takada, Y., Ye, X. & Simon, S. The integrins. *Genome Biol.* 8, 215 (2007).
- 5. Scharffetter-Kochanek, K. *et al.* Spontaneous skin ulceration and defective T cell function in CD18 null mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **188**, 119–131 (1998).
- 6. Huang, X.-Z. *et al.* Inactivation of the Integrin β6 Subunit Gene Reveals a Role of Epithelial Integrins in Regulating Inflammation in the Lungs and Skin. *J. Cell Biol.* **133**, 921–928 (1996).
- 7. Hynes, R. O. A reevaluation of integrins as regulators of angiogenesis. *Nat. Med.* **8**, 918–921 (2002).
- 8. Sheppard, D. In vivo functions of integrins: Lessons from null mutations in mice. *Matrix Biol.* **19**, 203–209 (2000).
- 9. Barczyk, M., Carracedo, S. & Gullberg, D. Integrins. *Cell Tissue Res.* **339**, 269–280 (2010).
- 10. Bo Shen, M., Delaney, K. & Xiaoping, D. Inside-out, outside-in, and insideoutside-in: G protein signalling in integrin-mediated cell adhesion, spreading and retraction. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **24**, 600–606 (2012).
- 11. Nishida, N. *et al.* Activation of Leukocyte β2 Integrins by Conversion from Bent to Extended Conformations. *Immunity* **25**, 583–594 (2006).
- 12. Hughes, P. E. *et al.* Breaking the Integrin Hinge. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 6571–6574 (1996).
- 13. Lu, C. F. & Springer, T. A. The alpha subunit cytoplasmic domain regulates the assembly and adhesiveness of integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1. *J Immunol* **159**, 268–278 (1997).
- Lefort, C. T. & Ley, K. Neutrophil arrest by LFA-1 activation. *Front. Immunol.* 3, 1–10 (2012).
- Kim, M., Carman, C. V & Springer, T. A. Bidirectional transmembrane signaling by cytoplasmic domain separation in integrins. *Science* **301**, 1720– 1725 (2003).
- 16. Liu, J. *et al.* Structural mechanism of integrin inactivation by filamin. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* **22**, (2015).
- 17. Han, J. *et al.* Reconstructing and Deconstructing Agonist-Induced Activation of Integrin αIIbβ3. *Curr. Biol.* **16**, 1796–1806 (2006).
- Lee, H.-S., Lim, C. J., Puzon-McLaughlin, W., Shattil, S. J. & Ginsberg, M. H. RIAM activates integrins by linking talin to ras GTPase membranetargeting sequences. *J. Biol. Chem.* **284**, 5119–27 (2009).
- 19. Tadokoro, S. *et al.* Talin binding to integrin beta tails: a final common step in integrin activation. *Science (80-.).* **302**, 103–106 (2003).
- Harburger, D. S., Bouaouina, M. & Calderwood, D. A. Kindlin-1 and -2 directly bind the C-terminal region of β integrin cytoplasmic tails and exert integrin-specific activation effects. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 11485–11497 (2009).
- 21. Theodosiou, M. *et al.* Kindlin-2 cooperates with talin to activate integrins and induces cell spreading by directly binding paxillin. *Elife* **5**, e10130 (2016).
- 22. Arnaout, M. A. Biology and structure of leukocyte β2 integrins and their role in inflammation. *F1000Research* **5**, 2433 (2016).
- 23. Van der Vieren, M. *et al.* A novel leukointegrin, αdβ2, binds preferentially to ICAM-3. *Immunity* **3**, 683–690 (1995).
- Van der Vieren, M. *et al.* The Leukocyte Integrin α D β 2 Binds VCAM-1: Evidence for a Binding Interface Between I Domain and VCAM-1. *J Immunol* 163, 1984–1990 (1999).
- 25. Yakubenko, V. P., Yadav, S. P. & Ugarova, T. P. Integrin α Dβ 2, an adhesion receptor up-regulated on macrophage foam cells, exhibits multiligand-binding properties. *Blood* **107**, 1643–1650 (2006).
- 26. Bertoni, A., Alabiso, O., Galetto, A. S. & Baldanzi, G. Integrins in T cell physiology. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **19**, (2018).
- Segura, E., Guérin, C., Hogg, N., Amigorena, S. & Théry, C. CD8+ Dendritic Cells Use LFA-1 to Capture MHC-Peptide Complexes from Exosomes In Vivo. *J. Immunol.* **179**, 1489–1496 (2007).
- 28. Saitoh, S.-I. *et al.* TLR7 mediated viral recognition results in focal type I interferon secretion by dendritic cells. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 1592 (2017).
- Murakami, S., Miyake, K., June, C. H., Kincade, P. W. & Hodes, R. J. IL-5 induces a Pgp-1 (CD44) bright B cell subpopulation that is highly enriched in proliferative and Ig secretory activity and binds to hyaluronate. *J. Immunol.* **145**, 3618–27 (1990).
- Geissmann, F., Jung, S. & Littman, D. R. Blood Monocytes Consist of Two Principal Subsets with Distinct Migratory Properties. *Immunity* 19, 71–82 (2003).
- 31. Gautier, E. L. *et al.* Gene-expression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. *Nat. Immunol.* **13**, 1118–1128 (2012).
- 32. Bao, Y. *et al.* Identification of IFN-γ-producing innate B cells. *Cell Res.* **24**, 161–176 (2014).
- 33. Liu, Y.-X. *et al.* Expression of CD11a in lymphocyte subpopulation in immune thrombocytopenia. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* **8**, 15642–51 (2015).
- Nakajima, S., Roswit, W. T., Look, D. C. & Holtzman, M. J. A hierarchy for integrin expression and adhesiveness among T cell subsets that is linked to TCR gene usage and emphasizes V delta 1+ gamma delta T cell adherence and tissue retention. *J Immunol* **155**, 1117–1131 (1995).
- Chang, R.-Q. *et al.* Decidual RANKL/RANK interaction promotes the residence and polarization of TGF-β1-producing regulatory γδ T cells. *Cell Death Dis.* **10**, 113 (2019).

- Preito, J., Eklund, A. & Oatarroyo, M. Regulated Expression of Integrins and Other Adhesion Molecules during Differentiation of Monocytes into Macrophages. *Cell. Immunol.* **156**, 191–211 (1994).
- 37. Freudenthal, P. S. & Steinman, R. M. *The distinct surface of human blood dendritic cells, as observed after an improved isolation method. Proc. Nail. Acad. Sci. USA* **87,** (1990).
- 38. Auffray, C. *et al.* Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. *Science* **317**, 666–70 (2007).
- 39. de la Rosa, G. *et al.* Migration of human blood dendritic cells across endothelial cell monolayers: adhesion molecules and chemokines involved in subset-specific transmigration. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **73**, 639–649 (2003).
- 40. Castriconi, R. *et al.* Functional characterization of natural killer cells in type I leukocyte adhesion deficiency. *Blood* **109**, 4873–4881 (2007).
- Perlman, H., Mutlu, G. M., Morales-Nebreda, L., Misharin, A. V & Budinger, G. R. S. Flow Cytometric Analysis of Macrophages and Dendritic Cell Subsets in the Mouse Lung. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 49, 503–510 (2013).
- 42. Yakubenko, V. P. *et al.* The role of integrin αDβ2 (CD11d/CD18) in monocyte/macrophage migration. *Exp. Cell Res.* **314**, 2569–2578 (2008).
- 43. Scott, C. L., Wright, P. B., Milling, S. W. F. & Mowat, A. M. Isolation and identification of conventional dendritic cell subsets from the intestine of mice and men. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **1423**, 101–118 (2016).
- 44. Chiossone, L. *et al.* Maturation of mouse NK cells is a 4-stage developmental program. *Blood* **113**, 5488–96 (2009).
- 45. Ghosn, E. E. B., Yang, Y., Tung, J., Herzenberg, L. A. & Herzenberg, L. A. CD11b expression distinguishes sequential stages of peritoneal B-1 development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **105**, 5195–200 (2008).
- 46. Fortunati, E., Kazemier, K. M., Grutters, J. C., Koenderman, L. & Van den Bosch, van J. M. M. Human neutrophils switch to an activated phenotype after homing to the lung irrespective of inflammatory disease. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **155**, 559–66 (2009).
- 47. Fu, B. *et al.* CD11b and CD27 reflect distinct population and functional specialization in human natural killer cells. *Immunology* **133**, 350–9 (2011).
- 48. Li, K. *et al.* Expression of complement components, receptors and regulators by human dendritic cells. *Mol. Immunol.* **48**, 1121–1127 (2011).
- 49. Kawai, K. *et al.* CD11b-mediated migratory property of peripheral blood B cells. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **116**, 192–197 (2005).
- 50. Bedoret, D. *et al.* Lung interstitial macrophages alter dendritic cell functions to prevent airway allergy in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **119**, 3723–3738 (2009).
- 51. Burt, B. M. *et al.* CD11c identifies a subset of murine liver natural killer cells that responds to adenoviral hepatitis. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **84**, 1039–46 (2008).
- 52. Qualai, J. *et al.* Expression of CD11c Is Associated with Unconventional Activated T Cell Subsets with High Migratory Potential. *PLoS One* **11**, e0154253 (2016).

- 53. Bain, C. C. *et al.* TGFβR signalling controls CD103+CD11b+ dendritic cell development in the intestine. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 620 (2017).
- 54. Haniffa, M. *et al.* Human Tissues Contain CD141hi Cross-Presenting Dendritic Cells with Functional Homology to Mouse CD103+ Nonlymphoid Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* **37**, 60–73 (2012).
- 55. Grage-Griebenow, E. *et al.* Identification of a novel dendritic cell-like subset of CD64+ / CD16+ blood monocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **31**, 48–56 (2001).
- 56. Lewis, S. M. *et al.* Expression of CD11c and EMR2 on neutrophils: potential diagnostic biomarkers for sepsis and systemic inflammation. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **182**, 184–94 (2015).
- Villa-Ambriz, J., Rodríguez-Orozco, A. R., Béjar-Lozano, C. & Cortés-Rojo, C. The Increased Expression of CD11c and CD103 Molecules in the Neutrophils of the Peripheral Blood Treated With a Formula of Bacterial Ribosomes and Proteoglycans of Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Arch. Bronconeumol. (English Ed.* 48, 316–319 (2012).
- 58. Wu, H. *et al.* Deficiency of CD11b or CD11d results in reduced staphylococcal enterotoxin-induced T cell response and T cell phenotypic changes. *J. Immunol.* **173**, 297–306 (2004).
- Smith, S. S. & Barnum, S. R. Differential expression of beta 2-integrins and cytokine production between gammadelta and alphabeta T cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Leukoc Biol* 83, 71–79 (2008).
- 60. Miyazaki, Y. *et al.* Integrin αDβ2 (CD11d/CD18) is expressed by human circulating and tissue myeloid leukocytes and mediates inflammatory signaling. *PLoS One* **9**, e112770 (2014).
- 61. Siegers, G. M., Barreira, C. R., Postovit, L.-M. & Dekaban, G. A. CD11d β2 integrin expression on human NK, B, and γδ T cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol* **101**, 1029–1035 (2017).
- 62. MacPherson, M., Lek, H., Morrison, V. & Fagerholm, S. Leukocyte Beta2-Integrins; Genes and Disease. *J. Genet. Syndr. Gene Ther.* **04**, (2013).
- 63. Masopust, D. & Schenkel, J. M. The integration of T cell migration, differentiation and function. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **13**, 309–320 (2013).
- 64. Andrew, D. P. *et al.* Transendothelial migration and trafficking of leukocytes in LFA-1-deficient mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **28**, 1959–1969 (1998).
- 65. Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M. I. & Nourshargh, S. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **7**, 678–689 (2007).
- 66. Ding, Z. M. *et al.* Relative contribution of LFA-1 and Mac-1 to neutrophil adhesion and migration. *J. Immunol.* **163**, 5029–5038 (1999).
- 67. Henderson, R. B., Hobbs, J. A. R., Mathies, M. & Hogg, N. Rapid recruitment of inflammatory monocytes is independent of neutrophil migration. *Blood* **102**, 328–335 (2003).
- 68. Berlin-Rufenach, C. *et al.* Lymphocyte Migration in Lymphocyte Functionassociated Antigen (LFA) -1 – deficient Mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **189**, 1467–1478 (1999).

- 69. Berlin, C. *et al.* α4β7 integrin mediates lymphocyte binding to the mucosal vascular addressin MAdCAM-1. *Cell* **74**, 185–195 (1993).
- 70. Hons, M. *et al.* Chemokines and integrins independently tune actin flow and substrate friction during intranodal migration of T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **19**, 606–616 (2018).
- 71. Woolf, E. *et al.* Lymph node chemokines promote sustained T lymphocyte motility without triggering stable integrin adhesiveness in the absence of shear forces. *Nat. Immunol.* **8**, (2007).
- 72. Lämmermann, T. *et al.* Rapid leukocyte migration by integrin-independent flowing and squeezing. *Nature* **453**, 51–55 (2008).
- 73. Morrison, V. L. *et al.* Loss of beta2-integrin-mediated cytoskeletal linkage reprogrammes dendritic cells to a mature migratory phenotype. *Nat. Commun.* **5**, 5359 (2014).
- 74. Capece, T. *et al.* A novel intracellular pool of LFA-1 is critical for asymmetric CD8+ T cell activation and differentiation. *J. Cell Biol.* **216**, 3817–3829 (2017).
- 75. Dustin, M. L. & Springer, T. A. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. *Nature* **341**, 619–624 (1989).
- Carrasco, Y. R., Fleire, S. J., Cameron, T., Dustin, M. L. & Batista, F. D. LFA-1/ICAM-1 Interaction Lowers the Threshold of B Cell Activation by Facilitating B Cell Adhesion and Synapse Formation. *Immunity* 20, 589–599 (2004).
- 77. Schmits, R. *et al.* LFA-1-deficient mice show normal CTL responses to virus but fail to reject immunogenic tumor. *J Exp Med* **183**, 1415–1426 (1996).
- Osman, M. S., Burshtyn, D. N. & Kane, K. P. Activating Ly-49 Receptors Regulate LFA-1-Mediated Adhesion by NK Cells. *J Immunol* **178**, 1261– 1267 (2007).
- 79. Siegers, G. M., Ribot, E. J., Keating, A. & Foster, P. J. Extensive expansion of primary human gamma delta T cells generates cytotoxic effector memory cells that can be labeled with Feraheme for cellular MRI. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* **62**, 571–583 (2013).
- Nelson, E. L. *et al.* Novel tumor-associated accessory molecules involved in the gamma/delta cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-Burkitt's lymphoma interaction. *Cancer* **75**, 886–93 (1995).
- 81. Dustin, M. L. Cell adhesion molecules and actin cytoskeleton at immune synapses and kinapses. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **19**, 529–533 (2007).
- 82. Monks, C. R. F., Freiberg, B. A., Kupfer, H., Sciaky, N. & Kupfer, A. Threedimensional segregation of supramolecular activation clusters in T cells. *Nature* **395**, 82–86 (1998).
- 83. Van Seventer, G. A., Shimizu, Y., Horgan, K. J. & Shaw, S. The LFA-1 ligand ICAM-1 provides an important costimulatory signal for T cell receptormediated activation of resting T cells. *J. Immunol.* **144**, 4579–86 (1990).
- 84. Perez, O. D. *et al.* Leukocyte functional antigen 1 lowers T cell activation thresholds and signaling through cytohesin-1 and Jun-activating binding protein 1. *Nat. Immunol.* **4**, 1083–92 (2003).

- 85. Wang, Y. *et al.* LFA-1 decreases the antigen dose for T cell activation in vivo. *Int. Immunol.* **20**, 1119–1127 (2008).
- 86. Franciszkiewicz, K. *et al.* CD103 or LFA-1 Engagement at the Immune Synapse between Cytotoxic T Cells and Tumor Cells Promotes Maturation and Regulates T-cell Effector Functions. *Cancer Res.* **73**, 617–628 (2012).
- 87. Anikeeva, N. *et al.* Distinct role of lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 in mediating effective cytolytic activity by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102,** 6437–42 (2005).
- Balkow, S. *et al.* LFA-1 activity state on dendritic cells regulates contact duration with T cells and promotes T-cell priming. *Blood* **116**, 1885–1894 (2010).
- Bose, T. O., Colpitts, S. L., Pham, Q.-M., Puddington, L. & Lefrançois, L. CD11a Is Essential for Normal Development of Hematopoietic Intermediates. *J. Immunol.* **193**, 2863–72 (2014).
- Gültner, S. *et al.* Reduced treg frequency in LFA-1-deficient mice allows enhanced T effector differentiation and pathology in EAE. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 40, 3403–3412 (2010).
- 91. Meli, A. P. *et al.* The Integrin LFA-1 Controls T Follicular Helper Cell Generation and Maintenance. *Immunity* **45**, 831–846 (2016).
- 92. Ueda, T., Rieu, P., Brayer, J. & Arnaout, M. A. Identification of the complement iC3b binding site in the beta 2 integrin CR3 (CD11b/CD18). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **91**, 10680–4 (1994).
- 93. Morelli, A. E. *et al.* Internalization of circulating apoptotic cells by splenic marginal zone dendritic cells : dependence on complement receptors and effect on cytokine production. *Blood* **101**, 611–620 (2003).
- Zhang, B., Hirahashi, J., Cullere, X. & Mayadas, T. N. Elucidation of molecular events leading to neutrophil apoptosis following phagocytosis: cross-talk between caspase 8, reactive oxygen species, and MAPK/ERK activation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 28443–54 (2003).
- Whitlock, B. B., Gardai, S., Fadok, V., Bratton, D. & Henson, P. M. Differential Roles for αMβ2 Integrin Clustering or Activation in the Control of Apoptosis via Regulation of Akt and ERK Survival Mechanisms. *J. Cell Biol.* **151**, 1305–1320 (2000).
- 96. Podgrabinska, S. *et al.* Inflamed Lymphatic Endothelium Suppresses Dendritic Cell Maturation and Function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-Dependent Mechanism. *J. Immunol.* **183**, 1767–1779 (2009).
- 97. Varga, G. *et al.* Active MAC-1 (CD11b/CD18) on DCs inhibits full T-cell activation. *Blood* **109**, 661–9 (2007).
- Moreland, J. G., Fuhrman, R. M., Pruessner, J. A. & Schwartz, D. A. CD11b and Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Are Involved in Pulmonary Neutrophil Recruitment in Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Airway Disease. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 27, 474–480 (2002).
- Shang, X.-Z. & Issekutz, A. C. Contribution of CD11a/CD18, CD11b/CD18, ICAM-1 (CD54) and −2 (CD102) to human monocyte migration through endothelium and connective tissue fibroblast barriers. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28, 1970–1979 (1998).

- 100. Podolnikova, N. P., Oh, K., Yermolenko, I. S. & Ugarova, T. P. An Altered Macrophage Migration In Adipose Tissue Of Integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) Deficient Mice. *Blood* **122**, 1031 (2013).
- Merad, M., Sathe, P., Helft, J., Miller, J. & Mortha, A. The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting. *Annu Rev Immunol* **31**, 997–1003 (2013).
- Xu, S., Wang, J., Wang, J.-H. & Springer, T. A. Distinct recognition of complement iC3b by integrins αXβ2 and αMβ2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **114**, 3403–3408 (2017).
- 103. Frick, C. *et al.* Interaction of ICAM-1 with β2-integrin CD11c/CD18: Characterization of a peptide ligand that mimics a putative binding site on domain D4 of ICAM-1. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **35**, 3610–3621 (2005).
- 104. Sadhu, C. *et al.* CD11c/CD18: novel ligands and a role in delayed-type hypersensitivity. *J. Leukoc. Biol* **81**, 1395–1403 (2007).
- 105. Choi, J. & Nham, S.-U. Loops within the CD11c I Domain Critical for Specific Recognition of Fibrinogen. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **292**, 756–760 (2002).
- 106. Wu, H. *et al.* Functional role of CD11c+ monocytes in atherogenesis associated with hypercholesterolemia. *Circulation* **119**, 2708–2717 (2009).
- 107. Ihanus, E., Uotila, L. M., Toivanen, A., Varis, M. & Gahmberg, C. G. Red-cell ICAM-4 is a ligand for the monocyte/macrophage integrin CD11c/CD18: Characterization of the binding sites on ICAM-4. *Blood* **109**, 802–810 (2007).
- 108. Liao, Y. *et al.* Expression pattern of CD11c on lung immune cells after disseminated murine cytomegalovirus infection. *Virol. J.* **14**, 132 (2017).
- Nascimento, D. de O. *et al.* Integrin αDβ2 (CD11d/CD18) Modulates Leukocyte Accumulation, Pathogen Clearance, and Pyroptosis in Experimental Salmonella Typhimurium Infection. *Front. Immunol.* 9, 1128 (2018).
- 110. Tamassia, N. *et al.* On the potential involvement of CD11d in co-stimulating the production of interferon- by natural killer cells upon interaction with neutrophils via intercellular adhesion molecule-3. *Haematologica* **96**, 1543–1547 (2011).
- 111. van de Vijver, E. *et al.* Hematologically important mutations: Leukocyte adhesion deficiency (first update). *Blood Cells, Mol. Dis.* **48**, 53–61 (2012).
- 112. Almarza Novoa, E. *et al.* Leukocyte adhesion deficiency-I: A comprehensive review of all published cases. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. Pract.* **6**, 1418–1420.e10 (2018).
- 113. Parvaneh, N. *et al.* Characterization of 11 New Cases of Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency Type 1 with Seven Novel Mutations in the ITGB2 Gene. *J. Clin. Immunol.* **30**, 756–760 (2010).
- Fagerholm, S. C., Guenther, C., Llort Asens, M., Savinko, T. & Uotila, L. M. Beta2-Integrins and Interacting Proteins in Leukocyte Trafficking, Immune Suppression, and Immunodeficiency Disease. *Front. Immunol.* **10**, 254 (2019).
- 115. Harris, E. S., Smith, T. L., Springett, G. M., Weyrich, A. S. & Zimmerman, G.

A. Leukocyte adhesion deficiency-I variant syndrome (LAD-Iv, LAD-III): molecular characterization of the defect in an index family. *Am. J. Hematol.* **87**, 311–3 (2012).

- 116. Kuijpers, T. W. *et al.* LAD-1/variant syndrome is caused by mutations in FERMT3. *Blood* **113**, 4740–4746 (2001).
- 117. Etzioni, A. Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency III When Integrins Activation Fails. *J. Clin. Immunol.* **34**, 900–903 (2014).
- 118. Saultier, P. *et al.* Long-term management of leukocyte adhesion deficiency type III without hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Haematologica* **103**, e264–e267 (2018).
- 119. D'Agata, I. D., Paradis, K., Chad, Z., Bonny, Y. & Seidman, E. Leucocyte adhesion deficiency presenting as a chronic ileocolitis. *Gut* **39**, 605–8 (1996).
- 120. Hom, G. *et al.* Association of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus with C8orf13-BLK and ITGAM-ITGAX. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **358**, 900–909 (2008).
- 121. Graham, I. L., Lefkowith, J. B., Anderson, D. C. & Brown, E. J. Immune complex-stimulated neutrophil LTB4 production is dependent on β2 integrins. *J. Cell Biol.* **120**, 1509–1517 (1993).
- 122. Abdelbaqi, M. *et al.* Regulation of dextran sodium sulfate induced colitis by leukocyte beta 2 integrins. *Lab. Invest.* **86**, 380–390 (2006).
- 123. Eri, R., McGuckin, M. A. & Wadley, R. in *Leukocytes. Methods in Molecular Biology* 261–275 (Humana Press, 2012). doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-527-5_19
- 124. Watts, G. M. *et al.* Manifestations of inflammatory arthritis are critically dependent on LFA-1. *J. Immunol.* **174**, 3668–3675 (2005).
- 125. Coxon, A. *et al.* A novel role for the β2 integrin CD11b/CD18 in neutrophil apoptosis: A homeostatic mechanism in inflammation. *Immunity* **5**, 653–666 (1996).
- 126. Ehirchiou, D. *et al.* CD11b facilitates the development of peripheral tolerance by suppressing Th17 differentiation. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**, 1519–24 (2007).
- 127. Allman, D. *et al.* Ikaros is required for plasmacytoid dendritic cell differentiation. *Blood* **108**, 4025–4034 (2006).
- 128. Liu, K. *et al.* In Vivo Analysis of Dendritic Cell Development and Homeostasis. *Science (80-.).* **324,** 392–397 (2009).
- 129. Guilliams, M. *et al.* Unsupervised High-Dimensional Analysis Aligns Dendritic Cells across Tissues and Species. *Immunity* **45**, 669–684 (2016).
- 130. Guilliams, M. *et al.* Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **14**, 571–578 (2014).
- 131. Bogunovic, M. *et al.* The origin and development of nonlymphoid tissue CD103 + DCs. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 3115–3130 (2009).
- 132. Mildner, A., Yona, S. & Jung, S. in *Advances in Immunology* **120**, 69–103 (2013).
- 133. Langlet, C. *et al.* CD64 Expression Distinguishes Monocyte-Derived and Conventional Dendritic Cells and Reveals Their Distinct Role during

Intramuscular Immunization. J. Immunol. 188, 1751–1760 (2012).

- 134. Bennett, C. L., Noordegraaf, M., Martina, C. A. E. & Clausen, B. E. Langerhans Cells Are Required for Efficient Presentation of Topically Applied Hapten to T Cells. *J. Immunol.* **179**, 6830–6835 (2007).
- 135. Miller, J. C. *et al.* Deciphering the transcriptional network of the dendritic cell lineage. *Nat. Immunol.* **13**, 888–899 (2012).
- Santambrogio, L. *et al.* Extracellular antigen processing and presentation by immature dendritic cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 96, 15056–61 (1999).
- 137. Wilson, N. S., El-Sukkari, D., Villadangos, J. A., Tough, D. F. & Shortman, K. Dendritic cells constitutively present self antigens in their immature state in vivo and regulate antigen presentation by controlling the rates of MHC class II synthesis and endocytosis. *Blood* **103**, 2187–95 (2004).
- 138. Hartmann, G., Weiner, G. J. & Krieg, A. M. CpG DNA: A potent signal for growth, activation, and maturation of human dendritic cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **96**, 9305–9310 (2002).
- 139. Sparwasser, T. *et al.* Bacterial DNA and immunostimulatory CpG oligonucleotides trigger maturation and activation of murine dendritic cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **28**, 2045–2054 (1998).
- Verdijk, R. M. *et al.* Polyriboinosinic polyribocytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) induces stable maturation of functionally active human dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 163, 57–61 (1999).
- 141. Singh-Jasuja, H. *et al.* The heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation of dendritic cells and down-regulation of its receptor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **30**, 2211–2215 (2000).
- Kuppner, M. C. *et al.* The role of heat shock protein (hsp70) in dendritic cell maturation: Hsp70 induces the maturation of immature dendritic cells but reduces DC differentiation from monocyte precursors. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 1602–1609 (2001).
- 143. Sallusto, F., Cella, M., Danieli, C. & Lanzavecchia, A. Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 389– 400 (1995).
- 144. Granucci, F. *et al.* Early events in dendritic cell maturation induced by LPS. *Microbes Infect.* **1**, 1079–1084 (1999).
- 145. Förster, R. *et al.* CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* **99**, 23–33 (1999).
- Rock, K., Gamble, S. & Rothstein, L. Presentation of Exogenous Antigen with Class I Major Histocompatibility Complex Molecules. *Science (80-.).* 249, 637–640 (1990).
- 147. Heath, W. R. *et al.* Cross-presentation, dendritic cell subsets, and the generation of immunity to cellular antigens. *Immunol. Rev.* **199**, 9–26 (2004).
- 148. Dudziak, D. *et al.* Differential antigen processing by dendritic cell subsets in vivo. *Science* **315**, 107–11 (2007).

- 149. Lewis, K. L. *et al.* Notch2 receptor signaling controls functional differentiation of dendritic cells in the spleen and intestine. *Immunity* **35**, 780–91 (2011).
- 150. Schlitzer, A. *et al.* IRF4 transcription factor-dependent CD11b+ dendritic cells in human and mouse control mucosal IL-17 cytokine responses. *Immunity* **38**, 970–83 (2013).
- 151. Heufler, C. *et al.* Interleukin-12 is produced by dendritic cells and mediates T helper 1 development as well as interferon-γ production by T helper 1 cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **26**, 659–668 (1996).
- 152. Cerovic, V. *et al.* Intestinal CD103– dendritic cells migrate in lymph and prime effector T cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* **6**, 104–113 (2012).
- 153. Haan, J. M. M. den, Lehar, S. M. & Bevan, M. J. Cd8+ but Not Cd8– Dendritic Cells Cross-Prime Cytotoxic T Cells in Vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **192**, 1685–1696 (2000).
- 154. McKenna, K., Beignon, A.-S. & Bhardwaj, N. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells: Linking Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *J. Virol.* **79**, 17–27 (2005).
- 155. Kadowaki, N., Antonenko, S., Lau, J. Y.-N. & Liu, Y.-J. Natural Interferon α/β–Producing Cells Link Innate and Adaptive Immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* **192**, 219–226 (2000).
- 156. Qiu, C.-H. *et al.* Novel subset of CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells localized in the marginal zone is responsible for tolerance to cell-associated antigens. *J. Immunol.* **182**, 4127–36 (2009).
- 157. Gerner, M. Y., Torabi-Parizi, P. & Germain, R. N. Strategically Localized Dendritic Cells Promote Rapid T Cell Responses to Lymph-Borne Particulate Antigens. *Immunity* **42**, 172–185 (2015).
- 158. Brocker, T., Riedinger, M. & Karjalainen, K. Targeted expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules demonstrates that dendritic cells can induce negative but not positive selection of thymocytes in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **185**, 541–50 (1997).
- Huang, H., Dawicki, W., Zhang, X., Town, J. & Gordon, J. R. Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells Induce CD4+CD25hiFoxp3+ Regulatory T Cell Differentiation from CD4+CD25-/IoFoxp3- Effector T Cells. *J. Immunol.* 185, 5003–5010 (2010).
- 160. Zou, T., Caton, A. J., Koretzky, G. A. & Kambayashi, T. Dendritic Cells Induce Regulatory T Cell Proliferation through Antigen-Dependent and -Independent Interactions. *J. Immunol.* **185**, 2790–2799 (2010).
- Viney, J. L., Mowat, A. M., O'Malley, J. M., Williamson, E. & Fanger, N. A. Dendritic cells can present antigen in vivo in a tolerogenic or immunogenic fashion. *J. Immunol.* **157**, 1406–1414 (1998).
- 162. Ohnmacht, C. *et al.* Constitutive ablation of dendritic cells breaks selftolerance of CD4 T cells and results in spontaneous fatal autoimmunity. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 549–559 (2009).
- 163. Hawiger, D. *et al.* Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **194,** 769–79 (2001).
- 164. Probst, H. C., Lagnel, J., Kollias, G. & Van Den Broek, M. Inducible transgenic mice reveal resting dendritic cells as potent inducers of CD8+T cell tolerance. *Immunity* **18**, 713–720 (2003).

- 165. Manicassamy, S. & Pulendran, B. Dendritic cell control of tolerogenic responses. *Immunol. Rev.* **241**, 206–227 (2011).
- Selenko-Gebauer, N. *et al.* B7-H1 (Programmed Death-1 Ligand) on Dendritic Cells Is Involved in the Induction and Maintenance of T Cell Anergy. *J. Immunol.* **170**, 3637–3644 (2014).
- 167. Brown, J. A. *et al.* Blockade of Programmed Death-1 Ligands on Dendritic Cells Enhances T Cell Activation and Cytokine Production. *J. Immunol.* **170**, 1257–1266 (2003).
- 168. Pulko, V. *et al.* TLR3-stimulated dendritic cells up-regulate B7-H1 expression and influence the magnitude of CD8 T cell responses to tumor vaccination. *J. Immunol.* **183**, 3634–41 (2009).
- 169. Mayer, E. *et al.* CTLA4-Ig immunosuppressive activity at the level of dendritic cell/T cell crosstalk. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **15**, 638–645 (2013).
- 170. Loevenich, K. *et al.* DC-Derived IL-10 Modulates Pro-inflammatory Cytokine Production and Promotes Induction of CD4+IL-10+ Regulatory T Cells during Plasmodium yoelii Infection. *Front. Immunol.* **8**, 152 (2017).
- 171. Coombes, J. L. *et al.* A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**, 1757–1764 (2007).
- 172. van der Kleij, D. *et al.* A novel host-parasite lipid cross-talk. Schistosomal lyso-phosphatidylserine activates toll-like receptor 2 and affects immune polarization. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 48122–9 (2002).
- McGuirk, P., McCann, C. & Mills, K. H. G. Pathogen-specific T regulatory 1 cells induced in the respiratory tract by a bacterial molecule that stimulates interleukin 10 production by dendritic cells: a novel strategy for evasion of protective T helper type 1 responses by Bordetella pertussis. *J. Exp. Med.* **195**, 221–31 (2002).
- 174. Steinbrink, K., Wölfl, M., Jonuleit, H., Knop, J. & Enk, A. H. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* **159**, 4772–80 (1997).
- Lan, Y. Y. *et al.* 'Alternatively Activated' Dendritic Cells Preferentially Secrete IL-10, Expand Foxp3+CD4+ T Cells, and Induce Long-Term Organ Allograft Survival in Combination with CTLA4-Ig. *J. Immunol.* **177**, 5868– 5877 (2014).
- de Jong, E. C., Vieira, P. L., Kalinski, P. & Kapsenberg, M. L. Corticosteroids inhibit the production of inflammatory mediators in immature monocytederived DC and induce the development of tolerogenic DC3. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 66, 201–4 (1999).
- 177. Domogalla, M. P., Rostan, P. V, Raker, V. K. & Steinbrink, K. Tolerance through Education: How Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells Shape Immunity. *Front. Immunol.* **8**, 1764 (2017).
- 178. Naranjo-Gómez, M. *et al.* Comparative study of clinical grade human tolerogenic dendritic cells. *J. Transl. Med.* **9**, 89 (2011).
- 179. Raïch-Regué, D. *et al.* Stable antigen-specific T-cell hyporesponsiveness induced by tolerogenic dendritic cells from multiple sclerosis patients. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **42**, 771–782 (2012).
- 180. Bell, G. M., Anderson, A. E. & Diboll, J. Autologous tolerogenic dendritic

cells for rheumatoid and inflammatory arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* **76**, 227–234 (2017).

- Giannoukakis, N., Phillips, B., Finegold, D., Harnaha, J. & Trucco, M. Phase I (Safety) Study of Autologous Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells in Type 1 Diabetic Patients. *Diabetes Care* 34, 2026–2032 (2011).
- 182. Yee, N. K. & Hamerman, J. a. β2 integrins inhibit TLR responses by regulating NF-κB pathway and p38 MAPK activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 43, 779–92 (2013).
- 183. Han, C. *et al.* Integrin CD11b negatively regulates TLR-triggered inflammatory responses by activating Syk and promoting degradation of MyD88 and TRIF via Cbl-b. *Nat. Immunol.* **11**, 734–742 (2010).
- Bai, Y. *et al.* Integrin CD11b Negatively Regulates TLR9-Triggered Dendritic Cell Cross-Priming by Upregulating microRNA-146a. *J. Immunol.* 188, 5293–302 (2012).
- Ling, G. S. *et al.* Integrin CD11b positively regulates TLR4-induced signalling pathways in dendritic cells but not in macrophages. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3039 (2014).
- Morrison, V. L. *et al.* The beta2 integrin-kindlin-3 interaction is essential for T cell homing but dispensable for T cell activation in vivo. *Blood* **122**, 1428–1437 (2013).
- Nowatzky, J., Manches, O., Khan, S. A., Godefroy, E. & Bhardwaj, N. Modulation of human Th17 cell responses through complement receptor 3 (CD11 b/CD18) ligation on monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *J. Autoimmun.* 92, 57–66 (2018).
- 188. Gallucci, S. *et al.* Cells Suppresses Their Stimulatory Capacity Complement Receptor 3 Ligation of Dendritic. *J Immunol Ref.* (2007). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6268
- 189. Vantourout, P. & Hayday, A. Six-of-the-best: unique contributions of γδ T cells to immunology. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **13**, 88–100 (2013).
- 190. Girardi, M. *et al.* Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science* **294**, 605–609 (2001).
- 191. Petrie, H. T., Scollay, R. & Shortman, K. Commitment to the T cell receptorαβ or -γδ lineages can occur just prior to the onset of CD4 and CD8 expression among immature thymocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **22**, 2185–2188 (1992).
- 192. Dudley, E. C., Girardi, M., Owen, M. J. & Hayday, A. C. αβ and γδ T cells can share a late common precursor. *Curr. Biol.* **5**, 659–669 (1995).
- 193. Fahl, S. P., Coffey, F. & Wiest, D. L. Origins of γδ T Cell Effector Subsets: A Riddle Wrapped in an Enigma. *J. Immunol.* **193**, 4289–4294 (2014).
- 194. Gentek, R. *et al.* Epidermal γδ T cells originate from yolk sac hematopoiesis and clonally self-renew in the adult. *J. Exp. Med.* **215**, 2994–3005 (2018).
- 195. Xiong, N. & Raulet, D. H. Development and selection of gammadelta T cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **215**, 15–31 (2007).
- 196. Shibata, K. Close link between development and function of gamma-delta T cells. *Microbiol. Immunol.* **56**, 217–227 (2012).

- Havran, W. L. & Allison, J. P. Developmentally ordered appearance of thymocytes expressing different T-cell antigen receptors. *Nature* 335, 443– 445 (1988).
- 198. Itohara, S. *et al.* Homing of a gamma delta thymocyte subset with homogeneous T-cell receptors to mucosal epithelia. *Nature* **343**, 754–757 (1990).
- 199. Roark, C. L. *et al.* Subset-specific, uniform activation among V gamma 6/V delta 1+ gamma delta T cells elicited by inflammation. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **75**, 68–75 (2004).
- 200. Cai, Y. *et al.* Differential developmental requirement and peripheral regulation for dermal Vγ4 and Vγ6T17 cells in health and inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* **5**, 3986 (2014).
- 201. Pereira, P., Gerber, D., Huang, S. Y. & Tonegawa, S. Ontogenic development and tissue distribution of Vy1-expressing γ/δ T lymphocytes in normal mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 1921–1930 (1995).
- 202. Pereira, P., Lafaille, J. J., Gerber, D. & Tonegawa, S. The T cell receptor repertoire of intestinal intraepithelial gammadelta T lymphocytes is influenced by genes linked to the major histocompatibility complex and to the T cell receptor loci. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **94**, 5761–6 (1997).
- 203. Sumaria, N., Grandjean, C. L., Silva-Santos, B. & Pennington, D. J. Strong TCRγδ Signaling Prohibits Thymic Development of IL-17A-Secreting γδ T Cells. Cell Rep. 19, 2469–2476 (2017).
- 204. Naito, T., Shiohara, T., Hibi, T., Suematsu, M. & Ishikawa, H. RORγt is dispensable for the development of intestinal mucosal T cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* **1**, 198–207 (2008).
- 205. Jensen, K. D. C. *et al.* Thymic Selection Determines γδ T Cell Effector Fate: Antigen-Naive Cells Make Interleukin-17 and Antigen-Experienced Cells Make Interferon γ. *Immunity* **29**, 90–100 (2008).
- 206. Ribot, J. C. *et al.* CD27 is a thymic determinant of the balance between interferon-gamma- and interleukin 17-producing gammadelta T cell subsets. *Nat. Immunol.* **10**, 427–36 (2009).
- Barros-Martins, J. *et al.* Effector γδ T Cell Differentiation Relies on Master but Not Auxiliary Th Cell Transcription Factors. *J. Immunol.* **196**, 3642–3652 (2016).
- 208. Schmolka, N., Wencker, M., Hayday, A. C. & Silva-Santos, B. Epigenetic and transcriptional regulation of γδ T cell differentiation: Programming cells for responses in time and space. *Semin. Immunol.* **27**, 19–25 (2015).
- 209. Jin, Y. *et al.* Cutting Edge: Intrinsic Programming of Thymic γδ T Cells for Specific Peripheral Tissue Localization. *J. Immunol.* **185**, 7156–7160 (2010).
- Morales, J. *et al.* CTACK, a skin-associated chemokine that preferentially attracts skin-homing memory T cells. *Proc. Nail. Acad. Sci. USA* 96, 14470– 14475 (1999).
- 211. Wurbel, M.-A. *et al.* The chemokine TECK is expressed by thymic and intestinal epithelial cells and attracts double- and single-positive thymocytes expressing the TECK receptor CCR9. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **30**, 262–271 (2000).
- 212. Guy-Grand, D. et al. Origin, trafficking, and intraepithelial fate of gut-tropic T

cells. J. Exp. Med. 210, 1839–1854 (2013).

- 213. McKenzie, D. R. *et al.* IL-17-producing γδ T cells switch migratory patterns between resting and activated states. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 15632 (2017).
- Boyden, L. M. *et al.* Skint1, the prototype of a newly identified immunoglobulin superfamily gene cluster, positively selects epidermal γδ T cells. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 656–662 (2008).
- 215. Turchinovich, G. & Hayday, A. C. Skint-1 identifies a common molecular mechanism for the development of interferon-γ-secreting versus interleukin-17-secreting γδ T cells. *Immunity* **35**, 59–68 (2011).
- 216. Di Marco Barros, R. *et al.* Epithelia Use Butyrophilin-like Molecules to Shape Organ-Specific γδ T Cell Compartments. *Cell* **167**, 203–218.e17 (2016).
- 217. Melandri, D. *et al.* The γδTCR combines innate immunity with adaptive immunity by utilizing spatially distinct regions for agonist selection and antigen responsiveness. *Nat. Immunol.* **19**, 1352–1365 (2018).
- 218. Gray, E. E. *et al.* Deficiency in IL-17-committed Vγ4+γδ T cells in a spontaneous Sox13-mutant CD45.1+congenic mouse substrain provides protection from dermatitis. *Nat. Immunol.* **14**, 584–592 (2013).
- 219. Malhotra, N. *et al.* A network of high-mobility group box transcription factors programs innate interleukin-17 production. *Immunity* **38**, 681–693 (2013).
- 220. Wencker, M. *et al.* Innate-like T cells straddle innate and adaptive immunity by altering antigen-receptor responsiveness. *Nat. Immunol.* **15**, 80–87 (2014).
- 221. Muñoz-Ruiz, M. *et al.* TCR signal strength controls thymic differentiation of discrete proinflammatory γδ T cell subsets. *Nat. Immunol.* (2016). doi:10.1038/ni.3424
- 222. Carding, S. R., Egan, P. J., Walter, T. & Hall, E. γδ T Cells : Functional Plasticity and Heterogeneity. *Immunology* **2**, 336–345 (2002).
- 223. Silva-Santos, B., Serre, K. & Norell, H. γδ T cells in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **15**, 683–691 (2015).
- 224. Heilig, J. S. & Tonegawa, S. Diversity of murine gamma genes and expression in fetal and adult T lymphocytes. *Lett. to Nat.* **322**, 836–840 (1986).
- 225. Pereira, P. *et al.* Rearrangement and expression of Vy1, Vy2 and Vy3 TCR y genes in C57BL/6 mice. *Int. Immunol.* **8**, 83–90 (1996).
- 226. Newton, D. J., Andrew, E. M., Dalton, J. E., Mears, R. & Carding, S. R. Identification of Novel γδ T-Cell Subsets following Bacterial Infection in the Absence of Vγ1+ T Cells : Homeostatic Control of γδ T-Cell Responses to Pathogen Infection by Vγ1+ T Cells. *Infect. Immun.* **74**, 1097–1105 (2006).
- 227. Dimova, T. *et al.* Effector Vγ9Vδ2 T cells dominate the human fetal γδ T-cell repertoire. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **112**, E556-65 (2015).
- 228. Morita, C. T., Parker, C. M., Brenner, M. B. & Band, H. TCR usage and functional capabilities of human gamma delta T cells at birth. *J Immunol* **153**, 3979–3988 (1994).
- 229. Ribot, J. C., Ribeiro, S. T., Correia, D. V, Sousa, A. E. & Silva-Santos, B.

Human $\gamma\delta$ thymocytes are functionally immature and differentiate into cytotoxic type 1 effector T cells upon IL-2/IL-15 signaling. *J. Immunol.* **192**, 2237–43 (2014).

- 230. Parker, C. M. *et al.* Evidence for extrathymic changes in the T cell receptor gamma/delta repertoire. *J. Exp. Med.* **171**, 1597–612 (1990).
- 231. McVay, L. D. & Carding, S. R. Extrathymic origin of human gamma delta T cells during fetal development. *J. Immunol.* **157**, 2873–82 (1996).
- 232. McVay, L. D., Jaswal, S. S., Kennedey, C., Hayday, A. & Carding, S. R. The Generation of Human γδ T Cell Repertoires During Fetal Development. *J. Immunol.* **160**, 5851–5860 (1998).
- 233. Deusch, K. *et al.* A major fraction of human intraepithelial lymphocytes simultaneously expresses the γ/δ T cell receptor, the CD8 accessory molecule and preferentially uses the Vδ1 gene segment. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21, 1053–1059 (1991).
- Bonneville, M., O'Brien, R. L. & Born, W. K. γδ T cell effector functions: a blend of innate programming and acquired plasticity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 467–478 (2010).
- Michel, M. *et al.* Interleukin 7 (IL-7) selectively promotes mouse and human IL-17-producing γδ cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **109**, 17549–54 (2012).
- Caccamo, N. *et al.* Differentiation, phenotype, and function of interleukin-17producing human Vγ9Vδ2 T cells. *Blood* **118**, 129–38 (2011).
- 237. Fenoglio, D. *et al.* Vdelta1 T lymphocytes producing IFN-gamma and IL-17 are expanded in HIV-1-infected patients and respond to Candida albicans. *Blood* **113**, 6611–8 (2009).
- 238. Cai, Y. *et al.* Pivotal Role of Dermal IL-17-Producing γδ T Cells in Skin Inflammation. *Immunity* **35**, 596–610 (2011).
- 239. Peng, M. *et al.* Interleukin 17-Producing γδ T Cells Increased in Patients with Active Pulmonary Tuberculosis. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* **5**, 203–208 (2008).
- 240. Toulon, A. *et al.* A role for human skin–resident T cells in wound healing. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 743–750 (2009).
- 241. Poggi, A. et al. V1 T Lymphocytes from B-CLL Patients Recognize ULBP3 Expressed on Leukemic B Cells and Up-Regulated by Trans-Retinoic Acid. (2004).
- 242. Bauer, S. *et al.* Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science* **285**, 727–9 (1999).
- 243. Haas, J. D. *et al.* Development of Interleukin-17-Producing γδ T Cells Is Restricted to a Functional Embryonic Wave. *Immunity* **37**, 48–59 (2012).
- 244. Muschaweckh, A., Petermann, F. & Korn, T. IL-1β and IL-23 Promote Extrathymic Commitment of CD27+ CD122- γδ T Cells to γδT17 Cells. *J. Immunol.* **199**, 2668–2679 (2017).
- 245. Sandrock, I. *et al.* Genetic models reveal origin, persistence and nonredundant functions of IL-17-producing γδ T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **215**, 3006– 2018 (2018).

- 246. Laky, K., Lewis, J. M., Tigelaar, R. E. & Puddington, L. Distinct requirements for IL-7 in development of TCR gamma delta cells during fetal and adult life. *J. Immunol.* **170**, 4087–4094 (2003).
- 247. Corpuz, T. M. *et al.* Differential Responsiveness of Innate-like IL-17– and IFN-γ–Producing γδ T Cells to Homeostatic Cytokines. *J. Immunol.* **196**, 645–654 (2016).
- 248. Corpuz, T. M. *et al.* IL-2 Shapes the Survival and Plasticity of IL-17– Producing γδ T Cells. *J. Immunol.* **199**, 2366–2376 (2017).
- 249. Ribot, J. C., DeBarros, A., Mancio-Silva, L., Pamplona, A. & Silva-Santos, B. B7-CD28 Costimulatory Signals Control the Survival and Proliferation of Murine and Human γδ T Cells via IL-2 Production. *J. Immunol.* **189**, 1202– 1208 (2012).
- 250. Zeng, X. *et al.* γδ T Cells Recognize a Microbial Encoded B Cell Antigen to Initiate a Rapid Antigen-Specific Interleukin-17 Response. *Immunity* **37**, 524–534 (2012).
- 251. Dieude, M. *et al.* Cardiolipin Binds to CD1d and Stimulates CD1d-Restricted γδ T Cells in the Normal Murine Repertoire. *J. Immunol.* **186**, 4771–4781 (2011).
- 252. Johnson, J. A. *et al.* A murine CD4-, CD8-T cell receptor-gamma delta T lymphocyte clone specific for herpes simplex virus glycoprotein I. *J Immunol* **148**, 983–988 (1992).
- 253. Kobayashi, N. *et al.* V delta 5+ T cells of BALB/c mice recognize the murine heat shock protein 60 target cell specificity. *Immunology* **81**, 240–6 (1994).
- 254. Strid, J., Sobolev, O., Zafirova, B., Polic, B. & Hayday, A. The Intraepithelial T Cell Response to NKG2D-Ligands Links Lymphoid Stress Surveillance to Atopy. *Science (80-.).* **334,** 1293–1297 (2011).
- 255. Asarnow, D. M. *et al.* Limited diversity of gamma delta antigen receptor genes of Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells. *Cell* **55**, 837–847 (1988).
- 256. Dalessandri, T., Crawford, G., Hayes, M., Castro Seoane, R. & Strid, J. IL-13 from intraepithelial lymphocytes regulates tissue homeostasis and protects against carcinogenesis in the skin. *Nat. Commun.* **7**, 12080 (2016).
- 257. Kohlgruber, A. C. *et al.* γδ T cells producing interleukin-17A regulate adipose regulatory T cell homeostasis and thermogenesis. *Nat. Immunol.* **19**, (2018).
- 258. Ono, T. *et al.* IL-17-producing γδ T cells enhance bone regeneration. *Nat. Commun.* **7**, 10928 (2016).
- 259. Ismaili, J., Olislagers, V., Poupot, R., Fournié, J.-J. & Goldman, M. Human γδ T Cells Induce Dendritic Cell Maturation. *Clin. Immunol.* **103**, 296–302 (2002).
- Martino, A., Casetti, R., Alessandri, A. D. ', Sacchi, A. & Poccia, F. Complementary Function of γ δ T-Lymphocytes and Dendritic Cells in the Response to Isopentenyl-Pyrophosphate and Lipopolysaccharide Antigens. *J. Clin. Immunol.* 25, (2005).
- 261. Brandes, M., Willimann, K. & Moser, B. Professional Antigen-Presentation Function by Human γδ T Cells. *Science (80-.).* **309**, 264–268 (2005).
- 262. Cheng, L. et al. Mouse γδ T cells are capable of expressing MHC class II

molecules, and of functioning as antigen-presenting cells. *J. Neuroimmunol.* **203**, 3–11 (2008).

- 263. Rezende, R. M. *et al.* γδ T cells control humoral immune response by inducing T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Nat. Commun.* **9**, 3151 (2018).
- Wen, L. *et al.* Germinal center formation, immunoglobulin class switching, and autoantibody production driven by 'non alpha/beta'T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 183, 2271–82 (1996).
- 265. Mcmenamin, C., Pimm, C., McKersey, M. & Holt, P. G. Regulation of IgE Responses to Inhaled Antigen in Mice by Antigen-Specific γδ T Cells. *Sci. Reports* 265, 1869–1871 (1994).
- 266. Crawford, G. *et al.* Epithelial damage and tissue γδ T cells promote a unique tumor-protective IgE response. *Nat. Immunol.* **19**, 859–870 (2018).
- 267. Skillin, N. *et al.* γδ T cells control humoral immune response by inducing T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Nat. Commun.* **9**, (2018).
- Havran, W. L., Chien, Y. H. & Allison, J. P. Recognition of self antigens by skin-derived T cells with invariant gamma delta antigen receptors. *Science* (80-.). 252, 1430–1432 (1991).
- 269. Hayday, A. C. γδ T Cells and the Lymphoid Stress-Surveillance Response. *Immunity* **31**, 184–196 (2009).
- 270. Eagle, R. A. & Trowsdale, J. Promiscuity and the single receptor: NKG2D. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **7**, 737–744 (2007).
- 271. Cho, J. S. *et al.* IL-17 is essential for host defense and is efficacious as an immunotherapy against cutaneous Staphyloccocus aureus infection in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **120**, 1762–1773 (2010).
- 272. Sheridan, B. *et al.* γδ T Cells Exhibit Multifunctional and Protective Memory in Intestinal Tissues. *Immunity* **39**, 184–195 (2013).
- 273. Long, K. M. *et al.* γδ T Cells Play a Protective Role in Chikungunya Virus-Induced Disease. *J. Virol.* **90**, 433–443 (2015).
- 274. Dejima, T. *et al.* Protective Role of Naturally Occurring Interleukin-17A-Producing γδ T Cells in the Lung at the Early Stage of Systemic Candidiasis in Mice. *Infect. Immun.* **79**, 4503–4510 (2011).
- Nakasone, C., Yamamoto, N., Nakamatsu, M. & Kinjo, T. Accumulation of gamma / delta T cells in the lungs and their roles in neutrophil-mediated host defense against pneumococcal infection. *Microbes Infect.* 9, 251–258 (2007).
- 276. Street, S. E. A. *et al.* Innate Immune Surveillance of Spontaneous B Cell Lymphomas by Natural Killer Cells and γδ T Cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **199**, 879– 884 (2004).
- 277. Lanca, T. *et al.* Protective Role of the Inflammatory CCR2/CCL2 Chemokine Pathway through Recruitment of Type 1 Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes to Tumor Beds. *J. Immunol.* **190**, 6673–6680 (2013).
- 278. Gogoi, D. & Chiplunkar, S. V. Targeting gamma delta T cells for cancer immunotherapy : bench to bedside. *Indian J. Med. Res.* **138**, 755–761 (2013).

- 279. He, W. *et al.* Naturally Activated Vγ4 γδ T Cells Play a Protective Role in Tumor Immunity Through Expression of Eomesodermin1. *J Immunol* **185**, 1– 18 (2010).
- 280. Gao, Y. *et al.* γδ T Cells Provide an Early Source of Interferon γ in Tumor Immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* **198**, 433–442 (2003).
- 281. Riond, J., Rodriguez, S., Nicolau, M.-L., al Saati, T. & Gairin, J. E. In vivo major histocompatibility complex class I (MHCI) expression on MHCIlow tumor cells is regulated by gammadelta T and NK cells during the early steps of tumor growth. *Cancer Immun.* 9, 10 (2009).
- 282. Coffelt, S. B. *et al.* IL-17-producing γδ T cells and neutrophils conspire to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* **522**, 345–8 (2015).
- 283. Rei, M. *et al.* Murine CD27(-) Vγ6(+) γδ T cells producing IL-17A promote ovarian cancer growth via mobilization of protumor small peritoneal macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **111**, E3562-70 (2014).
- 284. Ma, S. *et al.* IL-17A produced by γδ T cells promotes tumor growth in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* **74**, 1969–1982 (2014).
- 285. Takeuchi, A. *et al.* IL-17 production by γδ T cells is important for the antitumor effect of Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette-Guerin treatment against bladder cancer. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **41**, 246–251 (2011).
- 286. Ma, C. *et al.* Tumor-Infiltrating γδ T Lymphocytes Predict Clinical Outcome in Human Breast Cancer. *J. Immunol.* **189**, 5029–5036 (2012).
- 287. Gentles, A. J. *et al.* The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. *Nat. Med.* **21**, 938–945 (2015).
- 288. Meraviglia, S. *et al.* In vivo manipulation of Vγ9Vδ2 T cells with zoledronate and low-dose interleukin-2 for immunotherapy of advanced breast cancer patients. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **161**, no-no (2010).
- 289. Wilhelm, M. *et al.* T cells for immune therapy of patients with lymphoid malignancies. **102**, 200–206 (2003).
- 290. Dieli, F. *et al.* Induction of gammadelta T-lymphocyte effector functions by bisphosphonate zoledronic acid in cancer patients in vivo. *Blood* **102**, 2310–1 (2003).
- 291. Lang, J. M. *et al.* Pilot trial of interleukin-2 and zoledronic acid to augment γδ T cells as treatment for patients with refractory renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* **60**, 1447–1460 (2011).
- 292. Siegers, G. M. & Lamb, L. S. Cytotoxic and Regulatory Properties of Circulating Vδ1+ γδ T Cells: A New Player on the Cell Therapy Field? *Mol. Ther.* 22, 1416–1422 (2014).
- Graf, B., Bushnell, T. & Miller, J. LFA-1-mediated T cell costimulation through increased localization of TCR/class II complexes to the cSMAC and exclusion of CD45 from the immunological synapse. *J Immunol* **179**, 1616– 1624 (2007).
- 294. Dong, P. *et al.* Global characterization of differential gene expression profiles in mouse Vγ1+ and Vγ4+ γδ T cells. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- 295. Wolher, J. E., Smith, S. S., Zinn, K. R., Bullard, D. C. & Barnum, S. R. Gamma delta T cells in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis: Early

Trafficking Events and Cytokine Requirements. *Eur J Immunol.* **39**, 1516–1526 (2009).

- 296. Gatzka, M. *et al.* Reduction of CD18 promotes expansion of inflammatory gammadelta T cells collaborating with CD4+ T cells in chronic murine psoriasiform dermatitis. *J Immunol* **191**, 5477–5488 (2013).
- 297. Oreshkova, T. *et al.* B2 Integrin deficiency yields unconventional doublenegative T cells distinct from mature classical natural killer T cells in mice. *Immunology* **128**, 271–286 (2009).
- Mohagheghpour, N., Bermudez, L. E., Khajavi, S. & Rivas, A. The VLA-4/VCAM-1 molecules participate in γδ cell interaction with endothelial cells. *Cell. Immunol.* 143, 170–182 (1992).
- 299. Arancia, G. et al. Morphology and growth features of γ/δ T cell receptors. Eur. J. Immunol **21**, (1991).
- Wang, P. & Malkovsky, M. Different roles of the CD2 and LFA-1 T-cell coreceptors for regulating cytotoxic, proliferative, and cytokine responses of human V gamma 9/V delta 2 T cells. *Mol. Med.* 6, 196–207 (2000).
- 301. Liu, Z., Guo, B. & Lopez, R. D. Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 or ICAM-2 is critical in determining sensitivity of pancreatic cancer cells to cytolysis by human γδ-T cells: Implications in the design of γδ-T-cellbased immunotherapies for pancreatic cancer. *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 24, 900–911 (2009).
- 302. Moutsopoulos, N. *et al.* Defective Neutrophil Recruitment in Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency Type I Disease Causes Local IL-17-driven Inflammatory Bone Loss. *Sci Transl Med* **6**, 1–21 (2014).
- 303. Stark, M. A. *et al.* Phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils regulates granulopoiesis via IL-23 and IL-17. *Immunity* **22**, 285–294 (2005).
- 304. Sims, T. N. & Dustin, M. L. The immunological synapse: integrins take the stage. *Immunol. Rev.* **186**, 100–17 (2002).
- 305. Barnden, M. J., Allison, J., Heath, W. R. & Carbone, F. R. Defective TCR expression in transgenic mice constructed using cDNA-based alpha- and beta-chain genes under the control of heterologous regulatory elements. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **76**, 34–40 (1998).
- Benson, R. A., Lawton, J. C. & Macleod, M. K. L. T Cell Response in the Lung Following Influenza Virus Infection. *Methods Mol Biol.* 1591, 235–248 (2017).
- 307. Mizraji, G., Segev, H., Wilensky, A. & Hovav, A.-H. Isolation, Processing and Analysis of Murine Gingival Cells. *J. Vis. Exp.* **77**, e50388 (2013).
- 308. Truett, G. E. *et al.* Preparation of PCR-quality mouse genomic dna with hot sodium hydroxide and tris (HotSHOT). *Biotechniques* **29**, 52–54 (2000).
- 309. Mahajan, V. S. *et al.* Striking Immune Phenotypes in Gene-Targeted Mice Are Driven by a Copy-Number Variant Originating from a Commercially Available C57BL/6 Strain. *Cell Rep.* 1–9 (2016). doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.080
- 310. Yasuda, K. *et al.* Interferon regulatory factor-5 deficiency ameliorates disease severity in the MRL/lpr mouse model of lupus in the absence of a mutation in DOCK2. *PLoS One* **9**, 1–11 (2014).

- 311. Andrew, E. M. *et al.* Delineation of the function of a major gamma delta T cell subset during infection. *J Immunol* **175**, 1741–1750 (2005).
- 312. Savina, A. & Amigorena, S. Phagocytosis and antigen presentation in dendritic cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **219**, 143–156 (2007).
- 313. Thompson, A. G. & Thomas, R. Induction of immune tolerance by dendritic cells: Implications for preventative and therapeutic immunotherapy of autoimmune disease. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **80**, 509–519 (2002).
- 314. Doan, T., McNally, A., Thomas, R. & Steptoe, R. J. Steady-state dendritic cells continuously inactivate T cells that escape thymic negative selection. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **87**, 615–22 (2009).
- Cerovic, V., Bain, C. C., Mowat, A. M. & Milling, S. W. F. Intestinal macrophages and dendritic cells: What's the difference? *Trends Immunol.* 35, 270–277 (2014).
- 316. Bhattacharya, P., Gopisetty, A., Ganesh, B. B., Sheng, J. R. & Prabhakar, B. S. GM-CSF-induced, bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells can expand natural Tregs and induce adaptive Tregs by different mechanisms. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 89, 235–49 (2011).
- Purtha, W. E., Swiecki, M., Colonna, M., Diamond, M. S. & Bhattacharya, D. Spontaneous mutation of the Dock2 gene in Irf5-/- mice complicates interpretation of type I interferon production and antibody responses. **109**, (2012).
- 318. Oliver, A. M., Martin, F., Gartland, G. L., Carter, R. H. & Kearney, J. F. Marginal zone B cells exhibit unique activation, proliferative and immunoglobulin secretory responses. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **27**, 2366–2374 (1997).
- 319. Fukui, Y. *et al.* Haematopoietic cell-specific CDM family protein DOCK2 is essential for lymphocyte migration. *Nature* **412**, 826–831 (2001).
- Morrison, V. L., Uotila, L. M., Llort Asens, M., Savinko, T. & Fagerholm, S. C. Optimal T Cell Activation and B Cell Antibody Responses In Vivo Require the Interaction between Leukocyte Function-Associated Antigen-1 and Kindlin-3. *J. Immunol.* **195**, 105–115 (2015).
- 321. Jiang, H. *et al.* Deletion of DOCK2, a regulator of the actin cytoskeleton in lymphocytes, suppresses cardiac allograft rejection. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 1121–1130 (2005).
- Ackerknecht, M. *et al.* Antigen Availability and DOCK2-Driven Motility Govern CD4 ⁺ T Cell Interactions with Dendritic Cells In Vivo. *J. Immunol.* **199**, 520–530 (2017).
- Fontenot, J. D., Gavin, M. A. & Rudensky, A. Y. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 330–336 (2003).
- 324. Zelenay, S. *et al.* Foxp3+ CD25- CD4 T cells constitute a reservoir of committed regulatory cells that regain CD25 expression upon homeostatic expansion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **102**, 4091–4096 (2005).
- 325. Marski, M., Kandula, S., Turner, J. R. & Abraham, C. CD18 is required for optimal development and function of CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. *J. Immunol.* **175**, 7889–7897 (2005).

- 326. Wang, H. *et al.* TGF-β–dependent suppressive function of Tregs requires wild-type levels of CD18 in a mouse model of psoriasis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **118**, 2629–2639 (2008).
- Gotoh, K. *et al.* Differential requirement for DOCK2 in migration of plasmacytoid dendritic cells versus myeloid dendritic cells. *Blood* 111, 2973– 6 (2008).
- 328. Leger, P. *et al.* Dendritic Cells Production by Murine Plasmacytoid CD28 Deficiency Enhances Type I IFN. *J Immunol* **196**, 1900–1909 (2016).
- 329. Bose, T. O. *et al.* CD11a regulates effector CD8 T cell differentiation and central memory development in response to infection with Listeria monocytogenes. *Infect. Immun.* **81**, 1140–51 (2013).
- 330. Sanui, T. *et al.* DOCK2 Is Essential for Antigen-Induced Translocation of TCR and Lipid Rafts, but Not PKC-θ and LFA-1, in T Cells. *Immunity* **19**, 119–129 (2003).
- Li, D., Molldrem, J. J. & Ma, Q. LFA-1 regulates CD8+ T cell activation via T cell receptor-mediated and LFA-1-mediated Erk1/2 signal pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 21001–21010 (2009).
- 332. Swiecki, M. & Colonna, M. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **15**, 471–485 (2015).
- 333. Kanada, S. *et al.* Critical role of transcription factor PU.1 in the expression of CD80 and CD86 on dendritic cells. *Blood* **177**, 2211–2222 (2011).
- 334. Sadeghi, K. *et al.* GM-CSF down-regulates TLR expression via the transcription factor PU.1 in human monocytes. *PLoS One* **11**, (2016).
- 335. Rieske, P. & Pongubala, J. M. AKT induces transcriptional activity of PU.1 through phosphorylation-mediated modifications within its transactivation domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 8460–8 (2001).
- Choi, Y.-E., Yu, H.-N., Yoon, C.-H. & Bae, Y.-S. Tumor-mediated downregulation of MHC class II in DC development is attributable to the epigenetic control of the CIITA type I promoter. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **39**, 858– 868 (2009).
- 337. Helft, J. *et al.* GM-CSF Mouse Bone Marrow Cultures Comprise a Heterogeneous Population of CD11c(+)MHCII(+) Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* **42**, 1197–211 (2015).
- 338. Hepworth, M. R. *et al.* Innate lymphoid cells regulate CD4 + T cell responses to intestinal commensal bacteria. *Nature* **498**, 113–117 (2013).
- 339. Dubrot, J. *et al.* Lymph node stromal cells acquire peptide–MHCII complexes from dendritic cells and induce antigen-specific CD4+ T cell tolerance. *J. Exp. Med.* **211**, 1153–1166 (2014).
- 340. Ramos, T. N., Bullard, D. C. & Barnum, S. R. ICAM-1: isoforms and phenotypes. *J. Immunol.* **192**, 4469–74 (2014).
- 341. King, P. D. *et al.* Novel Isoforms of Murine Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Generated by Alernative RNA Splicing. *J. Immunol.* **4**, 6080–6093 (1995).
- 342. Diamond, M. S., Staunton, D. E., Marlin, S. D. & Springer, T. A. Binding of the integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) to the third immunoglobulin-like domain of ICAM-1 (CD54) and its regulation by glycosylation. *Cell* **65**, 961–971 (1991).

- 343. Uotila, L. M., Aatonen, M. & Gahmberg, C. G. Integrin CD11c/CD18 α-chain phosphorylation is functionally important. *J. Biol. Chem.* **288**, 33494–33499 (2013).
- 344. Bullard, D. C. *et al.* A polygenic mouse model of psoriasiform skin disease in CD18-deficient mice. *Med. Sci.* **93**, 2116–2121 (1996).
- 345. Mouse : Decision tree for blood sampling | NC3Rs. Available at: https://nc3rs.org.uk/mouse-decision-tree-blood-sampling. (Accessed: 11th May 2019)
- 346. Paget, C. *et al.* CD3(bright) signals on γδ T cells identify IL-17A-producing Vγ6Vδ1(+) T cells. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **93**, 198–212 (2014).
- Kawaguchi, M. *et al.* Cytolytic activity of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes in germ-free mice is strain dependent and determined by T cells expressing gamma delta T-cell antigen receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 90, 8591–4 (1993).
- 348. Bullard, D. C. *et al.* Expression of a single ICAM-1 isoform on T cells is sufficient for development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* **44**, 1194–1199 (2014).
- 349. Kyes, S., Carew, E., Carding, S. R., Janeway Jr., C. A. & Hayday, A. Diversity in T-cell receptor gamma gene usage in intestinal epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86, 5527–5531 (1989).
- Shibata, K. *et al.* Identification of CD25+ γδ T Cells As Fetal Thymus-Derived Naturally Occurring IL-17 Producers. *J. Immunol.* **181**, 5940–5947 (2008).
- Fleming, C. *et al.* Microbiota-activated CD103+ DCs stemming from microbiota adaptation specifically drive γδT17 proliferation and activation. *Microbiome* 5, 46 (2017).
- 352. Takatori, H. *et al.* Lymphoid tissue inducer–like cells are an innate source of IL-17 and IL-22. *J. Exp. Med.* **206**, 35–41 (2009).
- 353. Passos, S. T. *et al.* IL-6 Promotes NK Cell Production of IL-17 during Toxoplasmosis. *J. Immunol.* **184,** 1776–1783 (2010).
- 354. Spits, H. *et al.* Innate lymphoid cells-a proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **13**, 145–149 (2013).
- 355. Polese, B. *et al.* Accumulation of IL-17+Vγ6+γδ T cells in pregnant mice is not associated with spontaneous abortion. *Clin. Transl. Immunol.* **7**, (2018).
- 356. Song, Z. H. *et al.* Seminal plasma induces inflammation in the uterus through the γδT/IL-17 pathway. *Sci. Rep.* **6**, 1–8 (2016).
- 357. Ostojic, S. *et al.* Demonstration of the presence of IL-16, IL-17 and IL-18 at the murine fetomaternal interface during murine pregnancy. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* **49**, 101–112 (2003).
- 358. Madera, R. F., Wang, J. P. & Libraty, D. H. The Combination of Early and Rapid Type I IFN, IL-1α, and IL-1β Production Are Essential Mediators of RNA-Like Adjuvant Driven CD4+ Th1 Responses. *PLoS One* 6, e29412 (2011).
- 359. Sareneva, T., Matikainen, S., Kurimoto, M. & Julkunen, I. Influenza A virusinduced IFN-alpha/beta and IL-18 synergistically enhance IFN-gamma gene

expression in human T cells. J. Immunol. 160, 6032-8 (1998).

- 360. Hamon, Y. *et al.* Interleukin-1beta Secretion Is Impaired by Inhibitors of the Atp Binding Cassette Transporter, ABC1. *Blood* **90**, 2911–2915 (2000).
- Oppmann, B. *et al.* Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. *Immunity* 13, 715–725 (2000).
- 362. Yang, X. O. *et al.* Molecular Antagonism and Plasticity of Regulatory and Inflammatory T Cell Programs. *Immunity* **29**, 44–56 (2008).
- Ito, K. *et al.* Different gamma delta T-cell receptors are expressed on thymocytes at different stages of development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 86, 631–635 (1989).
- 364. Krishnan, S. *et al.* Amphiregulin-producing γδ T cells are vital for safeguarding oral barrier immune homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **115**, 10738–10743 (2018).
- 365. Barlow, S. C. *et al.* Development of dermatitis in CD18-deficient PL/J mice is not dependent on bacterial flora, and requires both CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Int. Immunol.* **16**, 345–351 (2004).
- 366. Maraskovsky, E., Troutt, A. B. & Kelso, A. Co-engagement of CD3 with LFA-1 or ICAM-1 adhesion molecules enhances the frequency of activation of single murine CD4+and CD8+T cells and induces synthesis of IL-3 and IFNγ but not IL-4 or IL-6. *Int. Immunol.* **4**, 475–485 (1992).
- 367. Chirathaworn, C., Tibbetts, S. A., Chan, M. A. & Benedict, S. H. Crosslinking of ICAM-1 on T cells induces transient tyrosine phosphorylation and inactivation of cdc2 kinase. *J Immunol* **155**, 5479–5482 (1995).
- 368. Mobley, J. L. & Dailey, M. O. Regulation of adhesion molecule expression by CD8 T cells in vivo. I. Differential regulation of gp90MEL-14 (LECAM-1), Pgp-1, LFA-1, and VLA-4 alpha during the differentiation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes induced by allografts. *J. Immunol.* **148**, 2348–56 (1992).
- 369. Paine, R. I., Christensen, P., Toews, G. B. & Simon, R. H. Regulation of alveolar epithelial cell ICAM-I by cell shape and cell-cell interactions expression. *Am.J.Physiol* **266**, L476-484 (1994).
- 370. Petrovich, E. *et al.* Lung ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 support spontaneous intravascular effector lymphocyte entrapment but are not required for neutrophil entrapment or emigration inside endotoxin-inflamed lungs. *FASEB J.* **30**, 1767–1778 (2016).
- 371. Perry, L. L., Feilzer, K., Portis, J. L., Harlan, D. & Caldwell, H. D. Distinct Homing Pathways Direct T Lymphocytes to the Genital and Intestinal Mucosae in Chlamydia-Infected ice. *J Immunol* **160**, 2905–2914 (1998).
- 372. Fine, J. S. & Kruisbeek, A. M. The role of LFA-1/ICAM-1 interactions during murine T lymphocyte development. *J. Immunol.* **147**, 2852–9 (1991).
- 373. Shier, P. *et al.* Impaired immune responses toward alloantigens and tumor cells but normal thymic selection in mice deficient in the beta2 integrin leukocyte function-associated antigen-1. *J Immunol* **157**, 5375–5386 (1996).
- Wada, K., Kina, T., Kawamoto, H., Kondo, M. & Katsura, Y. Requirement of cell interactions through adhesion molecules in the early phase of T cell development. *Cell. Immunol.* **170**, 11–19 (1996).

- 375. Do, J. *et al.* Cutting edge: spontaneous development of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells in the thymus occurs via a TGF-beta 1-dependent mechanism. *J. Immunol.* **184,** 1675–1679 (2010).
- 376. Ribot, J. C. *et al.* Cutting Edge: Adaptive Versus Innate Receptor Signals Selectively Control the Pool Sizes of Murine IFN-γ- or IL-17-Producing γδ T Cells upon Infection. *J. Immunol.* **185**, 6421–6425 (2010).
- 377. Fujikado, N. *et al.* Aire Inhibits the Generation of a Perinatal Population of Interleukin-17A-Producing $\gamma\delta$ T Cells to Promote Immunologic Tolerance. *Immunity* **45**, 999–1012 (2016).
- 378. Hassane, M. *et al.* Neutrophilic NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent IL-1β secretion regulates the γδT17 cell response in respiratory bacterial infections. *Mucosal Immunol.* **10**, 1056–1068 (2017).
- 379. Chetoui, N., Boisvert, M., Gendron, S. & Aoudjit, F. Interleukin-7 promotes the survival of human CD4+effector/memory T cells by up-regulating Bcl-2 proteins and activating the JAK/STAT signalling pathway. *Immunology* **130**, 418–426 (2010).
- 380. Matsumoto, Y. *et al.* Co-stimulation with LFA-1 triggers apoptosis in gamma delta T cells on T cell receptor engagement. *Eur. J Immunol* **24**, 2441–2445 (1994).
- 381. Kobayashi, N. *et al.* A sustained increase of cytosolic ca2+ in γδ T cells triggered by co-stimulation via TCR/CD3 and LFA-1. *Cell Calcium* 22, 421– 430 (1997).
- 382. Pereira, P. *et al.* Blockade of Transgenic Gamma-Delta-T-Cell Development in Beta-2-Microglobulin Deficient Mice. *Embo J.* **11**, 25–31 (1992).
- 383. Prinz, I. *et al.* Visualization of the earliest steps of gammadelta T cell development in the adult thymus. *Nat. Immunol.* **7**, 995–1003 (2006).
- 384. Kreslavsky, T., Garbe, A. I., Krueger, A. & von Boehmer, H. T cell receptor– instructed $\alpha\beta$ versus $\gamma\delta$ lineage commitment revealed by single-cell analysis. *J. Exp. Med.* **205**, 1173–1186 (2008).
- 385. Gerdes, J. *et al.* Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki67. *J Immunol* **133**, 1710–1715 (1984).
- 386. Sutton, C. E. *et al.* Interleukin-1 and IL-23 Induce Innate IL-17 Production from γδ T Cells, Amplifying Th17 Responses and Autoimmunity. *Immunity* 31, 331–341 (2009).
- Wu, H. *et al.* Host Resistance of CD18 Knockout Mice against Systemic Infection with Listeria monocytogenes. *Infect. Immun.* **71**, 5986–5993 (2003).
- 388. Hayes, S. M., Sirr, A., Jacob, S., Sim, G. K. & Augustin, A. Role of IL-7 in the shaping of the pulmonary gamma delta T cell repertoire. *J Immunol* **156**, 2723–2729 (1996).
- Akashi, K., Kondo, M., Von Freeden-Jeffry, U., Murray, R. & Weissman, I. L. Bcl-2 rescues T lymphopoiesis in Interleukin-7 receptor-deficient mice. *Cell* 89, 1033–1041 (1997).
- 390. Kim, K. *et al.* Characterization of an interleukin-7-dependent thymic cell line derived from a p53-/-mouse. *J. Immunol. Methods* **274**, 177–184 (2003).

- 391. Vermes, I., Haanen, C., Steffens-Nakken, H. & Reutelingsperger, C. A novel assay for apoptosis Flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine early apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled expression on Annexin V. *J. Immunol. Methods* **184**, 39–51 (1995).
- 392. Schmid, I., Krall, W. J., Uiteenbogaart, C. H., Braun, J. & Giorgi, J. V. Dead Cell Discrimination With 7-Amino-Actinomycin D in Combination With Dual Color Immunof luorescence in Single Laser Flow Cytometry. *Cytometry* 208, 204–208 (1992).
- 393. Schmid, I., Uittenbogaart, C. H. & Giorgi, J. V. Sensitive method for measuring apoptosis and cell surface phenotype in human thymocytes by flow cytometry. *Cytometry* **15**, 12–20 (1994).
- 394. Dhein, J., Walczak, H., Baumler, C., Debatin, K.-M. & Krammer, P. H. Autocrine T-cell suicide mediated by APO-1/(Fas/CD95). *Lett. to Nat.* **373**, 438–441 (1995).
- 395. Hughes, D. P., Hayday, A., Craft, J. E., Owen, M. J. & Crispe, I. N. T cells with gamma/delta T cell receptors (TCR) of intestinal type are preferentially expanded in TCR-alpha-deficient lpr mice. *J Exp Med* **182**, 233–241 (1995).
- 396. Singer, K. H., Denning, S. M., Whichard, L. P. & Haynes, B. F. Thymocyte LFA-1 and thymic epithelial cell ICAM-1 molecules mediate binding of activated human thymocytes to thymic epithelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 144, 2931–2939 (1990).
- 397. Nitta, T. *et al.* The thymic cortical epithelium determines the TCR repertoire of IL-17-producing T cells. *EMBO Rep.* **16**, 638–653 (2015).
- 398. Stervbo, U. *et al.* Age dependent differences in the kinetics of γδ T cells after influenza vaccination. *PLoS One* **12**, 1–14 (2017).
- 399. Miller, I. *et al.* Ki67 is a Graded Rather than a Binary Marker of Proliferation versus Quiescence. *Cell Rep.* **24**, 1105–1112.e5 (2018).
- 400. Moreno-Layseca, P. & Streuli, C. H. Signalling pathways linking integrins with cell cycle progression. *Matrix Biol.* **34**, 144–153 (2014).
- Jones, M. C., Askari, J. A., Humphries, J. D. & Humphries, M. J. Cell adhesion is regulated by CDK1 during the cell cycle. *J. Cell Biol.* 217, 3203– 3218 (2018).
- 402. McKenzie, D. R. *et al.* IL-17-producing γδ T cells switch migratory patterns between resting and activated states. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 15632 (2017).
- 403. Forlow, S. B. *et al.* Increased granulopoiesis through interleukin-17 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in leukocyte adhesion molecule deficient mice. *North* **98**, 3309–3314 (2001).
- 404. Lin, J. *et al.* The Role of Shared Receptor Motifs and Common Stat Proteins in the Generation of Cytokine Pleiotropy. *Immunity* **2**, 331–339 (1995).
- 405. Palmer, M. J., Mahajan, V. S., Chen, J., Irvine, D. J. & Lauffenburger, D. A. Signaling thresholds govern heterogeneity in IL-7-receptor-mediated responses of nave CD8 T cells. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **89**, 581–594 (2011).
- 406. Simonetta, F. *et al.* Increased CD127 expression on activated FOXP3+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **40**, 2528–2538 (2010).
- 407. Nakamura, M. et al. A Genome-Wide Analysis Identifies a Notch-RBP-Jĸ-IL-

7Rα Axis That Controls IL-17-Producing γδ T Cell Homeostasis in Mice. *J. Immunol.* **194**, 243–51 (2015).

- 408. Gatzka, M. *et al.* Reduction of CD18 Promotes Expansion of Inflammatory γδ T Cells Collaborating with CD4+ T Cells in Chronic Murine Psoriasiform Dermatitis. *J. Immunol.* **191**, 5477–5488 (2013).
- 409. Elmore, S. Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. *Toxicol Pathol* **35**, 495–516 (2007).
- 410. Fulda, S. & Debatin, K. M. Extrinsic versus intrinsic apoptosis pathways in anticancer chemotherapy. *Oncogene* **25**, 4798–4811 (2006).
- 411. Sun, X. *et al.* CD30L/CD30 is critical for maintenance of IL-17A-producing γδ T cells bearing Vγ6 in mucosa-associated tissues in mice. *Mucosal Immunol.* **6**, 1191–1201 (2013).
- 412. Hamada, S. *et al.* Importance of murine Vdelta1gammadelta T cells expressing interferon-gamma and interleukin-17A in innate protection against Listeria monocytogenes infection. *Immunology* **125**, 170–7 (2008).
- 413. Schneeberger, E. E., Vu, Q., LeBlanc, B. W. & Doerschuk, C. M. The Accumulation of Dendritic Cells in the Lung Is Impaired in CD18-/- But Not in ICAM-1-/- Mutant Mice. *J. Immunol.* **164**, 2472–2478 (2000).
- 414. Moran, A. E. *et al.* T cell receptor signal strength in Treg and iNKT cell development demonstrated by a novel fluorescent reporter mouse. *J Exp Med* **208**, 1279–1289 (2011).
- Au-Yeung, B. B. *et al.* Quantitative and temporal requirements revealed for Zap70 catalytic activity during T cell development. *Nat. Immunol.* **15**, 687– 694 (2014).
- 416. Amodio, G. & Gregori, S. Dendritic cells a double-edge sword in autoimmune responses. *Front. Immunol.* **3**, 233 (2012).
- 417. French, J. D., Roark, C. L., Born, W. K. & O'Brien, R. L. γδ T cell homeostasis is established in competition with αβ T cells and NK cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **102**, 14741–14746 (2005).
- 418. Do, J., Visperas, A., O'Brien, R. L. & Min, B. CD4 T cells play important roles in maintaining IL-17-producing γδ T cell subsets in naïve animals. *Immunol Cell Biol* **90**, 396–403 (2012).
- 419. Payer, E., Elbe, A. & Stingl, G. Circulating CD3+/T cell receptor V gamma 3+ fetal murine thymocytes home to the skin and give rise to proliferating dendritic epidermal T cells. *J. Immunol.* **146**, 2536–43 (1991).
- 420. Cheng, P. *et al.* Role of gamma-delta T cells in host response against Staphylococcus aureus-induced pneumonia. *BMC Immunol.* **13**, 38 (2012).
- 421. Murphy, A. G. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus infection of mice expands a population of memory γδ T cells that are protective against subsequent infection. *Journal of Immunology* **192**, 4588 (2014).
- 422. Kulig, P. *et al.* IL-12 protects from psoriasiform skin inflammation. *Nat. Commun.* **7**, 13466 (2016).
- 423. Akitsu, A. *et al.* IL-1 receptor antagonist-deficient mice develop autoimmune arthritis due to intrinsic activation of IL-17-producing CCR2+Vγ6+γδ T cells. *Nat. Commun.* **6**, 7464 (2015).

- 424. Li, J., Liu, J., Mao, X., Tang, Q. & Lu, H. IL-7 Receptor Blockade Inhibits IL-17-Producing γδ Cells and Suppresses Melanoma Development. *Inflammation* **37**, 1444–1452 (2014).
- 425. Dalton, J. E., Howell, G., Pearson, J., Scott, P. & Carding, S. R. Fas-Fas Ligand Interactions Are Essential for the Binding to and Killing of Activated Macrophages by γδ T Cells. *J. Immunol.* **173**, 3660–3667 (2004).
- 426. Prinz, I., Silva-Santos, B. & Pennington, D. J. Functional development of γδ T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **43**, 1988–1994 (2013).
- 427. In, T. S. H. *et al.* HEB is required for the specification of fetal IL-17producing γδ T cells. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 2004 (2017).
- 428. Sumaria, N. *et al.* Strong TCR gd Signaling Prohibits Thymic Development of IL-17A-Secreting γδ T Cells Report Strong TCR gd Signaling Prohibits Thymic Development of IL-17A-Secreting gd T Cells. *Cell Rep.* **19**, 2469– 2476 (2017).
- 429. Hao, J. *et al.* Regulatory Role of Vγ1 γδ T Cells in Tumor Immunity through IL-4 Production. *J. Immunol.* **187**, 4979–4986 (2011).
- Dodd, J., Riffault, S., Kodituwakku, J. S., Hayday, A. C. & Openshaw, P. J. M. Pulmonary V gamma 4+ gamma delta T cells have proinflammatory and antiviral effects in viral lung disease. *J. Immunol.* **182**, 1174–81 (2009).
- 431. Fernanda de Souza Costa, M. *et al.* Murine IL-17+ Vγ4 T lymphocytes accumulate in the lungs and play a protective role during severe sepsis. *BMC Immunol.* **16**, 36 (2015).
- 432. Hartwig, T., Pantelyushin, S., Croxford, A. L., Kulig, P. & Becher, B. Dermal IL-17-producing γδ T cells establish long-lived memory in the skin. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **45**, 3022–3033 (2015).
- 433. Ramírez-Valle, F., Gray, E. E. & Cyster, J. G. Inflammation induces dermal Vγ4+ γδT17 memory-like cells that travel to distant skin and accelerate secondary IL-17-driven responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **112**, 8046–8051 (2015).
- 434. Ness-Schwickerath, K. J., Jin, C. & Morita, C. T. Cytokine Requirements for the Differentiation and Expansion of IL-17A– and IL-22–Producing Human Vγ2Vδ2 T Cells. *J. Immunol.* **184**, 7268–7280 (2010).
- 435. Yonekawa, K. & Harlan, J. M. Targeting leukocyte integrins in human diseases. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **77**, 129–140 (2004).
- 436. Zimmerer, J. M. *et al.* Inhibition of Recall Responses through Complementary Therapies Targeting CD8 ⁺ T-Cell- and Alloantibody-Dependent Allocytotoxicity in Sensitized Transplant Recipients. *Cell Transplant.* 22, 1157–1169 (2013).
- 437. Tredget, E. B., Arefanian, H., Gill, R. G., Rajotte, R. V & Rayat, G. R. Monotherapy with anti-LFA-1 monoclonal antibody promotes long-term survival of rat islet xenografts. *Cell Transplant.* **17**, 599–608 (2008).
- 438. Martin, X. *et al.* Protective effect of an Anti-LFA 1 monoclonal antibody (odulimomab) on renal damage due to ischemia and kidney autotransplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* **32**, 481 (2000).
- 439. Gordon, E. J., Myers, K. J., Dougherty, J. P., Rosen, H. & Ron, Y. Bothanti-CD11a(LFA-I) and anti-CD11b (MAC-1) therapy delay the onset and

diminish the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* **62**, 153–160 (1995).

- 440. Jones, R. Rovelizumab (ICOS Corp). *IDrugs Investig. drugs J.* **3**, 442–6 (2000).
- 441. Frampton, J. E. & Plosker, G. L. Efalizumab: a review of its use in the management of chronic moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis. *Am. J. Clin. Dermatol.* **10**, 51–72 (2009).
- 442. Seminara, N. M. & Gelfand, J. M. Assessing Long-Term Drug Safety: Lessons (Re) Learned from Raptiva. *YSDER* **29**, 16–19 (2010).
- 443. Shuster, S.-C. *et al.* in Murine Models of Arthritis Reduces Inflammation and Joint Destruction) Small-Molecule Antagonist 2 β L α An LFA-1 (. *J Immunol Ref.* **184**, 3917–3926 (2010).
- 444. Raab-Westphal, S., Marshall, J. F. & Goodman, S. L. Integrins as Therapeutic Targets: Successes and Cancers. *Cancers (Basel).* **9**, (2017).
- 445. Zhong, M. *et al.* Discovery and development of potent LFA-1/ICAM-1 antagonist SAR 1118 as an ophthalmic solution for treating dry eye. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* **3**, 203–206 (2012).
- 446. Tauber, J. *et al.* Lifitegrast Ophthalmic Solution 5.0% versus Placebo for Treatment of Dry Eye Disease: Results of the Randomized Phase III OPUS-2 Study. *Ophthalmology* **122**, 2423–2431 (2015).